ADVANCES IN IMMUNOLOGY

VOLUME 31

ADVANCES IN

lmmunology

VOLUME 31

CONTRIBUTORS TO THIS VOLUME

Howard Fleit Paul W. Kincade Robert W. Kozak Ira S. Mellman Charles E. Moody, Jr. Francis W. Ruscetti Kendall A. Smith Emil R. Unanue Jay C. Unkeless Marc E. Weksler

advances in Immunology

EDITED BY

HENRY G. KUNKEL

The Rockefeller University New York, New York

FRANK J. DIXON

Scripps Clinic and Research Foundation La Jolla, California

VOLUME 31

1981



ACADEMIC PRESS

A Subsidiary of Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers

New York London Toronto Sydney San Francisco

COPYRIGHT © 1981, BY ACADEMIC PRESS, INC. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. NO PART OF THIS PUBLICATION MAY BE REPRODUCED OR TRANSMITTED IN ANY FORM OR BY ANY MEANS, ELECTRONIC OR MECHANICAL, INCLUDING PHOTOCOPY, RECORDING, OR ANY INFORMATION STORAGE AND RETRIEVAL SYSTEM, WITHOUT PERMISSION IN WRITING FROM THE PUBLISHER.

ACADEMIC PRESS, INC. 111 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10003

United Kingdom Edition published by ACADEMIC PRESS, INC. (LONDON) LTD. 24/28 Oval Road, London NW1 7DX

LIBRARY OF CONGRESS CATALOG CARD NUMBER: 61-17057

ISBN 0-12-022431-3

PRINTED IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

81 82 83 84 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

CONTENTS

LIST OF CONTRIBUTORS	vii
PREFACE	ix

The Regulatory Role of Macrophages in Antigenic Stimulation Part Two: Symbiotic Relationship between Lymphocytes and Macrophages EMIL R. UNANUE

I. Historical	1
II. Analysis of the Regulatory Role of Macrophages	4
III. Basis for Macrophage Regulation	56
IV. Conclusions	118
References	121

T-Cell Growth Factor and the Culture of Cloned Functional T Cells

KENDALL A. SMITH AND FRANCIS W. RUSCETTI

I.	Introduction	137
II.	Lymphocyte-Activating Factor	141
III.	T-Cell Growth Factor	149
IV.	The Initiation, Clonal Derivation, and Maintenance of Functional	
	T-Cell Lines	161
V.	The Functional Implications of TCGF	169
VI.	Conclusion	172
	References	173

Formation of B Lymphocytes in Fetal and Adult Life

PAUL W. KINCADE

I.	Introduction	177
II.	Some Definitions	178
III.	Expression of Immunoglobulin Genes	181
IV.	Cloning Assays for Functional B Cells	185
V.	Formation of B Cells in Cell-Transfer Assays	189
VI.	Relationship between B-Lymphocyte Precursors and Other	
	Hematopoietic Lineages	192
VII.	Formation and Maturation of B Cells in Culture	199
VIII.	Microenvironments for B-Lymphocyte Formation	207
IX.	Antigens Expressed on B-Lymphocyte Precursors	215

CONTENTS

X. Functional Heterogeneity of B Lymphocytes—Specialized		
Subpopulations	223	
XI. Important Uncertainties and Promising Sources of New Information	230	
References	235	

Structural Aspects and Heterogeneity of Immunoglobulin Fc Receptors

JAY C. UNKELESS, HOWARD FLEIT, AND IRA S. MELLMAN

I. Introduction	247	
II. Specificity and Heterogeneity of Fc Receptor Activity	248	
III. Isolation and Characterization of IgG Fc Receptors		
IV. Conclusion	267	
References	268	

The Autologous Mixed-Lymphocyte Reaction

MARC E. WEKSLER, CHARLES E. MOODY, JR., AND ROBERT W. KOZAK

I.	Introduction	271
II.	The Autologous MLR in Man	275
III.	Alterations in the Autologous MLR during Aging and in Human	
	Disease	291
IV.	Autologous and Syngeneic Reactivity in Experimental Animals	297
V .	Concluding Remarks	305
	References	308

INDEX	313
CONTENTS OF PREVIOUS VOLUMES	317

vi

LIST OF CONTRIBUTORS

Numbers in parentheses indicate the pages on which the authors' contributions begin.

- HOWARD FLEIT, Department of Cellular Physiology and Immunology, The Rockefeller University, New York, New York 10021 (247)
- PAUL W. KINCADE, Sloan-Kettering Institute for Cancer Research, Rye, New York 10580 (177)
- ROBERT W. KOZAK, Department of Medicine, Cornell University Medical College, New York, New York 10021 (271)
- IRA S. MELLMAN,* Department of Cellular Physiology and Immunology, The Rockefeller University, New York, New York 10021 (247)
- CHARLES E. MOODY, JR., Department of Medicine, Cornell University Medical College, New York, New York 10021 (271)
- FRANCIS W. RUSCETTI, The Laboratory of Tumor Cell Biology, The National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, Maryland 20205 (137)
- KENDALL A. SMITH, The Immunology Program, Dartmouth Medical School, The Norris Cotton Cancer Center, Hanover, New Hampshire 03755 (137)
- EMIL R. UNANUE, Department of Pathology, Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts 02115 (1)
- JAY C. UNKELESS, Department of Cellular Physiology and Immunology, The Rockefeller University, New York, New York 10021 (247)
- MARC E. WEKSLER, Department of Medicine, Cornell University Medical College, New York, New York 10021 (271)

^{*} Present address: Section of Cell Biology, Yale University School of Medicine, New Haven, Connecticut 06510.

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

PREFACE

Immunology has been a cyclical and opportunistic field, constantly exploiting widely divergent but developing areas. Nowhere is this better illustrated than in the diversity of experimental animal systems utilized. Several decades ago the immunized rabbit was the primary tool of the immunologist. Then, with the beginning of interest in delayed-type hypersensitivity, the guinea pig became uniquely prominent. During the era of the immunoglobulins, the human system with its large quantities of myeloma proteins dominated the picture. On the other hand, the immunologist of the decade of the seventies and the early eighties has been virtually completely preoccupied with the murine system. The development of genetics as an integral part of immunology is in considerable part responsible for the current overwhelming use of this clearly advantageous experimental animal. However, occasionally and perhaps increasingly so recently. developments originating in the human system are having a significant impact. Three of the chapters in this volume illustrate this point and cover subjects that initially arose from discoveries in the human; the autologous MLC is perhaps the most striking example.

The first chapter of this volume is written by Dr. Unanue who has become one of the leaders in macrophage research. He presents a very comprehensive review of the important regulatory role of these cells in a great variety of cellular immune reactions. The very different functions of macrophages continue to be a surprising feature of these cells. These range from the presentation of antigen to T cells to the release of prostaglandins and mediators such as LAF. Perhaps the most interesting aspect of the macrophage is its key position in *Ir* gene control; this topic and its controversial aspects are very thoroughly discussed. Other accessory cells such as the Langerhans cells, the dendritic cell, and the thymic "nurse" cells are also discussed in considerable detail, although their exact relationship to the macrophage remains to be established.

No review could be more timely than the second chapter on cloned T cells and T cell growth factor. The two authors, Smith and Ruscetti, coming from the two pioneering laboratories in this field, combine their knowledge and experience in this article. New T cell lines with different functions are appearing in publications almost daily, and this system is proving to be of tremendous aid to the cellular immunologist. It provides the much needed capacity to dissect T cell

PREFACE

responses in detail from a functional standpoint. The T cell growth factor or TCGF which is primarily responsible for the propagation of these clones has been isolated, and its characteristics are described in considerable detail. It is apparent that this protein is much more than just an essential for the growth of these clones and plays a most important role in T cell proliferative responses under natural conditions.

The third chapter deals with B lymphocytes, with special emphasis on their culture and precursor characteristics. The technology for continuous B cell lines has not developed to the degree described for T cells in the previous chapter. However, progress has been made and Dr. Kincade's methods show considerable promise. A very diverse literature on the relationship of B cell precursors to various known stem cells is thoroughly reviewed along with the author's observations utilizing his semi-solid agar culture system. Progress in this area has been substantially accelerated by new monoclonal antibodies which help to identify B cell precursors prior to their identification through Ig production.

There have been few areas of immunology in which so much controversy exists as for the question of the character of the Fc receptor. However, Dr. Unkeless and his associates have clarified the field markedly recently through the use of monoclonal antibodies. It still remains mystifying just how different laboratories report such different molecular weights for Fc receptors even when the same cell type is analyzed. These different results are reviewed and related to the new observations that have resolved some of the issues. It is evident from the review that much of the problem relates to the low binding affinity of IgG, aggregated IgG, and immune complexes to Fc receptors. By obtaining monoclonal antibodies to the Fc receptor directly, a much higher binding affinity is obtained that permits clear identification at the molecular level. Although most of the work concerns the macrophage, a considerable portion of the review concerns B lymphocytes and other cells with Fc receptors.

The last chapter reviews in considerable detail the important new area of immunology concerning the autologous MLC. Dr. Weksler is one of the discoverers of this unexpected reaction that appears to have profound significance in the cellular immune response. It is now evident that stimulation of autologous or syngeneic T cells results from Ia-positive non-T cells in the native state and that it is not due to modification of the stimulating cell as some critics postulated. In the mouse it is clear that the dendritic cell is the primary stimulator; in the human this question remains unsettled. Defects in this response are

PREFACE

striking in certain diseases, especially in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus.

The Editors wish to express their gratitude to the authors for the fine chapters they have written and thank the publishers for their constant cooperation.

> HENRY G. KUNKEL FRANK J. DIXON

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

The Regulatory Role of Macrophages in Antigenic Stimulation Part Two: Symbiotic Relationship between Lymphocytes and Macrophages

EMIL R. UNANUE

Department of Pathology, Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts

I.	Historical	1
II.	Analysis of the Regulatory Role of Macrophages	4
	A. Interactions with T Cells in Antigen-Induced Proliferation	4
	B. Interactions with T Cells in Lectin-Induced Proliferation	17
	C. Interactions with T and B Cells in Antibody Formation	21
	D. Interactions with T Cells in Cellular Immunity Reactions	- 38
	E. Interactions with B Cells and Polyclonal Stimuli	45
	F. Other Interactions of the Macrophage: Mixed Leukocyte	
	Reaction and Anti-Tumor Immunity	48
	G. Interactions Not Mediated by Antigens	52
	H. Macrophages in Suppressive Phenomena	55
III.	Basis for Macrophage Regulation	56
	A. Properties of Macrophages and Other Accessory Cells	57
	B. Antigen Presentation	74
	C. Secretory Function of Macrophages	94
IV.	Conclusions	118
	References	121

I. Historical

In 1972, I reviewed for this series the regulatory role of phagocytes in antigenic stimulation, i.e., in immune induction (Unanue, 1972). The information gathered at that time clearly pointed to a highly significant role of accessory phagocytic cells in the multiple cellular interactions taking place during the early development of an immune response. To recapitulate briefly, a number of *in vivo* experiments had indicated a direct relationship between the uptake of antigens by the phagocyte system and the extent of the immune response. Thus, changes in antigen molecules that resulted in enhanced or decreased uptake by the phagocytes resulted in higher or lower immune responses, respectively. After the development of methodologies for obtaining live exudate cells rich in phagocytes and for pulsing these with antigen, the immune response to macrophage-associated antigens was possible to assay, using combinations of in vivo and in vitro methods. This approach led to the result that the presentation of antigen bound to live macrophages to the lymphocytes was a highly efficient mode of generating an immune response. Invariably, a strong antibody response was produced to antigen molecules transferred to a host in syngeneic, live macrophages. Concurrently with this approach, the analysis of cellular interactions employing culture methods pointed to a requirement for adherent phagocytic cells in order for lymphocytes to proliferate or to make antibody. In 1972, the basis for the strong immunogenicity of macrophage-associated antigens and for the requirements of macrophages for in vitro immune responses were not clear, nor were the cellular and molecular events understood. We felt strongly, based in part on our own studies on antigen handling, that antigens associated with macrophage surface were involved in antigen presentation, yet how, in what form, and with what class of lymphocyte remained unexplained. Whether this antigen simply served as a device to focus T and B cells or played a more essential role was not known. The role of macrophages in directly regulating growth and differentiation of lymphocytes could only be speculated, based on suggestive experiments on the effects of adjuvants on macrophages. Although great steps had been taken in our basic knowledge of the biology of phagocytes, many issues were still to be resolved, most notably those of macrophage differentiation, antigen handling, and secretion.

The 8 years after the earlier review witnessed an incredible number of studies on phagocyte biology and on macrophage-lymphocyte interactions. These studies have placed the macrophage, now more than ever, as a critical regulatory cell with functions never before suspected. Our progress in this field came as the result of improvement in tissue culture methods, in techniques for isolating and identifying lymphocytes, in procedures to probe various cellular interactions, plus major advances in macrophage biology, and, most notably, in basic cellular immunobiology. Progress in immunobiology developed in parallel in the 1970s in various areas, i.e., transplantation genetics, immune response genetics, T-B cell collaboration, cytolytic T celltumor effects, and macrophage-lymphocyte interactions. The major findings and discoveries are now beginning to be integrated with each other, but it is obvious that the advances in immunogenetics and in histocompatibility have been of major impact in all of immunology. Indeed, in the course of a brief period of time, three basic cellular interactions, that of macrophages with T cells (Rosenthal and Shevach, 1973), T cells with B cells (Kindred and Shreffler, 1972; Katz et al.,

1973), and cytolytic T cells with their targets (Zinkernagel and Doherty, 1974), were found to be regulated by the major transplantation locus of the species. I consider the series of studies by Alan S. Rosenthal and Ethan M. Shevach published in 1973 the most important study on macrophage-lymphocyte interaction in the 1970s and perhaps one of the most seminal ones regarding the genetic control of immune responses. These studies indicated a role of macrophages in events controlled by the *I* region of the major histocompatibility gene complex, a feature never previously suspected, and signaled an *essential* interaction between macrophages and the thymus-derived T lymphocyte. The explosive series of studies in macrophage biology that followed represented, to a great degree, extensions of their basic findings. It may turn out that the common denominator for all the phenomena of cell-to-cell interaction is the process of antigen handling regulated by the transplantation gene locus.

Phagocytes are now viewed as cells capable of exerting a fine control on their environment, particularly on the lymphoid system. This control is exerted not only by carrying out antigen presentation, an essential function, but also by regulating growth and differentiation of lymphoid cells by way of a number of secretory products. Clearly, immune induction depends on a critical interrelationship between the phagocytes and the lymphocytes, the former being the nonspecific cell probably descendent of the primitive amebocytes, whereas the latter are cellular elements that give specificity to the immune response. Both cell types control and regulate each other, and the key in this regulation are the *I*-region products.

This chapter is organized into two major sections. The first reviews the various experimental systems in which macrophages have been involved, such as T-cell proliferation to antigen and lectins, T-B cell interactions, cellular immunity reactions. Some of these I have described more extensively than others. For example, T-cell proliferation and T-B cell interaction are analyzed in depth inasmuch as they were the basic systems for study of macrophage-T cell effects. In contrast, the involvement of macrophages in the development of the cytolytic T-cell response to viruses and tumors is treated briefly, this being a highly complex response involving a multiplicity of interactions and still very much under current study. The second part analyzes the biology of the phagocytes, the synthesis and expression of *I*region-associated antigen, the issue of macrophage heterogeneity, and the function of antigen presentation and secretion of active products.

11. Analysis of the Regulatory Role of Macrophages

A. INTERACTIONS WITH T CELLS IN ANTIGEN-INDUCED PROLIFERATION

The proliferative response of T cells to antigen has been one of the systems most extensively employed for studying macrophagelymphocyte interactions in culture. The first series of analyses in man (Hersch and Harris, 1968; Cline and Sweet, 1968) and in the guinea pig (Seeger and Oppenheim, 1970) on lymphocyte proliferation have already been reviewed (Unanue, 1972). Most recent experimental studies have used the guinea pig and mouse as the species of choice. Populations of lymphoid cells rich in T lymphocytes were obtained from lymph nodes, draining the depot of antigen, spleen, or the peritoneal cavity. The cells from the peritoneal cavity were an excellent source of T cells developing a very strong and notable antigenspecific response much higher than that shown by lymph node T cells (Rosenstreich et al., 1971: Rosenstreich and Rosenthal, 1973). This may be because the immune T cell may migrate selectively into sites of inflammation as indicated by the studies of Koster and associates (1971) in antibacterial T-cell immunity carried out at the Trudeau Institute. Accordingly, in our own studies examining the proliferative response of T cells to *Listeria monocutogenes*, we found that an injection of proteose peptone intraperitoneally was essential in order to induce the exudate rich in strong T cells (Farr et al., 1979a). Other studies in the mouse used thioglycolate broth (Schwartz et al., 1978). Mineral oil was the choice inflammatory agent in experiments using the guinea pig (Rosenstreich and Rosenthal, 1973). It is worth recalling that the first successful transfer of contact sensitivity, the classical experiments of Landsteiner and Chase (1942), utilized lymphoid cells harvested from the peritoneal cavity.

Regardless of the source, the T cells have been isolated by separating out the phagocytes and B cells using combinations of brief culture on dishes to remove the bulk of adherent cells, followed by passage through glass beads or, preferably, nylon-wool columns as per the technique described by Julius *et al.* (1973). The technique of Julius requires a critical amount of nylon wool per input number of cells; if carried out correctly, it results in yields of about 25–35% of lymph node or splenic lymphocytes, the bulk of which bear T-cell markers. A good separation results in about 95% T cells, without phagocytes, and, at the most, 2–3% B cells.

Using stringent procedures to remove the macrophages and to en-

rich for T cells invariably resulted in T cells that did not respond to antigen in culture even with media that contained growth-promoting components, such as fetal calf serum and 2-mercaptoethanol (Section II.C). In the guinea pig, the studies of the proliferative response were the first to indicate clearly the essential role of phagocytes. Seeger and Oppenheim (1970) first found that passing lymph node cells through glass-bead columns resulted in the total loss of antigen-induced DNA synthesis. These analyses were then extended by Waldron et al. (1973). studying the response to purified protein derivative (PPD). The lack of response of macrophage-depleted lymph node cells could be reconstituted fully by adding peritoneal macrophages; in fact, the degree of reconstitution was proportional to the amounts of phagocytes added, i.e., from 1 to 30%, the last dose used. I accentuate this point because, in contrast to the studies using murine cells, guinea pig phagocytes showed little inhibitory effect even at high doses. Waldron et al. also used macrophages pulsed briefly with PPD. The response of the lymphocytes to PPD administered macrophage-bound was identical to that induced by PPD in soluble form, in the presence of optimal amount of phagocytes. These studies, therefore, confirmed the efficiency of antigen presentation by way of the macrophage but added the important new point that this step was essential in order for the lymphocyte to respond.

In the murine system, the requirement for phagocytes or other accessory cells was such that as little as 1% contamination with phagocytes still enabled a T-cell proliferative response to develop. Thus, depletion procedures had to be extremely efficient. A single passage of lymphoid cells through nylon wool, for example, or a single cycle of adherence, did not completely eliminate macrophages. Most investigators are now employing removal by one or two cycles of adherence, together with one or two passages through nylon wool. Under such procedures, the T-cell proliferation to antigen, as in the guinea pig, was strictly macrophage dependent (for example, Rosenwasser and Rosenthal, 1978b; Richman *et al.*, 1979; Farr *et al.*, 1979a; Kammer and Unanue, 1980).

Many of the analyses of antigen presentation using the mouse have employed accessory cells pulsed with antigen, which are then added to the lymphocytes, thus bypassing the need for extensive macrophage depletion of the lymphocyte populations. One important consideration in the mouse, however, is the amounts of macrophages added to the cultures. Too many macrophages invariably inhibited proliferation (Section III,D). This was particularly striking if the macrophages were activated. In most instances, the reasons for the suppressive effects of macrophages were not investigated. Some experiments, however, attribute the inhibition to prostaglandins and other soluble molecules (Section III,C). Major representative results in experimental animals are shown in Table I.

There are few analyses of an antigen-driven proliferation in man, but these have clearly shown the requirements for monocyte-macrophages (Hersh and Harris, 1968; Cline and Sweet, 1968; Rodey *et al.*, 1979; Bergholtz and Thorsby, 1977, 1978, 1979; Breard *et al.*, 1979).

For effective T cell-macrophage collaboration, two essential features are required: (a) that the proliferating T cell and the macrophage be histocompatible, sharing part of the I region; (b) that the phagocyte bear the *I*-region-associated antigens (Ia) of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) of the species.

The I region of the major histocompatibility gene complex was discovered by McDevitt and associates as they attempted to map the locus within the mouse H-2 that controlled the immune response to the branched polypeptides poly(Tyr,Glu)-poly(DL-Ala)-poly(L-Lys) [(T,G)-A-L] and poly(His,Glu)-poly(DL-Ala)-poly(L-Lys) [(H,G)-A-L] (McDevitt et al., 1972). They identified, using a number of congenic strains of mice, a gene segment between H-2K and S which was termed I. This observation followed their initial study relating the capacity to make an immune response to the H-2 type of the responding strain (McDevitt and Chinitz, 1969). Subsequently, more Ir genes have been linked to this segment, which was subsequently subdivided into various subregions, i.e., I-A, -B, -I, -E, -C (reviewed by Shreffler and David, 1975; Klein, 1975; Klein and Hauptfeld, 1976; Benacerraf and Germain, 1978; Snell, 1978). After this study, five different laboratories within a brief period of time raised antibodies to the I-region products using appropriate I-region congenic strains of mice. These antibodies identified a new surface antigenic system, that of the "Iregion-associated antigens" (Sachs and Cone, 1973; David et al., 1973; Gotze et al., 1973; Hauptfeld et al., 1973; Hammerling et al., 1974). The Ia antigens were identified on B cells and in a few activated T cells and also in macrophages (Section III.A). Ia antigens have now been identified corresponding to I-A, I-J, and I-E/I-C regions. The I-A and I-E/C products were characterized as two polypeptide chains of about 33,000 (α chain) and 26,000 (β chain) molecular weight (Cullen et al., 1974, 1976; B. D. Schwartz et al., 1976). (Whether I-E and I-C are two distinct regions is in dispute; hence the notation now in use: I-E/C.) I-A and I-E/C show extensive serological polymorphism with various allelic forms. The Ia antigens are the main surface proteins responsible for the mixed leukocyte reaction. The HLA-D region in

man codes for the same stimulatory protein and is thus regarded as the equivalent of the I region. The major differences between the two inbred lines of guinea pigs, the strains 2 and 13, lies in the I region, so that cross-immunization with cells, i.e., strain 2-anti-strain 13 lymphoid cells results in antibodies that are essentially anti-Ia reagents (Geczy *et al.*, 1975; B. D. Schwartz *et al.*, 1976).

1. Histocompatibility Requirements

The requirements for *I*-region histocompatibility between phagocytes and T cells in order for both cells to interact were found both for antigens under Ir control as well as for those with no obvious Ir gene effects. Antigens under Ir gene control are those antigens that induce high immune responses in some strains and low responses in others, the state of responsiveness being linked to the I region of the MHC strain. These antigens include synthetic polypeptides of limited antigenic heterogeneity, some weakly immunogenic alloantigens or conventional proteins administered at low doses (reviewed by Katz, 1977; Benacerraf and Germain, 1978). The first observations on the histocompatibility requirements for macrophage-T cell interactions were made by Rosenthal and Shevach (Rosenthal and Shevach, 1973; Shevach and Rosenthal, 1973). They obtained T cells-depleted of phagocytes-from the peritoneal cavity or lymph nodes of immunized inbred guinea pigs, either strain 2 or strain 13, and cultured them with macrophages of either strain pulsed briefly with the antigen under study (Table II). The optimal response to PPD or dinitrophenyl (DNP)-albumin, antigens to which there was no obvious Ir gene effect, was elicited only if the T cells from one strain were challenged with the antigen in the macrophages from the same homologous strain. While T cells from an F_1 cross $[(2 \times 13)F_1]$ could respond perfectly well to PPD in either strain 2 or strain 13 macrophages, T cells from strain 2 responded only to PPD associated with macrophages from strain 2, or $(2 \times 13)F_1$, but not from strain 13. Rosenthal and Shevach went on to show that this lack of responsiveness to allogeneic macrophages could not be ascribed to differences in the kinetics of the response nor to a suppressor-type effect: excellent proliferation could be elicited from T cells mixed with syngeneic and allogeneic antigenpulsed macrophages.

Further experiments indicated that antibodies to the MHC gene products could block the macrophage-lymphocyte interaction [such antibodies had been previously found to block antigen-driven T-cell proliferation (Shevach *et al.*, 1972)]. Macrophages from $(2 \times 13)F_1$ pulsed with PPD stimulated proliferation of T cells from strain 2, but

	Antigens	Species	Investigators	Main results
	Tetanus toxoid and PPD	Guinea pig	Seeger and Oppenheim, 1970	Poor response in macrophage-depleted cultures; reconstitution with PEC
	PPD	Guinea pig	Waldron et al., 1973	Complete absence of response without phagocytes; reconstitution with PEC
	Horseradish peroxidase	Guinea pig	Rosenstreich and Rosenthal, 1973	1-2% of macrophages bind the antigen and serve as antigen-presenting cells
	PPD, DNP-albumin	Guinea pig	Rosenthal and Shevach, 1973	Antigen presentation by macrophages requires histocompatible macrophages; anti-Ia antibodies inhibit
	DNP-GL, GT, PPD	Guinea pig	Shevach and Rosenthal, 1973	Macrophages from "responder" strains are required to present antigen
	GT, CL	Guinea pig	Shevach, 1976	I-region control of macrophage T cell interactions in outbred guinea pigs
œ	TNP	Guinea pig	Thomas et al., 1977; Thomas and Shevach, 1977	Macrophages are required. Primary sensitization can be elicited if allo- reactive T cells are eliminated; anti-Ia blocks the macrophage presentation
	Ovalbumin	Guinea pig	Thomas and Shevach, 1976; Paul et al., 1977	Two independent sets of F_1 T cells responding to antigen in macrophages from either of the parental strains
	DNP-ovalbumin, GAT, etc.	Mouse	Yano et al., 1977, 1978; Schwartz et al., 1978	<i>I</i> -region restrictions mapped to <i>I</i> -A in the interaction between spleen antigen- presenting cells and T cells; macro- phages from responder strains are required
	Insulin	Guinea pig	Barcinski and Rosenthal, 1977; Rosenthal <i>et al.</i> , 1977	Determinant selection by the macrophage
	DNP-GL, PPD DNP-albumin	Guinea pig	Yamashita and Shevach, 1977	Ia-positive macrophages are required for antigen presentation
	PPD, GAT, OVA	Mouse	Suzuki et al., 1978	Macrophages present the antigen; non-Ir genes modulate the response

 TABLE I

 EXPERIMENTS SHOWING ANTIGEN PRESENTATION BY MACROPHAGES FOR T CELL PROLIFERATION^a

	DNP-OVA, hemocyanin, PPD and GLT	Mouse	Rosenwasser and Rosenthal, 1978a,b	The response to multideterminant antigen requires macrophages; allogeneic macrophages can present; a macrophage factor can replace the macrophages
	PPD, hemocyanin	Mouse	Cowing et al., 1978b	Spleen accessory cells present antigen and bear I-A and I-E/C determinants
	PPD, TNP	Guinea pig	Stingl et al., 1978a,b	Langerhans cells of the skin present antigen
	Fibrinopeptide	Guinea pig	Thomas <i>et al.</i> , 1979a,b	Determinant selection by the macrophage
	Insulin, DNP, ovalbumin	Guinea pig	Yokomuro and Rosenthal, 1979	T cells from guinea pigs can be selected by <i>in vivo</i> immunization with DNP- ovalbumin transferred in one or the other parental macrophage; only "responder" macrophages present insulin
9	Listeria monocytogenes	Mouse	Farr <i>et al.</i> , 1979a; Beller and Unanue, 1979; Weinberg and Unanue, 1980	Presentation shows <i>I</i> -region restrictions at <i>I</i> -A and requires Ia-positive macro- phages; thymic macrophages and alveolar macrophages present <i>Listeria</i>
	GLPhe	Mouse	Schwartz et al., 1979	Two complementing Ir genes must be expressed in the same macrophage
	PPD	Mouse	Lee et al., 1979	Ia-bearing macrophages present antigen; differences found among Ia-positive cells
	Myoglobin	Mouse	Richman et al., 1980	T cells proliferate to antigen presented in Kuppfer cells from responder strains
	TNP-OVA, PPD	Guinea pig	Rogoff and Lipsky, 1980	Kuppfer cells present antigen
	Hemocyanin	Mouse	Kammer and Unanue, 1980	The response to hemocyanin requires syngeneic macrophages and is not replaced by a macrophage factor

^a PEC, peritoneal exudate cells; PPD, purified protein derivative; DNP, TNP, di-, trinitrophenyl; GT, GL, GAT, copolymers, respectively of L-glutamic acid and L-tyrosine; L-glutamic acid and L-lysine; and L-glutamic acid, L-alanine, and L-tyrosine.

Macrophage		Lymphocyte DNA synthesis: $[^{3}H]TdR$ incorporation (cpm $\times 10^{-3}$)			
Strain	Antigen pulse	Strain 2	Strain 13	$(2 \times 13)F_1$	
2	0	0.92 ± 0.28	5.68 ± 1.08	1.60 ± 0.30	
2	+	26.38 ± 8.27	8.61 ± 2.08	6.98 ± 0.80	
13	0	4.63 ± 1.86	1.66 ± 0.37	1.78 ± 0.47	
13	+	3.12 ± 0.67	19.89 ± 4.47	7.81 ± 1.75	
$(2 \times 13)F_1$	0	1.91 ± 0.99	4.27 ± 0.34	1.66 ± 0.53	
(2×13) F ₁	+	12.42 ± 3.19	11.81 ± 1.98	12.57 ± 2.33	

TABLE II THE REQUIREMENT FOR HISTOCOMPATIBLE MACROPHAGES IN ANTIGEN-MEDIATED DNA SYNTHESIS IN IMMUNE GUINEA PIG LYMPH NODE LYMPHOCYTES^a

^a Macrophages from strain 2, strain 13, or $(2 \times 13)F_1$ guinea pigs were incubated with mitomycin C and/or purified protein derivative (PPD) for 60 minutes at 37°C, washed, and mixed with column-purified lymph node cells, as indicated. [³H]Thymidine incorporation was expressed as mean cpm $\times 10^{-3}$. [From the study of Rosenthal and Shevach (1973).]

this proliferation was totally ablated by adding anti-2 antibodies to the culture. Shevach and Rosenthal concluded that "the activation of immune lymphocytes by antigen-pulsed macrophages is dependent on the interaction of cell surface structures that are the products of the major histocompatibility complex" (1973).

Noteworthy were the studies of antigens under Ir gene control. Shevach and Rosenthal selected for their analysis the copolymers of L-glutamic acid and L-lysine (GL) and of L-glutamic acid and L-tyrosine (GT) previously analyzed by Benacerraf and associates (Bluestein et al., 1971). The T lymphocytes from the $(2 \times 13)F_1$ guinea pigs appropriately immunized with GT or GL were cultured with macrophages from either strain pulsed with one or the other antigen. The F_1 T cells responded only to GT pulsed on strain 13 macrophages and to DNP-GL on strain 2 macrophages, i.e., on the macrophages from the strain that responded immunologically when immunized in vivo (Fig. 1). Thus, although the F_1 guinea pig contained T cells capable of responding to GT or GL, these T cells did so only when presented with the antigens in macrophages bearing the appropriate I-region haplotype of the responder stain. A final and important experiment in this study concerned the effects of antibodies to the MHC products of strain 2 or strain 13-now known to be anti-Ia antibodies. These antibodies blocked specifically the response of the F_1 T cells to the F_1 macrophages pulsed with the antigen under Ir-gene control. Thus,



FIG. 1. The graph shows the stimulation of guinea pig $(2 \times 13)F_1$ T cells by macrophages from each parent or from the F_1 macrophages pulsed with the antigens as indicated. Strain 2 guinea pigs respond to DNP-GL, but not to GT; strain 13 responds to GT but not to DNP-GL. Both respond to purified protein derivative (PPD). The response to phytohemagglutinin (PHA) is also shown. DNP-GL, dinitrophenyl copolymer of L-glutamic acid and L-lysine; GT, copolymer of glutamic acid and L-tyrosine. [From Shevach and Rosenthal (1973).]

anti-2 antibodies blocked the response to DNP-GL (strain 2 is a responder to GL) but not to GT (strain 13 responds to GT). The reverse is also true. The conclusion was that the anti-Ia antibodies inhibited the specific interaction between the T cell and the macrophage with its Ia product.

These series of studies, therefore, indicated that the response of T cells required the phagocyte as an *obligatory* cell and that the interaction taking place between both cells involved a product from the MHC. The antigen-presenting function of macrophages, therefore, acquired a new dimension. It clearly did not represent a simple antigen \rightarrow T cell-receptor interaction but involved antigen and a specific protein, the Ia product, interacting with the T cells.

Subsequent studies confirmed the important relationship between antigen and the *I*-region products of macrophages in T cellmacrophage stimulation. A series of experiments have indicated that selective T cells proliferate upon interaction with antigen bound to the appropriate Ia-bearing macrophage. This was best shown using F_1 animals. Thomas and Shevach (1976) developed an assay system in which guinea pig T cells from a $(2 \times 13)F_1$ guinea pig were cultured for several days with macrophages of either parental strain pulsed with ovalbumin. At the end of the culture, the T cells were isolated and tested for the capacity to proliferate with the antigen-pulsed macrophages of each strain. The results indicated that the F₁ T cells behaved like two distinct populations, i.e., T cells from the F₁ cultured on macrophages from strain 2 proliferated only to challenge with macrophages of strain 2 but not strain 13, whereas those T cells cultured on strain 13 macrophages proliferated only when challenged with macrophages of strain 13. Paul and associates (1977) explored this issue and presented strong experiments indicating that the T cells from a (2×13) F₁ hybrid guinea pig immune to ovalbumin were indeed composed of two independent sets. This was analyzed in two different experimental situations. The first approach was a positive selection procedure first developed by Ben-Sasson et al. (1975a,b): ovalbuminimmune $(2 \times 13)F_1$ T cells were placed in culture with ovalbuminpulsed strain 2 or 13 macrophages; shortly thereafter, the lymphocytes that did not adhere to the macrophages were removed; at the end of 1 week, the T cells were isolated and tested for proliferation to macrophages pulsed with ovalbumin of either strain 2 or 13. In confirmation of the study of Thomas and Shevach, those F_1 T cells cultured initially on macrophages from strain 2 responded only to ovalbumin bound to macrophages of strain 2; the situation was also true for T cells grown initially with macrophages from strain 13. Their second approach consisted of a negative selection procedure: the T cells were cultured briefly with the antigen-pulsed macrophages from either parent and then the proliferating cells labeled by exposure to bromodeoxyuridine (and light); the remaining cells were then tested on fresh, new antigen-pulsed macrophages. The thymidine analog bromodeoxyuridine becomes incorporated into the DNA of the cell and cross-links the DNA strands when activated by light; this results in a block in proliferation. The F_1 T cells first cultured with ovalbumin in strain 2 macrophages only responded to OVA in strain 13 macrophages, i.e., the "clone" of T cells responding to ovalbumin in strain 2 macrophages had been selectively depleted. This experiment suggested that each "clone" was not represented by two cooperating sets of T cells, one recognizing Ia, the other ovalbumin; had this been the case, one or the other would have been eliminated and would not have been able to function in the assay, i.e., in the above example, the putative ovalbumin clone would have been eliminated; therefore, no proliferation would have taken place to ovalbumin bound to strain 13 macrophages.

The two clones of reactive T cells could also be identified in vivo

using the macrophage transfer system (Yokomuro and Rosenthal, 1979). F_1 guinea pigs were injected with DNP-ovalbumin on one parental macrophage; days later their T cells were harvested and tested for their proliferation to macrophage-bound ovalbumin; priming *in vivo* with one parental macrophage resulted in T cells that only proliferated with the same macrophages when tested in culture. Similar results to these were found in the mouse in different experimental situations, to be analyzed in the sections to follow.

The most logical interpretation of all these results with F_1 T cells is to postulate that distinct clones of T cells are selected to expand and proliferate upon interaction with antigen and a particular *I*-region product. In the normal immunization, that is, in a syngeneic situation, the clones reactive to the antigen in an allogeneic Ia, even if present, do not expand and, therefore, are not detected. The F_1 experiments also tell us that the *I*-region restrictions cannot be explained by a simple sharing of the MHC surface products of the T cell with that of the macrophage (i.e., the F_1 T cell clone selected on strain 2, for example, would still share MHC determinants with strain 13; the surface expression of MHC products does not show allelic exclusion). Finally, one should recall that, in the studies of cytolytic T cells restricted to their target by H-2K or H-2D products, similar results were found using F_1 T cells.

Analysis of the T-cell proliferative response in the mouse has vielded essentially identical results as in the guinea pig, but it also permitted a more elaborate genetic mapping because of the more extensive information on the murine H-2 and the availability of great number of inbred strains. Schwartz, Paul, and associates examined the proliferative response of T cells to several different antigens and found a perfect correlation between the antibody responses to the antigens in vivo and the extent of T-cell proliferation (Schwartz and Paul, 1976; Schwartz et al., 1978). The way in which they studied the genetics of the antigen-presenting accessory cell was to pulse briefly mitomycin C-treated spleen cells with antigens and then to add the live cells to the peritoneal exudate T cells. (Their accessory cell was characterized by its adherence to glass, radioresistance, and lack of B- or T-cell markers.) Using dinitrophenylated ovalbumin or the copolymer of glutamic acid alanine, and tyrosine (GAT), they confirmed the requirement for histocompatible phagocytes in antigen presentation and mapped this requirement to the I-A subregion of the mouse H-2 (Yano et al., 1977, 1978). Table III reproduces results of their experiments using inbred strains of mice with recombinants at H-2. T cells from the B10 or B10.A proliferated upon presentation of the antigens in cells

Spleen cells		DNP-OVA primed		GAT primed	
Strain	мнс	B10.A	B10	B10.A	B10
B10.A B10 B10.A (5R) B10.A (4R) A.TL	kkkkkddd bbbbbbbbb bbbkkddd kkbbbbbb skkkkkd	100 (all) 9 (none) 14 (J, E, C, S, D) 126 (K, A) 94 (A, B, J, E, D) A.TL	15 (none) 100 (all) 62 (K, A, B) 16 (B, J, E, C, S, D) 14 (none) A.TH	100 (all) 0 (none) 0 (J, E, C, S, D) 77 (K, A) 47 (A, B, J, E, D) A.TL	19 (none) 100 (all) 82 (K, A, B) 8 (B, J, E, C, S, D) 0 (none) B10.A (5R)
A.TL A.TH B10.A (4R) B10.A (5R) SJL	skkkkkkd sssssssd kkbbbbbb bbbkkddd ssssssss	100 (all) 0 (K, D) 130 (A) ND 23 (K)	6 (K, D) 100 (all) 11 (none) ND 106 (K, A, B, J, E, C, S)	100 (all) ND 85 (A) 12 (J, E, D) ND	7 (J , E , D) ND 10 (<i>B</i>) 100 (all) ND

 TABLE III

 CONTROL OF ANTIGEN PRESENTATION BY I-REGION GENES^{a,b}

^a This table is a summary of the series of experiments of Schwartz, Paul, and associates as reported by them (Schwartz *et al.*, 1978). DNP-OVA- GAT-primed T cells from B10.A or B10 mice were stimulated *in vitro* with the antigens bound to spleen cells from various strains of mice. The proliferative responses were measured by thymidine incorporation, and the data are expressed as percentages of the syngeneic response, i.e., the difference between antigen-pulsed cultures for the allogeneic spleen cells, divided by the difference between antigen-pulsed and nonpulsed cultures for the syngeneic spleen cells, times one hundred (Δ cpm allo/ Δ cpm syn) × 100.

^bMHC, major histocompatibility complex. Small letters denote the haplotype source of origin of the alleles at the K, I-A, I-B, I-J, I-E, I-C, S, and D regions. Capital letters in parentheses following the percentage of the syngeneic response refer to the regions of the MHC that are shared between the responding T cells and the stimulating spleen cells. ND, not determined.

from B10 or B10.A, respectively, not vice versa. Because the T cells from B10.A could not be stimulated by antigen presented in cells from B10.A (5R) but would respond to antigen in cells from B10.A (4R) or A.TL, it was possible to map the H-2 restrictions to I-A. B10.A had identity with B10.A (5R) from I-J to -D, with B10.A (4R) at the K and I-A, and with A.TL at I-A to -D. Other combinations described in Table III confirmed this genetic mapping.

In the murine system, the important issue was raised about the absolute need for macrophages in the response to complex, multideterminant antigens not under obvious Ir gene control. We analyzed before that macrophage presentation of complex antigen in the guinea pig showed MHC restriction mapped at the *I* region, implying, therefore, an involvement of this genetic segment in this function. When reevaluating the response of murine lymph node T cells to a number of antigens such as DNP-ovalbumin, hemocyanin, or GLT, Rosenwasser and Rosenthal (1978a,b) found that the responses were completely abolished by depletion of phagocytes and could be reconstituted with peritoneal macrophages, in agreement with past studies. Yet two striking differences were found between the multideterminant antigens DNP-ovalbumin and hemocyanin, and the synthetic polypeptide GLT. The responses to the former two could be reconstituted with allogeneic macrophages or a macrophage culture fluid, whereas the response to GLT strictly required histocompatible macrophages. [The lack of macrophage MHC identity for the response to DNPhemocyanin was also found in the analysis of the antibody formation in vitro (Katz and Unanue, 1973), to be considered in Section II.C.] This is an important point because it raises the issue of whether interactions with macrophages bearing the appropriate Ia products are essential or whether T cells immunized in a syngeneic environment can recognize allogeneic I-region products. It is most likely that the response to complex, multideterminant antigens is strictly MHC restricted and that the explanation for the results of Rosenthal and Rosenwasser lies with the number of contaminating phagocytes in their preparation. Their preparation of lymph node lymphocytes still contained a small, yet perhaps significant, number of phagocytes (approximately 0.1-0.5%), sufficient to give a response to PHA. It is now known that complete depletion of macrophages from the T-cell preparations impairs lectin-induced proliferation (Section II,B). We have evaluated this issue ourselves, examining the proliferative response to hemocyanin but employing a more elaborate procedure for depleting macrophages. Under conditions of complete depletion of phagocytes, the proliferative response of lymph node T cells to hemocyanin was found to be dependent strictly on live

phagocytes and to require H-2 homology between the phagocytes and the T cells; the restrictions mapped at the left-hand side of the H-2(K to I-B); furthermore, the macrophage requirement could not be replaced by a macrophage-conditioned medium (Kammer and Unanue, 1980). The conclusion, therefore, is that, in the mouse as in the guinea pig, the requirement for MHC restrictions at the I region for macrophage-T cell interaction is absolute. Of importance is that a very small number of antigen-presenting macrophages, by themselves insufficient to promote antigen-dependent T-cell growth, can function in collaboration with macrophage-derived products. This point requires further elaboration but is inescapable from the analysis of the data described above.

The involvement of I region in the macrophage presentation of antigens to T cells has been explored in depth with protein antigens of well-defined structure. These results are considered in Section III,B. Noteworthy have been the studies on insulin (Barcinski and Rosenthal, 1977; Rosenthal *et al.*, 1977; Rosenwasser and Rosenthal, 1979a,b), on human fibrinopeptide B (Thomas *et al.*, 1979a,b), and on myoglobin (Richman *et al.*, 1979).

The few studies carried out in man have indicated the requirements for histocompatible macrophages matched at the HLA-D region (Rodey *et al.*, 1979; Bergholtz and Thorsby, 1978).

2. Ia-Bearing Phagocytes

Only a certain percentage of phagocytes bear Ia molecules on their membrane (Section III.A). These Ia-bearing cells are responsible for most macrophage-lymphocyte interactions, including the proliferation of T cells reviewed in this section. Killing the Ia-bearing set of accessory cells with anti-Ia and serum as a complement source results in an impairment of antigen-stimulated T-cell proliferation. The studies have been made on the peritoneal macrophages of the guinea pig (Yamashita and Shevach, 1977) and mouse (Farr et al., 1979a; Kammer and Unanue, 1980) and on the accessory cells of the spleen (Cowing et al., 1978a; Schwartz et al., 1978). A recent report of Lee et al. (1979), claimed that Ia-negative macrophages (i.e., the population remaining after killing with anti-Ia) could interact with T cells, but only in conditions where soluble antigen was added to the culture during the entire time. A soluble mediator substituted for the macrophages. My interpretation of this result is that Lee's T-cell population contain residual macrophages—as evidenced by the high response to soluble antigen in the *absence* of macrophages—and that the experiments indicate a cooperation between the T cells and the few residual macrophages with other macrophages or their products. This is a situation akin to that discussed before in the study of Rosenwasser and Rosenthal.

Limited studies have been made on antigen-induced T-cell proliferation in man as concerns the requirement of Ia-bearing macrophages. The results thus far reported indicate that removal of macrophages by killing them with anti-HLA-D antibodies or with heterologous antibodies to the *I*-region product of man abrogated antigen-induced T-cell proliferation (Rodey *et al.*, 1979; Bergholtz and Thorsby, 1978; Breard *et al.*, 1979; Raff *et al.*, 1980; Geha *et al.*, 1979).

In summary, the studies of antigen-induced T-cell proliferation have been extensive and have clearly indicated the key functional role of the macrophage in antigen presentation. In my opinion, these studies have established that (a) T cells will not grow in culture upon antigen stimulation in the absence of phagocytes; (b) phagocytes are required as an essential antigen-presenting cell; (c) the *I* region regulates the interaction between the T cell and the macrophage; (d) the phagocytes interacting with the T cell must express Ia antigens on their membranes; (e) the *I*-region involvement in macrophage interaction applies to all antigens, even those under no obvious Ir gene control; and (f) the interaction between the T cell and the appropriate macrophage selects and maintains the life of the antigen–Ia-reactive T-cell clone.

B. INTERACTIONS WITH T CELLS IN LECTIN-INDUCED PROLIFERATION

The response of T lymphocytes to the lectins phytohemagglutinin (PHA) and concanavalin A (Con A) requires the presence of adherent phagocytic cells. Some of the early reports examining lymphocyte populations depleted of phagocytes failed to find an impairment of the proliferative response to lectins (for example, Hersh and Harris, 1968; Waldron et al., 1973). Rosenstreich and associates (1976), however, made a detailed study of the response of lymph node lymphocytes to PHA and found it to be macrophage dependent. The response was not affected by depleting macrophages by a single passage of lymphoid cells through columns containing nylon wool and glass beads, although the same cells failed to respond to the antigen DNPovalbumin to which the guinea pigs were immunized. A second passage of cells through a nylon-wool column resulted in a complete lack of responsiveness to PHA. Addition of purified peritoneal macrophages fully reconstituted the response. Lipsky, Ellner, and Rosenthal confirmed their results (Lipsky et al., 1976; Ellner et al., 1976). In their hands, passage of the lymph node cells twice through nylon wool

resulted in practically a complete depletion of phagocytes (less than one per one thousand). Lipsky et al. (1976), made the point that the culture conditions were critical to show the accessory cell dependence. Those situations that favored cell clustering, like high density and round-bottom culture wells, required more stringent macrophage depletion in contrast to having cells at a lower cell density in flat-bottom well dishes. A similar point had been made previously by others analyzing antibody formation in vitro (for example, Theis and Thorbecke, 1970). Similar accessory cell dependency of the lectin proliferative response of T cells was later found with murine cells (Habu and Raff, 1977; Ahman et al., 1978b; Rosenwasser and Rosenthal, 1978a; Andersson et al., 1979; Kammer and Unanue, 1980; Larsson et al., 1980a; Gronvik and Andersson, 1980) and human cells (Oppenheim et al., 1968; Levis and Robbins, 1970; Lohrman et al., 1974; Hedfords et al., 1975; Schmidtke and Hatfield, 1976; Taniguchi et al., 1977; Arala Chaves et al., 1978; de Vries et al. 1979).

In contrast to the antigen-dependent proliferation, the lectinproliferative response was reconstituted with syngeneic or allogeneic macrophages (Lipsky et al., 1976; Habu and Raff, 1977; Rosenstreich and Mizel, 1978; Kammer and Unanue, 1980) or even xenogeneic macrophages (Schmidtke and Hatfield, 1976). Interestingly, the reconstitution with phagocytes and other accessory cells was best with the population of macrophages bearing Ia, Thus, Habu and Raff (1977) found that killing the peritoneal macrophage population by exposure to anti-Ia plus fresh serum-as a complement source-markedly impaired their capacity to cooperate with the T cell stimulated by Con A. In our own studies, macrophage populations depleted of the Iabearing population did reconstitute the response, although less efficiently than the entire untreated cells (Kammer and Unanue, 1980). Addition of fibroblasts to the culture reconstituted the response of guinea pig T cells but only partially (Lipsky et al., 1976). Habu and Raff (1977) fully reconstituted the response with mouse embryo fibroblasts but not with 3T3 cells. This finding contrasts with the results showing requirements for Ia-positive macrophages—whether the embryo cells bore Ia or contained macrophages was not studied.

The issue of the requirement for an Ia-bearing cell was analyzed in a different way by Ahman *et al.* (1978b). They confirmed the results that the response to Con A was affected by killing the entire unfractionated cells with anti-Ia (and complement) (Niederhuber *et al.*, 1976; Frelinger, 1977; Ahman *et al.*, 1978a; also Larsson *et al.*, 1980a). Such treated cells, however, could proliferate when a preparation of Iabearing spleen accessory cells was added to the culture. The accessory cells were adherent to glass, lacked T-cell determinants, and contained two *I*-region determinants, one mapped to *I*-A, the other mapped from *I*-B to *I*-E/C. The accessory cell lacking Ia reconstituted the response but not as effectively, although, in their studies, a complete titration of each cell was not shown. Interestingly, the response to PHA was not found to be sensitive to treatment with anti-Ia and complement, implying that the Ia-bearing phagocytes were not an essential reconstituting cell. Direct examination of this point with regard to the PHA response has not been made.

A most interesting result with regard to the role of the macrophage in the lectin response was made by the studies of Rosenstreich et al. First, they found that 2-mercaptoethanol, an agent believed to replace macrophages in culture (Section II,C) would not replace the need for macrophages, a point confirmed by others (e.g., Ellner et al., 1976; Rosenwasser and Rosenthal, 1978a; de Vries et al., 1979; Kammer and Unanue, 1980). However, mercaptoethanol enhanced the activity of very small numbers of macrophages added to the culture (Rosenstreich and Mizel, 1978): macrophage-depleted T cells responded marginally to PHA if reconstituted with 1% macrophages, yet 1% macrophages in the presence of mercaptoethanol resulted in a very strong DNA synthesis by the T cells (about 35,000 cpm vs. 3000, respectively) (Fig. 2). Noting the lack of effect by mercaptoethanol, Rosenstreich et al., carried out experiments in which the separated T cells or macrophages were pulsed with PHA briefly and then cocultured. Under both circumstances, a strong proliferative response was obtained. The macrophages had to be live and metabolically active. Thus, macrophages could "present" PHA to the lymphocytes; and, alternatively, the T cells, after binding PHA, could interact effectively with the macrophages (Rosenstreich et al., 1976; Rosenstreich and Mizel, 1978).

Further analysis by Rosenstreich and associates indicated that a soluble mediator was involved in the interaction between macrophages and lymphocytes and PHA. Separating macrophages and the PHA-treated lymphocytes by a cell-impermeable membrane resulted in lymphocyte proliferation to about 60% of that found when both cells were mixed. Furthermore, a soluble molecule, named TAF or T cell-activating molecule, released from macrophage cultures replaced the physical need for macrophages. The reconstitution of the lectin-induced response by a macrophage-conditioned medium has now been found by others (for example, Rosenwasser and Rosenthal, 1978a; de Vries *et al.*, 1979; Larsson *et al.*, Kammer and Unanue, 1980; Smith, 1980). The response of T cells to Con A is believed to involve growth factors released by T cells themselves upon interaction with mac-



FIG. 2. The figure shows the effects of mercaptoethanol in potentiation of accessory function of macrophages. T cells were incubated with macrophages $(M\phi)$ and phytohemagglutinin (PHA) in the presence or the absence of 2-mercaptoethanol. [From Rosenstreich and Mizel (1978).]

rophages. The relationship between the T-cell growth factor and the macrophage products is discussed at more length in Section III,C.

Another polyclonal T-cell response that is strictly macrophage dependent is that induced by generation of aldehyde from cell-surface glycoproteins. Gentle treatment of cells with sodium metaperiodate or sequential treatment with neuraminidase and galactose oxidase induced vigorous T cell proliferation (Novogrodsky and Katchalski, 1972). The T-cell proliferation required macrophages. Actually, macrophages or T cells could be treated with the chemicals and then mixed with the other untreated cells and still generate a proliferative response (Greineder and Rosenthal, 1975b). The response was not MHC restricted inasmuch as it was generated by allogeneic macrophages, but it clearly involved the surface Ia; anti-Ia antibodies directed to the allogeneic macrophages blocked the response (Greineder *et al.*, 1976). Clusters of macrophages and T cells were abundant in the stimulated cultures.

In essence, the polyclonal responses to lectins or to aldehyde generation were found to require macrophages either syngeneic or allogeneic with the T cells. An involvement of the *I* region was not found for the PHA response but was evident for the Con A response. Ia-positive macrophages were better in reconstituting the Con A response of the T cells, yet Ia-negative cells also had an effect. The involvement of the *I* region was well shown in the response to aldehydes by the inhibitory effect of antibodies. The involvement of macrophages in the lectin response involved the release of lymphostimulatory molecules (Section III,C). The nature of the involvement of the *I* region products in the T cell-macrophage interactions induced by lectins or aldehydes is not understood. The results suggest that macrophage-T cell contact induced by nonantigenic stimuli may result in interactions with the Ia antigens that generate the "signals" required for macrophage and T-cell stimulation.

C. INTERACTIONS WITH T AND B CELLS IN ANTIBODY FORMATION

The requirements for phagocytes in the immune response to thymus-dependent antigens have been examined extensively in a number of experimental systems. These systems vary from *in vivo* cell transfer using live macrophages with bound antigen, to cell culture assays, to approaches combining both *in vivo* and cell culture techniques. All the results indicate that macrophage-associated antigen is highly effective in promoting T-B cell collaboration; moreover, in many instances it appears essential for antigen to be bound to phagocytes for T-B cell interactions to develop. The issue of an essential role for phagocytes, however, cannot be generalized to all experimental systems.

The first series of experiments using live macrophages in a transfer system established that macrophage-bound antigen was highly efficient in inducing an antibody response (Unanue, 1972). All the antigens tested were protein antigens now known to be thymusdependent. Thymectomized mice did not respond to transfer of an antigen like hemocyanin bound to live macrophages, indicating that macrophage-bound antigen did not bypass the need for T cells and that both T and B cells interacted with the cell-bound immunogen (Unanue, 1970).

1. Hapten-Protein Conjugates

The interactions between T and B cells with macrophage-bound antigens were further analyzed using hapten-protein conjugates. One approach, taken by Kunin et al. (1972), was to immunize mice with live thioglycolate-induced macrophages previously pulsed with rabbit albumin and then to assay the spleen cells in cell cultures for the response to DNP-rabbit albumin. The presence of T cells immune to the carrier resulted in an enhanced anti-DNP response. Their results indicated an excellent generation of carrier-primed T cells by immunization with the macrophage-bound antigen. The experimental system was then manipulated using X-irradiated mice that received mixtures of thymus, bone marrow cells, and antigen-bearing macrophages. Excellent carrier-primed cells were found in spleens of X-irradiated mice injected simultaneously with thymocytes and macrophages, followed 8 days later with bone marrow cells: the reverse. however, giving bone marrow cells with macrophages first, followed 8 days later with the thymocytes, did not result in induction of carrierspecific T cells. Kunin et al. concluded that carrier priming developed only following T cell-macrophage interaction. A more detailed guantitative approach was followed by Klaus (1974) using the classical thymus-bone marrow Claman-type transfer system. Helper T cells were generated by transferring cortisone-resistant thymocytes into X-irradiated mice, together with soluble hemocyanin or hemocyaninbearing live macrophages; 5 days later, the helper T-cell activity in the spleen was assayed by cotransferring them together with bone marrow cells and then measuring the anti-DNP response. The macrophageassociated hemocyanin was several thousandfold more immunogenic than soluble hemocyanin in inducing carrier-primed cells in vivo, in accordance with earlier studies of the antibody response to the whole molecule (Unanue and Askonas, 1968a). Askonas and Roelants (1974) extended this type of observation, noting that the number of different anti-DNP B cell clones generated in vivo was much larger upon immunization with a DNP-protein bound to live macrophages.

David Katz and I (1973) analyzed the response to DNP proteins using the Mishell-Dutton systems, employing spleen cells from immunized mice. We found that DNP-hemocyanin bound to macrophages was about 10,000-fold more immunogenic than a similar amount of soluble or dish-bound protein. Whether DNP-hemocyanin was bound to macrophages directly or as part of an immune complex made no difference. One interesting result was found when adding soluble antigen together with macrophage-bound antigen to the T-B cell mixtures. In this situation, the response to macrophage-bound antigen was significantly reduced. A similar result had been previously reported in *in vivo* experiments (Spitznagel and Allison, 1971). The results imply that there are two forms of antigen that compete with each other, the macrophage-bound and the soluble antigen. Although not explored, it is possible that the soluble antigen acted by triggering suppressor T cells (Ishizaka and Adachi, 1976; Pierres and Germain, 1978).

Using hapten-conjugated proteins associated with macrophages, it was questioned whether both the haptenic and carrier protein had to be linked together in the same molecule or could be placed separately either in the same macrophages or in different ones. To do this, Askonas and Roelants (1974) transferred, in vivo, DNP-bovine γ -globulin-primed spleen cells with mixtures of macrophages, one bearing bovine γ -globulin and the second DNP-hemocyanin, and then assayed for the anti-DNP response. Although the control group challenged with macrophages bearing DNP-bovine γ -globulin gave excellent responses, the mixtures of macrophages was very weak. We analyzed this point ourselves by placing the hapten bound to the unrelated carrier protein (in our case, DNP-y-globulin) and the immunizing protein (hemocyanin), both on the same macrophage (Unanue and Katz, 1973). Using radioactive proteins, we were able to estimate that the amounts of both proteins bound to the macrophage were similar to the amount of DNP-hemocyanin bound to macrophages. The results indicated that lymphocytes would respond weakly to the unlinked hapten and carrier determinants on the same macrophage, but strongly if the determinants are bound in the same molecule (Fig. 3).

2. Depletion of Accessory Cells

A different approach from testing the immunogenicity of macrophage-bound antigen is to examine cultures for antibody formation in the absence or the presence of accessory cell, i.e., to ask how essential the accessory cells are for the B-T cell interactions to take place. An early approach was to deplete accessory cells, usually from spleen, on the basis of their adhesion to culture dishes. Mosier's first report (1967, 1969) showing that depletion of adherent cells blunted the antibody response to SRBC, was rapidly confirmed (Roseman, 1969; Pierce and Benacerraf, 1969; Pierce, 1969; Haskill *et al.*, 1970; Hartmann *et al.*, 1970; Shortman *et al.*, 1970; Feldmann and Palmer,


FIG. 3. This experiment shows the immunogenicity of hapten-proteins bound to macrophages. BALB/c mice received 25×10^6 DNP-hemocyanin-primed spleen cells with or without 12×10^6 macrophages. Mice were bled for anti-DNP antibody a week later. DNP-KLH M Φ : macrophages containing 3.1 µg of DNP-hemocyanin; KLH M Φ : macrophages containing 3.1 µg of DNP-hemocyanin; KLH M Φ : macrophages containing 3.2 µg of hemocyanin; DNP-BGG M Φ + KLH M Φ : received simultaneously one set of macrophages containing 3.7 µg of DNP-bovine γ -globulin and another set containing 13.2 µg of hemocyanin; DNP-BGG + KLH M Φ (I): both antigens were bound to the macrophages (2.7 µg and 9.7 µg, respectively); DNP-BGG + KLH M Φ (II): as I but with 0.2 µg of bovine γ -globulin and 16.4 µg of hemocyanin. The results indicate that the optimal immune response to macrophage-bound antigen was induced by the haptenic determinant linked to the carrier molecules. [From Unanue and Katz (1973).]

1971; Shortman and Palmer, 1971; Cosenza and Leserman, 1971; Feldmann, 1972; Sjoberg et al., 1972; Chen and Hirsh, 1972a,b; Moller et al., 1976; Lee et al., 1976; Niederhuber, 1978, 1980; Niederhuber and Allen, 1979; Wong and Hercowitz, 1979).

The response of SRBC has been the most frequently analyzed, probably because of its ease of production and analysis in culture. More recently, however, primary antibody responses in culture have been developed to protein antigens such as TNP conjugated to either synthetic polypeptides, like (TG)-AL or (HG)-AL, or to proteins like hemocyanin. These primary responses were found to be strictly dependent on accessory cells (Hodes and Singer, 1977; Singer *et al.*, 1978; Hodes *et al.*, 1978). Likewise, the development of helper T cells in culture, to be considered below, was strictly macrophage dependent (Erb and Feldmann, 1975a,b; McDougal and Gordon, 1977). Responses to synthetic polypeptides like GAT are also macrophage dependent (Pierce *et al.*, 1974).

The extent to which the T-B cell interactions leading to antibody formation in culture are accessory cell dependent becomes specially relevant in two circumstances: one is the secondary antibody response and the second with the use of 2-mercaptoethanol (2-ME).

Pierce's study (1969) showed that, while the primary response of cultured spleen cells to SRBC was easily abrogated by depletion of accessory cells, this was not the case for a secondary response. As early as 3 days after priming, no more than 50% depletion was possible. The same spleen from a mouse immune to SRBC would still respond after depletion of adherent cells but would not respond to burro red cells—a non-cross-reactive antigen. Pierce acknowledged that his method of depletion-by adherence-still left behind up to 1% phagocytes. Reports on the anti-DNP-response using spleen cells from mice immune to DNP-hemocyanin (Katz and Unanue, 1973) or DNP- $\phi \chi$ (Bluestein and Pierce, 1973a, 1973b) also indicated significant responses following depletion of accessory cells by the adhesion method of Mosier. In contrast, other studies using more stringent methods of depletion of accessory cells indicated that the secondary responses were markedly reduced-85 to 95%-by removal of accessory cells. These removed accessory cells by dish adherence method (Lamvik, 1969; Theis and Thorbecke, 1969; Radcliffe and Axelrod, 1971), by the use of glass bead columns (Feldmann and Palmer, 1971), anti-macrophage antibodies (Feldmann and Palmer, 1971), iron carbonyl (Sjoberg et al., 1971), or the Sephadex G-10 method (Ly and Mishell, 1974). The latter method has proved to be a simple, fast, and reproducible one for eliminating accessory cells.

3. Studies with 2-Mercaptoethanol

This reducing agent is a promoter of lymphocyte function and has been discussed as a possible substitute for macrophages in culture. Although the effects of thiols have been examined in a number of situations, some of which we have alluded to before, their actions have been particularly emphasized and discussed in the context of antibody formation *in vitro*. Early reports described that addition of 2-ME to cultures enhanced the proliferative response of lymphocytes to ligands

(Fanger et al., 1970) and to allogeneic cells (Heber-Katz and Click, 1972; Bevan et al., 1974); in general, 2-ME potentiated the function of all immunological cells in vitro, varying from antibody responses (Click et al., 1972), to antigen-driven T-cell responses (Section I.A), to cytolytic T-cell responses (Cerottini et al., 1974; Harris et al., 1976; Igarashi et al., 1977), to the growth of B lymphocyte colonies (Metcalf, 1976). Click and associates (1972) were the first to examine the effects of 2-ME on the antibody response to SRBC using the method of Mishell and Dutton. They found that addition of 2-ME, at an optimal dose of $2 \times 10^{-5} M$, resulted in a marked increase in the plaque-forming cell response of unfractionated spleen cells. This increase was clearly not associated with a promotion of cell viability. Because the reducing agent did not need to be added daily to the culture, Click et al. postulated that most likely it was affecting very early events; the half-life of the reducing agent was expected to be short. Kinetic study disclosed that the development of plaque-forming cells, in cultures with 2-ME, progressed at an exponential rate earlier and for longer periods than in cultures lacking the reducing agent.

Chen and Hirsch were the first to examine the action of 2-ME on the plaque-forming cell response of spleen cells depleted of adherent cells (1972a,b). They confirmed that depletion of adherent cells would result in marked reduction of the antibody response and that addition of peritoneal macrophages would reconstitute it. Their experiments indicated that addition of 2-ME resulted in a marked improvement of the response of the accessory cell-depleted spleens and that the 2-ME had to be present for at least 72 hours in cultures. They also found a marked improvement of cell viability by addition of the thiol; while nonadherent cells showed a poor recovery, about 3% of initial input recovered after 4 days, the addition to them of macrophages or 2-ME resulted in about 30% recovery. A logical conclusion was that at least one effect of 2-ME must be through its improvement of cell survival. Although there is no major disagreement with this point (Pierce et al., 1974), the issue is that 2-ME clearly had other major effects that resulted in an increase in cell growth. The results of Click et al. are not contradictory to those of Chen and Hirsch inasmuch as the former used unfractionated spleen cells; in Click's experiments, it was possible to observe a marked enhancement of a response by 2-ME without a marked effect on cell viability.

The critical point in Chen and Hirsch's work is the question of whether the response of T and B cells to SRBC in the presence of 2-ME is truly macrophage independent. This issue becomes critical with regard to an essential role of a macrophage-antigen-presenting

step. Chen and Hirsch faced this question attempting to enumerate macrophages in the spleens in various experimental manipulations. Their depletion method used adherence to plastic. Cognizant of the difficulties in enumerating macrophages, they proceeded to test for their presence by counting adherent cells, using either phagocytosis as an index or by the appearance of differentiated macrophages in cultures. In their estimates, the cultures of 5×10^6 nonadherent spleen cells contained from 500 to 2000 phagocytes, and a similar number after addition of 2-ME. Another 24 hours of culture in dishes, or 48 hours-the second 24 hours with 2-ME-resulted in further depletion to the extent of 220 macrophages per culture, respectively. In all instances, the antibody response to SRBC cells with 2-ME in the culture was the same regardless of the number of residual macrophages. Hence. Chen and Hirsch concluded that they had no evidence that the reducing agent was acting by increasing macrophage development in culture and that most likely its effect was by improving culture conditions. Other groups have confirmed these observations again using the SRBC response as the test antigen. Particularly noteworthy are the reports by Opitz and associates, who, by depleting macrophages using iron carbonyl or silica, completely abrogated the SRBC response. The impaired response was fully reconstituted by 2-ME (Lemke and Opitz, 1976; Opitz et al., 1977a,b).

In contrast to these results, other investigators have failed to reconstitute macrophage-depleted lymphoid cells by 2-ME. Ly and Mishell (1974), using their method of depletion by G-10, obtained inconsistent results. Hodes and Singer's (1977) studies on the primary response to TNP-proteins, in which accessory cells were depleted, also by G-10 columns, showed strict dependence on accessory cells without any effect whatsoever of 2-ME. Similar results were obtained by Erb and Feldman (1975a,b,c). The proliferative responses of T cells to antigen or lectins discussed previously were strictly macrophage dependent, and these, again, could not be replaced by 2-ME (Section II,A). The study of Rosenstreich and Mizel (1978), mentioned in Section II,B, is worth repeating in this context. Their results indicated that 2-ME synergized with macrophages to increase the response.

Two final points with regard to thiols are worth discussing before making some final conclusions on their use and significance. How are the thiols acting on the cell? Do they have a direct effect, or is it through a secondary product?

Broome and Jeng (1974) made a very thorough analysis of the effect of various thiols on the growth of normal spleen cells and various lymphoid tumor lines. Normal spleen cells and 13 of 22 tumor lines had increased growth in cultures when various thiols were added. In contrast, other cell lines—HeLa or fibroblasts, for example—were not influenced. There is general agreement now, from their studies, the early reports referred to before, and from recent publications, that thiols are very important growth potentiators for lymphocytes. These include the normal basal proliferation of lymphocytes (Lemke and Opitz, 1976; Goodman and Weigle, 1977), the growth of T cells upon lectin stimulation (for example, Lemke and Opitz, 1976; Rosenstreich and Mizel, 1978), or of B cells in response to anti-immunoglobulin antibodies (Sidman and Unanue, 1978, 1979; Sieckmann *et al.*, 1978), or to endotoxin (Lemke and Opitz, 1976). Other lymphoid tumor lines have also been shown to require 2-ME for growth (Hewlett *et al.*, 1977, 1979).

Broome and Jeng in their study went on to test various thiols trying to establish a functional-structural relationship. Various thiols and their disulfides promoted growth, in decreasing order of activity—for example, thioglycerol, the most potent of all, 2-ME mercaptopropionic acid, and cysteamine. Several substitutions of the basic thioethane compound resulted in changes, but the relationship of these with the growth potential was not found. For example, addition of a methyl group to the primary carbon did not affect the growth activity, but that of a polar group destroyed it. For more detailed analysis of these points, their paper should be consulted.

Are the thiols acting directly on the cell? The reducing activity of the thiols was brief—a few hours (Broome and Jeng, 1973); therefore, the expectation was that, if the compounds acted directly on the lymphocyte, they should do it during the first few hours of culture. Chen and Hirsch (1972b), however, found that medium containing 10% fetal calf serum treated with 2-ME retained its activity for promoting antibody formation for at least 3 days and suggested possible secondary effects. That the thiols might have direct effects was suggested by experiments in which 2-ME was added to cells in the absence of proteins; nevertheless the optimal growth potential required the addition of serum to the media (Lemke and Opitz, 1976).

Regardless of whether thiols directly act on a cell component, one way in which they promote growth is by the generation of an active molecule from plasma (Opitz *et al.*, 1977a,b; Hewlett *et al.*, 1979; Sidman and Unanue, 1978, 1979). The initial studies of Opitz *et al.* indicated that the fetal calf serum used for culturing lymphocytes, when treated with 2-ME, generated an active molecule about the size of ovalbumin. This molecule substituted for 2-ME in the culture and supported antibody formation to SRBC. The 2-ME-treated serum protein had to be added within 24 hours of culture and kept throughout the entire period. Our studies indicated that serum treated with 2-ME and then alkylated with iodoacetamide generated a 65,000-MW molecule that migrated electrophoretically like albumin and promoted growth of B cells and T cells (Sidman and Unanue, 1978; also in Braun and Unanue, 1980). The active moiety appeared, therefore, to be closely related to albumin. The later studies of Opitz *et al.* supported this conclusion (Hewlett *et al.*, 1979; Opitz *et al.*, 1978, 1980): Using affinity chromatography with Affi-Gel Blue columns, the 2-MEgenerated moiety behaved exactly like albumin; furthermore, purified bovine albumin treated with 2-ME also generated a growth-promoting activity. The biochemical basis for this effect has not been established. Last, it should be noted that incubation of macrophages with fetal calf serum did not generate the active moiety.

In essence, the thiols have been clearly shown to promote growth of all classes of lymphocytes. The issue of whether these compounds substitute for macrophages is not entirely resolved, in part, because of the difficulties in eliminating all phagocytes from heterogeneous cell populations. Taking the overall evidence from analysis of T cellantigen interactions or the T-B cell responses, particularly to protein antigens, one tends to favor the explanation that the antigen-presenting function of macrophages cannot be replaced by thiols. The thiols increase lymphocyte activity in cultures and, therefore, may replace a growth-maintenance function of macrophages vet may not be able to bypass the essential function of antigen presentation provided by the macrophage. It is possible, however, that in the presence of an agent like 2-ME the antigen-presenting function may be done by the B cell during its handling of antigen, particularly if these B cells are in high frequency, as in primed animals. This applies particularly to the SRBC response. Some direct evidence for B-cell presentation of antigen was presented by Kammer and Unanue (1980) but awaits further studies (see below).

4. Induction of Helper Cells

Continuing the analysis of T-B cell-macrophage interactions in culture, I will now review experiments attempting to analyze and dissect the interaction. Erb, Feldman, and their associates developed a two-stage culture system for the generation of carrier-primed helper T cells (Erb and Feldman, 1975a,b,c,d; Erb *et al.*, 1976, 1979a,b). First, T cells were cultured for 4 days with a protein antigen, resulting in the production of helper cells; the function of the helper T cell was assayed in a second culture by mixing the T cells with unprimed B cells and the appropriate hapten-protein conjugate, later measuring the anti-hapten response. The anti-hapten response—usually to DNP— was measured by a plaque-forming assay.

Carrier-specific helper T cells were generated, inducing a small to modest number of plaque-forming cells with rather large experimental variations. Nevertheless, the results in the various publications appeared to be highly consistent. The generation of helper T cells to hemocyanin or to (TG)-AL required the presence of accessory phagocytic cells in the culture. The 2-ME did not replace the need for macrophages. Macrophages pulsed with the antigen were also highly efficient in generating helper T cells. McDougal and Gordon (1977) developed a similar system. In their experiments, cortisone-resistant thymocytes developed into helper T cells upon culture with hemocyanin or fowl y-globulin. An excellent dose-response relationship was obtained, depending on the number of macrophages added to the culture. The primed T cells also generated an important nonspecific helper effect (assayed by challenging with DNP on an unrelated carrier protein) that was most pronounced with high numbers of T cells.

Erb and Feldman made a number of observations regarding the role of the macrophage in the generation of helper T cells. Marked differences were found between the response to hemocyanin added to the T cell-macrophage cultures either in soluble form or bound to Sepharose 2B particles. Thus, macrophages syngeneic with the T cells were required for the response to soluble hemocyanin-or the synthetic polypeptide (TG)-A-L (Erb and Feldman, 1975a,b). By mixing syngeneic and allogeneic macrophages, it was found that the lack of response by allogeneic macrophages could not be attributed to a suppressor effect. Furthermore, using strains of congenic mice with intra-H-2 recombinations, it was possible to map the locus controlling the interactions to the I-A region of H-2 (Erb and Feldman, 1975c). The response to hemocyanin-Sepharose also required macrophages vet could be partially replaced by 2-ME and, in contrast to the response to soluble hemocyanin, allogeneic macrophages were effective. The implications were that *I*-region restrictions did not take place with particulate antigens.

A second point explored by Erb and Feldman concerned the requirements for macrophage–T cell contact. In their first experiment (1975a), helper T cells were generated in a double-chamber culture where the macrophages were separated by a 0.2- μ m pore filter. This suggested that macrophages operated by releasing a soluble molecule. Direct examination for this material was done by culturing macrophages with the antigens for 4 days and then using the conditioned media to culture the T cells. Culture fluids from syngeneic, but not from allogeneic, macrophages generated antigen-specific T helper cells to soluble proteins when added at ranges from 1 to 10%(volume/volume). This "genetically restricted factor" could be removed from solution by an immunoabsorbent column containing anti-I-A antibodies, but not by one containing anti-Ig antibodies. The conclusion reached by Erb and Feldman was that the macrophage released a molecule with Ia determinants and antigen-binding specificity. A different molecule was formed in cultures of macrophages that were cultured with hemocyanin, or without, that could generate helper T cells to Sepharose-hemocyanin, without any H-2restrictions.

Finally, a brief comment on the differences found by Erb and Feldman between soluble and particulate-bound hemocyanin. This lack of *I*-region restriction with particulate antigens cannot be generalized because it was not found for SRBC (Kappler and Marrack, 1976; Sprent, 1978a,b,c; Niederhuber *et al.*, 1979) or for bacteria (Farr *et al.*, 1979a). One possible explanation is that the initial T-cell culture contained sufficient macrophages to serve as antigen-presenting cells, but only in cooperation with the growth factor. This bead-bound hemocyanin is very likely to interact much more efficiently with any few residual macrophages than the soluble antigen.

Important experiments to discuss are those of Ishizaka and Adachi (1976), who examined the generation of helper T cells in vitro. They found a major difference if the T cells were incubated with macrophage-bound antigen or with soluble antigen in the absence of macrophages. Normal spleen cells were cultured on ovalbumin bound to syngeneic peritoneal macrophages for 5 days, after which their function as helper cells was assayed by in vivo adoptive transfer; the T cells were inoculated with DNP-hemocyanin-primed B cells into X-irradiated mice, which were boosted with DNP-ovalbumin and then assayed for the IgG and IgE anti-DNP response. T cells cultured with macrophages developed helper T cell function. In contrast, when the lymphocytes were incubated with 10 μ g of ovalbumin per milliliter in the absence of macrophages, no helper cells developed, but instead T cell suppressors that blocked the response to ovalbumin of normal mice. The results were found with both the IgG and IgE response. This is an important experiment that strongly supports that the mode of antigen presentation is a critical step in immune induction. It brings out good evidence that antigen not presented in the macrophage stimulates preferentially the suppressive pathway. The generation of suppression *in vivo* by high doses of antigen may well be explained by a bypass of the macrophage requirement. Another experiment supporting Ishizaka's result is that of Pierres and Germain (1978), to be discussed later.

5. MHC Restrictions

The *I*-region-dependent regulation of macrophage-B and T cell interactions was examined in a number of systems, all of which indicated that Ia-bearing phagocytes matching at the *I* region with the T cells were required for the interaction. For example, Hodes and Singer and their associates studied extensively the primary *in vitro* responses of mixtures of T and B cells to TNP-(TG)-AL or TNP-hemocyanin (Hodes and Singer, 1977; Singer *et al.*, 1977, 1978, 1979; Hodes *et al.*, 1978, 1979). The response was strongly dependent on phagocytic accessory cells identified with the use of a cytotoxic assay as bearing both I-A and I-E/I-C determinants (Hodes *et al.*, 1978; Dickler *et al.*, 1980). The response to both proteins required that T cells and macrophages share the *I*-A region of *H*-2 (Singer *et al.*, 1977, 1978).

Kappler and Marrack's laboratory, with a somewhat different approach, reached the same conclusions (Kappler and Marrack, 1976, 1978). In their system, F_1 mice from the combination (C57BL/ $6 \times DBA/2$) were inoculated in vivo with hemocyanin-pulsed macrophages from either of the parental strains; the T cells were subsequently isolated and cultured with B cells and macrophages from one or the other parents, together with haptenated hemocyanin; the antihapten response was measured by a plaque assay. The F_1 T cells cooperated only with the T cell-macrophage of the parental strain used for priming (Kappler and Marrack, 1976). In a subsequent study, the T cells reactive with the antigen were enriched in culture, by first placing them on a monolayer of macrophages bearing the antigen (Swierkosz et al., 1978). Binding of T cells to macrophages took place if the macrophages were pulsed with the specific antigen. Furthermore, using the system of F_1 T cells primed in vivo, described earlier, it was possible to identify two populations of F, T cells, each binding to one or the other parental macrophages. The F_1 T cells isolated exhibited helper activity when tested with B cells and macrophages that had the same K through I-A region as the macrophages used for the isolation (Swierkosz et al., 1979). The antigens used in the system were hemocyanin, (TG)-AL, and SRBC.

A third system of *I*-region-dependent macrophage-lymphocyte interaction is the primary SRBC response. Niederhuber's laboratory analyzed its macrophage requirement and found that macrophages bearing Ia were essential (Niederhuber, 1978, 1980). The Ia-bearing macrophages contained antigenic determinants coded in *I-A*, *I-E/C*, and *I-J*. Niederhuber's most provocative observation concerned the effect of antibodies to the *I-J* subregion (Niederhuber *et al.*, 1979; Niederhuber and Allen, 1980). They found that a brief 30-minute treatment at 37° C of spleen macrophages with antibodies to *I-J* resulted in a complete loss of function when T-B cells were added; similar treatment with antibodies to I-A or I-E/C did not affect the macrophages.

The in vitro antibody response to the synthetic terpolymer of L-glutamic acid-L-alanine-L-tyrosine (GAT), an antigen under Ir-gene control, showed peculiar characteristics insofar as MHC restrictions that merit attention. The response to GAT was dependent on adherent accessory cells (Pierce *et al.*, 1974) and could be reconstituted with GAT pulsed to syngeneic or allogeneic macrophages (Pierce et al., 1976). Furthermore, the removal of macrophages from the spleen cell suspension (of a "responder" mouse strain) resulted in the ready development of specific suppressor T cells (Pierres and Germain, 1978; Germain et al., 1980) (Fig. 4). The suppressor cells were also found in unfractionated spleen cells by adding a large amount of GAT. (The suppressor T cells were assayed by their inhibition of the development of a primary anti-GAT response to syngeneic spleen cells.) This last result again depicts the balance between the development of helper and suppressor T cells, depending on the way in which antigen is introduced: suppression may be favored by antigens not presented in macrophages or presented—as in the case of an excess of soluble antigen-perhaps in the context of a "wrong" antigen-presenting cell.

Further analysis of the GAT system disclosed that, although no MHC restrictions were found insofar as macrophage presentation, these did take place in situations where the T and B cells came from mice primed *in vivo* with GAT-bearing macrophages. Thus, mice were primed *in vivo* with GAT bound to syngeneic or allogeneic macrophages, and their spleen cells were later examined in culture: response took place only with the GAT bound to the macrophages used for priming, whether syngeneic or allogeneic (Pierce *et al.*, 1976). In a different situation, the spleen cells from F_1 mice between a responder and a nonresponder strain, primed *in vivo* with "responder" or "nonresponder" strain GAT-pulsed macrophages would make antibody to the GAT pulsed with the macrophage used for priming (Pierce *et al.*, 1977). In contrast, in the T cell proliferative response to GAT, F_1 T cells would proliferate only to GAT bound to responder strain macrophages (Yano *et al.*, 1978). The same results were found by Miller



FIG. 4. This experiment shows the induction of suppressor T cells by incubation of macrophage-depleted spleen cells with copolymer L-glutamic acid-L-alanine-L-tyrosine (GAT). Unfractionated or nonadherent spleen cells were cultured for 2 days with the antigens indicated in the graph. The "educated" cells were then added to fresh cultures of syngeneic spleen cells stimulated with GAT. Cells cultured in the absence of adherent cells with 10 μ g of GAT generated suppressor activity. [From Pierres and Germain (1978).]

studying delayed sensitivity (Section II,D). Also, Howie and Feldman (1978) reported collaboration to GAT only between macrophages of responder strains interacting with B cells and T helper factors. However, recent studies by Araneo and Kapp (1980), using proliferation as the assay, again found that F_1 T cells proliferated to both responder or nonresponder macrophages, which leaves the issue unresolved. The GAT system may be a unique situation, but it should be considered at a time when the molecular mechanisms underlying the recognition of antigen and Ia are better understood. Perhaps the structure of GAT is such that an association of it with a macrophage *I*-region product, if indeed taking place, results in similar configurations, regardless of *I*-region haplotype. The genetic defect of the GAT would be placed then at the level of the lymphocyte.

It should be noted that, in some studies, *I*-region-restricted interactions between the macrophages and the lymphocytes were not found (Katz and Unanue, 1973; Unanue, 1978). In these experiments, al-

logeneic macrophages presented haptenated hemocyanins effectively to *immune* spleen cells that were not fractionated or were not stringently depleted of macrophages and, therefore contained syngeneic macrophages. The possibility was raised of transfer of antigen from the allogeneic to the syngeneic macrophages (or B cells) (Unanue, 1978). Indeed, this system has been used to support a pathway of presentation of antigen from macrophages to another antigen-presenting cell not involving an MHC-restricted interaction (Section III.B). Pierce and Malek (1980) obtained evidence supporting this possibility in the in vitro response of mice to fowl γ -globulin. Syngeneic and allogeneic antigen-pulsed macrophages stimulated about the same response of unfractionated immune spleens. However, only syngeneic macrophages presented antigen when the spleen cells were totally depleted of macrophages by the Sephadex G-10 method of Ly and Mishell (1974). Evidence of release of immunogenic antigen was also obtained in this study.

An *in vivo* demonstration of the MHC-restricted interaction between helper T cells and antigen-presenting cells has been elegantly demonstrated by Sprent. His basic experiments consisted of injecting $(CBA \times BL/6)F_1$ purified T cells into an X-irradiated mouse of one or the other parental strain together with SRBC. The F_1 T cells were recovered from the thoracic duct lymph and cotransferred with the antigen and parental strain B cells into X-irradiated mice, which were later examined for their plaque-forming cell number (Sprent, 1978a,b). The immune T cells in the initial host were depleted from the thoracic duct cells during the first 2 days, indicating their transient removal from the circulation, but appeared in large number by 6 days. Thus, by examining day 2 or day 6 thoracic duct cells, "negative" or "positive" selection of immune T cells could be shown. The results indicated that F, T cells would cooperate only with the B cells of the same parental strain used for the *in vivo* priming and supported the concept that these F₁ T helper cells comprised two distinct groups. Sprent went on to show that the selection was found only when transferring purified T cells (to the first host). Transferring spleen cells showed no preference, suggesting that antigen-presenting cells in the spleen competed with those of the host. This was shown directly by cotransferring peritoneal exudate cells of one or the other parent, together with purified T cells (Table IV) (Sprent, 1978a). In the experiment shown in Table IV, F₁ T cells transferred into BL/6 preferentially helped B cells of BL/6; this preference was not found if the peritoneal exudate cells were added to the T-cell inoculum. Sprent has recently shown that the selection process could be blocked by injection of anti-Ia antibodies (1980b). He

T-cell group	T cells	PE cells added during positive selection	B cells	Anti-SRBC PFC per spleen at 7 days in irradiated F1	
				IgM	IgG
A	$F_1 T \rightarrow B6$		СВА	1,770 (1.12)	1,580 (1.52)
			B6	17,280 (1.14)	37,050 (1.13)
В	$F_1 T \rightarrow B6$	3×10^7 CBA PE	CBA	26,950 (1.16)	67,740 (1.13)
			B6	21,160 (1.19)	47,880 (1.16)
С	$F_1 T \rightarrow B6$	3×10^7 B6 PE	CBA	2,150 (1.34)	8,140 (1.37)
			B6	57,330 (1.24)	114,910 (1.02)
D	$F_1 T \rightarrow CBA$		CBA	19,740 (1.12)	59,400 (1.06)
	•		B 6	1,300 (1.30)	2,160 (1.14)

TABLE IV ANTIGEN PRESENTATION in Vivo^a

"This table is taken from Sprent's study (1978a). (CBA \times BL/6)F₁ nylon-woolpurified T cells were injected into X-irradiated BL/6 mice together with sheep red cells (SRBC). In groups B and C, CBA or B6 peritoneal exudate (PE) cells were injected together with the T cells. Thoracic duct lymphocytes were harvested 7 days later and transferred with B cells (of CBA or B6) into F₁ X-irradiated animals plus sheep red cells. The results show the plaque-forming cells (PFC) after subtraction of the background values.

has concluded that the activation of helper T cells was H2 restricted in vivo, that the cells presenting antigens were enriched in spleen and in peritoneal exudates, and that they were radioresistant, belonging most likely to the phagocyte lineage (1980a).

Finally I will analyze very briefly, but speculate freely on, the controversial issue of whether the *I*-region control in the interaction of T and B lymphocytes with macrophages is at the level of the macrophage-T cell interaction exclusively or applies also to the interaction of B and T cells as initially postulated by Katz's laboratory (Katz et al., 1973, 1978). There is no argument that macrophage-T cell interactions result in the development of helper T cells. The point is whether the T-cell clones reactive to an antigen in the context of an *I*-region determinant of an appropriate macrophage need also to interact with a B cell bearing the same I-region product. A number of experiments indicated that T cells from F₁ animals selected on macrophages from one parent will collaborate only with the B cells of the same parent (Yamashita and Shevach, 1978; Sprent, 1978a,b; Swierkosz et al., 1978; Andersson et al., 1980). However, other experiments suggest that the primary restrictive *I*-region interaction is only between macrophages and T cells (for example, Singer et al., 1979; McDougal and Cort, 1978). An explanation for these discrepant results

awaits further studies. It may well be that at least in culture there are various pathways to activate B cells. For example, release of nonspecific helper factors from the T cell-macrophage interaction that trigger B cells without an *I*-region restrictive interaction (Section III,C).

There is no *a priori* reason why selected T cells cannot interact with the B cell in an *I*-region-restricted way. B cells take up and handle antigen in a manner analogous to macrophages (Engers and Unanue, 1973), the exception being that only the B cells with specific receptors can interact with antigens, whereas all the macrophages in a population are capable of antigen-binding. An antigen presentation role for the B cell may explain various observations: (*a*) that B cells recognize mostly conformational determinants of a globular protein (Sela, 1969); (*b*) yet T cells recognize unfolded or denatured determinants; but (*c*) hapten and carrier determinants of an antigen have to be linked together for optimal interactions. These three observations could be explained if a B cell recognizes a protein antigen in its tertiary structure, "processes" it, and then presents the "processed" or "carrier" determinants to the T cell in the context of its Ia molecule.

Direct examination of antigen presentation from B cells to T cells has been difficult to test and, in general, has not been critically examined. Technical difficulties in separating macrophages from B cells limit the experiments. Our laboratory has recently presented suggestive evidence that B cells may present hemocyanin to T cells (Kammer and Unanue, 1980). The proliferation of T cells was highly favored by the addition of macrophage-conditioned medium to the culture. More recent results using Ig as antigen support an antigen presenting function of B cells (Chestnut and Grey, 1971). It is possible that the B cell may present antigen, but only for the purpose of receiving back the T cell helper signal that it acquires by direct cell contact. However, the B cell will be limited in its capacity to reciprocate by providing a stimulus required for the activation and growth of the T cell. Thus, the stimulation of the T cell becomes the responsibility of the phagocytes. which are abundant and capable of freely binding antigen. (The inability of B cells to support T cell growth is also shown by their poor role as stimulators in the mixed leukocyte reaction.) This explanation does not exclude that a B cell, under appropriate circumstances, can also be stimulated by macrophage factors and/or non-specific T helper factors in situations that do not involve an I-region-restricted step (Section III.C). However, the fact that, for optimal in vivo responses, the hapten and carrier determinants must be linked in the same molecules (reviewed in Katz, 1977) argues for the major pathway being that of B

cell stimulation by close contact with T cells. Hence, the scenario that I envision for the three cells is that phagocytes are the primary antigen-handling cells that result in the selection, growth, and stimulation of the *I*-region-restricted T cells. The B cells are stimulated when they recognize intact antigen (either free or bound also to phagocytes) and presents it to the T cell in a process that could be modulated by soluble helper factors from either the macrophage or the T cell.

The studies described in this section permit the conclusion that: (a)macrophage-bound antigen is a highly effective mode of antigen presentation for T-B cell interactions; (b) the macrophages are required for the primary antibody response to thymic-dependent antigens, either for protein or particulate antigens: (c) the requirement for macrophages in secondary response or for primary responses to SRBC in the presence of a growth promoter, e.g., 2-ME, are less stringent; it is even possible that macrophages may not be essential in these situations; (d) in most studies, the interactions between T and B cells with macrophage-bound antigen involve the *I* region of the macrophage; that is to say, antigen presentation for T-B collaboration involves Iabearing macrophages and shows requirements for I-A homology, as in the proliferative systems described before; and (f) interactions of T lymphocytes with antigen in the absence of macrophages favor the development of suppressor cells. Finally, in all studies so far, the helper T cells involved in I-region-restricted interaction with macrophages bear the Ly1 marker and not the Ly2 antigen characteristic of the suppressor and cytolytic T cells (reviewed by Katz, 1977; and Cantor and Boyse, 1977).

D. INTERACTIONS WITH T CELLS IN CELLULAR IMMUNITY REACTIONS

I am referring in this section to cellular immunity reactions that result in accumulation of phagocytes in foci of immune reactions and in macrophage activation for increased microbicidal and tumoricidal activity. Cellular immunity reactions constitute the basis of resistance to intracellular pathogenic microorganisms, such as the facultative intracellular bacteria, protozoa, viruses, and fungi. An important component of macrophage activation is also found in the response to tumors. Delayed-type hypersensitivity and contact sensitivity reactions are expressions of cellular immunity reactions to protein antigens or contact sensitizers deposited in the skin. These reactions involve immune T cells that, by way of various soluble mediators, call forth and activate macrophages. The activated macrophages are bone marrow-derived phagocytes that have changed their biology, developing a heightened cytocidal activity. Such activated macrophages will be able to stop growth and/or kill bacteria, protozoa, and tumors (for papers on these issues, see MacKaness, 1962; MacKaness and Blanden, 1967; Dannenberg, 1968; North, 1969, 1978; McGregor *et al.*, 1971; Lane and Unanue, 1972; David and David, 1972; Lefford, 1975; Karnovsky and Lazdins, 1978; Cohn, 1978).

A major and apparently essential component in the stimulation of T cells to bring about macrophage accumulation and activation is an interaction of the T cell with Ia-bearing phagocytes. Several experimental systems have been used to examine this issue, some involving *in vivo* analysis, others involving culture approaches. For didactic reasons, these several approaches are now considered separately.

1. Delayed Sensitivity

The first transfer of delayed-type hypersensitivity reactions involving contact sensitizers or tuberculin were made by Landsteiner and Chase (1942) and Chase (1945) using outbred guinea pigs. They transferred peritoneal cells from outbred immune guinea pigs into nonimmune recipients, which were skin tested hours later. Successful transfer required a large number of lymphoid cells. Subsequent to these pioneering studies, lymphocyte transfers employed cells from inbred animals to avoid primarily tissue rejection. The first indication that the effective transfer of delayed reactions by lymphocytes required an important contribution by the host involving the Ir genes came from the studies of Green, Paul, and Benacerraf using outbred guinea pigs (Green et al., 1967). They were pursuing the analysis of the genetics of the immune response to the polylysine compounds (Kantor et al., 1963) and were attempting to transfer the capacity to develop delayed sensitivity from a "responder" to a "nonresponder" guinea pig. Lymphoid cells from responder guinea pigs were able to transfer the reaction to responder, but not to nonresponder, guinea pigs, suggesting to Green et al. "that some essential genetic controlling processing step on the antigen, specific for L-lysine sequences, must take place before sensitized cells capable of binding the antigenic determinant can be stimulated by such antigens." Subsequent studies linked the response to poly(L-lysine) compounds to the MHC of the guinea pigs (Ellman et al., 1970; Martin et al., 1970). Responder and nonresponder animals differed primarily at the I region (Benacerraf et al., 1971).

In 1975, Miller and his associates reevaluated the transfer of delayed sensitivity using inbred strains of mice (Miller *et al.*, 1975). Mice were immunized with fowl γ -globulin in Freund's adjuvant; their lympho-

cytes were harvested and transferred to various inbred strains syngeneic or allogeneic with the donor of the cells. The recipient mice were later challenged in the ear with a small amount of the antigen; the accumulation of cells radiolabeled by a pulse of [¹²⁵I]iodobromodeoxyuridine (Vadas *et al.*, 1975) was taken as a measure of delayed sensitivity. The basic results of their experiments were that the sensitized T cells could transfer the reaction to syngeneic, but not to allogeneic, recipients; furthermore, using recipient mice from inbred strains sharing part of the *H*-2, it was found that successful transfer required identity at *I*-A subregion between the donor and recipient strains of mice. No suppressor mechanism could be ascertained for the restriction of the transfer (Vadas *et al.*, 1977).

A logical candidate for the restriction of the transfer of delayed sensitivity was the macrophage as per the results found by Rosenthal and Shevach's study of 1973 (Section II,A). Delayed sensitivity reactions were known to be very successfully induced-or the reactions elicited in the immune animal-by transferring antigen bound to live macrophages (Unanue and Feldman, 1971; Feldman and Unanue, 1971; Seeger and Oppenheim, 1972). Miller et al. proceeded to immunize F₁ mice (between CBA, an H-2^b strain, and BALB/c, an H-2^d) by injecting them with live macrophages from either of the parental strains pulsed with antigen (fowl γ -globulin or hemocyanin). Such mice, as expected, developed strong delayed reactions (Miller et al., 1976, 1979); their lymphocytes were able to transfer the delayed reactivity only to the recipient mice of the same strain as the antigen-carrying macrophage. In other experiments, it was found that a delayed reaction could be elicited in immune mice if injected with live macrophages bearing antigen, but only if the macrophages were syngeneic or semiallogeneic. Overall, these experiments, therefore, pointed to the antigen-presenting event as the one responsible for restricting the transfer of the reaction.

Other experiments used an antigen under *Ir*-gene control, i.e., an antigen that results in responsive or unresponsive states among inbred strains, like the copolymer of glutamic acid-alanine-tyrosine (GAT). It was found that GAT-immune cells from an F_1 between a responder and a nonresponder would transfer the delayed sensitivity state only to mice from a responder strain (Miller *et al.*, 1977, 1979). Furthermore, F_1 recipients could be sensitized by macrophages pulsed with GAT from a responder strain but not with macrophages from the nonresponder (Miller *et al.*, 1979). Finally, cultured bone marrow cells pulsed with antigen were able to induce a delayed sensitivity state when transferred into normal recipients. Killing the Ia-bearing mac-

rophages by treatment with anti-Ia (plus serum as complement) did not sensitize (Motram and Miller, 1980).

2. Contact Sensitivity

The Langerhans cells of the skin are further reviewed in Section III, A. In this section, we consider this phagocytic cell as a strong candidate for presentation of antigens introduced by way of the epidermis. Langerhans cells are found throughout the epidermis, mainly in the upper layers of the stratum malpighii. They appear in hematoxylin and eosin stains as cells with a clear cytoplasm containing a peculiar organelle—the Birbeck granule—consisting of a rod-shaped structure contained in a membrane-limited vesicle. Langerhans cells can be distinguished by their content of ATPase and their uptake of gold salts (reviewed by Breathnach, 1975; and by Silberberg-Sinakin *et al.*, 1978).

Interest was aroused in the finding that, in man, guinea pigs, and mice, Langerhans cells contained Fc and C3 receptors (Stingl et al., 1977) and bore Ia antigens (Rowden et al., 1977, 1978; Klarskog et al., 1977; Stingl et al., 1978a,b,c; Forsum et al., 1979b; Tamaki et al., 1979). Langerhans cells also took up a variety of soluble and particulate antigens and thus had characteristics with the cells of the mononuclear phagocyte system (Shelley and Juhlin, 1977; Silberberg-Sinakin et al., 1978). In contrast to classical mononuclear phagocytes, the Langerhans cells contained few lysosomes and showed little pinocytic activity. The phagocyte, in turn, lacked the typical Birbeck granule (Birbeck et al., 1961).

Stingl and associates made a major observation by isolating the keratinocytes rich in Langerhans cells and establishing in culture that they could present antigen in systems involving T cell proliferation (Stingl et al., 1978a,b, 1980). They isolated epidermal cells and selected by density gradient those bearing Fc receptors and capable of binding opsonized red cells. This Langerhans cell-rich fraction was added with antigen (ovalbumin) to cultures of immune T cells from syngeneic or allogeneic strains of guinea pigs. A strong proliferative response was obtained by ovalbumin presented in Langerhans cells, but only in syngeneic combinations. Killing the Langerhans cell with anti-Ia resulted in a complete loss of the response. Langerhans cells were also found to be good stimulators in the mixed leukocyte reaction; also, T cells from guinea pigs immune by skin sensitization with picryl chloride were found to proliferate in culture upon interactions with trinitrophenyl conjugated to syngeneic macrophages (Thomas et al., 1977a) or to isolated Langerhans cells (Stingl et al., 1978a, 1980).

Thus, overall, Langerhans cells were behaving as the conventional Ia-bearing macrophage, insofar as their capacity to take up and present antigen.

The finding of a phagocyte-like cell in the epidermis bearing Ia and capable of antigen binding and presentation raises the issue of whether this is the cell responsible for immunization to antigens that contact and bind to the skin (Silberberg et al., 1976). There is evidence that the Langerhans cell increases in the skin after application of a contact sensitizer and migrates into the dermal lymphatics and into the draining lymph nodes (Silberberg et al., 1975; Silberberg-Sinakin and Thorbecke, 1980). These events may be essential steps in transporting and providing the immunogen to the lymphoid elements. Experiments of Macher and Chase (1969) provided evidence that the skin was directly responsible for the presentation of antigen. They painted the guinea pig ears with a contact sensitizer and evaluated the effects of excising the ear on the later development of contact sensitivity. Ear excisions 24 hours after painting, when 80% of the sensitizer had escaped via the circulation, completely abolished the development of delayed sensitivity. This indicated that the antigen that was rapidly removed was not immunogenic. However, removal of the skin site at later times showed progressively less effect until the third and fourth days, at which times were was no effect, i.e., sensitization had taken place. They concluded that the skin depot was responsible for sensitization; to quote, "these results support the concept of interaction between allergen and host tissue at the site as being essential for transformation of the simple chemical into the sensitizing antigen" (Macher and Chase, 1969). Very convincing evidence that this is by way of the Langerhans cell was provided by Toews, Bergstresser, and Streilen (Toews et al., 1980). They sensitized mice with DNFB on areas of the skin varying in their content of Langerhans cells and later measured the delayed reactions by ear swelling after application of the sensitizer. Painting of the tail skin with a content of 100 Langerhans cells per square millimeter resulted in very weak reactivity in contrast to painting on the skin of the abdomen, a site with a high content of Langerhans cells (700/mm²). Toews et al. went on to show that Langerhans cells disappeared after ultraviolet irradiation of the skin and that painting the irradiated skin resulted in no sensitization. As a control, they showed that mice sensitized on areas not directly exposed to ultraviolet light were able to develop a delayed sensitivity state. Very interestingly, not only was the painting on tail skin or ultravioletirradiated skin ineffective, but it apparently resulted in a tolerant state; i.e., mice painted with DNFB on tail or on ultraviolet-irradiated skin were later painted for a second time on normal abdominal skin and subsequently challenged; the first exposure resulted in specific abrogation of sensitization. The data, therefore, clearly supported a cardinal effect of the skin most likely via the Langerhans cells in inducing a local state of immunity.

3. Lymphokine Secretion

Cellular immunity reactions are believed to be mediated by a number of mediators released by T cells in the course of antigen stimulation. The secretion of macrophage inhibitory factor by guinea pig or murine T cells challenged by antigen in culture required the presence of macrophages (Wahl et al., 1975a,b; Nelson and Leu, 1975; Ohishi and Onoue, 1975; Landolfo *et al.*, 1977) and was inhibited by anti-Ia antibodies (Ben-Sasson et al., 1974). The same macrophage requirement applied to the secretion of macrophage chemotactic factor induced by antigen (Wahl et al., 1975a), osteoclast-activating factor induced by PHA (Horton et al., 1974), and mitogenic factor induced by human T cells (Larsson, 1978; Breard et al., 1979). The secretion of macrophage-activating factor by murine T cells required Ia-positive macrophages (Farr et al., 1979b). Once secreted, the various lymphocyte mediators acted on macrophages regardless of their strain of origin or Ia content (Fidler, 1975; Riisgaard et al., 1978; Farr et al., 1979b). As in most interactions in culture between macrophages and lymphoid cells, their amount and state of macrophage activation was critical. Lymphokine secretion was suppressed, for example, using activated macrophages from tumor-bearing mice (Varesio et al., 1979). The nature of the suppressive function of the activated macrophages may be multiple (Section III,C).

4. Antibacterial Immunity and Macrophage Activation

The only studies of induction and development of cellular immunity to facultative bacteria have used *Listeria monocytogenes*, an organism that induces a severe infection in mice. Resistance to *Listeria* depends on the recruitment and activation of phagocytes resulting from T cell stimulation (MacKaness and Blanden, 1967). I will not review here the process of macrophage recruitment and activation but will focus exclusively on the events leading to T cell stimulation. The first indication of the involvement of the MHC in anti-*Listeria* immunity came from the studies of Zinkernagel and associates (Zinkernagel, 1974; Zinkernagel *et al.*, 1977). The experimental setup consisted of measuring *Listeria* growth in tissues of recipients of *Listeria*-immune T cells; i.e., T cells were harvested from immune mice and injected intravenously into normal mice, followed a few hours later with live Listeria organisms; viable bacteria were estimated by colony counts a day later. It was found that the H-2 complex restricted the successful transfer of antibacterial immunity; in order for bacterial counts to be reduced by 100- to 1000-fold, it was necessary that the recipient and donors of the T cells match at the *I*-A region. Limited experiments also suggested the presence of two H-2 reactive T cells in F_1 recipients. The interpretation of these studies was the same as that given to Miller's, i.e., that the development of T cell reactivity required an initial interaction with host accessory cells regulated by the *I* region.

In our laboratory, we investigated the interactions between Listeria-immune T cells and macrophages that resulted in either macrophage or T cell stimulation (Farr et al., 1977, 1979a,b; Ziegler and Unanue, 1979; Beller et al., 1980). Listeria-immune T cells were placed in culture, together with peritoneal macrophages and heatkilled Listeria organisms. After 24 hours, the culture supernatants were harvested and assayed for a number of mediators, while the macrophages were tested for tumoricidal function. After 24 hours of interaction with T cells, the macrophages were highly cytocidal and killed ⁵¹Cr-labeled P815 tumor cells. In order for the macrophages to develop cytocidal function, it was necessary that there be I-region homology between T cells and macrophages and that the macrophages bear Ia antigens. By mixing immune Listeria T cells from one strain with macrophages from various congenic lines, it was possible to map the H-2 restriction to I-A subregions with a minor involvement in I-E/C. At the same time that macrophages developed cytolytic activity, secretion of mediators took place. Among them we found a macrophage-activating factor and a 15,000 MW mitogen identical to the lymphocyte-activating factor (LAF) made by the macrophage (Section III.C). Again, the secretion of all mediators involved a first interaction regulated by the I region. Identical results were obtained assaying for T-cell proliferation. Using a functional assay that measures the direct binding of T cells to the macrophages, it was possible to ascertain that T cells would interact with macrophage-bound Listeria only if the macrophages showed surface Ia and genetically shared the I-A region (Ziegler and Unanue, 1979 (Section III,B).

In summary, the studies in cellular immunity have indicated that (a) macrophage-bound antigen can transfer—or elicit—a delayedsensitivity state and that these reactions involve the *I* region of the macrophage; (b) an antigen-handling step restricts the cellular transfer of delayed reactions and cellular immunity to infection, and this restriction maps to the *I* region; (c) skin phagocytes are most likely the cells responsible for elicitation of contact sensitivity by presenting and carrying the sensitizer to the T cells, again involving an *I*-region function; (d) in culture, the production of mediators and the activation of the macrophage requires recognition of antigen bound to a phagocyte. Such recognition has the same characteristics shown for the proliferative response. Finally, the T cell involved in the cellular immunity reactions described above bears the Lyl antigen and thus belongs to the helper subset.

E. INTERACTIONS WITH B CELLS AND POLYCLONAL STIMULI

The critical issue here is whether polyclonal stimuli, most of which are regarded as thymic-independent antigens, will act on B cells without the need of macrophages or do so only with the intervention of the phagocytes. The macrophage dependency of B cell proliferation and differentiation induced by polyclonal stimuli in cell cultures has not been an easy problem to tackle and, furthermore, has not been pursued as thoroughly as the T-cell responses to antigen. Discrepant results are frequent, even within a single laboratory, most likely because of the difficulties in counting and eliminating phagocytes. The problem of separating phagocytes from B cells has not been adequately resolved, and most methods have some problems: for example, the iron-carbonyl method, while removing macrophages, also eliminates some B cells; overall, whether polyclonal stimuli act directly on the B cell or by way of the macrophage still requires critical evaluation.

Some polyclonal stimuli, most notably Escherichia coli lipopolysaccharide (LPS), induce B cell proliferation and differentiation after macrophage depletion and thus appear to be macrophage independent (reviewed in Coutinho and Moller, 1975; Persson et al., 1978). Some of the responses involving LPS, however, do involve the macrophage. The LPS stimulates the release of powerful lymphostimulatory molecules from macrophages, and these molecules definitely have an effect in B- and T-cell responses in culture (see Section III.C). In a system extensively analyzed by Hoffman and colleagues (1979), it was found that spleen cells responded with an antibody response to TNP coupled to autologous red cells, but only in the presence of LPS, confirming earlier reports (Schmidtke and Dixon, 1972b). Such a response, however, required macrophages. The macrophage requirement could be replaced by medium conditioned by macrophages treated with LPS (Hoffman et al., 1979). Therefore, although a powerful molecule like LPS apparently can act on B lymphocytes directly, its effects on macrophages result in responses involving a multiplicity of cells.

DNP-levan (Desaymard and Feldman, 1975) and lanatoside C

(Smith and Hammarstrom, 1977; Hammarstrom *et al.*, 1978) are antigens that have been shown not to require macrophages. Other stimulants, such as the polyanion dextran sulfate require accessory cells (Diamanstein *et al.*, 1973; Persson *et al.*, 1977; Hammarstrom *et al.*, 1978; Smith and Hammarstrom, 1978). There are discrepant results with regard to polymerized flagellin used so extensively by the Australian workers. While many studies showed no impairment of the antibody response in culture (Shortman *et al.*, 1970; Feldman and Palmer, 1971; Shortman and Palmer, 1971), a recent report claims a marked reduction by elimination of phagocytes using the iron-carbonyl method (Lee *et al.*, 1976).

TNP-derivatized Ficoll, a polysucrose compound, induces differentiation of spleen cells to antibody formation in cultures. Although the first report claimed that this response was macrophage independent (Mosier *et al.*, 1974), subsequent studies agreed that macrophages were required (Lee *et al.*, 1976; Chused *et al.*, 1976; Nordin, 1978; Kirkland *et al.*, 1980; Boswell *et al.*, 1980). The antibody response to TNP-polyacrylamide beads was also found to be macrophage dependent in both the mouse (Duclos *et al.*, 1979) and in man (Delfraissy *et al.*, 1977).

The response of human peripheral blood lymphocytes to pokeweed mitogen has been extensively studied. Pokeweed mitogen induced strong B-cell differentiation that required the presence of T cells (Keightley *et al.*, 1976). The response also required a critical number of monocytes (Rosenberg and Lipsky, 1979; Knapp and Baumgarten, 1978; Gmelig-Meyling and Waldmann, 1980); macrophages also inhibited the response. The nature of the inhibition is unexplained but did not appear to be mediated by prostaglandins (Gmeling-Meyling and Waldmann, 1980). The response of human B cells to a watersoluble antigen from *Nocardia asteroides* was not affected by monocyte depletion (Bona *et al.*, 1979; Gmelig-Meyling and Waldmann, 1980).

How the macrophage operates in the response to the macrophagedependent polyclonal stimuli is not well understood, although there are some experiments indicating that they do this by releasing a growth-promoting component. The antibody response to dextran sulfate developed in macrophage-depleted cultures in the presence of macrophage-conditioned medium (Persson *et al.*, 1977, 1978; Smith and Hammerstrom, 1978). A similar degree of reconstitution could be obtained by using 2-mercaptoethanol (2-ME). The macrophage culture fluids consisted of 24-hour culture of unstimulated macrophages. There is yet no biochemical characterization of the active principle. The experiments of Persson suggest that the B cells required two interactions, one with dextran sulfate, the second with the growthpromoting molecule from the macrophage-conditioned medium; whether this is the case has not been proved yet nor critically examined. Studying the TNP-Ficoll response, Nordin (1978) found a partial reconstitution of macrophage-depleted spleen cells by either 2-ME or macrophage-conditioned medium.

The interaction of the B cells with the polyclonal stimuli associated with the phagocytes has been the subject of recent studies. Boswell et al. (1980), found that the antibody response to TNP-Ficoll was macrophage dependent; spleen cells depleted of adherent or latexingesting cells (using the fluorescence-activated cell sorter and fluoresceinated latex beads) did not develop an anti-TNP antibody response. The spleen-adherent cells were pulsed with TNP-Ficoll, then washed to eliminate the unbound compound, and added to Sephadex G-10-fractionated spleen cells; the spleen B cells went on to develop an excellent anti-DNP response. The spleen accessory cells had to be live; but unfortunately, no definite information was given on their uptake of the TNP-Ficoll. An interesting observation on Boswell's study was the response of pulsing the nonadherent spleen cells with the antigen; such cells could act as antigen-presenting cells when added to cultures of spleen cells but not when added to cultures of spleen cells depleted of accessory cells. The conclusion was that the B cells in the nonadherent population were binding antigen and eventually passing it to the accessory cells, which were then responsible for the presentation.

Kirkland *et al.* (1980), have now confirmed most of the points made in Boswell's study, including the last one on the possible B cell transfer of antigenic material; they also reported that treatment with anti-IgM antibodies stopped the putative antigen presentation supporting the contention that B cells were responsible, by way of membrane Ig, as the TNP-receptor. It is obvious that the cellular basis of TNP-Ficoll response is of interest and requires further analysis.

Weigle's laboratory, examining the polyclonal response of B cells to Fc fragment of Ig, have recently found a novel pathway of macrophage-lymphocyte cooperation. They found that Fc fragments of human Ig strongly stimulated proliferation of murine B cells (Berman and Weigle, 1977), as well as their differentiation to antibody formation (Morgan *et al.*, 1980). The Fc fragments could be derived from all classes of Ig except IgE. The proliferative response to the Fc fragments was dependent on adherent phagocytic cells (Morgan and Weigle, 1979a), whereas the differentiation required both phagocytes and T cells (Morgan and Weigle, 1980). The evidence so far obtained indicated that a portion of the Fc fragment was cleaved following its interaction with macrophages; this Fc subfragment was the one responsible for inducing B-cell proliferation (Morgan and Weigle, 1979b). The experiments consisted of culturing briefly Fc fragment with spleen-adherent cells, after which the culture fluid was tested and fractionated on Sephadex chromatography. The active moiety eluted with an apparent molecular weight of 15,000. It could be removed by an immunoabsorbent containing antibodies to the Fc fragment and subsequently eluted and isolated. The isolated subfragment could stimulate B cell proliferation in the absence of phagocytes. Insofar as the differentiation of B cells to antibody-forming cells, the results indicated that, following interaction of the B cells with the Fc subfragment, there was a stimulation to differentiation involving the T cells (Morgan and Weigle, 1980). These experiments of Weigle and associates, therefore, suggest a cellular amplification reaction by immune complexes involving the macrophage and T cells that are somehow brought into the reaction.

The conclusions from the studies reported herewith are that (a) macrophages are definitely involved in some response to many of the conventional polyclonal stimuli, but the molecular and cellular events still await further analysis; (b) involvement of the macrophage may be by way of secreted active molecules; (c) Fc fragments of Ig act as a polyclonal stimulant only after a processing of the fragment by the macrophages.

F. OTHER INTERACTIONS OF THE MACROPHAGE: MIXED LEUKOCYTE REACTION AND ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNITY

The mixed leukocyte reaction involves the interaction of T cells (responding cells) with *I*-region determinants of allogeneic cells (the stimulator cells). Phagocytes are considered to be the major stimulatory cells in the mixed leukocyte reactions in man (Rode and Gordon, 1974), guinea pigs (Greineder and Rosenthal, 1975a), mouse (Talmage and Hemmingsen, 1975; Davidson, 1977; Shirrmacher *et al.*, 1975; Minami *et al.*, 1980), and rat (Oehler and Herberman, 1977).

Greineder and Rosenthal did a detailed study of the cellular nature of the stimulatory cell and found excellent stimulation with highly purified populations of peritoneal and alveolar macrophages as well as spleen cells. This stimulation was blocked by anti-Ia antibodies (Greineder *et al.*, 1976). The depletion of phagocytes from the spleen cell suspension resulted in a loss of stimulation, making them conclude that B cells, although bearing Ia antigens, were poor in stimulating and/or triggering the T cells. There are several reports in the literature claiming stimulation by B cells, but these did not eliminate the phagocytes (a review on most papers on this subject can be found in Davidson, 1977).

Two recent studies using murine spleen cells as stimulators confirmed the observations of Greineder and Rosenthal and added new information. Ahmann *et al.* (1979), found that purified T cells did not respond to allogeneic B cells, but only to a phagocyte-rich adherent population of cells expressing Ia determinants encoded in *I-A* and *I-E/C*. The main subregion of *I* stimulating in their combinations was *I-A* but also to lesser extent *I-B* to *I-C*. Minami *et al.* (1980) confirmed the lack of stimulation by B cells and pointed to the macrophage as the major stimulatory cell. The degree of proliferation correlated perfectly with the number of phagocytic cells.

Steinman and Witmer (1978) have reported strong stimulatory activity by "dendritic" cells isolated from the spleen (Section III,A) and very weak activity from peritoneal macrophages, The lack of stimulation by peritoneal macrophages in their experiments is puzzling. In our hands, we found excellent stimulatory activity. Of interest is that the stimulatory activity of the peritoneal macrophage decayed after 24 hours of culture, correlating with the loss of Ia biosynthesis (Section III,A); this loss of Ia was reversed if the macrophages were given a phagocytic stimulus that resulted in stimulation of T cells (Beller and Unanue, 1980b).

The immune response to tumors, like that to protein antigens and microorganisms, is highly complex, involving interactions among various lymphocytes, particularly T cell subsets. Several effector cells participate in the anti-tumor response: natural killer cells, cytolytic T cells, and activated macrophages. Phagocytes may participate in the anti-tumor response by (a) presenting tumor antigens, thereby inducing cellular immunity; (b) regulating the level of natural cytotoxicity; and (c) participating as effector cells. Activated macrophages are found during development of an anti-tumor response *in vivo*. Such macrophage activation resembles that found during antibacterial immunity and is caused by lymphokines released by immune T cells. The effector function of the activated macrophage will not be reviewed.

Overall, the role of macrophages in presenting tumor antigens for the development of effector T cells has not been critically examined. Whether T cells are generated upon direct contact with the tumor or indirectly by tumor antigens shed into the medium and captured by the phagocytes is not known. Several attempts were made, with some success, to generate tumor-immune lymphocytes by incubating them with tumor (Schechter *et al.*, 1976; Kedar *et al.*, 1977), but the cellular

interactions involved in the reactions were not studied; suppressor cells were also generated in some cases (Small and Trainin, 1976). Treves and associates generated effector T lymphocytes by incubating the lymphocytes for 2-4 days with thioglycolate-induced peritoneal macrophages pulsed with tumor extracts (Treves et al., 1976; Treves, 1978). Syngeneic macrophages were more effective than allogeneic macrophages; fibroblasts were not capable. The effector cells were active in vitro, by reducing the number of tumor cells synthesizing DNA, most likely reflecting the presence of cytolytic T cells, and also in vivo, by conferring protection. The Treves studies indicated that macrophages could present tumor antigens and sensitize lymphocytes, but they did not address the issue of whether this was the way in which normal tumor antigens were presented to T cells. The expectation is that, at least for the generation of the helper T cells that secrete lymphokines, a presentation of tumor antigens by the macrophage may be essential (Section II,D).

I will now review briefly the macrophage in the induction of cytolytic T cells to tumors, as well as to virally infected cells and modified autologous cells. The induction of cytolytic T cells involves a number of regulatory interactions with various subsets of T cells and with the participation of various growth and differentiation factors (reviewed by Wagner et al., 1980); a large series of studies agreed on the requirement for accessory cells (for example, Wagner et al., 1972; Koren and Hodes, 1977; Woodward and Daynes, 1979; Woodward et al., 1979; Yamashita and Hamaoka, 1979; Taniyama and Holden, 1979; Friedman et al., 1979; Pettinelli et al., 1980). The exact role of the macrophages, whether presenting antigens or supplying stimulatory factors, is not known. Some reports indicated that the generation of primary cytolytic T cells to allogeneic cells or tumors took place with both syngeneic or allogeneic spleen adherent cells, but that, in either case, the Ia-bearing macrophages were essential (Pettinelli et al., 1980; Yamashita and Hamaoka, 1979). In experiments reported by Woodward and associates, the T cells obtained from lymph nodes draining the tumor implant developed into effector cytolytic T cells in the presence of Ia-positive accessory cells but without the need for addition of tumor antigens, suggesting that the function of the macrophage was to promote growth and/or differentiation independent of antigen presentation (Woodward and Daynes, 1979; Woodward et al., 1979). One report examining the secondary cytolytic T-cell response to syngeneic tumors required syngeneic macrophages (Taniyama and Holden, 1979). Finally, macrophages activated by cellular immune reactions, such as by infection with bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) were found to inhibit development of cytolytic T cells by mechanisms not yet known (Klimpel and Henney, 1978; Klimpel *et al.*, 1979).

The phagocytes are important regulators of natural killer (NK) cells. NK cells are believed to be involved in the innate resistance to tumors. Although their exact lineage is in dispute, the NK cells have a series of distinctive properties including surface markers. The relationship between NK cells and macrophages can be gathered from three major observations: (a) that the increase of NK cell activity in vivo brought about by interferon inducers is impaired by the injection of agents that are toxic for macrophages; (b) that, in culture, the increase in NK activity produced by incubation of spleen cells with interferon inducers is ablated if macrophages are depleted; (c) that macrophage culture fluids contain a molecule that induces NK activity in vivo and in vitro. It is likely that this molecule is interferon, a molecule known to be secreted by macrophages and found in the culture fluids that induce NK activity. Some details on these points are now given.

NK activity in vivo increased by severalfold by administration of interferon or interferon inducers (Schultz et al., 1977; Gidlund et al., 1978; Djeu et al., 1979a). That the action of the interferon inducers might be by way of the macrophage was suspected by the effects of silica or carrageenin, agents known to be toxic for phagocytes. These agents administered 4 hours before poly(I:C) prevented the increase in NK activity in the spleen, usually observed after 18 hours (Djeu et al., 1979b). The effects of carrageenin on spleen NK activity was also reported by Cudcowicz and Hochman (1979).

Since poly(I:C) also increases NK activity on cultured spleen cells, it became possible to test more definitively the involvement of the macrophage (Djeu *et al.*, 1979b). Thus, removal of macrophages from the spleen cells, or treatment of spleen cells with silica or carrageenin, impaired the generation of NK activity induced by poly(I:C), as well as the production of interferon. Furthermore, a conditioned medium from macrophages treated with poly(I:C)—containing interferon induced NK activity in spleen cells. Other experiments established that the generation of NK activity by interferon did not require macrophages (Djeu *et al.*, 1979b).

Essentially similar results were obtained by Tracey (1979). Infection with BCG resulted in a pronounced activation of the macrophages and also in an increase in NK cells (Wolfe *et al.*, 1976; Tracey *et al.*, 1977). Injection of silica prior to infection stopped the increase in NK activity. Furthermore, intraperitoneal injection of macrophages from BCGinfected mice—but not from normal mice—or a conditioned medium from such activated macrophages resulted in the generation of NK activity. The active principle in the macrophage-conditioned medium was not known but was presumed to be interferon. In a recent study, Tracey and Adkinson (1980) found that the BCG-activated macrophages secreted prostaglandins (Section III,C) that could inhibit NK activity. Indomethacin, which stops prostaglandin synthesis, increased the NK-inducing activity of the activated macrophages, both *in vivo* and *in vitro*.

G. INTERACTIONS NOT MEDIATED BY ANTIGENS

Mononuclear phagocytes may be involved in the antigenindependent differentiation of lymphocytes and also of granulocytes. Their role in such processes, exclusively studied in culture, may be related to the production and secretion of growth-promoting and -differentiating molecules, as well as to the presence of surface-bound Ia molecules.

In Section III,C, we mention that macrophages secrete colonystimulating factor that results in the development of granulocyte/ macrophage colonies in culture (reviewed by Kurland and Moore, 1977). Colonies of B cells will develop in soft agar (Metcalf *et al.*, 1975) from B lymphocytes harvested from the spleen. The growth of these B cell colonies in soft agar is stimulated by a feeder layer of macrophages or by molecules secreted by macrophages (Kurland *et al.*, 1976; Kincade *et al.*, 1978), as well as inhibited by macrophagederived prostaglandins (Kurland *et al.*, 1976). Growth of B cells around macrophages has also been reported in liquid cultures (Garland and Owen, 1978).

A most important function of phagocytes may be in the intrathymic maturation of T cells. The maturation of the T cell in the environment of the thymus gland has been the subject of intense study for many years. How such maturation takes place is not known, but speculations have centered on the role of thymic "hormones" and thymic "epithelial" cells. The thymic gland is made up of thymocytes at various maturational stages and a stroma highly rich in reticular—or epithelial—cells (Raviola, 1975). Among the stromal cells are starshaped or oval cells, with thin cytoplasmic-dendritic prolongations, particularly in the cortex. These stellate dendritic cells have Ia antigens as detected by immunofluorescence of frozen sections of thymic tissue (Rouse *et al.*, 1979; Janossy *et al.*, 1980). Some of the stromal cells studied by electron microscopy have macrophage characteristics, and a few contain the Birbeck granule, the cytoplasmic marker of the special phagocyte of the skin, the Langerhans cells (Sections II,A and III,A) (Hoefsmit *et al.*, 1980). Typical macrophages were abundant in the medulla and in the corticomedullary areas.

The cells found by tissue immunofluorescence bearing Ia are indeed related to the phagocytes. Thus, David Beller isolated, from suspensions of murine thymus cells, two distinct types of phagocytic cells: one, represented by 85% of the cells, had typical macrophage morphology, bore Fc receptors, and took up latex particles; the remaining 15% had dendritic appearance, also showed Fc receptors, but were poorly phagocytic (Beller and Unanue, 1980a). Both populations had a high content of cells with surface-bound Ia antigens. The dendritic cells are probably the counterpart of the Langerhans-type phagocytes. Excellent antigen presentation to immune T cells was found by a mixture of these two cells (Beller and Unanue, 1980a). Stromal cells have been isolated from the thymus after delicate handling so as not to grossly disrupt their architecture. Small clusters of very large reticular-type cells with extensive cytoplasmic extensions surrounded by thymocytes could be identified. Those large "nurse cells" contained Ia antigens (Wekerle and Ketelsen, 1980; Wekerle et al., 1980). The nature of the cells in the cluster and its relation to phagocytes is not clear.

An effect of thymic phagocytes in thymocyte differentiation has now been documented in culture. Generally speaking, attempts to reproduce the entire sequence of thymic maturation in culture have not been satisfactory. Some differentiation limited to the expression of thymic surface proteins by immature prothymocytes was found using soluble products obtained from the thymus gland (Komura and Boyse, 1973). However, results using thymic epithelial cultures have, on the whole, not given positive results. Cultures of thymic epithelia have been poorly characterized as to their culture types and frequently are highly contaminated by fibroblasts and macrophages (Loor, 1979; Beller and Unanue, 1978). An early study of Mosier and Pierce (1972) found that thymocytes lost more Thy.1 antigen-an expression of maturation-when cultured on "epithelial" cells or on adherent cells from the spleen. Part of the results were explained by a selective growth of mature thymocytes rather than by a true maturational process. In our studies (Beller and Unanue, 1977, 1978), thymocytes were separated into mature and immature sets by density using sedimentation in gradients of bovine albumin (Konda et al., 1973). Immature thymocytes were characterized by their low content of H-2, the presence of TL antigens, and, functionally, by not responding in the mixed leukocyte reaction or to PHA. Immature thymocytes cultured on a layer of thymic macrophages adhered very avidly to the macrophages



FIG. 5. This figure shows the H-2 maturational changes found in thymocytes cultured on thymic macrophages. Fractions rich in immature thymocytes were cultured without added cells (O), on fibroblasts (\blacktriangle) or on thymic macrophages (\triangledown) for 48 hours, after which the amounts of H-2 antigen in the cell were measured by their capacity to absorb a standard anti-H-2 serum. The serum was titrated by its capacity to lyse ⁵¹Cr-labeled cells. The immature thymocytes showed helper content of H-2D after their culture on macrophages. The content of H-2D on mature thymocytes (\triangle) and on mixtures of mature and immature ones (\square) is shown for comparison. [From a study by Beller and Unanue (1978).]

(Section III,B) and dramatically changed within a period of 48-72 hours. Maturation was evidenced by changes in the amounts of surface H-2, which increased severalfold to the level shown in mature thymocytes, as measured by quantitative absorption, by a loss of sensitivity to killing by anti-TL antibodies, and by a capacity to respond in the mixed leukocyte reaction (Fig. 5). The increase in H-2 antigens was found in thymocytes treated with mitomycin C and therefore not synthesizing DNA, hence ruling out the possibility that the previous results were accounted by a selective growth of a few mature cells contaminating the fractionated population. The maturational changes seen by macrophages could be reproduced by a conditioned medium containing a 40,000 MW material without interferon activity (Beller and Unanue, 1977) and also guite distinct from the 15,000 MW thymocyte mitogen secreted by macrophages (Section III,C). Curiously, thymic maturation was not accomplished by cultures of purified thymic "epithelial" cells devoid of macrophages (Beller and Unanue, 1978). Changes in reactivity of guinea pig thymocytes to Con A were reported after incubation with macrophages (Van den Tweel and Walker, 1977), but the nature of the change, either selection of cells or maturation, was not studied.

In summary, the thymus gland contains a large number of cells with Ia antigens, some of which clearly belong to the phagocyte series. The reasons for the high concentration of Ia-bearing cells, their nature, and their role are not known and require evaluation. Ia-bearing stromal cells are found in the thymus from early fetal life (Jenkinson *et al.*, 1980); Ia-bearing macrophages were reported from birth (Lu *et al.*, 1980). If Ia antigens are involved in antigen-independent maturational events, then it is likely that these cells may well be the substrate for such events (Section III,B). Clearly, part of the differentiative process of immature thymocytes can be reproduced in culture using phagocytes or a differentiation factor derived from them. The extent to which the T cells are functional after maturation on thymic macrophages has not been fully examined. This is a point of particular importance, particularly as it concerns the MHC involvement.

H. MACROPHAGES IN SUPPRESSIVE PHENOMENA

There are three basic situations to analyze where macrophages are involved in suppressive-type effects: (a) in the generation of suppressor T cells; (b) in a direct suppressive effect on lymphocytes in culture; and (c) as a mediator or carrier of T-cell suppressor factors.

While presentation of antigen by way of the macrophages is the essential way to elicit helper T cells, the interaction of antigen with T cells in the absence of macrophages resulted in generation of suppressor T cells (Ishizaka and Adachi, 1976; Feldman and Kontiainen, 1976; Pierres and Germain, 1978). This is an important point, analyzed in Section II,C, which, at face value, implies that the induction of T suppressors may take place by direct interaction with antigen without any other cellular mediation. Sherr et al. (1980) reported that suppressor T cells to fowl γ -globulin were induced in vivo by transfer of Ia-positive adherent spleen cells containing the antigen, a palmitoyl derivative of fowl γ -globulin. Mice that received as little as 0.1 μ g did not respond upon immunization with TNP-fowl γ -globulin (plus adjuvant); and moreover, their spleen cells injected into normal mice suppressed the specific response. The responsible cell was adherent and bore I-A determinants, not I-J determinants. Interestingly, immunization with the antigen coupled to any cell type, including red cells, but at a 100-fold higher dose, induced an unresponsive state without any detectable suppressors. This is an interesting study worth pursuing. How the Ia-positive macrophages with the antigen enter into the suppressor pathway requires more analysis. Sherr speculated that perhaps Ia-positive macrophages may induce helpers, which, in turn, regulate the generation of suppressor cells such as those postulated in the studies of Eardley *et al.* (1978).

Macrophages in cultures, as was indicated in the preceding sections, presented antigen but inhibited lymphocyte functions, particularly at high numbers or if activated by cellular immune reactions. The inhibitory effect of macrophages was explained to a great extent by their release of prostaglandins, oxygen intermediates, and perhaps other factors (discussed in Section III,C). Interestingly, the release of the inhibitors was increased by situations that stimulated the macrophage, such as phagocytosis of the antigen and interaction with T cells, or its products, or both. A whole loop of interactions could be followed starting with a T cell induced by antigen presented in macrophages to secrete lymphokines; these, in turn, activated macrophages, which then released prostaglandins; the prostaglandins inhibited proliferative as well as T-cell secretion of mediators. It would appear that the system regulates itself by these multiple interactions.

Finally, macrophages may regulate the action of suppressor factors. One of the best-analyzed systems was that worked by Pierce and associates: suppressor T cells (Lv2 bearing) secreted a protein that, upon oxidation by a small metabolite from the macrophage, converted into a highly active inhibitor (Section III,C). In a different system, it was shown that suppressor factors released by T cells would bind to macrophages, resulting in the inhibition of the transfer of contact sensitivity (Asherson and Zembala, 1974; Zembala and Asherson, 1974; Ptak et al., 1977, 1978a,b; Kojima et al., 1979). As worked out by Ptak et al. (1978a), cells immune to trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid transferred the contact-sensitivity state if injected into normal mice. A brief 1-hour incubation of these cells with a suppressor factor (induced by incubation of tolerant T cells with the antigen) abolished their capacity to transfer the reaction. The point is that the suppressive factor required the macrophages (Kojima et al., 1979) that would bind and remove the activity (Ptak et al., 1978a). The macrophages with the bound factor inhibited the immune T cells. Ptak et al. (1978b) have brought out preliminary evidence that the macrophage might cause the suppression by releasing a nonspecific inhibitor. As envisioned by Asherson, Ptak, and Gershon, the macrophage would act, therefore, as a conduit of suppressor signals.

III. Basis for Macrophage Regulation

The role of macrophages in immune induction can be explained by two distinct, yet interrelated, functions: handling and presentation of antigen to lymphocytes, and secretion of lymphostimulatory molecules. Key molecules in the antigen-handling process are the *I*-region products. Section III,A considers some general properties of phagocytes. It also reviews other accessory antigen-presenting cells. Section III,B reviews antigen handling, and Section III,C reviews the secretory function of macrophages.

A. PROPERTIES OF MACROPHAGES AND OTHER ACCESSORY CELLS

The classical mononuclear phagocytes are responsible for the interactions described in the preceding section. In most studies, these cells were isolated from the peritoneal cavity. Cultured bone marrow, liver, lung, and spleen macrophages have been used. In this section, we first review some general characteristics of the phagocytes and then consider the expression and synthesis of the Ia proteins.

1. The Mononuclear Phagocyte and the Ia Antigens

Mononuclear phagocytes develop from self-renewing stem cells found in bone marrow and, to lesser extent, in lymphoid organs. The cell line is represented by cells in various stages of differentiation, from the early monocyte, to the mature, well-differentiated macrophage found in the various tissues. Maturation in the line is characterized by a progressive development of lysosomes, increase in Fc and C3 receptors, and in various functions such as phagocytosis, pinocytosis, and adhesiveness to culture dishes. Mononuclear phagocytes are affected by the local environment and by systemic stimuli such as bacterial products and lymphocyte mediators. These local and systemic factors contribute to the functional heterogeneity of phagocytes harvested from various tissues, under different conditions.

An issue still unresolved is the migration of phagocytes into tissues and the factors that control it in steady-state and in pathological conditions. There is little doubt that the bone marrow contains a large number of cells that give rise to mature phagocytes (Volkman and Gowans, 1965a.b: Cline and Moore, 1972; Cline and Summer, 1972; van Furth and Cohn, 1968; van Furth and Diesselhoff-den Dulk, 1970). Thus, destruction of dividing cells by systemic irradiation resulted in a loss of inflammatory exudates, but these exudates developed if the irradiated animal was infused with bone marrow cells (Volkman and Gowans, 1968a,b; Volkman, 1970). [Also, macrophages were found to develop in cultures of bone marrow cells grown with appropriate growth factors (reviewed by Stewart, 1980).] While kinetic analyses supported the sequence of bone marrow precursor \rightarrow monocytes \rightarrow inflamed tissue (van Furth *et al.*, 1973; Volkman and Collins, 1974), not yet clear is the extent to which tissues renew their phagocyte population in the normal steady state; that is to say, whether the macrophages in tissues—all or part of them—derive from bone marrow via blood monocytes or from local cells. Most *in vivo* studies using radiolabeled thymidine indicated a small (2–5%) but still significant proportion of dividing cells in exudates (Volkman and Gowans, 1968a; van Furth and Cohn, 1968; Volkman and Collins, 1968). Furthermore, one study failed to trace the flow of monocytes into peritoneal exudates in *normal* conditions (Volkman, 1976), implying that in steady-state conditions macrophages were renewed by local precursors. The issue of self-renewal in tissue and the control of monocyte—macrophage populations is important not only because it may relate to the response to inflammation, but it may be crucial as it pertains to the immunogenic function of macrophages.

As is evident from the previous sections, phagocytes are essential cells, mediating the interactions of lymphocytes with antigen. Within the phagocyte population, however, there is a definite heterogeneity in function. One major reason for this heterogeneity is the difference in the expression of Ia within the macrophage population. As was analyzed in the preceding section, it is the presence of the Ia proteins that gives the phagocyte the capacity to interact with T lymphocytes. Early studies identified Ia antigens in some, but not all, macrophages using immunofluorescence (Unanue et al., 1974) or cytotoxicity (Hammerling et al., 1975). There is now general consensus following more extensive analysis that the mononuclear phagocytes in all tissues can be grouped into two sets, one bearing and the other lacking Ia molecules (for example, R. H. Schwartz et al., 1976; Yamashita and Shevach, 1977; Dorf and Unanue, 1978; Cowing et al., 1978a,b; Lee et al., 1979; Beller et al., 1980). The methods for detecting Ia in macrophages included immunofluorescence or cytotoxicity using anti-Ia antibodies. Immunofluorescence studies required careful consideration of the nonspecific binding by the antibody to the macrophage Fc receptor. Nevertheless, the nonspecific binding was totally minimized using strong alloantibodies (Cowing et al., 1978a) and, particularly, monoclonal anti-Ia antibodies (Beller et al., 1980), both of which gave excellent and very specific localization to the surface Ia. Figure 6 is an example from our studies using the monoclonal anti-I-A^k raised in the Herzenberg's laboratory (Oi et al., 1978). Ia-bearing macrophages were also identified using cytotoxicity, in particular with strong cytolytic serum as the source of the complement (Hammerling et al., 1975; Cowing et al., 1978; Dorf and Unanue, 1978). Macrophages bearing Ia antigens were also recognized using fluorescent antibodies in the fluorescence-activated cell sorter (R. H. Schwartz et al., 1976; Dickler et al., 1980).

The presence of Ia in only a fraction of macrophages has raised several questions, not all of which are currently answered. What is the



FIG. 6. Immunofluorescence of macrophages using anti-I-A antibodies. In the upper and lower panels, peritoneal macrophages were incubated at 37°C with red cells opsonized with IgG antibodies, then fixed and stained with anti-I-A. Both Ia-positive and Ia-negative macrophages phagocytized the opsonized red cells. In the middle panel, the macrophages were incubated at room temperature. Binding of red cells took place, without phagocytosis, to both Ia-positive and Ia-negative macrophages. [From Beller *et al.* (1980).]
relationship between Ia-positive and Ia-negative macrophages? Are the two cells related? Do the two cells have distinct functions? Are there regulatory mechanisms controlling the percentage of Ia-positive and Ia-negative in various tissues?

Cytological examinations disclosed that both macrophages, i.e., for ease of terminology, Ia-positive and Ia-negative, had about the same general properties. Both sets of macrophages were morphologically identical, adhered to plastic surfaces, and took up particles (Yamashita and Shevach, 1977; Cowing *et al.*, 1978a; Beller *et al.*, 1980). Both had Fc and C3 receptors, although most Ia-positive showed less when quantitated using appropriately opsonized red cells (Beller *et al.*, 1980).

a. Tissue Distribution. The percentage of Ia-positive and Ianegative macrophages varied among the different tissues and exudates of mice; but within a given tissue or exudate, the distribution was highly consistent (Table V). It is important, however, in studying distribution of Ia-positive macrophages that consideration be given to the fact that environmental stimulation changed the percentage (see below). This may account for the occasional reference to high numbers of Ia-positive macrophages, for example, in ther peritoneum (Unanue *et al.*, 1974; Hammerling *et al.*, 1975).

A brief comment on the distribution of macrophages in the various tissues follows. The peritoneal cavity was frequently examined because of the ease for sampling and obtaining a pure population of phagocytes. Cultured peritoneal macrophages were practically all classical phagocytes, synthesized Ia (see below), and, as noted in Section II, were highly active in antigen-presenting function. The peritoneal macrophages were harvested from normal animals or from animals injected with mineral oil, peptone, or thioglycolate broth; the former was used mainly for studies in the guinea pig, and the last two were used particularly in the mouse (Table V). The percentage of Ia-bearing macrophages in the inflammatory exudates was about the same as in the resident population (Yamashita and Shevach, 1977; Beller et al., 1980). Overall results using T cell proliferation as the readout to measure macrophage-T cell interactions showed comparable antigen-presenting function by the various exudates. In general, however, the more activated the macrophage, the more critical was the number in culture because of their inhibitory effects. Thus, in the mouse, resident macrophages (i.e., from noninduced peritoneal exudates) or macrophages from peptone, thioglycolate, or oil exudates had good antigen-presenting function, but the thioglycolate-induced macrophages were more inhibitory. Other culture assays that explored at the same time the antigen-presenting role and a second macrophage function, such as secretion or activation for tumoricidal activity, did

Source	Stimuli	Ia-positive (%)	Antigen- induced T cell prolif- eration	Secretion of LAF [®]	Activation for cytotoxicity
Peritoneum	None (resident)	10-20	++	+++	1±
	Peptone	10	++	++	++
	Thioglycolate	5-10	+		++
	Oil	5-10	++	NS	
	Listeria infection	50-75	++	++	+ + + +
Spleen	None	50	++	++	NS
	Listeria infection	>75	NS	NS	NS
Skin	None	90	++	NS	NS
	Contact reactions	> In absolute numbers	NS	NS	NS
Liver	None	25-30	++	NS	NS
Thymus	None	75	++	++	NS
Lung	None	10	++	++	++
		80 (guinea pig)	++	NS	NS
Bone marrow	L-Conditioned medium	30	++	++	++
Blood	None	75 (man)	++	NS	NS

TABLE V TISSUE DISTRIBUTION AND FUNCTION OF Ia-POSITIVE MACROPHAGES^a

^a References are given in text. All studies were done in the mouse except as indicated.

^b LAF, lymphocyte activity factor; NS, not significant.

show considerable variation depending on the type of exudate macrophage. The secretion of lymphostimulatory molecules resulting from macrophage–T cell interactions (Section III,C) took place best with resident macrophages, to a lesser extent with peptone-induced macrophages, and very poorly with thioglycolate-induced macrophages; in contrast, the inflammatory macrophages in the same culture developed tumor cytotoxicity, while the resident macrophages were practically inactive (Farr *et al.*, 1979a,b; Unanue *et al.*, 1980).

Whether or not there is heterogeneity within the Ia population insofar as antigen-presenting function is an important point that has not been critically addressed. A study by Lee *et al.* (1979), suggested that this might be the case. They separated macrophages on the basis of size, using velocity sedimentation in albumin gradients, and found some fractions that were better than others, despite the presence of Ia-bearing cells in all. Detailed cytological studies were not reported, nor was the issue of nonspecific suppression analyzed. Thus, the reasons for this heterogeneity remained unexplained.

The spleen Ia-bearing macrophages were first studied by Cowing and associates (1978a,b). They isolated a population of adherent phagocytic cells capable of taking up latex beads and with a high representation of Ia using immunofluorescence or cytotoxicity. The figures in Cowing's studies amounted to about 50% of the phagocytes. Figures about the same range were found in other studies (Beller *et al.*, 1980; Lu *et al.*, 1980). The spleen macrophages synthesized Ia in culture and expressed determinants both in *I-A* and in *I-E/C* region (Cowing *et al.*, 1978a). Dickler *et al.* (1980), isolated the population of Ia-bearing phagocytes using the fluorescence-activated cell sorter and found excellent antigen-presenting function. Other accessory cells found in spleen besides the mononuclear phagocyte include the interdigitating cells, the Langerhans cells, and the dendritic-type isolated by Steinman and Cohn (1973). These will be discussed in Section III,A,2.

The skin Ia-bearing Langerhans cell was discussed in Section II,D and will also be considered in the next section.

The liver Kuppfer cells were isolated and tested for percentage of Iaand antigen-presenting function (Richman et al., 1979, 1980; Forsum et al., 1979a; Lipsky and Rogoff, 1980; Rogoff and Lipsky, 1979, 1980). Berzofsky's laboratory isolated the Kuppfer cells from the mouse by treatment of liver slices with collagenase (Richman et al., 1979). The cells were typical phagocytes, 50% of which bore Ia. The Ia-positive cells contained molecules coded in the I-A and I-E/C subregions. Isolated Kuppfer cells were essential for the proliferative response of purified T cells to sperm whale myoglobin (Richman et al., 1969). Lipsky's laboratory isolated the Kuppfer cells from guinea pig liver using collagenase and trypsin (Rogoff and Lipsky, 1980; Lipsky and Rogoff, 1979, 1980). They found that about 27% bore Ia. These liver macrophages were essential for the proliferative response to lectins and antigens and showed typical MHC restrictions, but were less active when compared to peritoneal macrophages. Both groups commented on the biological significance of an antigen-presenting function by the Kuppfer cell. Clearly, the Kuppfer cells have the potential to interact with lymphocytes, but evidence *in vivo* suggests that antigens that flow through the liver lose their immune potential. It is not clear how both phenomena can be related.

There are two current studies on Ia in alveolar macrophages. Our laboratory found about 10% Ia-positive cells in the macrophages from nonstimulated murine lungs (Weinberg, 1980; Weinberg and Unanue, 1981), while Uhr's laboratory, working in the guinea pig, found about 80% (Toews and Lipscomb, 1980; Lipscomb et al., 1981). Alveolar Ia-positive macrophages presented antigens and were as active as peritoneal macrophages. Curiously, in our own studies, we found that alveolar macrophages lacked the capacity to bind Listeria monocytogenes and, therefore, presented poorly these bacteria to immune T cells in functional assays. Murine alveolar macrophages also lacked C3 receptor (Alblas and van Furth, 1979). Both C3 receptor and the structures that bind to *Listeria* are trypsin sensitive, and it may be that the normal proteases of the lung fluid are affecting the macrophage surface and modifying its function. Opsonization of Listeria allowed for its binding to the trypsin-resistant Fc receptor of the macrophage with the development of antigen-presenting function (Weinberg, 1980; Weinberg and Unanue, 1981).

Thymic macrophages were found to contain a very high percentage of Ia-positive cells (Beller and Unanue, 1978, 1980; Lu *et al.*, 1980) (Section II,G).

Monocytes were used as antigen-presenting cells mostly in human studies. As referred to in Section II, their antigen-presenting function resided in the Ia-bearing population. The percentage of monocytes bearing Ia varied from 50 to 75 (Albrechtsen, 1977). A recent study of Raff and associates (1980) employed a monoclonal antibody that discriminated two populations of glass-adherent monocytes, each containing Ia determinants; of great interest is that clearly functional dichotomy was found after testing the two populations. Elimination by cytolysis, with complement, of macrophages bearing the 120,000dalton determinant (termed Mac-120 antigen) markedly diminished the antigen-induced proliferation but not the capacity to induce an alloreactive mixed leukocyte reaction. The Mac-120-positive cells were highly active in stimulating basal proliferation of T cells. Cytological and biological examination of both subsets have not yet been reported, except with regard to their similar uptake of latex particles. Mac-120 was found in 40% of the monocytes.

Macrophages have been cultured from bone marrow in the presence of medium containing growth-promoting molecules. The cells isolated from the marrow were pure macrophages bearing Fc and C3 receptors and having phagocytic properties. Bone marrow-grown macrophages were tested in various antigen-presenting systems and found to be highly effective (Stern et al., 1979; Lee and Wong, 1980; Erb et al., 1980b; Mottram and Miller, 1980; Calamai and Unanue, 1980). These included induction of helper T cells (Stern et al., 1979); presentation of tuberculin, hemocyanin, and flagellin for T-cell proliferation (Lee and Wong, 1980); presentation of *Listeria monocutogenes* assaying T-cell proliferation, macrophage secretion of lymphostimulatory molecules, and macrophage activation for cytocidal activity (Calamai and Unanue, 1980); and macrophage induction of delayed sensitivity in vivo (Mottram and Miller, 1980). The antigen-presenting function has been definitely ascribed to the Ia-bearing macrophage population-about 30%-isolated by cell-sorting experiments (Erb et al., 1980b,c).

b. Regulation of Ia in Macrophages and of Macrophage Ia Population. Three recent important observations indicate that the biosynthesis of Ia by macrophages takes place during a brief period of time, that the activity or stimulation of the macrophage may regulate the expression of membrane Ia, and that the relative percentage of Iapositive and Ia-negative macrophages in tissues is under regulation. These are results that are mostly coming from studies with David I. Beller and other members of our laboratory (Beller *et al.*, 1980; M. G. Scher *et al.*, 1980; Beller and Unanue, 1980, 1981).

The time that Ia-bearing macrophages expressed Ia was brief and limited, under basal conditions, to a few hours. Fluorescent antibody studies of peritoneal macrophages in culture indicated progressive loss of Ia so that, by 24-72 hours, most of the Ia-bearing cells were no longer detectable (Beller and Unanue, 1980a). Biosynthetic studies indicated strong synthesis of Ia by the macrophages during the first day but then a progressive loss with time. This loss of Ia surface expression and biosynthesis could not be accounted for by loss of macrophages from the culture dish. This progressive loss of the capacity to synthesize Ia explains the early results of B. D. Schwartz et al. (1976), who reported a negligible amount of Ia made by cultured macrophages. In their experiments, biosynthesis was studied only after 3 days of culture. Also noteworthy are the studies of Cowing et al. (1978b), who found a loss of Ia-positive spleen macrophages after 1 week of culture but could not differentiate between selective loss of cells and lack of expression.

The loss of Ia biosynthesis in Beller's experiments was selective.

Total protein synthesis was not impaired at the time that Ia was not being synthesized. Furthermore, a different membrane protein, the H-2K protein, was synthesized continuously in culture (Fig. 7).

In vivo studies disclosed a loss of Ia by the macrophages. These experiments were done by examining X-irradiated mice (Beller and Unanue, 1981). Such mice showed a marked loss of Ia-bearing macrophages time after irradiation with kinetics very similar to that found in culture. To ascertain truly that the loss of Ia represented selective loss by the macrophage-not the disappearance of a subset of macrophages—cell transfers were done. C57BL/6 mice were irradiated, then transplanted intraperitoneally with macrophages from $(C57BL/6 \times A)F_1$ mice; at times thereafter, the peritoneal cavity was examined, and the transplanted macrophages were identified immunocytochemically by examining for surface-bound H-2K^k and I-A^k molecules (corresponding to the haplotype of the A strain). Indeed, the transplanted macrophages could be easily identified by the presence of H-2K, yet the I-A^k molecule had completely disappeared with time after examination. Because the percentage of Ia-positive macrophages of the donor macrophages was very high, the results strongly indicated a selective loss of this protein from the recovered macrophages. The implication of this finding as regards the effects of X-irradiation in immunity is discussed below.

When examining the loss of Ia in culture, the question was asked whether the biosynthesis of Ia was affected by the stimulation of the macrophage (Beller and Unanue, 1980b). Although nonstimulated macrophages lost Ia during the first 48 hours of culture, the uptake of latex beads, dead *Listeria monocytogenes* organisms, opsonized red cells, or soluble antigen-antibody complexes resulted in continuous biosynthesis. After phagocytosis, there was progressive expression of Ia to the surface of the macrophage as well as incorporation of labeled amino acids into the newly synthesized Ia protein. Interestingly, the biosynthesis of Ia stimulated by particle uptake was taking place only in the set of macrophages that originally expressed surface Ia. Elimination of such Ia-positive macrophages by antibody (with complement) resulted in no expression of Ia after particle phagocytosis by the remaining Ia-negative macrophages.

A different series of observations indicated an *in vivo* control of the Ia-positive and Ia-negative macrophage populations. Beller *et al.* studied the peritoneal exudate for possible changes in Ia-positive macrophages under different inflammatory conditions (Beller *et al.*, 1980). Mice were inoculated with a number of inflammatory molecules mineral oil, peptone, thioglycolate broth, endotoxin—and were also infected with *Listeria monocytogenes* organisms. While the first group of materials produced an increase in macrophages, this increase con-



FIG. 7. Macrophages were cultured from zero to 24 hours or from 24 to 48 hours after planting with [³H]leucine, after which the cell-bound I-A or -K products were isolated and precipitated with specific monoclonal antibodies and examined by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. During the first 24 hours, the macrophage synthesizes both K and I-A proteins; after 24 hours, the synthesis of I-A is markedly reduced. (From Beller and Unanue, 1981.)

sisted predominantly of Ia-negative macrophages. The absolute number of Ia-negative macrophages was actually increased by about 10fold 3 days after the intraperitoneal injection. In contrast, infection with live *Listeria* resulted in a complete shift in the macrophage population to 50–90% Ia-positive macrophages. Similar results were obtained after infection with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Beller *et al.*, 1980) or with *Trypanosoma cruzi* (Behbehani *et al.*, 1981). The marked increase in Ia-positive macrophages following infection resulted from T cell stimulation. An early indication that this was the case came from analysis of immune mice. Mice immune to hemocyanin or *Listeria* were challenged intraperitoneally with either hemocyanin or *dead Listeria* organisms, and the percentage of Iapositive macrophages was studied days later. Either of the two antigens did not induce a noticeable change in the distribution of Iapositive macrophages in unimmunized mice. However, a *secondary* boost resulted in a marked increase in Ia-positive macrophages, but only following specific challenge, i.e., hemocyanin-primed mice did not respond to dead *Listeria* but only to hemocyanin. Further analysis disclosed that T cells transferred the capacity to develop an exudate rich in Ia-positive macrophages. T cells were harvested from immune mice and transplanted intraperitoneally together with the specific antigen: 3 days later, there was a marked increase in Ia-positive macrophages in the peritoneal exudate, but not in the spleen.

T cells regulated the appearance of Ia-positive macrophages by way of a soluble mediator (Scher *et al.*, 1980). Peritoneal exudate cells from *Listeria*-immune mice composed of macrophages and T cells were cultured with dead *Listeria* organisms; the conditioned medium from such cultures, when injected intraperitoneally, induced the appearance of Ia-positive macrophages. The production of the mediator termed macrophage Ia-recruiting factor or by the acronym MIRF—was dependent on the interaction in culture of Ia-positive macrophages and T cells, together with the specific antigen. While the production of MIRF, like all mediators, required the involvement of the *I* region, its action was unrestricted by the *H*-2 (Fig. 8). Preliminary studies indicate that MIRF is a nondialyzable protein, stable to 56°C and to repeated freeze-thawing (Scher *et al.*, 1980).

How are the T cells-or MIRF-regulating the appearance of Iapositive macrophages? We have now found, in studies not yet published, that the action of T cells in recruiting Ia-positive macrophages is radiosensitive. The experiments in X-irradiated mice are informative inasmuch as they show one possible mode of action of the various phlogogenic stimuli in regulating macrophage populations. Normal and irradiated mice were injected with T cells and antigen, or mineral oil, and the peritoneal exudates were examined a few days later. The X-irradiated mice, in contrast to the normal mice, did not develop either exudates rich in Ia-positive macrophages in response to T cells, or exudates rich in Ia-negative macrophages, in response to the mineral oil. Such exudates were found if the X-irradiated mouse was reconstituted with bone marrow stem cells. The experiments indicated that the two responses, to immune or nonimmune stimuli, operated on the bone marrow precursors, but not at the level of the mature tissue macrophages (Scher et al., 1981).

More recent studies have tested the response in culture of Ianegative macrophages to lymphocyte mediators (Steinman *et al.*, 1980; Steeg *et al.*, 1980). After several days of incubation with the lymphokines, a high number of the Ia-negative macrophages went on to



FIG. 8. Recruitment of la-positive macrophages by a soluble mediator. Mice were injected intraperitoneally with (a) a culture fluid from mixtures of macrophages and *Listeria*-immune T cells with heat-killed *Listeria monocytogenes* organisms (*Listeria* PEC + *Listeria*; (b) a culture fluid from the same cells but not challenged with *Listeria* (*Listeria* PEC); and (c) regular medium. The percentage of Ia-positive macrophages and the absolute numbers of Ia-positive and Ia-negative in the peritoneum were investigated 12 hours later. The active factor that recruits Ia-positive macrophages is secreted in vitro only by challenge of immune T cells with macrophage-bound antigen. PEC, peritoneal exudate cell. [From Scher et al. (1980).]

synthesize and express Ia, indicating that most macrophages have the potential to make these modulatory proteins. In agreement with the *in vivo* studies of Scher *et al.* (1981), the expression of Ia by the cultured phagocytes depended highly on their state of maturation. Most monocytes and exudate macrophages readily expressed Ia but only a small minority of the resident macrophages (Beller and Unanue, unpublished observations).

c. Ontogeny. The control of the Ia-positive and Ia-negative macrophage subgroups is evident in studies on their ontogeny in the mouse. Up to the second week to the fourth week of life, the macrophage population is made up mostly of Ia-negative cells (Lu *et al.*, 1979; Nadler *et al.*, 1980). Lu's studies examined the peritoneal and spleen macrophages for their uptake and presentation of *Listeria* monocytogenes. The macrophages took up the bacteria but were unable to stimulate proliferation of immune T cells from an adult. The macrophages from the neonate were phagocytic, could be activated by lymphokines, and secreted lymphostimulatory molecules when stimulated with endotoxin. Their lack of antigen-presenting function was best attributable, as would be expected, to their low content of Iapositive macrophages. No suppressive effects were noted when the macrophages from the neonate were mixed with adult spleen cells. In Nadler's study, the immunoincompetence of the spleen accessory cells was studied in the primary antibody response to haptenated hemocyanin, and, as in Lu's experiments, it correlated with the absence of Ia-positive cells. These results may explain previous studies indicating a deficient function of adherent cells from neonates in the primary antibody response to SRBC (Landahl, 1976; Nakano et al., 1978); to be noted is that an initial study by Fidler et al. (1972) had failed to see a defect in the adherent cells. It is of interest that Argyris in 1968 reported that injection of macrophages from adult mice into newborns resulted in the development of an antibody response to SRBC. This observation was confirmed (Hardy et al., 1973; Blaese and Lawrence, 1977).

Another interesting point concerning the ontogeny of Ia-positive cells is their appearance in the thymus. In the thymus, Ia-positive macrophages with effective antigen-presenting function were found since birth, in contrast to their absence in the spleen (Lu *et al.*, 1980). In a different study, Jenkinson *et al.* (1980) reported finding thymic stromal cells bearing Ia antigens since day 14 of gestation. We have speculated that the Ia-positive accessory cells found in the neonate since very early life function not to present antigen, but rather to modulate the antigen-independent differentiation of T cells (Lu *et al.*, 1980) (Section II,G).

Recent studies may explain the defect in Ia expression by the macrophages of the neonate (Snyder *et al.*, 1981). Neonates injected intraperitoneally with MIRF did not respond with exudates rich in Iapositive macrophages. Furthermore, a cell was identified in the neonatal spleen that, when injected into adults, interfered with the development of exudates rich in Ia-positive macrophages induced by T cells. This "suppressor" cell did not bear surface markers of T or B cells, was actively proliferating, and poorly adherent. That the macrophage from the neonate has the potential to express Ia was evident in the cell culture systems where Ia could be induced in them by a T cell-conditioned medium. Thus, it appears that the lack of Ia expression in the neonate is caused by an active suppression induced by dividing hematopoietic cell and not be an intrinsic defect of the phagocyte. The lack of Ia-positive macrophages in the secondary lymphoid tissues and in exudates appears, at face value, to place the neonate at a disadvantage during a critical time of life. It may be, however, that this lack of Ia-positive macrophages is what regulates the lack of response to self antigens during this important developmental stage, and it ensures the establishment of self-tolerance.

d. Summary of Ia Macrophage Subsets. The more recent data indicate that macrophages synthesize Ia molecules for a brief period of time, after which they lose the capacity to express this important regulatory molecule. The loss of Ia by tissue macrophages implies that a certain amount of the Ia-negative macrophages were cells that initially contained Ia. However, it is not resolved whether all Ia-negative macrophages derive from Ia-positive cells. Indeed, the Ia-negative macrophages from fresh exudates induced by nonimmune stimuli were young bone marrow-derived cells that did not contain Ia from the time that they left the marrow; whether these cells contained Ia during their intramarrow life is not known. It may well be that the phagocyte is a single cell lineage in which Ia is expressed at only a certain stage, which can be regulated by external stimuli. It may also be that the line splits at some point, one branch never expressing Ia, while the other is capable of making the protein at least during a period of time. The recent experiments cited before, in which a majority of monocytes and early macrophages express Ia following culture with lymphocyte mediators, support the former statement.

The fact that Ia is synthesized briefly establishes that the maintenance of Ia-positive macrophages in tissues requires a continuous supply of new cells from their precursors. Indeed, the X-irradiated mouse showed, together with the loss of stem cells, the loss of Ia from its radioresistant tissue macrophages (Beller and Unanue, 1980b). Although macrophages harvested from irradiated mice presented antigen (Schmidtke and Dixon, 1972a), one would predict that macrophages harvested from mice several days after irradiation would function poorly as antigen-presenting cells in an MHC-restricted system. Indeed, macrophages from X-irradiated mice presented antigen poorly in an early experiment done by Galilly and Feldman (1967), perhaps explained by the loss of Ia.

In essence, the macrophage Ia phenotype is regulated by (a) the activity of the macrophage; (b) immune and nonimmune stimuli; (c) unknown tissue conditions that result in varying ratios; and finally (d) ontogenetic events. This regulation of Ia expression underlines the importance of controlling the synthesis of such an important regulatory protein in a multifaceted cell like the macrophage.

2. Accessory Cells besides the Macrophages

A number of cells have been identified in lymphoid organs with some characteristics in common with classical phagocytes, but also with some differences. We now review their characteristics, role as accessory cells, and possible relationship with the classical phagocyte.

The Langerhans cells of the skin were discussed in Section II,D. These are cells with typical morphological appearance: a dendritic appearance in the skin, a clear cytoplasm, a few lysosomes, and a typical organelle, the Birbeck granule. Langerhans cells bear Fc and C3 receptors and present antigen in a typical MHC-restricted fashion. Cells resembling Langerhans cells have also been described in the secondary lymphoid organs, in the thymus, and in the afferent lymph. Thus, histological analysis of lymphoid organs identified in the thymus-dependent areas stellate cells, called interdigitating reticular cells, in intimate contact with the surrounding lymphocytes (Veerman, 1974; Van Ewick et al., 1974; Hoefsmit et al., 1980; Veerman and Van Ewick, 1965). These cells had morphological features of the Langerhans cells, and many contained Birbeck granules. Interdigitating cells increased in number after antigenic stimulation (Silberberg-Sinakin et al., 1976; Kamperdijk et al., 1978). The studies of Silberg and Thorbecke, mentioned in Section II.D, indicated a rapid increase in cells in dermal lymphatics and in nodes draining the sites of contact reactions. Such cells were classified, on the basis of Birbeck granules, as Langerhans but were indistinguishable with the interdigitating cells. Other studies indicated that the interdigitating cells of the lymph nodes derived by way of the afferent lymphatics inasmuch as the cells disappeared after the ligation of the afferent vessels (Kamperfijk and Hoefsmit, 1978). To this effect, it is noteworthy that Langerhans cells were found to originate from bone marrow precursors in experiments using transplanted bone marrow cells (Katz et al., 1979; Frelinger et al., 1979). A histological study identified stellate Ia-bearing cells in the thymus-dependent areas of lymph nodes; these cells were compatible in morphology with the interdigitating cells (Hoffman-Feizer et al., 1976) (Section II,G). In the thymus, cells with morphological features of interdigitating cells were identified, some of which contained Birbeck granules (Hoefsmit et al., 1980). Cells with dendritic morphology bearing Ia were identified in frozen section and actually isolated (Section II,G).

Cells with characteristics akin to classical phagocytes and Langerhans cells were found in lymph from afferent lymphatics of rabbits (Kelly *et al.*, 1978), pigs (Drexhage *et al.*, 1980), and man (Sokolowski et al., 1978; Spry et al., 1980). These were medium-size mononuclear cells, some having C3 and Fc receptor, and a few having Birbeck granules. The cells emitted long cytoplasmic projections; thus, the term "veiled cell" given to them. Veiled cells were particularly abundant in the lymph after skin irritation. In man, the large mononuclear cells with veiled cell characteristics contained Ia molecules (Spry et al., 1980).

The Langerhans-interdigitating-veiled cell should be compared to a fourth cell with dendritic appearance, the dendritic cells isolated by Steinman and Cohn (Steinman and Cohn, 1973, 1974; Steinman *et al.*, 1974, 1975). These investigators isolated from the spleen a glassadherent cell with dendritic extensions and scanty cytoplasm containing few organelles. The dendritic cells did not exhibit Fc and C3 receptors but had a high content of Ia antigens (Steinman *et al.*, 1979). They were isolated after initial adherence to culture, after which they spontaneously detached. In culture, the dendritic cells were found to be strong promoters of the mixed lymphocyte reaction (Steinman and Witmer, 1978) and also stimulated growth of autologous lymphocytes, the so-called syngeneic mixed lymphocyte reaction (Nussenzweig and Steinman, 1980). The dendritic cell isolated by Steinman is also bone marrow derived and tends to cluster with lymphocytes in a manner similar to that shown for the veiled cells.

A comparison of the various cells discussed above is shown in Table VI, which, in great part, I derived from a recent and very excellent review by Thorbecke (Thorbecke et al., 1980). To me, the evidence is strong that the interdigitating cell, the Langerhans cell, and the veiled cell are the same: their characteristic morphology, the presence of Fc and C3 receptor, and the Ia content argue for this. It is my opinion, too, that the dendritic cell of Steinman is most likely part of this lineage: its morphological resemblance and presence of Ia also is in favor. However, the lack of Fc and C3 receptors argues against it. Also, no Birbeck granules have been reported in the cells isolated by Steinman. Although these arguments are powerful, they are not conclusive. Fc and C3 receptors are dynamic membrane structures that may fluctuate in their expression as a cell develops, matures, or is activated. The lack of Birbeck granules must be taken with caution: the amounts of this organelle among skin dendritic cells vary considerably, and some even lack them (see Thorbecke et al., 1980, page 33). Some species, particularly the mouse, appear to have few Birbeck granules.

It may well be, therefore, that all the four cells discussed above belong to the same lineage. The definite answer awaits until such a time as detailed culture analysis and surface phenotype studies be-

Property	Macrophages	Langerhans cells	IDC ^b	Veiled cells	Thymus dendritic cell	Spleen dendritic cell (Steinman)	Germinal center dendritic cell
Surface markers							
Fc receptor	++	+	NK	±	++	—	5
C3 receptor	++	+	NK	±		_	++
Ia	++	++	+ (?)	+	++	++	NK
Glass adherence	++	++	NK	±	+ '	+	NK
Latex phagocytosis	++	±	NK	±	_		NK
Lysosomes	++	±	+	NK	NK	±	±
Birbeck granule	_	±	Some	Some	Some	_	_
Pinocytic vesicles	+++	++	++	++	ŇK	+	±
Antigen presentation	++	++	NK	NK	NK	NK	NK
Stimulator: MLC	++	++	NK	NK	NK	++	NK
Origin	Tissue and bone marrow precursors	Bone marrow	NK	NK	NK	Bone marrov	v NK

 TABLE VI

 COMPARISON OF VARIOUS TYPES OF CELLS^a

^a References are included in the text.

^b IDC, interdigitating cells; NK, not known.

come available. The relationship of the Langerhans cell—and others—with the classical phagocyte also needs evaluation. The issue is whether both sets of cells represent two completely distinct lineages, two lines that split from a common precursor, states in the differentiation of the phagocyte, or adaptation of the classical phagocyte to a particular tissue microenvironment. Although the phagocytes have shown a great degree of plasticity in responding to stimuli, no direct evidence has been brought up that macrophages in culture develop characteristics of Langerhans cells. Therefore, the first two possibilities are the most likely.

Critical comparison of the function of the two cells should inform us of what may be functions in common or particular to each type. So far, Langerhans cells and the typical mononuclear phagocyte presented antigen to the same extent and were both active as stimulators in the mixed leukocyte reaction. Both cells most likely cooperate in bringing about a dynamic response to antigen. The macrophage, because of its antigen-handling properties, should be the major cell involved in the response to bacteria, virus, protozoa, and tumors, as well as proteins, whereas the Langerhans group of phagocytes may be more involved in the response to soluble sensitizers that attach to the skin. The Langerhans group of cells may represent a line of phagocytic cells that selectively homes to certain specialized tissues and is endowed with less inflammatory properties—hence its presence in skin and in the thymus. The macrophages, on the other hand, have the added function of more actively responding to various inflammatory agents.

Finally, a comment on the antigen-trapping mechanism of the germinal center seems pertinent. Not many studies have been made in the past few years, so its mechanisms and role remain to be elucidated. Antigen trapping to germinal center requires antibody and, particularly, complement (Papamichael *et al.*, 1975) and may be associated with dendritic-type cells studied ultrastructurally by Nossal's laboratory (see our past review, Unanue, 1972; and Nossal and Ada, 1978). The dendritic cells of the follicles have *not* been shown to contain Birbeck granules and appear different from the interdigitating cells (Hoefsmit *et al.*, 1980); their precise identification and role require their isolation (Klaus *et al.*, 1980).

B. ANTIGEN PRESENTATION

In Section II we reviewed the many examples of antigen presentation via the macrophage and the essential role it played in bringing about the stimulation of the lymphocyte, particularly the T cell. It became obvious that the development of all T-cell functions required an interaction with macrophage-bound antigen regulated by the I region. No stimulation of T cells took place by direct interaction with antigen. In general, the regulation of the macrophage-T cell interaction by the MHC was akin to that shown for T-B cell collaboration or for the interactions between cytolytic T cells and their target cells.

1. Ir Gene Function and Determinant Selection

The genetic basis of the MHC "restriction" has been the subject of extensive and fascinating studies, still in progress, that have examined the cellular basis of *Ir* genes, the role of the nonlymphoid cell "environment" prior to the entrance of antigen, the involvement of the thymus and extrathymic cells in regulating the interactions, etc. Hypotheses have been put forward to explain the restrictions, one postulating that the T cell bears two receptors, one for the antigen and a second for the MHC product; another postulating a single T cell receptor that recognizes an antigen-MHC complex. No definitive answers are yet available and will not be, in my opinion, until the immunogenic moiety from the macrophage and the T cell receptors are isolated. I will limit this section to a consideration of important pieces of information that associate the macrophage to *Ir* gene function. Extensive reviews of immune response genes have appeared (Katz, 1977; Benacerraf and Germain, 1978; Zinkernagel, 1978; Berzofsky, 1980).

A number of important points came out from the studies reviewed in Section II. The involvement of the I region in the T cell-macrophage interactions applied not only to antigens under Ir gene control—as defined by states of responsiveness or nonresponsiveness—but to all proteins, even complex ones with multiple antigenic determinants. Analyzing antigens under Ir-gene control, it became evident in several studies that the macrophage was a key cell responsible for the responder or nonresponder status. This was shown with synthetic polypeptides where Ir gene status could be easily identified. The first study by Shevach and Rosenthal (1973), indicating responses of T cells only to antigens bound to macrophages from responders, was confirmed, for example, using another synthetic polypeptide like (TG)-AL (Erb and Feldman, 1975b; Hodes *et al.*, 1978; Kappler and Marrack, 1978) or natural proteins, to be discussed below.

Let us first discuss the selection of T cell antigen-reactive cells by the MHC environment in which they mature and then continue with the analysis of the antigen-presenting defect in "nonresponder" macrophages. We can start by questioning why there is such limited, if any, T cell reactivity to antigens bound to allogeneic macrophages. The lack of T cell reactivity to antigen-allogeneic Ia may mean that (a) such cells are never generated during the normal non-antigen-driven differentiation of the T cell in its syngeneic thymus milieu; or (b) that the T cells did develop and joined the pool of mature T cells but are not found in the usual assays simply because they are a very minor component, overshadowed by the growth of the syngeneic reactive T cells. (It is indeed clear that an antigen-reactive cell, if found in the secondary lymphoid tissues, can be selected for and expanded during the handling of the antigen by macrophages. These were the studies showing that F_1 T cells consisted of two antigen-reactive sets of cells, each of which could be selected *in vivo* or *in vitro* by one or the other parental macrophage.) There are experiments in the literature in support of both explanations.

A role of the MHC of the thymus in generating and selecting the various antigen-reactive T cells was theorized by Jerne in 1971. His hypothesis has served as the basis for a number of experimental studies transplanting bone marrow cells into X-irradiated mice of different haplotypes, thus allowing maturation of stem cells to lymphocytes in different H-2-bearing hosts. Simply stated, the Jerne hypothesis envisions lymphocytes carrying germ line genes that encode for the receptors of the MHC of the species. The diversity of receptors to foreign antigens takes place as a result of mutations in T lymphocytes upon reaction with the thymic accessory cells bearing the self-MHC product. Thus, a lymphocyte would express two sets of receptors, one for the MHC product, the other to the foreign antigen (Von Boehmer et al., 1978). Data particularly on cytolytic T cells but also with helper T cells support the fundamental premise of the hypothesis to a greater or lesser extent. Without entering into detail, the general consensus is that the host MHC environment, be it in the thymus and/or in the extrathymic milieu, has an influence, at least in the phenotypic expression of antigen-reactive T cells (reviewed in Berzofsky, 1980). The phagocytes, by virtue of their Ia content, their capacity to present antigen, their widespread tissue distribution, and their migratory patterns, may well be a major cell, not only handling and presenting antigen, but also regulating the non-antigen-driven maturation or "selection" of T cells (Section II,G).

Experiments examining helper cells support the statement that a T cell reactivity, not previously apparent, can be generated if the T cell develops in the tissues of a host bearing the appropriate MHC haplotype. Kappler and Marrack (1978), for example, produced bone marrow chimeras by transplanting bone marrow cells from one mouse strain (i.e., parent a) into lethally X-irradiated F₁ mice (from the same parent strain a and a different one, i.e., $a \times b$) and, weeks later, studied

the reactivity of the T cells. The T cells from such chimeras cooperated especially well with B cells and macrophages of either parental H-2 type (a or b) in bringing about a response to SRBC or hemocyanin. This basic result was confirmed by others (Singer et al., 1979; Erb et al., 1979, 1980a,b). However, T cells from chimeras made of bone marrow from an F_1 into a parent cooperated only with B cells and macrophages of the parental host (this result was also supported by other studies, i.e., Sprent, 1978c; Katz et al., 1978). Thus, in their situation, the potential antigen reactivity of T cells could be expanded or decreased by their differentiation in an appropriate host. This same experimentation also applied to antigens under Ir-gene control showing state of responsiveness or unresponsiveness. For example, chimeras were made by transplanting bone marrow stem cells from a "nonresponder" mouse into X-irradiated recipients from an F1 cross between a responder and a nonresponder; the T cells were subsequently examined. Kappler and Marrack (1978) found that such T cells provided helper cells to (TG)-AL if now tested in cultures with B cells and macrophages from responder, but not from nonresponder, mice [the basic conclusions were also confirmed by Hodes et al. (1979)]. The studies of Erb et al. (1980a,b), used the in vitro system described in Section II,C and confirmed the previous results using hemocyanin, adding experiments with insulin, an antigen under strict MHC control.

A different approach was taken by Thomas and Shevach (1977). They explored the possibility that mature T cells reactive to antigen in allogeneic macrophages could be found if appropriately selected for. They examined a system of in vitro generation of hapten-specific T cells. The system consisted of three sequential cultures: (a) T cells from strain 13 guinea pigs were cultured with strain 2 macrophages for 3 days, then exposed to bromodeoxyuridine and light to inactivate the anti-strain 2 alloreactive T cells: (b) such treated cells were then incubated for 5 days with strain 2 macrophages that contained surface TNP groups; after which (c) the T cells were cultured with fresh TNPmacrophages from strain 2 and assaved for proliferation. The strain 13 T cells still reacted with strain 2 macrophages (not derivatized) about 80% less than the T cells not treated with the drug. Significantly, the T cells proliferated vigorously to the TNP-macrophages of strain 2, and this reaction was inhibited by antibodies to the Ia antigens of strain 2 (Thomas et al., 1977b). Not killing the antigen-alloreactive T-cell clone did not allow for the demonstration of the TNP-specific clone. These results, if confirmed, imply that the cells recognizing antigen in the context of allogeneic Ia are present but require to expand in order to become operative. Another situation where T cells react with antigen in an allogeneic macrophage was discussed before for the GAT polymer. In essence, the experimental evidence suggests that the interactions of T cells with the MHC products expressed by the individual is important in the expression of different antigen-reactive T cells. Some experiments suggest that the selection of T cells is a developmental event that takes place prior to contact with antigen, but others have shown it following antigen exposure of mature T cells. Overall, the chimera experiments are difficult and may contain complicating features, and whether the selection of T cells is more apparent than real requires further studies. The way in which the MHC "environment" regulates antigen selection prior to antigen still remains unexplained.

How does one explain the nonresponder status of the macrophage? Alan Rosenthal's laboratory provided evidence that macrophages, through their handling of antigen, would select the appropriate determinant for the T cell. This concept of "determinant selection" became evident during the analysis of the response to insulin by guinea pig T cells (Rosenthal et al., 1977; Barcinski and Rosenthal, 1977; Rosenthal, 1978). Ir genes controlled the immune response to the two chains of insulin: T cells from strain 13 proliferated upon challenge with oxidized B chain of pork insulin, but T cells from strain 2 did not. In contrast, T cells from strain 2 proliferated upon interaction with A-chain determinants. With this information at hand, Rosenthal and associates examined the T cell response of F_1 guinea pigs to insulin or its chains presented on macrophages from either strain 2 or strain 13. T cells from guinea pigs immunized with pork insulin proliferated upon interaction with insulin on either macrophage. Using cross-reactive insulin or isolated chains, it was possible to show that the F₁ T cells proliferated to the B chain only when insulin was presented on strain 13 macrophages and to a sequence of three amino acids of the A chain when presented to strain 2 macrophages. Furthermore, using manipulations with bromodeoxyuridine and light, it was possible to identify two distinct sets of cells, the selection of which depended on the macrophage. Similar selection was found in *in vivo* experiments using F₁ guinea pigs transplanted with strain 2 or strain 13 macrophages (Yokomuro and Rosenthal, 1979). Rosenthal concluded that "a selected amino acid sequence and/or conformation within the antigen itself is seen by the T cell receptor and that generation or display of such antigenic determinants is a function of immune response genes operating at the level of the antigen-presenting cell." Perhaps the Ir genes "are, or regulate the activity of, families of enzymes which modify or metabolize polypeptide antigens" (Rosenthal, 1978).

The determinant selection phenomenon was found for several proteins. Thomas' laboratory reported it for the response to human fibrinopeptide B, a 14 amino acid fragment derived from the B β chain of fibrinogen (Thomas *et al.*, 1979a,b; Thomas and Wilmer, 1980). Macrophages from immune strain 2 guinea pigs, but not from strain 13, presented the antigen or synthetic analogs that contained 10 critical amino acids (positions 5 through 14). The terminal arginine was essential, and its absence resulted in a lack of immunogenicity. A further illustration of this phenomenon involving the *I-C* region in the mouse was shown for myoglobin (Richman *et al.*, 1980).

A final point to analyze is the relationship between Ir genes and the Ia antigens. Are they the same? The conclusion, based on the genetics of Ir genes and of Ia antigens, is that this is the case. Strong experiments to support this claim are those showing Ir gene complementation between the *I*-A and *I*-E/C regions for the response to the peptide poly(Glu-Lys-Phe), GLPhe. The response to this peptide required two complementing Ir genes, one mapped at the I-A to I-B subregion, the other to the I-E/C subregion. The responder haplotypes were $I-A^{b}$ and $I-E/C^{d}$ (i.e., H2^b and H2^d mice did not respond, but their F₁ offspring or appropriate intra-H2 recombinants mounted a strong immunity (Dorf et al., 1975; Dorf and Benacerraf, 1975). In order to obtain T cell proliferation, the two gene products had to be expressed in the same antigen-presenting cells, which had to come from a responder or from the recombinants bearing the appropriate crossovers at I-A and I-E/C(Schwartz et al., 1979). In subsequent studies, Jones et al. (1978) and Cook *et al.* (1979) brought structural and serological evidence of two complementing gene products in the same strain combinations coding for the I-E/C antigens. One gene product mapped at I-A and coded for the β chain, and the second mapped at I-E/C and coded for the α chain. The finding of a hybrid molecule provides a biochemical explanation to the complementation studies using GLPhe and also brings out a molecular mechanism for generating multiple *I*-region products on the cell surface.

2. Correlation with Antigen Handling

Several approaches have been taken to study the relationship between antigen handling and the immunogenic moiety recognized by lymphocytes. These include (a) correlating metabolism of labeled antigen with immunogenicity; (b) attempting to modulate the macrophage presentation of antigen with antibodies to Ia or to the antigen, or by treatment with proteases: (c) analyzing macrophage-released products; and (d) studying the binding of lymphocytes to macrophages in the presence or absence of antigen. These last studies will be described in Section III, B, 3.

Metabolism of Labeled Antigens—Use of Antibodies and Trypsin. The two major attempts so far to correlate the handling of a radioactive antigen with immunogenicity were carried out in my laboratory and in Alan Rosenthal's. The results of many of the experiments were remarkably similar, yet there were important differences, too, that indicate two pathways of antigen presentation.

In our first experiments initiated in the laboratory of Dr. B. A. Askonas, macrophages were pulsed with ¹²⁵I-labeled hemocyanin; at various times thereafter, the macrophages were transferred live into syngeneic recipients and assayed for their capacity to induce an antibody response. Macrophages were also cultured, and the amounts of ¹²³I-labeled antigen remaining in the cell or released into the medium was determined at various times. Three main results were obtained:

1. Most protein antigens were bound initially to the cell surface, then interiorized in vesicles and rapidly catabolized; the bulk of the catabolized antigen was found in the form of ¹²⁵I bound to amino acids; however, a small percentage of antigen invariably escaped catabolism (approximately 20%) and remained cell associated or was released (Unanue and Askonas, 1968a,b; Cruchaud and Unanue, 1971; Schmidtke and Unanue, 1971a; Calderon and Unanue, 1974). The antigen that escaped rapid catabolism was identified as (a) a released soluble product; (b) a small component on the macrophage surface, solubilized by trypsin; (c) an internal pool of antigen that was slowly degraded.

2. Culturing macrophages for several periods of time established that there was no correlation between the amount of antigen degraded and its immunogenicity; for example, with hemocyanins, the immunogenicity of the macrophage-bound antigen was relatively stable for a few days, while the bulk of the protein was catabolized (Unanue and Askonas, 1968b); with albumins, the life of the immunogenic moiety was shorter, lasting about a day.

3. Incubating the macrophages with antibody or trypsin prior to *in* vivo cell transfer markedly reduced their immunogenicity (Unanue and Cerottini, 1970); these results were confirmed by testing for antibody formation *in vitro*. The immunogenicity of macrophage-bound hemocyanin did not decay after 28 hours of culture and was sensitive to trypsin treatment of macrophages pulsed with antigen 24 hours *earlier* (Unanue, 1978). It is noteworthy that, in this latter case, the presentation of antigen to T and B cells did *not* require genetic iden-

tity at H-2 (Unanue, 1978). The lack of MHC involvement was explained by a transfer of the macrophage-associated antigen to an antigen-presenting cell syngeneic with the T cell (Section II,C).

The major point in the catabolism studies was that antigen from phagocytes was available for some periods of time, albeit in decreasing amounts. The antigen molecules were found secreted and on the macrophage surface. The antigens secreted from macrophages included all those tested so far: hemocyanin (Unanue and Askonas, 1968b; also, Askonas and Jaroskova, 1970), albumin (Schmidtke and Unanue, 1971a), iodinated SRBC (Cruchaud and Unanue, 1971; also, Cruchaud et al., 1975), and products from Listeria monocutogenes (Unanue, 1980). Calderon did a detailed analysis of this released antigen trying to determine its source, pathway of release, and immunogenicity (Calderon and Unanue, 1974). The released hemocyanin derived from active, live macrophages, not from dead cells, and was represented by 3-7% of the protein initially bound to the macrophages. The released product was not affected by trypsin treatment of the macrophage indicating that it was not derived from any hemocyanin on the cell surface; furthermore, it was of heterogeneous size, indicating changes in the molecule, although a substantial amount was still reactive with antibody. The antigen was secreted mainly during the first 2 hours following uptake, but a small amount was slowly released during later times of culture. [Using γ -globulins, the released antigen was much smaller than the native molecule (Cruchaud and Unanue, 1971; Cruchaud et al., 1975).] The hemocyanin released from macrophages was as immunogenic as the native molecule (our unpublished studies). Products from Listeria were also found to be released by macrophages and to be immunogenic without any H-2 restrictions (Unanue, 1980). The released antigen, therefore, appeared to derive from the intracellular compartment and probably represented a few molecules in phagosomes that reverted to the surface and were exocytosed.

The surface-bound molecules, released by trypsin (Unanue *et al.*, 1969; Unanue and Cerottini, 1970) and by EDTA (Unanue and Cerottini, 1970; Askonas and Jaroskova, 1970), included a few molecules that remained membrane bound after the internalization of the bulk of antigen molecules. The amount of protein that persisted on the surface was small, no more than 1%, and this amount decayed with time. Why a small number of molecules was kept on the surface is not known. The surface-bound molecules, at least with hemocyanin, retained their basic native structure: the protein was visualized by electron microscopy in unpublished studies with J. Rosenblith and M. Karnovsky

(mentioned in Unanue, 1975); also, antibody reacted with the trypsinreleased hemocyanin (Unanue and Cerottini, 1970). Surface-bound molecules were also found after the binding and internalization of particulate antigens (Cruchaud and Unanue, 1970; Cruchaud *et al.*, 1975). These molecules might have derived from either the action of ectoenzymes on the antigen prior to its interiorization or following the endocytosis of the antigen by reversal to the surface of endocytic vesicles containing the antigen. Limited experiments were done in which macrophages were trypsinized twice, first to remove the bulk of the initial membrane-bound antigen, followed by a latent period to allow for "reexpression," then by a second trypsinization to determine whether new labeled protein could be released. The results indicated that the bulk of the surface-bound molecules was found early after the initial period of antigen binding and that very little was reexpressed.

The studies from Rosenthal's laboratory are important inasmuch as they focused on the relationship between the antigen handling and antigen presentation in a strictly MHC-dependent system, that of the proliferation of guinea pig T cells to syngeneic macrophage-bound antigen. Radioiodinated DNP-guinea pig albumin was rapidly catabolized, but approximately 20% remained cell associated for at least 3 days of culture (Ellner and Rosenthal, 1975). Some of the cellbound protein was surface bound and releasable by trypsin. Also, a small amount of protein was secreted into the culture supernatant. These results are, in essence, identical to the ones described above. The major differences between the two studies concerned the functional effects of treating the antigen-pulsed macrophages with trypsin or antibodies. First, the immunogenicity of macrophage-bound albumin was lost progressively with time. By 24 hours, there was a 40% drop, and this increased further to 80% by the next day. It is noteworthy that the function of macrophages not pulsed until 48 hours of culture also dropped somewhat (by 40%). This can be explained now by the loss of Ia biosynthesis (Section III,A).

Treatment of the macrophages pulsed with DNP-albumin with trypsin removed cell surface molecules so that antibodies to DNP-guinea pig albumin would no longer bind to macrophages. Notably, the immunogenicity was *not* affected by the treatment after 24 or 48 hours of pulsing with antigen. Trypsinization affected the immunogenicity only if applied immediately after a fresh pulse with antigen at 4°C, at a time when the bulk of the molecules had not been interiorized. This result also applied to the protein PPD (Waldron *et al.*, 1974). Furthermore, exposure of the macrophages to antibody did not have an effect on their immunological function. Ellner and Rosenthal (1975) concluded that "a trypsin-resistant, antibody-inaccessible component of macrophage-associated antigen, presumably at an intracellular site, is of major relevance in macrophage-dependent T cell recognition." Further analysis assaying for lymphokine production instead of T-cell proliferation and examining for clusters of T cells with macrophages (next section) confirmed that antibodies were not inhibitory (Ellner *et al.*, 1977).

Other attempts to block the responses of T cell-macrophage interactions with antibodies also failed. Werdelin and Shevach (1979) did not block the binding of T cells to macrophages pulsed with DNPalbumin, using a functional assay. Ben-Sasson *et al.* (1977) found no effect assaying morphologically the clustering of T cells to macrophages. In our system, antibodies had no effect on macrophagebound *Listeria monocytogenes* (Farr *et al.*, 1979a).

The point can be made that T cells recognize "sequential," linear amino acid sequences of the protein, not antigen in its native configuration, whereas B cells recognize conformational determinants (Sela, 1969). Therefore, antibodies would not be expected to block a T-cell reaction with antigen. Loblay *et al.* (1980) prepared monoclonal antibodies to the antigenic determinant of the A chain of insulin (amino acids 8 to 10), which is the sequence recognized by T cells. These antibodies did not inhibit the T cell proliferative response to macrophage-bound insulin. Chestnut *et al.* (1980) prepared antibodies to denatured determinants of albumin and also failed to inhibit T-cell proliferation.

Another major attempt to localize the macrophage-bound immunogen was carried out by Shevach and Thomas. They developed an assay system in which immune guinea pig T cells were generated upon culture with trinitrophenylated live macrophages (TNP-macrophages). The TNP groups were bound to most surface proteins of the macrophages, including the transplantation antigens (Forman *et al.*, 1977). Subsequently, the T cells were assayed by their proliferative response to fresh TNP-macrophages (Thomas and Shevach, 1978a,b). Their main findings were as follows:

1. TNP-macrophages were immunogenic if added to the primed T cells immediately after conjugation of TNP or 24 hours later ("aged" macrophages, to use their term).

2. Addition of anti-TNP antibodies to fresh macrophages blocked the response by about 75%.

3. The TNP presentation by "aged" macrophages (i.e., 24 hours after pulsing with TNP) was not affected by anti-TNP antibodies.

Thus, the immunogen was available early, but not late. Shevach (1980) went on to report that the presentation of antigen by aged TNP-macrophages could be inhibited by anti-TNP antibodies if the cells were derivatized again after 24 hours: (a) TNPmacrophages \rightarrow 24-hour culture \rightarrow anti-TNP antibody: T cell proliferation; while in (b) TNP-macrophages \rightarrow 24-hour culture \rightarrow TNP \rightarrow anti-TNP antibody: no T cell proliferation. Thomas (1978), on the other hand, examined the effects of glutaraldehyde fixation on this system. He noted that very light fixation affected the mixed leukocyte reaction and the response to PPD bound to macrophages but had a small effect on the response to TNP-macrophages. This finding allowed him to manipulate the system. Presentation by TNPmacrophages was not inhibited by antibodies after 24 hours of culture. but was blocked if the macrophages were lightly fixed with glutaraldehyde immediately after TNP conjugation, and then cultured, i.e., TNP macrophages \rightarrow 24 hours \rightarrow antibody: no blocking; TNPmacrophages \rightarrow glutaraldehyde \rightarrow 24 hours \rightarrow antibody: T cell response is blocked. Furthermore, macrophages that were cultured 24 hours, then derivatized, were immunogenic if fixed in glutaraldehyde. whereas TNP-macrophages cultured for 24 hours, then fixed, lost all their function (macrophages \rightarrow 24 hours \rightarrow TNP \rightarrow glutaraldehyde: immunogenic; TNP-macrophages $\rightarrow 24$ hours \rightarrow glutaraldehvde: not immunogenic).

Shevach interpreted his results to mean that a few molecules of TNP were available on the membrane but, being so few, could not be crosslinked by antibody and were not modulated; hence, the need to add fresh antigen. Thomas interpreted his experiments to mean that during culture TNP became inaccessible but was expressed upon contact with T cells. Glutaraldehyde "locked" the antigen in place and, therefore, affected the aged TNP-macrophage but not the fresh TNP cell. In other experiments, Thomas and Shevach found that anti-Ia antibody, even for a short period of 1 hour before or after derivatizing the macrophages, blocked very effectively; they argued, therefore, that TNP must be associated with Ia antigens.

One can argue that TNP conjugation of the macrophage is a drastic manipulation that complicates the issue inasmuch as it brings into operation many surface proteins of the macrophage. It is obvious that haptenation does not simplify an already complex system, yet some of Thomas and Shevach's results are striking and do suggest the early availability of a pool of surface antigen for a period of time; the experiments of Shevach with antibody are provocative and so are those of Thomas with fixation and must be further explored with better defined antigens.

Kirk Ziegler and I have a series of yet unpublished experiments using Listeria monocytogenes that address the issue of whether the antigen recognized by T cells required a step of internalization and digestion. The system consisted of a brief, 15-30 minute interaction of Listeria-immune T cells with macrophages; this resulted in the firm adherence of the T cells with concomitant loss of functional cells from the nonadherent population (Section III). Radiolabeled Listeria was added to macrophages and followed cytologically and biochemically as it bound to the macrophage membranes and was then internalized and catabolized. The two major findings were (a) that the T cells did not bind to the macrophages until about 30 minutes after the interiorization of bacteria; and (b) that following this lag period, macrophages fixed lightly in paraformaldehyde could interact with the T cell. The implications are that the bacteria had to be taken in to be digested. after which some of the immunogenic products reverted to the cell surface. Of interest is that iodinated Listeria peptides could be released by trypsin, yet this treatment did not affect immunogenicity.

A summary of the main findings and my interpretation of them are given in Table VII, taken from a previous discussion (Unanue, 1978). I conclude that antigen is available from the macrophage in two major forms: (a) "unrestricted" by an MHC product and thus free to interact with any cells; and (b) linked—at least functionally—with an *I*-region product.

The "unrestricted" antigen is represented by a small number of molecules that are secreted and by a few that remain membrane bound and easily releasable by trypsin, both of which retain, at least in part, their native structure and can be recognized by specific antibodies. The population of "unrestricted" molecules are found with every antigen so far tested. The macrophage, therefore, serves as a source-or "reservoir"-of this antigen for finite periods that vary from antigen to antigen. With hemocyanin, for example, it was long to the point where its immunogenicity in vivo could be shown, up to 2-3 weeks (Unanue and Askonas, 1968). Indeed, this available antigen is an unavoidable complication in every system that examines antigen presentation and MHC restrictions. All the indications are that the free "unrestricted" antigen can enter into the Ia-restricted pathway by having another antigen-presenting cell interact with it. This is surmised by observations that allogeneic macrophages can present the antigen to T cells (that contain syngeneic macrophages) or to T and B cells that are in themselves I-region restricted. Ellner et al. (1977) and Pierce and Maleck (1980) (Section II,C) have presented clear evidence in support of this conclusion. Conceivably, as discussed in Section II.C, the B cell in T-B cell mixtures might interact also with this macrophage-

EMIL R. UNANUE

	I-region restricted	MHC-independent ^a
Assay	Antigen-pulsed macrophages are added to purified T cells	Antigen-pulsed macrophages are added to unfractionated T cells or to mixtures of T and B cells (with macrophages)
Effects of antibody	Usually does not block the interaction	Effective in blocking interaction
Effects of trypsin	Not sensitive	Removes membrane-bound molecules important in the interaction
Effects of anti-Ia antibodies	Blocks the interaction	Not tested
Presentation by allogeneic macrophages	Present poorly	Can present
Presentation by Ia- bearing macrophages	Strictly required	Probably not required
Localization in macrophages	Not known. Intracellular?	Membrane-bound and soluble secreted molecules
Major role	MHC-restrictive interactions with T cells	Source of antigen available for B cells and/or la- bearing macrophages

TABLE VII Two Forms of Antigen Presentation

^a MHC, major histocompatibility complex.

associated antigen and, in turn, present it to T cells in an MHC-regulated interaction (Unanue, 1978).

The antigenic moiety involved in the Ia-restricted interaction has not been characterized: its chemical forms, its location in the macrophage, its association with Ia need to be fully explored. In favor of a processing step for the antigen are the observations that T cells recognize small sequences of amino acids, and that proteins that are not digestible do not stimulate T-cell reactivity. The lack of accessibility of the antigen to proteases (Ellner and Rosenthal, 1975); the requirement for an intracellular handling stage, as suggested by Ziegler's experiment; the lack of inhibition by antibodies to the T cell determinant in the case of the experiments of Thomas and Shevach, Loblay *et al.*, and Chestnut *et al.*, all argue for an intracellular depot. Yet it is clear that the T cell specifically contacts, and adheres tenaciously in a specific way to, macrophages containing antigen. The next section discusses this specific interaction in detail. Rosenthal has argued that the T cell

may first contact macrophages in an antigen-independent manner and that this contact then triggers the flow of specific antigenic molecules from an intracellular site to the membrane, making them available to the T-cell antigen receptor. This argument is echoed in Thomas's experiments with glutaraldehyde described above. Against it, at face value, is Shevach's experiment blocking "aged" macrophages with anti-TNP antibodies or the experiments of Ziegler showing that paraformaldehyde-fixed macrophages are immunogenic. Both situations may not be contradictory: it may well be that the flow of immunogenic material from an intracellular site to the membrane is highly dynamic and that there is a continuous recycling; this recycling could be regulated by a membrane interaction. Depending on how much immunogen is at a given time on the outside—which may vary from antigen to antigen-the T cells will bind to it with different degrees of avidity. Once the T cell binds to it, the process of recycling may augment, making available more immunogen. In this situation, it may be difficult for antibodies to block this close cell-to-cell contact interaction, particularly if the determinants are sparse. Along the lines discussed above, in unpublished studies reproduced in Fig. 9. I have found that the intracellular vesicles which contain antigen also have Ia antigens.

In all the studies on antigen presentation, one puzzling and unexplained fact still remains, and that is the ease of suppression of the interaction by anti-Ia antibodies in contrast to the lack of effects of antibodies to the antigen. One wonders if Ia may have two distinct functions in the macrophage, one to regulate the antigen-handling and antigen-presentation step, and the other to modulate the contact be-



FIG. 9. Macrophages were incubated with heat-killed *Listeria monocytogenes* (panel A) or with opsonized red cells (panels B and C), after which the cells were fixed in acetone and stained with a monoclonal antibody anti-I-A (clone 10-2.16). The endocytic residues with the phagocytized particles are very rich in I-A molecules. Macrophages that have not phagocytized show few very weak punctate fluorescence. [Unpublished studies of E. R. Unanue (1979).]

tween the T cell and the macrophage. To this effect, two observations discussed in Section II showed T cell-macrophage interactions in the response to polyclonal stimuli, involving the macrophage Ia, but not restricted by the *I*-region haplotype—these were the interactions of T cells with macrophages in the response to Con A and to aldehyde. Particularly, the response to aldehydes was thoroughly examined and shown to be blocked with the specific anti-Ia antibody (Greineder *et al.*, 1976) (Section II,B). The results imply a surface-to-surface effect where allogenic Ia modulates the interaction. Ia proteins, therefore, may be versatile proteins capable of influencing the key and specific antigen-handling event at the same time that they can also interact with surface structures of the T cells in a way not involving antigen.

The association of antigen with Ia has been thought to be the immunogenic complex, although this has not been easy to demonstrate directly by biochemical techniques. Perhaps Ia is a protein that can bind sequences of amino acids and form a complex to which the T-cell receptor(s) binds with high affinity. Determinant selection may then involve the specific attachment of a piece of the antigen, resulting from lysosomal digestion to Ia—the degree of binding will vary depending on both the antigen and the structure of the Ia protein, which eventually translates into responder or nonresponder status. Or, perhaps, as Rosenthal speculated, genes code for an enzyme that directs the cleavage of the proteins at the same time that the Ia antigens function also as cellular interaction molecules.

Two experiments have been published in support of a soluble antigen-Ia complex. Erb and Feldmann's studies, described in Section II,C, indicated that a soluble material released from 4-day cultures of macrophages with antigen was effective in inducing helper T cells in an I-region-restricted way. The material was specifically removed by its passage through an anti-Ia column. Puri and Lonai (1980) recently reported on a similar phenomenon. Their first approach was to study the binding of ¹²⁵I-labeled (TG)-A-L to T cell suspensions. The binding, using autoradiography, took place if the T cells were first incubated for 2 hours with a 48-hour conditioned medium from macrophages. Furthermore, the binding required the presence of adherent cells in the T cell suspensions. A culture of T cells (containing adherent cells) with labeled antigen for 40 minutes contained a radiolabeled material that would rapidly bind to T cells treated with the macrophage-conditioned medium. The "processed" antigen did not bind to T cells bearing a different I region and was removed from solution by an anti-Ia immunoabsorbent. In a second series of experiments, the processed antigen was immunogenic in vivo and could, if highly radioactive, kill the specific T cells (i.e., T cells incubated with "processed" antigen for 40 minutes would no longer show carrier function in a T-B cell collaboration protocol). [Some evidence of Ia released from macrophages and attaching to T cells was also brought up by Lee and Paraskevas (1979).] The Erb–Feldmann and Puri–Lonai observations are at an early stage in development but imply the release of an immunogenic antigen-Ia-bearing product as one pathway of antigen presentation. The results are of obvious importance and need to be further explained and characterized as well as integrated with other phenomena showing direct T cell-macrophage associations.

3. Lymphocyte-to-Macrophage Interactions

One of the critical issues relating to the mechanisms of lymphocytes interacting with antigen bound to macrophages is that of cell-to-cell contact. The early anatomical studies of macrophage-lymphocyte association in lymph nodes and spleen were reviewed previously (Unanue, 1972). Few histological studies have appeared in the past few years, and these, in general, have contributed little beyond a descriptive analysis of frequent and intimate associations between phagocytes and lymphocytes in the deep cortex and medulla of stimulated nodes. The early reports on macrophage-lymphocyte association in antigen and lectin-driven cultures were also reviewed. These indicated the frequent finding of multicellular aggregates between phagocytes and lymphocytes (for example, Mosier, 1969; Salvin and Nishio, 1969; Pierce and Benacerraf, 1969; Schechter and MacFarland, 1970; Seeger and Oppenheim. 1970; Salvin et al., 1971). Several recent reports, particularly from five laboratories, have analyzed the issue of cell contact using cell cultures. These reports have indicated the specific and intimate anatomical and functional association between antigencommitted T cells and antigen-containing Ia-positive phagocytes.

The general approach taken was to produce a monolayer of macrophages, to which immune lymphocytes were added, in the presence or the absence of antigen. The interaction was quantitated by counting either the percentage of macrophages binding lymphocytes or the number of lymphocytes per 100 macrophages; or, functionally, by testing in a bioassay the removal of the antigen-specific lymphocytes from the cell suspension.

The studies of Lipsky and Rosenthal (1973, 1975b) using the guinea pig confirmed the observations that *thymocytes* would avidly bind to macrophages in the absence of antigens (Siegel, 1970a,b). About 90% of the macrophages in a preparation would bind the thymocytes; 5% of them went on to ingest the thymocytes. Serum had no effect on the interaction. Thymocytes attached to cultured macrophages, even better to macrophages from oil-induced exudates, but not to neutrophils or fibroblasts. Lipsky and Rosenthal considered this binding an example of *antigen-independent* lymphocyte-macrophage interaction. The binding required live, active macrophages, took place optimally at 37°C, and by way of a trypsin-sensitive structure of the macrophage (Siegel, 1970b; Lipsky and Rosenthal, 1975b; Lopez et al., 1977). The binding was species specific (Siegel, 1970a, 1970b; Lopez et al., 1974). but not strain specific (Lopez et al., 1977). In contrast to thymocytes, the degree of antigen-independent binding of mature T cells obtained from lymph nodes, although present, was much less pronounced (three- to fivefold less). The antigen-independent binding of either thymocytes or T cells took place *briefly* following culture, reaching maximal values after 1 hour, and disappeared progressively with time. the cells leaving their substrate (Lipsky and Rosenthal, 1973, 1975b; Lopez et al., 1977). The thymocytes that dissociated from the macrophages lost their capacity to bind again (Lopez et al., 1977).

In our own experience using mouse cells, this binding of thymocytes was very marked both in terms of number of thymocytes adhering to the macrophage and percentage of macrophages binding thymocytes (Beller and Unanue, 1978). Interestingly, thymocytes would also bind to macrophages isolated from the thymus (Beller and Unanue, 1978). I am not convinced, however, that the molecular basis for antigenindependent binding of thymocytes to macrophages is the same as that of mature T cells. It is possible that the much greater binding of immature thymocytes is because of a unique surface structure or one common with the mature T cell but at a much higher concentration.

The antigen-dependent binding has been tested most frequently by adding immune T lymphocytes to the monolayers of antigen-pulsed macrophages and quantitating the binding morphologically (Fig. 10). Depending on the culture conditions, maximal binding took place between 4 and 8 hours after the initiation of the culture and was maintained for a few days, decaying slowly; the binding was clearly antigen-specific (Werdelin *et al.*, 1974; Lipsky and Rosenthal, 1975a; Lipscomb *et al.*, 1977; Ben-Sasson *et al.*, 1977, 1978; Braendstrup and Werdelin, 1977). The lymphocyte that remained attached to the macrophages exhibited morphological signs of transformation and synthesized DNA (Lipsky and Rosenthal, 1975b; Braendstrup *et al.*, 1976; Ben-Sasson *et al.*, 1978). The lymphocyte that dissociated from the macrophages could bind *de novo* to fresh antigen-pulsed macrophages, suggesting that their release from the macrophage might be because of the loss of immunogenic antigen (Ben-Sasson *et al.*, 1978).



FIG. 10. Clustering of immune T cells to macrophages. Listeria monocytogenesimmune T cells were planted onto macrophages previously pulsed with Listeria for 1 hour, and then the loosely adherent cells were removed. Note the attachment of four lymphocytes to the macrophage. The attachment required phagocytosis of Listeria and Ia molecules on the macrophage surface. (Experiment of K. Ziegler, R. S. Cotran, and E. R. Unanue.)

It was clear that the binding of T cells to antigen-pulsed macrophages showed the same MHC restrictions as found in functional assays. Immune T cells from strain 2 guinea pigs preferentially clustered on antigen-pulsed macrophages of strain 2 rather than on macrophages of strain 13 (Lipsky and Rosenthal, 1975a; Braendstrup *et al.*, 1979; Lyon *et al.*, 1979). Anti-Ia inhibited cluster formation (Braendstrup *et al.*, 1979; Lyon *et al.*, 1979). In their study, Lyon *et al.* (1979) inhibited the clustering of T cells from $(2 \times 13)F_1$ guinea pigs to macrophages of strain 2 pulsed with DNP-GL (an antigen to which strain 2 responds, but not strain 13) by addition of an anti-strain-2-Ia, but not by an anti-strain-13-Ia, suggesting that the macrophages were the target. Functional assays established that this was indeed the case (Ziegler and Unanue, 1979).

Not all antigen-pulsed macrophages bind T cells; the number, although not studied in detail, was about 20-40% (Werdelin *et al.*, 1974; Ben-Sasson *et al.*, 1974). This could well be explained by the different content of Ia-bearing macrophages inasmuch as the T cells bind preferentially to them. This point was studied in our laboratory by K. Ziegler, who, after allowing the lymphocytes to layer and cluster on the macrophage, fixed the preparation and stained for the Ia antigens of the macrophage by fluorescence. Clearly, the antigen-specific binding was taking place on Ia-bearing macrophages and could be enhanced severalfold using macrophage monolayers with a high content of Ia-positive macrophages.

Detailed morphological and cinematographic studies of the macrophage-lymphocyte clustering were made by Werdelin's laboratory using guinea pig cells (Nielsen et al., 1974; Braendstrup and Werdelin, 1977; Petri et al., 1978, 1979). They found that the lymphocytemacrophage clusters were formed by a phagocyte to which a "central" lymphocyte was attached to by long areas of intimate membrane-tomembrane contact; interestingly, various other lymphocytes surrounded and attached to the central lymphocyte by way of long uropods (Fig. 11). The "peripheral" lymphocytes interacted sometimes briefly with the central lymphocytes, left, and reattached to other macrophages. Stopping cell motility by drugs, as expected, reduced cluster formation (Braendstrup et al., 1977). The antigen specificity and kinetics of binding of central and peripheral lymphocytes was quite different. The central T lymphocyte bound optimally by 4 hours of culture, whereas the interaction of the peripheral lymphocytes took several hours longer. More important, the binding of the central lymphocyte to the macrophage was antigen specific, whereas the binding of the peripheral lymphocyte was not. Thus, a suspension of lymphocytes could be specifically depleted of their capacity to cluster on antigen-pulsed macrophages by a first culture on macrophage monolayers; i.e., after 4 hours, the cells that were not adherent did not form clusters on a fresh antigen-pulsed macrophage monolayer (Werdelin and Braendstrup, 1979). The peripheral lymphocyte, on the other hand, from immune or nonimmune, syngeneic, or allogeneic guinea pigs, associated and clustered on the cultures of macrophages with a central lymphocyte (Braendstrup et al., 1979). Peripheral lymphocytes were represented by both T and B cells (Petri et al., 1978). The interpretation was that the binding of the peripheral lymphocytes could be an example of lymphocyte-lymphocyte collaboration.

Particularly significant results that addressed the issue of T cell recognition of antigen were obtained using the binding of T cells to macrophages as a means to deplete T cells in a functional T cell-



FIG. 11. Clustering of peripheral (PL) and central (CL) lymphocytes to macrophages (MF). In this study from Werdelin's laboratory, guinea pig purified protein derivative (PPD)-primed T lymphocytes were incubated with PPD-pulsed macrophages. The peripheral lymphocytes attached to the central lymphocyte by slender uropods (U). [From Nielsen *et al.* (1974).]

macrophage assay (Swierkosz et al., 1978, 1979; Werdelin and Shevach, 1979; Werdelin et al., 1979; Ziegler and Unanue, 1979; Werdelin, 1980).

The experiments reported by Werdelin and Shevach used guinea pig T cells immune to ovalbumin added to monolayers for 4 hours, after which the nonadherent cells were recovered and again added to a fresh macrophage monolayer and tested for DNA synthesis. The optimal removal of the antigen-specific T cells—74–98%—occurred after three such cycles of binding. In the mouse, we technically modified the system and obtained excellent depletion using *Listeria monocytogenes* as the antigen, after one or two 1-hour cycles of binding (Ziegler and Unanue, 1979). One important manipulation was to lightly centrifuge the immune T cells onto the macrophage monolayer. Werdelin's studies assayed T-cell function by DNA synthesis; Ziegler's did it by DNA synthesis and also by measuring mediator production or macrophage activation.

The main results were that T cells interacted only with antigen molecules associated with the appropriate Ia-bearing macrophages. In contrast, T cells did not bind to soluble antigen. Werdelin *et al.* (1979), were unable to show competition for the T-cell binding to macrophages by an excess of soluble antigen, and neither did Ben-Sasson *et al.* (1977), who also did not observe binding to insolubilized antigen. We did not find binding of immune T cells to *Listeria* attached by poly-L-lysine to a culture dish.

Using F_1 mice, it was possible to find a specific interaction of two clones of T cells, each binding to the antigen in the context of one of the parental macrophages. The experiments of Swierkosz *et al.* (1978, 1979), assayed for helper T cells to SRBC (Section II,C). The F_1 T cells, isolated directly from the macrophage monolayer, were highly enriched in helper cells when tested for an antibody response in a mixture of B cell and macrophages from either parent. Similar results assaying for depletion of T cells rather than enrichment were obtained by Werdelin *et al.* (1979) and Ziegler and Unanue (1979).

We used the F_1 mouse with its two clones of T cells to explore the blocking effect of the anti-Ia antibodies. T cells from $(BL6 \times A)F_1$ mice were bound specifically to the *Listeria*-pulsed macrophages from A or BL/6 and then tested functionally on each parental macrophage. Each reactive clone would be depleted by the specific macrophages. The depletion of the A-reactive clone did not take place when specific anti-Ia antibodies were added during the binding reaction. In contrast to the effects of antibodies to Ia, antibodies to the antigen did not result in abrogation of T cell-macrophage binding (Ellner *et al.*, 1977; Ben-Sasson *et al.*, 1977; Werdelin and Shevach, 1979).

In contrast to the many studies described above showing the specific binding of T cells to macrophages bearing Ia and antigen, there are few reports on the binding of B cells to macrophages. One of our early studies with Schmidtke showed binding of B cells to macrophage monolayers (in the absence of antigen) in a process competed by excess Ig (Schmidtke and Unanue, 1971b). Lipsky and Rosenthal (1975b) also observed antigen-independent binding of guinea pig B cells to macrophages but found no inhibition by excess immunoglobulin. Petri *et al.* (1978) observed binding of B cells to the central lymphocytes bound to macrophages (see above). O'Toole and Wortis (1980) reported antigen-independent binding of B cells to macrophages, particularly of the B cells bearing the Lyb3 marker. The binding of B cells was limited to the first 2 hours of culture if T cells were also present, but persisted in the absence of T cells.

C. SECRETORY FUNCTION OF MACROPHAGES

The mononuclear phagocytes can decisively affect their surrounding environment through the release of a number of biologically active products. These products influence the function of lymphocytes, connective tissue cells, and extracellular proteins. Table VIII summarizes the major secretory products grouped into four major categories. The secretory products include enzymes that affect connective tissue and extracellular proteins—collagenase, elastase, plasminogen activator; a number of molecules critical for "defense" processes—complement proteins, interferon; molecules that affect cells—growth factors such as the lymphostimulatory molecules; and a variety of small molecular weight active compounds—prostaglandins, thymidine, oxygen intermediates. Several reviews of secretory processes have been published (Unanue, 1976; Unanue *et al.*, 1976a; Page *et al.*, 1978; Gordon, 1980). Many of the products secreted by macrophages are molecules destined exclusively for export, plasminogen activator for example, whereas others are intracellular products that are partially released under appropriate stimuli, such as the lysosomal enzymes. Some molecules are secreted continuously, but others only in response to external stimuli.

SECRETORY PRODUCTS	OF MACROPHAGES		
Products That Affect Extracellular a	and Connective Tissue Proteins		
Lysosomal enzymes $(1)^{\alpha}$	Various other neutral proteases (5, 6)		
Plasminogen activator (2)	Esterases (7)		
Collagenase (3)	Fibronectin (8)		
Elastase (4)	Procoaglulant (9)		
Products Involved in L	Defense Processes		
Complement proteins (C1, C2, C3, C4, factor B) (10)	Interferon (12)		
Lysozyme (11)			
Biologically Activ	ve Proteins		
Lymphostimuatory molecules (LAF) (this review)	Mesenchymal growth factor (14)		
Colony-stimulating factor (13)	Angiogenesis factor (15)		
Small Molecular Weig	ght Compounds		
Prostaglandins (this review)	Thymidine (this review)		
Cyclic nucleotides (16)	Oxygen-derived products (this review)		

TABLE VIII Secretory Products of Macrophages

^a Numbers in parentheses indicate references. This is a partial list that includes the main molecules studied so far. References are not complete and refer to either key studies or review papers. More extensive review of the various secretory products can be found in Unanue, 1976; Page *et al.*, 1978; and Gordon, 1980. Key to numbers: (1) Davies *et al.*, 1974; (2) Unkeless *et al.*, 1974; (3) Werb and Gordon, 1975a; (4) Werb and Gordon, 1975b; (5) Hauser and Voes, 1978; (6) Gordon, 1980; (7) Wiener and Levanon, 1968; (8) Alitalo *et al.*, 1980; (9) Edward and Rickles, 1980; (10) Colten, 1976; (11) Gordon *et al.*, 1974; (12) Smith and Wagner, 1967; (13) Chervenick and LoBuglio, 1972; (14) Leibovich and Ross, 1976; (15) Polverini *et al.*, 1977; (16) Gemsa *et al.*, 1975.
The secretory function of the macrophages is important in the relationship of the macrophage with the lymphocyte for three reasons.

1. Some of the molecules secreted by the phagocytes are powerful stimulants of T and B cells and, moreover, are released following macrophage-lymphocyte interactions regulated by the MHC of the species (Unanue *et al.*, 1976b; Farr *et al.*, 1977, 1979a). Thus, the lymphostimulatory molecules may explain part of the molecular events taking place between the phagocytes and the lymphocytes, each cell regulating the other.

2. The macrophage-lymphocyte interaction, or products derived thereof, may also modify the secretion of many of the molecules listed in Table VIII.

3. The negative side of the macrophage, its inhibition of lymphocyte function can be explained to a great extent by the release of small biologically active products.

1. Secretion of Lymphostimulatory Molecules

It is now well established that phagocytes release proteins that decisively control the function of T and B lymphocytes. The biosynthesis and secretion of lymphostimulatory molecules may, therefore, be considered one of the important molecular events that follow macrophage-lymphocyte interaction.

a. Lymphocyte-Activating Factor. One of the earliest demonstrations of an active soluble material released by the phagocytes came from the studies of the human mixed leukocyte reaction (Bach *et al.*, 1970). No reaction developed between responder and stimulatory lymphocytes depleted of adherent cells (Alter and Bach, 1970). However, a culture medium conditioned by adherent, monocyte-rich cells promoted the development of the allogeneic interaction. That macrophage-conditioned medium might also affect *in vitro* antibody formation was suggested by experiments indicating that such medium could substitute for the macrophage (Hoffman and Dutton, 1971). (The nature of the product in this study was never elucidated. The fact that it was absorbed by the red cells, which were then strongly immunogenic, suggests that it was antibody rather than a true macrophage product.)

The first clear demonstration of a mitogenic activity secreted by macrophages came from the studies of I. Gery, B. Waksman, and associates at Yale (Gery *et al.*, 1972; Gery and Waksman, 1972). In their study, the adherent cells from human peripheral blood released, after 24 hours of culture, a "factor" that promoted the response of murine thymocytes to PHA. Addition of the factor without PHA also promoted proliferation, but to a lesser extent. The factor was termed lymphocyte-activating factor and became known by the acronym LAF. We are defining LAF, therefore, as an activity in macrophage cultures that, added to thymocytes together with or in the absence of PHA, increases, after 3–4 days of culture, their uptake of tritiated thymidine by severalfold. Gery *et al.* found that LAF was best secreted following stimulation of the human monocytes or murine adherent spleen cells with endotoxin. LAF had a weak mitogenic effect on spleen cells but was active on lymph node lymphocytes, particularly in cultures of high cell density. Gery *et al.* concluded their study by speculating that LAF might well explain part of the helper role of macrophages in immune induction.

These observations were rapidly confirmed and extended. LAF is now considered the most important, perhaps the only, lymphostimulatory molecule released by phagocytes with a wide range of biological effects that extend from the original effects described by Gery, to promotion of T cell secretion of mediators, to stimulation of B cell differentiation.

After Gery's observations, our laboratory reported some important observations of particular relevance for our understanding of the biological effects of LAF. First, it became apparent that macrophageconditioned medium was a mixture of both stimulatory and inhibitory molecules, the latter being represented by dialyzable lowmolecular-weight molecules frequently at concentrations that masked the stimulatory effects. This "inhibitory" factor became more evident in high-density cultures of macrophages (for example, at approximately 5 to 10×10^6 per milliliter in a round dish 35 mm in diameter). Dialyzing the inhibitor resulted in the clear demonstration of a "mitogenic protein" that turned out to be identical to LAF (Calderon and Unanue, 1975; see also Hoessli et al., 1977). The inhibitors in many instances were represented by thymidine molecules, in others by prostaglandins [another study stressing the dual effect of macrophage-conditioned medium, in this case on hematopoietic cell growth, is that of Kurland et al. (1977), discussed below]. Of particular importance are the observations that LAF secretion was under strict regulation and that the key regulating event involved the interactions of macrophages with antigen and with immune T cells (Unanue et al., 1976b; Farr et al., 1977, 1979a; Beller et al., 1978; Ziegler and Unanue, 1979). These studies involving the regulation of LAF secretion are now described in detail.

b. Regulation of LAF Secretion. Under basal conditions, peritoneal

macrophages from unstimulated mice secreted a small and variable amount of thymocyte mitogenic activity. Addition of various stimulants, such as an antigen-antibody complex, a bacterium like *Listeria* monocytogenes, latex beads, or an adjuvant like beryllium sulfate, increased secretion approximately from 2- to 20-fold (Calderon et al., 1975). The increase in secretion, however, depended very critically on the life history of the macrophage: although peptone-induced macrophages were also triggered to release LAF, the macrophages from thioglycolate-injected mice were poor secretors (Calderon et al., 1975; Unanue et al., 1976b; Unanue and Kiely, 1977). Human monocytes also increased their basal secretion of LAF after interaction with latex spheres and antigen-antibody complexes (Blyden and Handschumacher, 1977). It should be noted that the most potent stimulant to secretion-second only to T cells and antigen-was endotoxin. Endotoxin strongly stimulated most macrophages (Meltzer and Oppenheim, 1977), spleen macrophages (Gery et al., 1972), and human monocytes (Gery et al., 1972; Blyden and Handschumacher, 1977; Lachman et al., 1977). The basal or stimulated secretion of LAF usually was optimal during the first 24–48 hours of culture (Fig. 12).



FIG. 12. This figure shows the increase in thymocyte mitogenic (lymphocyteactivating factor) activity secreted from macrophages after exposure to various materials. Culture fluids were tested on their effects on thymocyte proliferation at 25% volume per volume. [From Unanue *et al.* (1976).]

The release of the thymocyte mitogen was regulated by immune T cells upon interaction with macrophage-bound antigen. In our studies. peripheral macrophages from Listeria-immune or peptone-injected mice were cultured with heat-killed Listeria organisms, without, or together with, Listeria-immune T cells. The basal level of secretion by macrophages of LAF was low, but the uptake of *Listeria* increased secretion to a small extent. The addition of immune T cells produced a remarkable increase in secretion (immune T cells plus Listeria did not result in any production of mitogen). The secretion of thymocyte mitogenic LAF activity by T cell-macrophage interaction was found to (a) require intimate contact between the macrophage and the T celltheir separation by a filter did not result in secretion (Farr et al., 1977); (b) be antigen specific; and (c) be under control of the I region of the MHC (Farr et al., 1977, 1979a; Beller et al., 1978; Ziegler and Unanue, 1980). Thus, the release of the mitogen involved an initial recognition of antigen that followed all the parameters discussed in the preceding sections. Indeed, the secretion of LAF required not only the presence of Ia-bearing phagocytes, but that macrophages and T cells share the I-A region of H-2. The last experiment was done by culturing macrophages from congenic strains of mice together with immune T cells and *Listeria* organisms for 24 hours, after which the culture fluid was assaved for thymocyte mitogenic activity. A representative result is shown in Table IX. It should be stressed that the secretion of LAF was best induced after cell contact, as described above; addition to macrophages of lymphokine-containing medium resulted in relatively weak stimulation of LAF secretion. The release of LAF following T cell-macrophage interaction was also found with an antigen like hemocyanin (Unanue et al., 1976b) or with antigens in fetal calf serum (Farr et al., 1977, 1979a). Thioglycolate macrophages were also poor secretors of LAF following macrophage-T cell interaction.

The macrophage line P388D1 (Mizel *et al.*, 1978a,b) was found to release LAF. This release was increased by addition of PHA and T cells, even xenogenic, requiring also cell contact; in this unphysiological situation, there was no MHC involvement of the secretory process (Mizel *et al.*, 1978b). The P388D1 line also increased the secretion of LAF following exposure to phorbol myristate acetate (Mizel *et al.*, 1978c) and endotoxin (Mizel *et al.*, 1978b).

There are other important characteristics of LAF secretion that bear on the question of why the very activated macrophages were poor secretors of this protein. The basal or particle-induced secretion of LAF showed a superinduction phenomenon (Unanue and Kiely, 1977). Superinduction refers to the paradoxical increase in the production of a

Macro- phage strain	H-2 haplo- type	H-2 formulas							H-2	Mitogenic activity	
		K	I-A	I-B	<i>I-J</i>	I-C	S	D	homology with T Cell	No antigen	With Listeria
B10.A	a	k	k	k	k	d	d	d	All	$1,164 \pm 120$	$11,395 \pm 1,069$
B10	a	b	b	Ь	b	b	b	b	None	$1,259 \pm 209$	$1,348 \pm 137$
B10.A (4R)	h4	k	k	Ь	b	Ь	b	Ь	K + I - A	689 ± 46	$11,163 \pm 1,434$
B10.A (5R)	i5	Ь	b	b	k	d	d	d	I-J, I-C, S, D	501 ± 7	$1,190 \pm 405$
B10.A (15R)	h 15	k	k	k	k	d	d	b	K, I-A, I-B I-J, I-C, S	$1,745 \pm 238$	13,188 ± 1,313
B10.A	a	k	k	k	k	d	d	d	All	$1,164 \pm 120$	$11,195 \pm 1,069$
B10.G	q	q	q	q	q	q	q	q	None	$1,693 \pm 68$	$1,050 \pm 20$
B10.A (6R)	u 2	ġ	ġ	à	à	à	à	d	D	$1,687 \pm 269$	1,587 + 113
B10.AQR	y 1	q	k	k	k	d	d	d	I-A, I-B, I-J, I-C, S, D	$1,035 \pm 68$	$12,297 \pm 925$

 TABLE IX

 ABILITY OF B10.A Listeria-IMMUNE T CELLS TO INTERACT WITH MACROPHAGES SHARING DIFFERENT REGIONS OF THE

 H2 GENE COMPLEX^{a,b}

" From Farr et al. (1979a).

^b The experiment involved culturing B10.A Listeria-immune T cells with macrophages in the presence or the absence of 10^6 Listeria for 24 hours and then assaying the culture fluid for its content of mitogen. Mitogenic activity generated in cultures of T cells and Listeria antigen was 1068 ± 23 . Background proliferation of thymocytes was 530 ± 10 . Previous experiments have established that the lack of response in the combinations where macrophages and T cells did not share *I*-A could not be attributed to a suppressor mechanism.

cell product following inhibition of RNA or protein synthesis (McAuslan, 1963). It was observed, for example, for the secretion of tyrosine aminotransferase (EC 2.6.1.5) by liver cells (Steinberg et al., 1975) or for the release of interferon by fibroblasts (Vilcek and Ng, 1971). One interpretation of superinduction is that the inhibitors of protein synthesis stop the production of a control protein that regulates the synthesis and/or metabolism of the product. In our studies, we found that freshly harvested macrophages did not contain any preformed LAF (freeze-thawed extracts had no thymocyte mitogenic activity); however. a few minutes after planting, LAF could be extracted from the microsomal fraction, reaching peak levels by 1-2 hours and then steadily declining so to disappear altogether by 24 hours. The loss of internal LAF did not correlate with its appearance in the culture fluid. In other words, contact with the dish stimulated the appearance of cell LAF, but not its secretion. The inhibitors of protein synthesis had two contrasting effects, depending on the time at which they were added to the culture. Cycloheximide added to cells immediately after planting stopped all production of internal LAF; however, the addition of cycloheximide after 1 hour of culture when LAF had already been made resulted in a marked *increase* in the secretion of LAF; in this case, the internal LAF did not decline and remained in the cell for long periods of culture (Fig. 13). We postulated that LAF secretion involved an internal control protein that regulated the expression and/or degradation of the cellular LAF; shutting off the secretion of the putative control proteins allowed for the persistance and maintenance of LAF secretion. The fact that highly activated macrophages secreted less LAF argued for an increased content of this inhibitor. In this regard, thioglycolate macrophages treated with cycloheximide 1 hour after planting released the mitogen.

c. Biochemistry of LAF. Lymphocyte-activating factor is a protein with a molecular weight of about 13,000-16,000 (Gery and Handschumacher, 1974; Calderon et al., 1975; Blyden and Handschumacher, 1977; Lachman et al., 1977; Economu and Shin, 1978; Mizel, 1979). The protein is sensitive to protease and papain digestion but is relatively resistant to trypsin (Calderon et al., 1976; Blyden and Handschumacher, 1977). It is not inhibited by diisopropyl fluorophosphate (Calderon et al., 1975) nor by phenylmethane sulfonylfluoride (Blyden and Handschumacher, 1977), indicating that it is not a serine protease. LAF does not bind to columns of Con A-Sepharose (Mizel, 1979), nor does it contain antigen products encoded in the H-2of the species (Calderon et al., 1975). LAF shows charge heterogeneity with isoelectric points ranging from 4.5 to 6.5. Economu and Shin's



FIG. 13. Superinduction of the release of thymocyte mitogenic protein (lymphocyte-activating factor). The figure depicts the amounts of activity extracted from untreated macrophages or macrophages treated with 10 μ g of cycloheximide per milliliter starting 2 hours after planting and terminating at 6 hours. The amount of cell-bound mitogen in untreated macrophages decreases with time, and little is released into the supernatant (after 8 hours of culture). After cycloheximide, mitogenic activity persists longer and is released. [From Unanue and Kiely (1977).]

(1978) excellent study indicated that the charge heterogeneity may result from some proteolytic changes during the isolation. In their studies, analysis of LAF, after a brief period of culture and with enzyme inhibitors in the processing steps, resulted in more homogeneous preparations with an isoelectric point of 4.8. Other reports indicated isoelectric points of 6 to 8 (Lachman et al., 1977) and 5.0 to 5.4 (Mizel, 1979). Economu and Shin's study indicated that LAF had a Stokes' radius of 20 Å, a sedimentation coefficient (SE_{20w}) of 2.0, a buoyant density of 1.30 gm/cm³, and a calculated molecular weight of 16,400-19,600. There are reports of size heterogeneity of LAF-type molecules having apparent molecular weights of 30,000, sometimes 80,000, besides the 15,000 product. The reasons for this size heterogeneity have not been adequately resolved. In fact, whether all these molecular weight products are the same as the major 15,000 MW protein is far from clear. There is some indication that some-but not all-of the size heterogeneity may be caused by protein-protein aggregates (Togawa et al., 1979); thus, some of the isolated 15,000 MW product added to serum rechromatographed in the 50,000-70,000 size

range. In our studies, we have found similar effects, indicating that LAF may easily complex to serum proteins. To be noted is that the intracellular LAF of peritoneal macrophages was highly homogeneous in size, approximately 15,000 MW (Unanue and Kiely, 1977), whereas that found in the macrophage P388 line showed marked size heterogeneity (Mizel and Rosenstreich, 1979).

Lymphocyte-activating factor has been purified extensively by combinations of size and gel chromatography (Lachman *et al.*, 1977; Blyden and Handschumacher, 1977; Economu and Shin, 1978; Mizel, 1979). Not enough material has been isolated for detailed amino acid analysis.

d. Mode of Action. In this section, I will discuss the mitogenic effect of LAF on thymocytes and will also examine the relationship between LAF and other growth-promoting molecules released by cultured lymphoid cells.

Various growth-promoting molecules have been found not only in mixed cultures of macrophages and lymphocytes, but in cultures of purified macrophages. The biological studies of LAF analyzed above disclosed some size and charge heterogeneity that is not entirely explained. Therefore, I will focus the analysis of the action of LAF to situations where the 15,000 MW product has been the major component.

There is no question that the main target cell of the mitogenic effect of LAF is the thymocyte. Directly assaying proliferative activitywithout the addition of PHA-established that T cells obtained from spleens or lymph nodes responded poorly, if at all, whereas thymocytes were stimulated by the mitogen, maintaining their level of DNA synthesis (Gerv et al., 1972; Calderon et al., 1975; Beller and Unanue, 1979). The thymocytes also responded to LAF by an augmented response to PHA; lymph node T cells also responded to both stimuli (LAF alone or LAF plus PHA), but very much less than the thymocytes (Gery et al., 1972). Within the thymocytes, is there a difference in response? Mature and immature subsets of thymocytes—separated in albumin gradients—responded to LAF; the mature subset, which normally proliferated to PHA, showed a higher DNA synthesis upon culture with LAF (Gerv et al., 1972; Beller and Unanue, 1979). Thymocytes, separated on the basis of their agglutinability to peanut agglutinin, were stimulated to LAF, but the "peanut-agglutininnegative" subset exhibited a greater response (Oppenheim et al., 1980). Attempts to identify a LAF receptor by determining whether it could be removed from solution by thymocytes have so far failed (Beller and Unanue, unpublished observation).

Experiments of David Beller indicated a relationship between the

spontaneous growth of the thymocyte and its response to LAF (Beller and Unanue, 1979). Many of the thymocytes freshly harvested were in cell cycle and responded to the continuous presence of LAF in culture by maintaining their proliferative activity for several days. In the absence of the growth factor, there was a rapid decline in their DNA synthesis. Addition of LAF at a time when spontaneous growth had stopped (by 24 or 48 hours of culture) did not reactivate the cells to go into DNA synthesis. However, such resting thymocytes were stimulated if pulsed briefly with the lectins Con A or wheat-germ agglutinin. followed by removal of the lectins and then addition of LAF. It should be noted that wheat-germ agglutinin is a nonmitogenic lectin and, moreover, is highly inhibitory when added to cultures. However, a brief, 2-hour interaction with the thymocytes was effective in inducing a first "signal" to the cell. Reversing the two stimuli, i.e., LAF first. followed by the lectins, was ineffective. Our results, therefore, indicated that the direct mitogenic action of LAF required a cell in an "activated" state that was inherent in the population of spontaneously cycling thymocytes. In the resting thymocyte, the activated state had to be induced by an initial interaction with a nonmitogenic ligand. Precedent for two growth-promoting molecules in the regulation of cell growth could be found in studies on fibroblasts. In these studies, one growth-promoting molecule had to take the cell to the state where it was able to "receive" the second factor (for example, Pledger et al., 1977; Vogel et al., 1978). Our opinion is that LAF may be an important endogenous regulator of thymocyte proliferation in situ. To this effect. we have found a definite basal level of secretion by macrophages directly isolated by the thymus. Thymic macrophages, therefore, by virtue of their content of Ia and their secretion of LAF and differentiation molecules, are a likely candidate for exercising a powerful role in the intrathymic maturation of T cells (Section II,G).

How LAF interacts with antigen or Con A to bring about proliferation of *mature* T cells and the relationship between LAF and other growth-promoting molecules found in lectin-stimulated lymphoid cells, is the subject of intense study at the present time. Cultures of unfractionated lymphocytes with Con A contained a growth-promoting molecule for T cells (Chen and DiSabato, 1976). The T-cell growth factor (TCGF) or "costimulator" has been studied by several groups, especially Smith and Gillis (Gillis and Smith, 1977; Gillis *et al.*, 1978; Smith, 1980) and by Paetkau and associates (Paetkau *et al.*, 1976; Mills *et al.*, 1976; Paetkau, 1980). The TCGF was shown to be a molecule required to maintain proliferation of Con A-activated T cells as well as lines of cytolytic T cells; TCGF appears to be different from LAF, although similarities are abundant. Biologically, TCGF did not promote DNA synthesis of thymocytes unless Con A was added (Mills *et al.*, 1976; Smith, 1980), whereas LAF had a direct mitogenic action. In contrast, LAF did not stimulate proliferation of cytolytic T cells *selected* to grow in TCGF (Oppenheim *et al.*, 1980); nor did macrophage-conditioned medium stimulate the growth of Con A-activated blast cells (Larsson *et al.*, 1980). In the mouse, TCGF showed a molecular weight of 30,000 (Paetkau *et al.*, 1976; Smith, 1980), higher than that of LAF.

Evidence obtained from several laboratories indicates that the stimulation by Con A of immune T cells is highly complex, involving the participation of macrophages, producing a factor, and T cells of the Lvl subclass, producing TCGF. The evidence is that the addition of Con A to cultures of T cells (with macrophages) resulted in the production of TCGF (measured by its effect in promoting growth either of clones of cytolytic T cells or of Con A blasts). This production of TCGF correlated with the mitogenic response of the T cells. Removal of adherent cells ablated the Con A response, as we discussed in Section II.B but also resulted in the lack of production of TCGF (Smith et al., 1980; Smith, 1980; Larsson et al., 1980; Paetkau, 1980; Gronvik and Andersson, 1980). More important, addition of a macrophage factor, together with Con A, generated TCGF (Larsson et al., 1980; Smith et al., 1980), and with it, the recovery of the proliferative activity. Thus, Con A induced proliferation of mature T cells (a) in the presence of macrophages; (b) in the absence of macrophages if a macrophage factor was added; (c) in the absence of macrophages if TCGF, a T-cell product, was added; furthermore, (d) production of TCGF by Con A required macrophages or a factor derived from them. The nature of the macrophage factor that stimulates growth of Con A, or production of TCGF, is not altogether clear, although the assumption has been made that it is LAF. The first "factor" reported by Rosenstreich and Mizel (1978), produced by guinea pig macrophages, had a molecular weight of about 30,000; that studied by Larsson et al. (1980), produced by a macrophage cell line, was close to 25,000; the factor studied by Paetkau (1980) and by Smith et al. (1980) had the size characteristic of LAF. Thus, LAF may indeed be responsible for TCGF production, but perhaps other macrophage products may also do it.

Is the effect of LAF on Con A-induced T-cell proliferation mediated entirely by the production of TCGF? Smith *et al.* (1980), suggested that this was the case, based, in part, on the correlation between TCGF production and growth. They also brought evidence that dexamethasone affected the release of TCGF, but not its mitogenic effect on mature T cells. Also, the drug inhibited the mitogenic effect of LAF (plus Con A) on thymocytes, but not the growth induced by TCGF; thus, the assumption was made that LAF acted only by inducing TCGF production. I find this interpretation to be on weak grounds; it is based mainly on the single experiment described above. The LAF and TCGF molecules clearly acted on different T-cell populations. While LAF had a direct mitogenic effect on thymocytes, TCGF required the action of Con A. Thus, the former was acting, as discussed before, on cells already in cycle, including immature cells, whereas the latter was acting on cells that required Con A stimulation. Thymocytes have different sensitivities to dexamethasone, and this may explain Smith's results.

Regardless of the final explanation, the point is clear: there is great cooperation between two major mediators, which in their production and mode of action are highly interrelated. A comparison of both has been summarized in a recent Letter to the Editor in the *Journal of Immunology* (Aarden *et al.*, 1979).

Some of the effects of macrophage-conditioned medium on *antigen*-driven T-cell responses were evaluated in the preceding sections and will only briefly be restated here. In Section II,A, we discussed the studies of Rosenwasser and Rosenthal, which indicated that a macrophage factor, most likely LAF (Rosenwasser *et al.*, 1980), allowed for the proliferative response of T cells to hemocyanin. This response required a small number of antigen-presenting cells (Kammer and Unanue, 1980) and, therefore, implies an amplification of a T-cell response by the macrophage product that still requires, in my opinion, antigen presentation. This is the same way in which I interpret the effect of the nonspecific factor studied by Erb and Feldman (Section II,C) in the response to particulate antigens and the activity reported by Lee *et al.* (1976) (Section II,A).

e. Effects on B Cells. In culture, macrophage-conditioned medium exerts effects on the antigen-driven B cell differentiation to antibodyforming cells. All the indications are that one of the molecules responsible may be similar, if not identical, to LAF. Experiments on the action of macrophage culture fluids on antibody formation in culture are now summarized.

Schrader reported (1973) that spleen cells from athymic mice developed an antibody response if cultured with peritoneal macrophages or their conditioned medium. Detailed studies were not done of the phenomenon, nor of the activity of the macrophage culture fluid. The activity was generated only by peptone-activated macrophages, particularly if cultured with medium containing fetal calf serum, and was sensitive to trypsinization.

Our laboratory examined the effects of macrophage-conditioned medium using a hapten-carrier system, with spleen cells from mice immune to fluorescein-bound hemocyanin (Calderon et al., 1975; Unanue et al., 1976b). Macrophage-conditioned medium induced a definite, albeit modest, differentiation of spleen cells in the absence of antigen. Challenging with fluorescein on a heterologous carrier (rabbit IgG) in the presence of the macrophage-conditioned medium also induced a mild response, not much over that induced by the conditioned medium without the antigen. The response to a challenge with the homologous antigen was marked and depended very critically on the immunological status of the primed mice donating the spleen cells. Cells from mice primed several months earlier, which responded with a modest antibody response, increased their activity by as much as 100-fold when macrophage-conditioned medium was added, in a dose-related response. Spleen cells from mice primed recently were also stimulated by macrophage-conditioned medium but only at low concentrations; at high concentration, a suppressive effect was induced. Two other experiments indicated that the non-antigen-driven differentiation did not require T cells; and nude mice, in confirmation of Schrader's experiment, responded to SRBC in the presence of macrophage-conditioned medium.

Wood's laboratory examined the response of SRBC of either murine spleen cells depleted of T cells (by killing them with anti-Thy.1 and serum as a complement source) or of spleen cells from athymic nude mice (Wood and Gaul, 1974; Wood *et al.*, 1976; Wood and Cameron, 1975, 1976). The macrophage-conditioned medium was obtained from human monocytes. The experiments indicated a substantial response of the B cells, in the presumed absence of T cells. The degree of reconstitution was about 50% when compared to that produced by T cells. A similar degree of reconstitution was obtained by medium conditioned by a mixed leukocyte reaction. The macrophage culture fluid also increased to a small extent the non-antigen-dependent "basal," plaque-forming cells and clearly augmented the response of whole spleen (i.e., with T cells).

The system used by Hoffman to study the effect of macrophageconditioned medium was the response to TNP bound to autologous red cells (Schmidtke and Dixon, 1972b). The addition of endotoxin with the antigen resulted in antibody response to TNP that was macrophage dependent (Hoffman *et al.*, 1976a,b); this was taken as an example of a thymus-independent effect modulated by the polyclonal effect of the endotoxin on macrophages. A major point was that spleen cells responded to TNP-mouse red cells in the presence of conditioned medium from macrophages cultured with LPS (Hoffman *et al.*, 1979). Because the response was found in C3H/He mice that are not responsive to LPS, the logical argument was made that the effect was only mediated by the macrophage products. The response observed by Hoffman was dose-dependent and was claimed not to be impaired by anti-Thy.1 treatment of the spleen cells, although the data did show some effect of the treatment. Addition of T cells with the macrophageconditioned medium increased the response to a noticeable extent. Thus, as in Calderon and Wood's experiments, a clear potentiation of an antibody response was also taking place as a result of a macrophage product, plus the T cell "stimulus."

What are the conditions resulting in the production of the B cell stimulatory molecule(s)? What is their relationship with LAF? How do they act?

A major stimulus for the production of the stimulatory molecules was the endotoxin activation of the monocytes as found for the case of human cells (Wood and Gaul, 1974; Wood and Cameron, 1976). Human monocytes, unstimulated, or after phagocytosis of antigenantibody complexes or latex did not release the B cell-activating factor (Wood and Cameron, 1976). We compared the release of B-cell stimulatory molecules and the thymocyte mitogen by the mouse peritoneal macrophages and found about the same results in most cases. As reported for LAF, increased B-cell stimulatory activity was found after uptake of macrophages of *Listeria monocytogenes*, latex beads, or antigen-antibody complexes, or following T cell-antigen interaction (Unanue *et al.*, 1976b). Also, as with LAF, highly activated macrophages released less material in basal conditions or after phagocytosis.

The two studies examining the B-cell stimulatory activity indicated that a substantial part of it separated in Sephadex columns with an apparent size of about 15,000 MW (Calderon *et al.*, 1975; Wood *et al.*, 1976; Wood, 1979a). In our studies, LAF and the B-cell stimulatory molecules usually chromatographed in the same position (Calderon *et al.*, 1976), but this was not the case in Wood's studies using human material (Wood *et al.*, 1976). His last report (1976) did conclude that similar size material contained both thymocyte mitogenicity as well as B-cell stimulatory activity. Although it may well be that the LAF molecule contains the B-cell activity, it has not been conclusively proved. We have also found some B-cell stimulatory molecules in the range of 110,000 and 35,000 that may or may not relate to LAF (Unanue, 1978).

Concerning the mode of action of the B cell-activating molecule, there is general agreement on the following points.

1. It induces to a small extent some differentiation to antibody secretion in the absence of antigen; whether this target cell is the immature, small B cell or B cells in already an activated state has not been critically examined and deserves consideration.

2. It increases the response of B cells in the presence of T cells in a situation where there is clear synergy between the macrophagederived molecule and the helper function of T cells.

3. To some extent, it stimulates B cells in the apparent absence of T cells. The few studies that have critically compared the response of B cells to antigen and macrophage-conditioned media in the presence or absence of T cells have shown much better responses in the former situation, i.e., with T cells (Calderon *et al.*, 1975; Hoffman *et al.*, 1979). Unquestionably, the macrophage product exerted a good effect on T cell-deprived spleen cells, particularly noticeable with the SRBC response. Certainly with hapten-carrier we could not state that the macrophage product "substituted" for T cells.

The important issue of how the macrophage products act on B cells, if at all, and its synergy with T cell helper activity still requires analysis. Hoffman's studies indicated an effect on the expression of Ia antigens by bone marrow cells incubated for just 2-5 hours with the macrophage-conditioned medium. This was taken to mean that the macrophage product, which in his case was not characterized, might influence B-cell maturation. It is also possible that the macrophage products in cultures of B cells with antigen were acting as maturation molecules on T-cell precursors remaining in the culture. This has not been critically ruled out. Regardless, a striking feature is the interaction between the macrophage product and the T cell that results in heightened B-cell differentiation. Early studies of Farrar and associates (1977) had shown a number of "activities" in a mixed leukocyte supernatant that, in part, "replaced" T cells in the anti-sheep response in vitro. These activities were resolved by gel filtration in molecules of apparent sizes of 15,000 and 40,000 MW that sunergized when added together. The 15,000 MW material was shown to have thymocyte mitogenic activity compatible with LAF (Koopman et al., 1977). Indeed, in support of this cooperativity are recent studies where the macrophage product, together with a T cell-replacing factor (induced by Con A-activated T cells), induced strong B-cell responses in culture (Hoffman and Watson, 1979; Hoffman, 1980),

Finally, there are few studies on the effects of macrophageconditioned medium on the B-cell responses in man. One analysis indicated that macrophage-conditioned medium potentiated the response to pokeweed mitogen (Dimitri and Fauci, 1978).

f. Summary: Other LAF Activities. There is no question that macrophages secrete powerful lymphostimulatory molecules that exert effects on T and B cells and that the major principle is the 15,000 MW LAF. Still to be resolved are two questions: (a) whether all the molecules of larger size found with some biological activities represent aggregates of LAF; and (b) whether all the activities of the 15,000 MW protein can be attributed to a single protein or to a family of them. The action of LAF, if indeed a single molecule, is extensive as we just analyzed.

Two other activities have been associated with a 15,000 MW molecule. Endogeneous pyrogen has been partially purified and found to be a 15,000 MW protein (Dinarello *et al.*, 1977; Dinarello and Wolff, 1977). This purified material was found to potentiate the antigendriven T cell response in the system developed by Rosenwasser and Rosenthal (Rosenwasser *et al.*, 1980). Another preparation of rabbit endogeneous pyrogen (from peritoneal exudates stimulated with endotoxin) was shown to contain thymocyte mitogenic activity; furthermore, a purified rabbit LAF had pyrogenicity (Murphy *et al.*, 1980). The results, therefore, strongly indicate that the LAF molecule may be the major leukocyte protein that mediates fever.

A human monocyte product has been identified, again of low molecular weight, that when added to cultured synovial cells markedly increased their secretion of collagenase and prostaglandins. This secretion could possibly be involved in the connective tissue changes associated with the inflammatory response of the joints (Dayer *et al.*, 1977a,b). Obviously, the role of LAF and LAF-like products in the inflammatory response involving macrophages needs more analysis, but these two studies strongly indicate the protean role that this special molecule(s) may play.

Last, it is worthy of note that macrophage-conditioned medium may contain other lymphostimulatory molecules aside from LAF. A 40,000 MW protein has been identified in macrophage-conditioned medium, distinct from LAF, that induced marked maturational changes in early thymocytes (Beller and Unanue, 1977) (Section II,G).

2. Modulation of the Macrophage Secretory Process by the Lymphocyte

The addition of T cells to macrophages with antigen or a polyclonal stimulus, or the addition of T cell-derived products—a lymphokinecontaining culture fluid—may change the pattern of secretion of the macrophage. We discussed before our own studies showing that the secretion of lymphostimulatory molecules by the macrophages was regulated by the T cell when it responded to antigen under an MHCregulated interaction. Addition of lymphocytes with antigens also stimulated the macrophage to secrete the C2 protein, a key early component in the complement cascade (Littman and Ruddy, 1977). In this study, an eightfold increase in hemolytically active C2 was found by human peripheral blood leukocytes stimulated with SK-SD; addition of a lymphokine to the monocytes resulted in less stimulation, about fivefold.

Lymphokines stimulated macrophages to secrete lysosomal enzymes (Pantalone and Page, 1975), interferon (Neumann and Sorg, 1977), collagenase (Wahl et al., 1975a), and plasminogen activator (Vassali and Reich, 1977; Klimetzek and Sorg, 1976, 1977; Nogueira, et al., 1977; Greineder, et al., 1979). The study of Vassali and Reich (1977) is one of several that documented in detail the stimulation of secretion by a lymphokine-rich medium. They demonstrated a doseresponse relationship between the amount of lymphokine added to the culture and the secretion of plasminogen activator: the unstimulated macrophage did not release the enzyme until after the addition of the conditioned medium, as little as 0.3% volume per volume. Thioglycolate-stimulated macrophages secreted the enzyme but increased their rate of synthesis and secretion about 10-fold after addition of lymphokine. In these studies, it was possible to document that most macrophages secreted the plasminogen activator. Macrophages also released a procoagulant activity following interaction with lymphocytes stimulated by endotoxin (Edwards et al., 1979; Edwards and Rickles, 1980; Levy and Edgington, 1980); in a comparable situation, macrophages also released a molecule that stimulated lymphocytes to secrete colony-stimulating factor (Apte et al., 1980).

3. Molecules Involved in Suppressive Effects

Macrophages release a number of compounds that are directly responsible for inhibitory effects. These compounds include prostaglandins, oxygen intermediates, thymidine, and some macromolecular inhibitors. The suppressive role of macrophages depends on their number and degree of activation, their response to a stimulus, and on the nature of the target cell. This will become evident as we analyze the various observations.

a. Prostaglandins. Prostaglandins are important metabolites derived from the cyclooxygenation of arachidonic acid following its release from phospholipids by phospholipases (Fig. 14). Prostaglandins are believed to be important mediators of inflammation, inducing vasodilatation and edema. There is very good evidence that prostaglandins mediate many of the inhibitory effects produced by macrophages in cell cultures. It is likely that these highly active metabolites may mediate effects *in vivo* under appropriate circumstances. Prostaglandins



THE ARACHIDONIC ACID CASCADE

FIG. 14. The prostaglandin cascade taken from a diagram by courtesy of Dr. Philip Davies.

increase cellular cyclic AMP, which may be responsible for many of the modulatory effects on lymphocytes. The interest in the role of prostaglandins in macrophage-lymphocyte interactions came about from several observations. First, macrophages definitely synthesize prostaglandins, and the synthesis increases quite dramatically after their stimulation. Second, prostaglandins of the E series, added to cultures of lymphocytes, inhibit a number of functions. Third, the inhibitory effects of macrophages in macrophage–lymphocyte interactions can be reversed by the addition of drugs that inhibit the cyclooxygenase pathway, such as indomethacin.

Several studies indicated that prostaglandins were synthesized and released by cultured macrophages (Gordon *et al.*, 1976; Goodwin *et al.*, 1977; Humes *et al.*, 1977; Gemsa *et al.*, 1978; Kurland and Bockman, 1978; Brune *et al.*, 1978; Davies *et al.*, 1980). The prostaglandins were measured by radioimmunoassays or directly analyzed biochemically in cultures of macrophages pulsed with [³H]arachidonic acid. The major biosynthetic products were PGE₂ and the 6-keto prostaglandin $F_{1\alpha}$, the stable product of prostaglandin I₂ (Hume *et al.*, 1977; Bonney *et al.*, 1978; Davies *et al.*, 1980). Small amounts of

 $PGE_{2\alpha}$ and thromboxane B_2 were found in one study (Brune et al., 1978). The synthesis and release of prostaglandins took place continuously, but increased markedly after stimulation of the macrophage. For example, the studies of Humes et al. (1977), showed that the addition to resident macrophages of zymosan, antigen-antibody complexes, or phorbol myristate acetate resulted in a marked increase in synthesis-up to 60-fold-by 30 minutes and continuing for at least a day of culture. Phagocytosis of latex did not have an effect. Essentially similar results were obtained in other studies (Gemsa et al., 1978; Bonney et al., 1979; Scott et al., 1980). Increases in prostaglandins were reported following addition of endotoxin to murine and human phagocytes (Kurland and Bockman, 1972), colony-stimulating factor to murine macrophages (Kurland et al., 1978), and lymphokines to guinea pig macrophages (Gordon et al., 1976). Human monocytes increased their secretion by severalfold after addition of the Fc fragment of IgG, soluble aggregated human IgG, or Con A, but not by phagocytosis of latex particles (Paswell et al., 1979).

The life history of the macrophage has an important effect on the synthesis of prostaglandins. In the studies of Hume et al. (1977), summarized by Davies (Davies et al., 1980), normal, resident murine peritoneal macrophages and peritoneal macrophages, following injection of thioglycolate broth or Corynebacterium parvum, released equal amounts under basal conditions; yet, while the unstimulated macrophages responded to zymosan with a 20- to 30-fold increase in synthesis, the response of the stimulated macrophages was small, about 5-fold. Four papers reported an increase in basal stimulation of activated macrophages in vivo, one from tumor-bearing mice (Pelus and Bockman, 1979), two from mice that received C. parvum (Farzad et al., 1977; Grimm et al., 1978), and one from mice infected with BCG (Tracey and Adkinson, 1980); these last studies are of interest in view of the inhibitory effects of C. parvum- or BCG-stimulated macrophages in cultures (Scott, 1972; Klimpel and Henney, 1978). The issue of basal secretion by activated macrophages is, on the whole, not completely settled, with some discrepant results; the study of Farzad studied the synthesis for a brief period in comparison to Davies' study, and the study of Grimm was made from whole spleen and did not characterize critically the adherent cells responsible for biosynthesis. Further analyses of macrophage populations are warranted. In most reports, the addition of indomethacin inhibited the synthesis of prostaglandins.

Addition of prostaglandins inhibited various functions of lympho-

cytes in culture. Not all the studies, however, used prostaglandins at physiological concentrations. A list of the inhibitory effects is shown in Table X. Noteworthy is the study of Goodwin *et al.* (1977). They found that stimulation of human peripheral blood lymphocytes with lectins resulted in the production of prostaglandins in amounts similar to those inducing a significant suppression of the proliferative response when directly added to the culture. Addition to the culture of indomethacin stopped prostaglandin biosynthesis and also resulted in an increase in proliferation. Indomethacin had no effect on the action of suppressor T cells induced by the lectin. These investigators went on to show that patients with Hodgkins' disease contained adherent cells (monocytes?) that produced large amounts of prostaglandins; the poor responsiveness of these patients' cells to lectins resulted in marked improvement following addition of indomethacin.

The addition of indomethacin has been found to improve the response of lymphocytes in a number of situations, reducing to a great extent the inhibitory effects of excess numbers of macrophages (Webb and Jamieson, 1976; Webb and Osheroff, 1976; Webb and Nowowiejski, 1977; Demenkoff *et al.*, 1980; Metzger *et al.*, 1980).

It is noteworthy that not all the effects of prostaglandins are inhibitory. Some secretory functions, in fact, are mediated by them, such as the secretion of osteoclast-activating factor by T cells stimulated by lectins (Yoneda and Mundy, 1979) and collagenase by endotoxinstimulated macrophages (Wahl *et al.*, 1977).

There are some studies that are worth discussing in relation to the

 TABLE X INHIBITORY EFFECTS OF PROSTAGLANDINS	
Mitogen-induced proliferation (1-6) ^a	
Anti-red cell responses (7, 8)	
Lymphokine production (9, 10)	
Killing by cytolytic T cells (11)	
Mixed leukocyte reaction (12)	
Antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity (13)	
Hematopoietic colony formation (14-17)	
Natural killer cell generation and activity (13, 18)	

^a Numbers in parentheses indicate the following references: (1) Bourne *et al.*, 1974; (2) Goodwin *et al.*, 1977; (3) Webb and Jamieson, 1976; (4) De Rupertis *et al.*, 1974; (5) Berenbaum *et al.*, 1976; (6) Smith *et al.*, 1971; (7) Webb and Nowowiejski, 1977; (8) Plescia *et al.*, 1975; (9) Gordon *et al.*, 1976; (10) Lomnitzer *et al.*, 1976; (11) Henney *et al.*, 1972; (12) Webb and Osheroff, 1976; (13) Droller *et al.*, 1978; (14) Kurland *et al.*, 1977; (15) Kurland *et al.*, 1978; (16) Williams 1979; (17) Pelus *et al.*, 1979; (18) Tracey and Adkinson, 1980.

regulation of prostaglandin synthesis by macrophages and its significance. The study of Goodwin *et al.* (1977), mentioned above, showed the critical relationship between the accessory function of the monocyte, on the one hand, and its suppressive effect on the other: addition of indomethacin improved the proliferative response to lectins, yet the removal of the monocyte resulted in a drop in the response. The message is clear, therefore, that the number and state of activation of the macrophage becomes critical in closed cell culture systems where the active metabolites accumulate.

The study of Gordon *et al.* (1976) called attention to a possible feedback loop involving the T cells and the macrophages. Indeed, lymphokines stimulated prostaglandin secretion, but these, in turn, stopped the biosynthesis of lymphokines produced by antigen in T cell-macrophage mixtures. A whole loop of macrophage-T cells \rightarrow lymphokines \rightarrow macrophages \rightarrow prostaglandins \rightarrow lymphocytes can be discerned. A similar kind of situation was reported by Kurland and associates: a critical number of macrophages by way of a growthpromoting molecule stimulated formation of bone marrow-derived hematopoietic colonies; yet an excess amount of macrophages suppressed colony formation through the release of prostaglandins. Colony-stimulating factor in itself enhanced prostaglandin secretion by the macrophage (Kurland *et al.*, 1977, 1978).

Finally, some studies have addressed the issue of synthesis by macrophages of arachidonic acid products produced by the lipooxygenase pathway. Macrophages have been shown to secrete 12-hydroxyeicosatetranoic acids (Rigaud *et al.*, 1979; Scott *et al.*, 1980) and the leukotrienes (slow reactive substance of anaphylaxis) (reviewed by Stenson and Parker, 1980).

b. Oxygen-Derived Products. A recent study of Metzger et al. (1980) is of importance in that it adds oxygen metabolites to the list of inhibitors of lymphocyte function in culture, together with the prostaglandins. Leukocytes, neutrophils, and macrophages, particularly if stimulated with various particles and agents, can release a number of highly reactive oxygen intermediates, such as the superoxide anion (O_2^-) , hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) , and possibly hydroxyl radical $(OH \cdot)$ and oxygen in its excited state, singlet oxygen ('O₂). These very active radicals are believed to be of particular importance for the microbicidal action of the cell and can also damage cells. Good evidence has been presented for a role of H_2O_2 in the tumoricidal effect of activated macrophages (Nathan et al., 1978). Release of oxygen intermediates best takes place following phagocytosis by macrophages, particularly if previously activated by a cellular immune reaction (for a review of these studies, see the papers of Nathan, 1980; Johnston, Jr. et al., 1980; Klebanoff, 1975, 1980; Karnovsky et al., 1975; Babior, 1978). In their study, Metzger et al. confirmed that indomethacin added to cultures of Con A-activated T cells stopped the suppression produced by phagocytes, except when these were in high numbers; they also added to their cultures catalase, an enzyme that rapidly converts H_2O_2 to H_2 (plus O₂). Addition of catalase resulted in an improvement in DNA synthesis, particularly in cultures strongly inhibited by an excess of macrophages; moreover, addition of indomethacin and catalase had a significant syngergistic effect. The indications from their results is that part of the inhibitory effect of macrophages in culture could be due to H_2O_2 . This is an important observation that needs to be extended, but which points out the existence of oxygen products as powerful inhibitors. Clearly, situations that result in stimulation of the phagocytes and thus increase their release of prostaglandins or H₂O₂ result in adverse effects in cultures.

c. Thymidine. Thymidine is released continuously from the cultured macrophages. Depending upon the concentration of macrophages, the amount of thymidine that accumulates in the medium can be significant. We calculated that a 24-hour culture of 10^7 macrophages in 1 ml of medium planted in a culture plate of 35 mm diameter contained thymidine at a concentration of $4 \times 10^{-6} M$ (Stadecker *et al.*, 1977). The thymidine in the macrophageconditioned medium may compete for radiolabeled thymidine used for pulsing cells growing in such medium; the thymidine may also directly block DNA synthesis (Stadecker *et al.*, 1977) by preventing the conversion of cytidilate to deoxycytidilate (Morris and Fischer, 1963).

A number of reports indicated the presence of an inhibitor of DNA macrophage-conditioned medium (Nelson, synthesis in 1973: Waldman and Gottlieb, 1973; Calderon et al., 1974; Calderon and Unanue, 1975; Opitz et al., 1975a). Our studies indicated that a dialyzable molecule was clearly masking the presence of lymphostimulatory molecules in macrophage-conditioned medium (Calderon and Unanue, 1975). Opitz and associates showed that the inhibitor was dialyzable and affecting only the incorporation of ³H-labeled thymidine by the lymphocyte, not its growth. The inhibitor was behaving, in a limited number of biochemical analyses, as thymidine (Opitz et al., 1975b; Kasahara and Shioiri-Nakano, 1976). In our laboratory we found a dialyzable inhibitor that truly stopped DNA synthesis of the tumor cell line EL-4 (Calderon et al., 1974). Biochemical characterization of the inhibitor also revealed a molecule identical to

thymidine (Stadecker *et al.*, 1977). The observations that the EL-4 tumor line was truly inhibited in its growth was explained by an unusual sensitivity of this cell to thymidine. Most tumor lines or growing lymphocytes were blocked by concentrations of thymidine ranging from 10^{-3} to 10^{-4} , while EL-4 was blocked at $10^{-6} M$. This is a clear example of the importance of the target cell in determining the effects of macrophage-secretory products.

The release of thymidine by the macrophage is quite unique. The possibility was raised by Opitz *et al.* (1975b) that the molecule could derive from the degradation of nuclear material phagocytized by macrophages. The bulk of the released thymidine, however, was synthesized by the macrophage, as was evident from biochemical studies using [¹⁴C]formate (Stadecker *et al.*, 1977). The release of thymidine was explained by the absence of thymidine kinase, the enzyme that phosphorylates thymidine and rescues it from being released (Stadecker and Unanue, 1979). We found that macrophages lacked thymidine kinase and that addition to them of the growth-promoting molecule from L cell-conditioned medium resulted in *de novo* appearance of the kinase and the expected drop in thymidine release. Previous studies in fibroblasts had shown that mutant lines lacking thymidine kinase released thymidine into the culture (Chan *et al.*, 1974).

d. Macromolecular Inhibitor. One of the most interesting inhibitor molecules produced in culture is the soluble immune response suppressor (SIRS) identified in C. Pierce's laboratory (Tadakuma and Pierce, 1976, 1978; Tadakuma et al., 1976). SIRS is a molecule found in culture of Con A-activated T cells that suppresses immune responses in vitro. When added to a culture of spleen cells, it abruptly stopped the plaque-forming cell response at day 4. The molecule was made by Ly2-positive T cells but required macrophages for the suppressive effect. Recent studies showed that the T cell product isolated from Con A-stimulated T cells was in a precursor, inactive form that could be converted into the active mojety upon direct incubation with macrophages. The macrophages did not require synthesis of new protein. nor was the generation of the active inhibitor blocked by indomethacin. Addition of catalase, however, stopped the production by the macrophage. To this effect, addition of H_2O_2 to the precursor molecule in the absence of macrophages resulted in generation of the active molecule. The inhibitory effects of SIRS was rapid, probably during G₂ or mitosis, a unique situation for a cell cycle inhibitor, and was reversed by 2-mercaptoethanol. Both the precursor and the active product had a molecular weight of approximately 55,000 (Pierce and Aune,

1981). Thus, all the indications are that an Ly2-positive suppressor T cell releases a molecule that, upon oxidation by H_2O_2 released by macrophages (probably only upon activation), converts into a strong and rapid inhibitor of cell proliferation.

Cooperativity of two cells by way of their released products has also been found between malignant plasma cells and macrophages. Plasmocytomas are known to inhibit normal Ig production. In an attempt to investigate the basis for this suppressor, it was found that cultured plasma cells released a large-molecular-weight protein that, upon interaction with macrophages, resulted in the release of a smallmolecular-weight product of about 6000 MW. The product inhibited antibody formation *in vitro* in a noncytotoxic reaction and did not affect lymphocyte proliferation (Kennard and Zolla-Pazner, 1980).

Macromolecular "toxins" have been identified in high-density cultures of macrophages. Whether all are derived from macrophages, and their mode of action on lymphocytes, is not clear. A discussion of these groups of molecules can be found in a study of Chen *et al.*, who, in their own work, found that high-density cultures of macrophages released a 110,000 MW protein that inhibited DNA synthesis and antibody formation *in vitro* (Chen *et al.*, 1977).

IV. Conclusions

Historically, the participation of the macrophage in immunobiology was first studied in the context of the resistance to intracellular pathogenic bacteria. The analysis of the activated macrophage started with Koch's early description of the tuberculous granuloma and has continued up to the present time. We accept the notion that resistance to many infectious agents requires the mobilization of bone marrowderived phagocytes to infectious foci, where they are activated, acquiring potent cytocidal functions; this process of macrophage recruitment and activation is brought about by soluble mediators secreted by antigen-stimulated T cells. Our information on the role of the macrophage in regulating immune induction is more recent, dating from the past 20 years. The intensive work of this period has demonstrated that the phagocytes exert a fine control on the early events that lead to antigen stimulation of T and B cells. Thus, the phagocytes participate at two very distinct stages in the immune process: first, as a cell regulating the extent to which lymphocytes are stimulated; second, as an effector cells responding to the signals from stimulated lymphocytes. Both processes are obviously deeply interrelated. It is indeed fascinating to note how the specific cells of the immune system-the

lymphocytes—and the nonspecific element—the macrophage—are so deeply dependent upon each other to the point of symbiosis.

The immunological cellular network is disturbed by the entrance of antigen, an event that sets in motion a complex number of cellular interactions. The phagocytes play a central role at this stage essentially because of the inability of the specifically reactive components of the immune system to respond to soluble antigen molecules. The T cells, or at least the helper subset, respond primarily to antigen that has undergone a handling process in which the products of the I region of the MHC play a critical and essential modulatory role (Sections II and III,B). The macrophages thus come into action at an early stage of the immune process by virtue of their capacity to take up and handle antigen, to express Ia, and to secrete lymphostimulatory molecules. It is noteworthy that two of these key functions, Ia expression and secretion of active factors, are relatively brief events (Sections III,B and III.C) in the life of the macrophage and that both are controlled by antigen and T cells in positive and negative ways. Thus, we reviewed how phagocytes displaying Ia antigen are able, after their uptake of antigen, to establish physical and functional interactions with T cells, the result of which is a burst of synthesis of lymphostimulatory molecules and Ia antigens, on the part of the macrophage, and of secretion of mediators and DNA synthesis on the part of the T cell. In closed cell cultures, the interactions are shut off when the macrophage, as it becomes stimulated, synthesizes inhibitory molecules (Section III.C). This negative control function appears likely to apply to *in vivo* situations. It is also likely from some of the evidence brought out in Sections II,H and III,C that suppressor cells may intervene in the T cell-macrophage interaction, even using macrophages as an intermediary. Other reciprocal control mechanisms that are now emerging are those regulating the percentage and number of Ia-bearing macrophages in tissues. This is particularly evident in the response to various inflammatory stimuli and in the ontogeny of the macrophage in the mouse (Section III,C). The ontogeny studies are indicating the need to limit the number of Ia-bearing phagocytes in the various tissues at a very critical stage of development. Overall, it appears that the macrophage antigen-presenting function is controlled internally as well as by external signals.

A major advancement in our understanding of the role of the macrophage came from the discovery of its participation in I-region-regulated events (Section II,A). The essential role of the I-region products in controlling all macrophage-T cell interactions is now an accepted fact. The antigen-presenting function of the mac-

rophage extends beyond a simple focusing of antigen to a more sophisticated and elaborate process. Such antigen-presenting function is essential in promoting growth of the selective T cells that recognize antigen in the context of the proper *I*-region molecules of the macrophage. The importance of the antigen-presenting function can be surmised from the many experiments mentioned in Section II. It becomes especially pointed in the case of the response to peptide antigens under *Ir*-gene control. The *Ir* gene effects indicate a very specific interaction between a fragment of antigen and the various *Ir* gene products, most likely the Ia antigens. The selective interaction between *I*-region products and antigen imparts specificity to the antigen-handling step. It is, in my view, a device by which the system ensures that there is no reaction against soluble or tissue selfmolecules, but only against those antigens whose intrinsic properties allow them to bind to phagocytes (i.e., microorganisms, for example).

The macrophage regulates the interaction with antigen, in part, by selecting the key antigenic determinants, a point clearly brought out in the experiments using the insulin molecule in the guinea pig (Section III,B). Determinant selection appears to take place at the same time that antigen molecules are degraded, an apparent paradoxical situation. The macrophage destroys most of the antigen but conserves a few key determinants for the lymphocytes to interact. The molecular and biochemical events in determinant selection and antigen presentation are not entirely known and represent key areas of future research, together with the issues of why and how the helper T cells interact with macrophage-bound antigen, the molecular nature of the T cell receptor, and the development of the various T cell subsets. With regard to the latter point, there are indications that the macrophages in tissues may also play a role in non-antigen-driven maturational events (Section III,B).

Several cells aside from lymphocytes bear Ia antigens, the key modulatory proteins in antigen-driven and non-antigen-driven events. The question that comes to mind is whether all such cells are capable of antigen presentation or other forms of immune modulation. We discussed the Langerhans cell and a number of related dendritic cells, abundant in skin and lymphoid tissues, some of which are capable of expressing Ia and presenting antigen (Section III,A). The developmental and functional relationship between the Langerhans cells and the classical phagocyte require more analysis, yet the distinctive features of the Langerhans cell indicates the presence of a novel accessory cell performing in conjunction with the phagocytes. Aside from the Langerhans cells, stromal cells in the thymus have been found to bear Ia and, more recently, so were human endothelial cells in culture (Hirschberg et al., 1980). Will all these present antigen? Or are they involved in non-antigen-driven events? Aschoff coined the term reticuloendothelial system to encompass a number of connective tissue cells all having the common feature of taking up vital dyes and particles to a major or lesser extent. The term lost its use when each cell type—fibroblasts, macrophages, endothelial cells, etc.—was identified into their proper lineage. Perhaps the time has come to reintegrate these cells into a system with a unifying function, that of regulation of cellular interactions by the Ia antigens.

The developments in macrophage biology over the past few years were not predicted at the time of my 1972 review in this Series. It is safe to assume that the discoveries in the next few years will prove equally surprising, with the study of the macrophage continuing to provide unique, illuminating insights into the complexities of immune cellular interactions.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank all the members of my laboratory and many colleagues in the Department of Pathology for their comments and advice on various aspects of this chapter. I am also grateful to the many colleagues who sent data of unpublished observations. Barbara K. Gricus provided editorial assistance and typed this review. I thank her not only for a superb and well-done job but for her dedication to it.

References

Aarden, L. A., et al. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2928.

- Ahman, G. B., Sachs, D. H., and Hodes, R. J. (1978a). J. Immunol. 121, 159.
- Ahman, G. B., Sachs, D. H., and Hodes, R. J. (1978b). J. Immunol. 121, 1981.
- Ahman, G. B., Nadler, P. I., Birnkrant, A., and Hodes, R. J. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 903.
- Alblas, A. B., and van Furth, R. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 149, 1504.
- Albrechtsen, D. (1977). Scand. J. Immunol. 6, 907.
- Alitalo, C., Itovi, T., and Vaheri, A. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 151, 602.
- Alter, B. J., and Bach, F. H. (1970). Cell. Immunol. 1, 207.
- Andersson, J., Gronvik, K., Larsson, E. L., and Coutinho, A. (1979). Eur. J. Immunol. 9, 581.
- Andersson, J., Schrier, M. H., and Melchers, F. (1980). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 77, 1612.
- Apte, R. N., Hertogs, Ch. F., and Pluznik, D. H. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1223.
- Arala-Chaves, M. P., Hope, L., Korn, J. H., and Fudenberg, H. (1978). Eur. J. Immunol. 8, 77.
- Araneo, B. A., and Kapp, J. A. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1492.
- Argyris, B. A. (1968). J. Exp. Med. 128, 459.
- Asherson, G. L., and Zembala, M. (1974). Eur. J. Immunol. 4, 804.
- Askonas, B. A., and Jaroskova, L. (1970). In "Mononuclear Phagocytes" (R. van Furth, ed.), p. 595.
- Askonas, B. A., and Roelants, G. E. (1974). Eur. J. Immunol. 4, 1.
- Babior, B. M. (1978). N. Engl. J. Med. 298, 659.
- Bach, F. H., Alter, B. J., Solliday, S., Zoschke, D. C., and Janis, M. (1970). Cell. Immunol. 1, 219.

- Barcinski, M. A., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 134, 1529.
- Behbehani, K., Pan, S., and Unanue, E. R. (1981). Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. 19, 190.
- Beller, D. I., and Unanue, E. R. (1977). J. Immunol. 118, 1780.
- Beller, D. I., and Unanue, E. R. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1861.
- Beller, D. I., and Unanue, E. R. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2890.
- Beller, D. I., and Unanue, E. R. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1433.
- Beller, D. I., and Unanue, E. R. (1981). J. Immunol. 126, 263.
- Beller, D. I., Farr, A. G., and Unanue, E. R. (1978). Fed. Proc. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. 37, 91.
- Beller, D. I., Kiely, J.-M., and Unanue, E. R. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1426.
- Benacerraf, B., and Germain, R. N. (1978). Immunol. Rev. 38, 70.
- Benacerraf, B., Green, I., Bluestein, H., and Ellman, L. (1971). Transplant. Rev. 3, 1327.
- Ben-Sasson, S. Z., Shevach, E. M., Green, I., and Paul, W. E. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 140, 383.
- Ben-Sasson, S. Z., Paul, W. E., and Shevach, E. M. (1975a). J. Exp. Med. 142, 90.
- Ben-Sasson, S. Z., Paul, W. E., and Shevach, E. M. (1975b). J. Immunol. 115, 1723.
- Ben-Sasson, S. Z., Lipscomb, M. F., Tucker, T. F., and Uhr, J. W. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 1493.
- Ben-Sasson, S. Z., Lipscomb, M. F., Tucker, T. F., and Uhr, J. W. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 1902.
- Berenbaum, M. C., Cope, W. A., and Bundick, R. V. (1976). Clin. Exp. Immunol. 26, 534.
- Bergholtz, B. O., and Thorsby, E. (1977). Scand. J. Immunol. 6, 779.
- Bergholtz, B. O., and Thorsby, E. (1978). Scand. J. Immunol. 8, 63.
- Bergholtz, B. O., and Thorsby, E. (1979). Scand. J. Immunol. 9, 511.
- Berman, M. A., and Weigle, W. O. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 146, 241.
- Bevan, M. J., Epstein, R., and Cohn, M. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 139, 1025.
- Berzofsky, J. A. (1980). In "Biological Regulation and Development" (R. F. Goldberger, ed.), Vol. 2. in press.
- Birbeck, M. S., Breathnach, A. S., and Everall, J. D. (1961). J. Invest. Dermatol. 37, 51.
- Blaese, R. M., and Lawrence, E. C. (1977). In "Development of Host Defense" (M. D. Cooper and D. H. Dayton, eds), p. 207.
- Bluestein, H., and Pierce, C. W. (1973a). J. Immunol. 111, 130.
- Bluestein, H., and Pierce, C. W. (1973b). J. Immunol. 111, 137.
- Bluestein, H., Ellman, L., Green, I., and Benacerraf, B. (1971). J. Exp. Med. 134, 1529.
- Blyden, G., and Handschumacher, R. E. (1977). J. Immunol. 118, 1631.
- Bona, C., Broder, S., Dimitriu, A., and Waldmann, T. A. (1979). Immunol. Rev. 45, 69.
- Bonney, R. J., Wightman, P. D., Sadowski, S., Kuehl, F. A., Jr., and Humes, J. L. (1978). Biochem. J. 176, 433.
- Bonney, R. J., Naruns, P., Davies, P., and Humes, J. L. (1979). Prostaglandins 18, 605.
- Boswell, H. S., Sharrow, S. O., and Singer, A. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 989.
- Bourne, H. R., Lichtenstein, L. M., Melman, K. L., Henney, C. S., Weinstein, Y., and Shearer, G. M. (1974). Science 184, 19.
- Braendstrup, O., and Werdelin, O. (1977). Cell. Immunol. 32, 263.
- Braendstrup, O., Andersen, V., and Werdelin, O. (1976). Cell. Immunol. 25, 207.
- Braendstrup, O., Andersen, P., Jensen, H., and Werdelin, O. (1977). Cell. Immunol. 32, 274.
- Braendstrup, O., Werdelin, O., Shevach, E. M., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 1608.
- Braun, J., and Unanue, E. R. (1980). Immunol. Rev. 52, 58.

- Breard, J., Fuks, A., Friedman, S. M., Schlossman, S. F., and Chess, L. (1979). Cell. Immunol. 45, 108.
- Breathnach, A. S. (1965). Int. Rev. Cytol. 18, 1.
- Broome, J. D., and Jeng, M. W. (1973). J. Exp. Med. 138, 574.
- Brune, K., Glatt, M., Kalin, H., and Peskar, H. (1978). Nature (London) 274, 261.
- Calamai, E. G., and Unanue, E. R. (1980). Experiments to be published.
- Calderon, J., and Unanue, E. R. (1974). J. Immunol. 112, 1804.
- Calderon, J., and Unanue, E. R. (1975). Nature (London) 253, 359.
- Calderon, J., Williams, R. T., and Unanue, E. R. (1974). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 71, 4273.
- Calderon, J., Kiely, J.-M., Lefko, J. L., and Unanue, E. R. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 142, 151.
- Cantor, H., and Boyse, E. A. (1977). Contemp. Top. Immunobiol. 7, 47.
- Cerottini, J. C., Engers, H. D., MacDonald, A. R., and Brunner, K. T. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 140, 703.
- Chan, T. S., Meuth, M., and Green, H. (1974). J. Cell. Physiol. 83, 263.
- Chase, M. W. (1945). Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 59, 134.
- Chen, C., and Hirsch, J. G. (1972a). Science 176, 60.
- Chen, C., and Hirsch, J. G. (1972b). J. Exp. Med. 136, 604.
- Chen, D. M., and DiSabato, G. (1976). Cell. Immunol. 22, 211.
- Chen, P. C., Gaetjens, E., and Broome, J. D. (1977). Immunology 33, 391.
- Chervenick, P. A., and LoBuglio, A. F. (1972). Science 178, 164.
- Chestnut, R. W., and Grey, H. M. (1981). J. Immunol. 126, 1075.
- Chestnut, R. W., Endres, R. O., and Grey, H. M. (1980). Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. 15, 397.
- Chused, T. M., Kassan, S. S., and Mosier, D. E. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 1579.
- Click, R. E., Benck, L., and Alter B. J. (1972). Cell. Immunol. 3, 156.
- Cline, M. J., and Moore, M. A. S. (1972). Blood 39, 842.
- Cline, M. J., and Sweet, V. C. (1968). J. Exp. Med. 128, 1309.
- Cline, M. J., and Summer, M. A. (1972). Blood 40, 62.
- Cohn, Z. A. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 813.
- Colten, H. R. (1976). Adv. Immunol. 22, 67.
- Cook, R. G., Vitetta, E. S., Uhr, J. W., and Capra, J. D. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 149, 981.
- Cosenza, H., and Leserman, L. D. (1971). J. Immunol. 108, 418.
- Coutinho, A., and Moller, G. (1975). Adv. Immunol. 21, 113.
- Cowing, C., Schwartz, B. D., and Dickler, H. B. (1978a). J. Immunol. 120, 378.
- Cowing, C., Pincus, S. H., Sachs, D. H., and Dickler, H. B. (1978b). J. Immunol. 121, 1680.
- Cruchaud, A., and Unanue, E. R. (1971). J. Immunol. 107, 1329.
- Cruchaud, A., Berney, M., and Balant, L. (1975). J. Immunol. 114, 102.
- Cudcowicz, G., and Hochman, P. S. (1979). Immunol. Rev. 44, 13.
- Cullen, S. E., David, C. S., Shreffler, D. S., and Nathenson, S. G. (1974). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 71, 648.
- Cullen, S. E., Freed, J. H., and Nathenson, S. G. (1976). Transplant. Rev. 30, 236.
- Dannenberg, A. M., Jr. (1968). Bacteriol. Rev. 32, 85.
- David, C. S., Shreffler, D. C., and Frelinger, J. A. (1973). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 70, 2509.
- David, J. R., and David, R. R. (1972). Prog. Allergy 16, 300.
- Davidson, W. F. (1977). Immunol. Rev. 35, 263.
- Davies, P., Page, R. C., and Allison, A. C. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 139, 1262.
- Davies, P., Bonney, R. J., Humes, J. L., and Kuehl, F. A., Jr. (1980). In "Mononuclear Phagocytes" (R. van Furth, ed.), p. 1317. Nijhoff, The Hague.
- Dayer, J. M., Robinson, D. R., and Krane, S. M. (1977a). Science 195, 181.

- Dayer, J. M., Robinson, D. R., and Krane, S. M. (1977b). J. Exp. Med. 145, 1399.
- Delfraissy, J. F., Galanaud, P., Dormont, J., and Wallon, C. (1977). J. Immunol. 118, 630.
- Demenkoff, J. H., Ansfield, M. J., Kaltreider, H. B., and Adams, E. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1365.
- DeRupertis, F. R., Zenser, T. V., Adler, W. H., and Hudson, T. (1974). J. Immunol. 113, 151.
- Desaymard, C., and Feldmann, M. (1975). Cell. Immunol. 16, 106.
- DeVries, J. E., Caviles, A. P., Jr., Bont, W. S., and Mendelsohn, J. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 1099.
- Diamanstein, T., Vogt, W., Ruhl, H., and Buchert, G. (1973). Eur. J. Immunol. 3, 488.
- Dickler, H. B., Cowing, C., Ahman, G. B., Hathcock, D. L., Sharrow, S. O., Hodes, R. J., and Singer A. (1980). In "Macrophage Regulation of Immunity" (E. R. Unanue and A. S. Rosenthal, eds.), p. 265. Academic Press, New York.
- Dimitrio, A., and Fauci, A. S. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 1818.
- Dinarello, C. S., and Wolff, S. M. (1977). Inflammation 2, 179.
- Dinarello, C. A., Renfer, L., and Wolff, S. M. (1977). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 4624.
- Djeu, J. Y., Heinbaugh, J. A., Holden, H. T., and Herberman, R. B. (1979a). J. Immunol. 122, 175.
- Djeu, J. Y., Heinbaugh, J. A., Holden, H. T., and Herberman, R. B. (1979b). J. Immunol. 122, 182.
- Dorf, M. E., and Benacerraf, B. (1975). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 72, 3671.
- Dorf, M. E., and Unanue, E. R. (1978). In "Ir Genes and Ia Antigens" (H. O. McDevitt, ed.), p. 171. Academic Press, New York.
- Dorf, M. E., Stimpfling, J. H., and Benacerraf, B. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 141, 1459.
- Drexhage, H. A., Lens, J. W., Dvetanou, J., Kamperdijk, E. W. A., Mullink, R., and Balfour, B. M. (1980). In "Mononuclear Phagocytes" (R. van Furth, ed), p. 235. Nijhoff, The Hague.
- Droller, M. J., Schneider, M. U., and Perlmann, P. (1978). Cell. Immunol. 39, 165.
- Duclos, H., Galanaud, P., Maillot, M. C., Drevon, M. C., and Dormont, J. (1979). Scand. J. Immunol. 9, 159.
- Eardley, D., Huggenberger, J., McVay-Boudreau, L., Shen, F. W., Gershon, R. K., and Cantor, H. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 147, 1106.
- Economu, J. S., and Shin, H. S. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1446.
- Edwards, R. L., and Rickles, F. R. (1980). Lymphokine Rep. 1, 181.
- Edwards, R. L., Rickles, F. R., and Bobrove, A. (1979). Blood 54, 359.
- Ellman, L., Green, I., Martin, W. J., and Benacerraf, B. (1970). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 66, 322.
- Ellner, J. J., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1975). J. Immunol. 114, 1563.
- Ellner, J. J., Lipsky, P. E., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 876.
- Ellner, J. J., Lipsky, P. E., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1977). J. Immunol. 118, 2053.
- Engers, H. D., and Unanue, E. R. (1973). J. Immunol. 110, 465.
- Erb, P., and Feldmann, M. (1975a). Nature (London) 254, 352.
- Erb, P., and Feldmann, M. (1975b). Cell. Immunol. 19, 356.
- Erb, P., and Feldmann, M. (1975c). J. Exp. Med. 142, 460.
- Erb, P., and Feldmann, M. (1975d). Eur. J. Immunol. 5, 759.
- Erb, P., Feldmann, M., and Hoggs, N. (1976). Eur. J. Immunol. 6, 365.
- Erb, P., Meier, B., and Feldmann, M. (1979a). J. Immunol. 122, 1916.
- Erb, P., Meier, B., Matsunaga, T., and Feldmann, M. (1979b). J. Exp. Med. 149, 686.
- Erb, P., Vogt, P., Matsunaga, T., Rosenthal, A. S., Rees, A., and Feldmann, M. (1980a). In "Macrophage Regulation of Immunity" (E. R. Unanue and A. S. Rosenthal, eds), p. 175. Academic Press, New York.

- Erb, P., Vogt, P., Matsunaga, T., Rosenthal, A. S., and Feldmann, M. (1980b). J. Immunol. 124, 2656.
- Erb, P., Stern, A. C., Alkan, S. S., Studer, S., Zoumbou, E., and Gisler, R. H. (1980c). J. Immunol. 125, 2504.
- Fanger, M. W., Hart, D. A., and Wells, J. V. (1970). J. Immunol. 105, 1043.
- Farr, A. G., Dorf, M. E., and Unanue, E. R. (1977). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 3542.
- Farr, A. G., Kiely, J.-M., and Unanue, E. R. (1979a). J. Immunol. 122, 2413.
- Farr, A. G., Wechter, W. J., Kiely, J.-M., and Unanue, E. R. (1979b). J. Immunol. 122, 2405.
- Farrar, J. J., Koopman, W. J., and Fuller-Bonar, J. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 47.
- Farzad, A., Penneys, N. S., Ghaftar, A., Ziboh, V. A., and Schlossberg, J. (1977). Prostaglandins 14, 829.
- Feldman, J. D., and Unanue, E. R. (1971). Cell. Immunol. 2, 275.
- Feldmann, M. (1972). J. Exp. Med. 135, 1049.
- Feldmann, M., and Kontiainen, S. (1976). Eur. J. Immunol. 6, 302.
- Feldmann, M., and Palmer, J. (1971). Immunology 21, 685.
- Fidler, I. J. (1975). J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 55, 1159.
- Fidler, J. M., Chiscon, M. O., and Golub, E. S. (1972). J. Immunol. 109, 136.
- Forman, J., Vitetta, E. S., Hart, D. A., and Klein, J. (1977). J. Immunol. 118, 797.
- Forsum, U., Klareskog, L., and Person, P. A. (1979a). Scand. J. Immunol. 9, 343.
- Forsum, U., Tjernlund, U. M., Rask, L., and Peterson, P. A. (1979b). Invest. Opthalmol. 18, 310.
- Frelinger, J. A. (1977). Eur. J. Immunol. 7, 447.
- Frelinger, J. G., Hood, L., Hill, S., and Frelinger, J. A. (1979). Nature (London) 282, 321.
- Friedman, S. M., Kuhns, J., Irigoyen, O., and Chess, L. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 43.
- Gallily, R., and Feldman, M. (1967). Immunology 12, 197.
- Garland, J. B., and Owen, J. J. T. (1978). Immunology 34, 707.
- Geczy, A., de Weck, A. L., Schwartz, B. D., and Shevach, E. M. (1975). J. Immunol. 115, 704.
- Geha, R., Milfrom, H., Broff, M., Alpert, S., Martin, S., and Yunis, E. J. (1979). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 76, 4030.
- Gemsa, D., Steggermann, L., Menzel, J., and Till, G. (1975). J. Immunol. 114, 1422.
- Gemsa, D., Seitz, M., Kramer, W., Till, G., and Resch, K. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 1187.
- Germain, R. N., Pierres, M., and Benacerraf, B. (1980). In "Macrophage Regulation of Immunity" (E. R. Unanue and A. S. Rosenthal, eds), p. 15. Academic Press, New York.
- Gery, I., and Handschumacher, R. E. (1974). Cell. Immunol. 11, 162.
- Gery, I., and Waksman, B. H. (1972). J. Exp. Med. 135, 143.
- Gery, I., Gershon, R. K., and Waksman, B. H. (1972). J. Exp. Med. 136, 128.
- Gidlund, M. A., Orn, A., Wigzell, H., Senik, A., and Gresser, I. (1978). Nature (London) 273, 759.
- Gillis, S., and Smith, K. A. (1977). Nature (London) 268, 154.
- Gillis, S., Germ, M., Ou, W., and Smith, K. A. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 2027.
- Gmelig-Meyling, F., and Waldmann, T. A. (1981). J. Immunol. 126, 529.
- Goodman, M. G., and Weigle, W. O. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 473.
- Goodwin, J. S., Bankhurst, A. D., and Messner, R. P. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 146, 1719.
- Gordon, S. (1980). In "Mononuclear Phagocytes" (R. van Furth, ed), p. 1273. Nijhoff, The Hague.
- Gordon, S., Todd, J., and Cohn, Z. A. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 139, 1228.
- Gordon, D., Bray, M. A., and Morley, J. (1976). Nature (London) 262, 401.
- Gotze, D., Reisfeld, R. A., and Klein, J. (1973). J. Exp. Med. 138, 1003.
- Green, I., Paul, W. E., and Benacerraf, B. (1967). J. Exp. Med. 126, 959.

Greineder, D. K., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1975a). J. Immunol. 114, 1541.

- Greineder, D. K., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1975b). J. Immunol. 115, 932.
- Greineder, D. K., Shevach, E. M., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 1261.
- Greineder, D. K., Connorton, K. J., and David, J. R. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2808.
- Grimm, W., Seitz, M., Kirchner, H., and Gemsa, D. (1978). Cell. Immunol. 40, 419.
- Gronvik, K. O., and Andersson, J. (1980). Immunol. Rev. 57, 35.
- Habu, S., and Raff, M. C. (1977). Eur. J. Immunol. 7, 451.
- Hammarstrom, L., Smith, C. I. E., and Persson, U. (1978). Scand. J. Immunol. 8, 263.
- Hammerling, G. L., Deak, B. D., Mauve, G., Hammerling, U., and McDevitt, H. O. (1974). Immunogenetics 1, 68.
- Hammerling, G. L., Mauve, G., Goldberg, E., and McDevitt, H. O. (1975). Immunogenetics 1, 428.
- Hardy, B., Globerson, A., and Danon, D. (1973). Cell. Immunol. 9, 282.
- Harris, J., MacDonald, W., Engers, H. D., Fitch, F. W., and Cerottini, J.-C. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 1071.
- Hartmann, K. U., Dutton, R. W., McCarthy, M. M., and Mishell, R. E. (1970). Cell. Immunol. 1, 183.
- Haskill, J. S., Byrt, P. N., and Marbrook, J. (1970). J. Exp. Med. 131, 57.
- Hauptfeld, V., Klein, D., and Klein, J. (1973). Science 181, 167.
- Hauser, P., and Vaes, G. (1978). Biochem. J. 172, 275.
- Heber-Katz, E., and Click, R. E. (1972). Cell. Immunol. 5, 410.
- Hedfords, E., Holm, G., and Pettersson, D. (1975). Clin. Exp. Immunol. 22, 223.
- Henney, C. S., Bourne, H. R., and Lichtenstein, L. M., Jr. (1972). J. Immunol. 108, 1256.
- Hersch, E. M., and Harris, J. E. (1968). J. Immunol. 100, 1184.
- Hewlett, G., Opitz, H. G., Schlumberger, H. D., and Lemke, H. (1977). Eur. J. Immunol. 7, 781.
- Hewlett, G., Opitz, H. G., Flad, H. D., and Schlumberger, H. D. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2265.
- Hirschberg, H., Bergh, O. J., and Thorsby, E. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 152, 249s.
- Hodes, R. J., and Singer, A. (1977). Eur. J. Immunol. 7, 892.
- Hodes, R. J., Ahmann, G. B., Hathcock, K. S., Dickler, H. B., and Singer, A. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1501.
- Hodes, R. J., Hathcock, K. S., and Singer, A. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2823.
- Hoefsmit, E. Ch. M., Kamperdijk, E. W. A., and Balfour, B. M. (1980). In "Mononuclear Phagocytes" (R. van Furth, ed.), p. 1809. Nijhoff, The Hague.
- Hoessli, D. C., Jones, A. P., and Waksman, B. H. (1977). Cell. Immunol. 30, 310.
- Hoffman-Feizer, G., Gotze, D., Rodt, H., and Thierfelder, S. (1978). Immunogenetics 6, 367.
- Hoffman, M. K. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 2076.
- Hoffman, M. K., and Dutton, R. W. (1971). Science 172, 1047.
- Hoffman, M. K., and Watson, J. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 7371.
- Hoffman, M. K., Green, S., Old, L. J., and Oettgen, H. F. (1976a). *Nature (London)* 263, 416.
- Hoffman, M. K., Galanos, C., Koenig, S., and Oettgen, H. F. (1976b). J. Exp. Med. 146, 1640.
- Hoffman, M. K., Koenig, S., Mittler, R. S., Oettgen, H. F., Ralph, P., Galanos, C., and Hammerling, U. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 122, 497.
- Horton, J. E., Oppenheim, J. J., Mergenhagen, S. E., and Raisz, L. G. (1974). J. Immunol. 113, 1278.
- Houi, T., Mosher, D., and Vaheri, A. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 1580.
- Howie, S., and Feldmann, M. (1978). Nature (London) 273, 664.

- Humes, J. L., Bonney, J. R., Pelus, L., Dahlgren, M. E., Sadowski, S. J., Kuehl, F. A., Jr., and Davies, P. (1977). Nature (London) 269, 149.
- Igarashi, T., Okada, M., Kishimoto, T., and Yamamura, Y. (1977). J. Immunol. 118, 1697. Ishizaka, K., and Adachi, T. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 40.
- Janossy, G., Thomas, J. A., Bollum, F. J., Granger, S., Pizzolo, G., Bradstock, K. F., Wong, L., McMichael, A., Ganeshhaguru, K., and Hoffbrand, A. V. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 202.
- Jenkinson, E. J., Owen, J. J. T., and Aspinwall, R. (1980). Nature (London) 284, 1771.
- Jerne, N. K. (1971). Eur. J. Immunol. 1, 1.
- Johnston, R. B., Jr., Chadwick, D. A., and Pabst, M. J. (1980). In "Mononuclear Phagocytes" (R. van Furth, ed.), p. 1143. Nijhoff, The Hague.
- Jones, P. P., Murphy, D. B., and McDevitt, H. O. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 148, 925.
- Julius, M. H., Simpson, E., and Herzenberg, L. A. (1973). Eur. J. Immunol. 3, 645.
- Kammer, G. M., and Unanue, E. R. (1980). Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. 15, 434.
- Kamperdijk, E. W. A., and Hoefsmit, E. (1978). Ultramicroscopy 3, 137 (cited by Thorbecke et al., 1980).
- Kamperdijk, E. W. A., Raaymakers, E. M., de Leeuw, J. H. S., and Hoefsmit, E. (1978). Cell. Tissue Res. 192, 1.
- Kantor, F. S., Ojeda, A., and Benacerraf, B. (1963). J. Exp. Med. 117, 55.
- Kappler, J. W., and Marrack, P. (1976). Nature (London) 262, 797.
- Kappler, J. W., and Marrack, P. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 148, 1510.
- Karnovsky, M. L., and Lazdins, J. K. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 809.
- Karnovsky, M. L., Lazdins, J. K., Drath, D., and Harper, A. (1975). Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 256, 266.
- Kasahara, T., and Shiori-Nakano, K. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 1251.
- Katz, D. H. (1977). In "Lymphocyte Differentiation, Recognition, and Regulation." Academic Press, New York.
- Katz, D. H., and Unanue, E. R. (1973). J. Exp. Med. 137, 967.
- Katz, D. H., Hamaoka, T., Dorf, M. E., Maurer, P. H., and Benacerraf, B. (1973). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 70, 2624.
- Katz, D. H., Skidmore, B. J., Katz, L. R., and Bogowitz, C. A. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 148, 727.
- Katz, S. I., Tamaki, K., and Sachs, D. H. (1979). Nature (London) 282, 334.
- Kedar, E., Schwartzbach, M., Gaanan, Z., and Hefetz, S. (1977). J. Immunol. Methods 16, 39.
- Keightley, R. G., Lawton, A. R., and Cooper, M. D. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 1538.
- Kelly, R. H., Balfour, B. M., Armstrong, J. A., and Griffiths, S. (1978). Anat. Rec. 190, 5. Kennard, J., and Zolla-Panzer, S. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 268.
- Kincade, P. W., Paige, C. J., Parkhouse, M. E., and Lee, G. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 1289.
- Kindred, B., and Shreffler, D. C. (1972). J. Immunol. 109, 940.
- Kirkland, T. N., Sieckmann, D. G., Longo, D. L., and Mosier, D. E. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1721.
- Klarskog, L., Malmnas-Tjernlund, U., Forsum, U., and Peterson, P. A. (1977). Nature (London) 268, 248.
- Klaus, G. B. (1974). Cell. Immunol. 10, 483.
- Klaus, G. G. B., Humphrey, J. H., Kunkl, A., and Dongworth, D. W. (1980). Immunol. Rev. 53, 3.
- Klebanoff, S. J. (1975). Sem. Hematol. 12, 117.
- Klebanoff, S. J. (1980). In "Mononuclear Phagocytes" (R. van Furth, ed.), p. 1105. Nijhoff, The Hague.
- Klein, J. (1975). "The Biology of the Mouse Histocompatibility-2 Complex." Springer-Verlag, Berlin and New York.

- Klein, J., and Hauptfeld, V. (1976). Tranplant. Rev. 30, 83.
- Klimetzek, V., and Sorg, C. (1976). Cell. Immunol. 27, 350.
- Klimetzek, V., and Sorg, C. (1977). Eur. J. Immunol. 7, 185.
- Klimpel, G. R., and Henney, C. S. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 563.
- Klimpel, G. R., Okada, M., and Henney, C. S. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 350.
- Knapp, W., and Baumgartner, G. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1177.
- Kojima, A., Tamura, S. I., and Egashira, Y. (1979). J. Immunol. 109, 940.
- Komura, K., and Boyse, E. A. (1973). Lancet 1, 740.
- Konda, S., Stockert, E., and Smith, R. (1973). Cell. Immunol. 7, 275.
- Koopman, W. J., Farrar, J. J., Oppenheim, J. J., Fuller-Bonar, J., and Dougherty, S. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 55.
- Koren, H. S., and Hodes, R. J. (1977). Eur. J. Immunol. 7, 394.
- Koster, F. T., McGregor, D. D., and MacKaness, G. B. (1971). J. Exp. Med. 133, 400.
- Kunin, S., Shearer, G. M., Globerson, A., and Feldman, M. (1972). Cell. Immunol. 5, 288.
- Kurland, J. I., and Bockman, R. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 147, 952.
- Kurland, J. I., and Moore, M. A. S. (1977). In "Experimental Hematology Today" (S. J. Braun and G. L. Lefney, eds.), p. 51.
- Kurland, J. I., Kincade, P. W., and Moore, M. A. S. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 146, 1420.
- Kurland, J. I., Bockman, R. S., Broxmeyer, H. E., and Moore, M. A. S. (1978). Science 199, 552.
- Lachmann, L. B., Hacker, M. P., and Handschumacher, R. E. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 2019.
- Lamvik, J. O. (1969). Scand. J. Haematol. 6, 149.
- Landahl, C. A. (1976). Eur. J. Immunol. 6, 130.
- Lane, F. C., and Unanue, E. R. (1972). J. Exp. Med. 135, 1104.
- Landolfo, S., Herberman, R. B., and Holden, H. T. (1977). J. Immunol. 118, 1244.
- Landsteiner, K., and Chase, M. W. (1942). Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 49, 688.
- Larsson, E. L. (1978). Scand. J. Immunol. 8, 465.
- Larsson, E. L., Coutinho, A., and Martinez, C. (1980a). Immunol. Rev. 51, 61.
- Larsson, E. L., Iscove, N. N., and Coutinho, A. (1980b). Nature (London) 283, 664.
- Lee, K. C., and Wong, M. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 86.
- Lee, K. C., Shiogawa, C., Shaw, A., and Diener, E. (1976). Eur. J. Immunol. 6, 63.
- Lee, K. C., Wilkinson, A., and Wong, M. (1979). Cell. Immunol. 48, 79.
- Lee, S. T., and Paraskevas, F. (1979). Cell. Immunol. 48, 1.
- Lefford, M. J. (1975). Annu. Rev. Resp. Dis. 111, 243.
- Leibovich, S. J., and Ross, R. (1976). Am. J. Pathol. 84, 501.
- Lemke, H., and Opitz, H. B. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 388.
- Levis, W. R., and Robbins, J. H. (1970). Exp. Cell Res. 61, 153.
- Levy, G. A., and Edgington, T. S. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 151, 1232.
- Lipscomb, M. F., Ben-Sasson, S. Z., and Uhr, J. W. (1978). J. Immunol. 118, 1748.
- Lipscomb, M. F., Toews, G. B., Lyons, C. R., and Uhr, J. W. (1981). J. Immunol. 126, 286.
- Lipsky, P. E., and Rogoff, T. M. (1980). In "Macrophage Regulation of Immunity" (E. R.
- Unanue and A. S. Rosenthal, eds.), p. 333. Academic Press, New York.
- Lipsky, P. E., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1973). J. Exp. Med. 138, 900.
- Lipsky, P. E., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1975a). J. Exp. Med. 141, 138.
- Lipsky, P. E., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1975b). J. Immunol. 115, 440.
- Lipsky, P. E., Ellner, J. J., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 868.
- Littman, B. H., and Ruddy, S. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 1344.
- Loblay, R. H., Schroer, J., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1980). In "Macrophage Regulation of Immunity" (E. R. Unanue and A. S. Rosenthal, eds.), p. 87. Academic Press, New York.
- Lohrman, H., Novikors, L., and Graw, R. G. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 139, 1153.
- Lomnitzer, R., Rabson, A. R., and Koornhoff, H. J. (1976). Cell. Immunol. 24, 42.

Loor, F. (1979). Immunology 37, 157.

- Lopez, L. R., Johansen, K. S., Radovich, J., and Talmage, D. W. (1974). J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 53, 336.
- Lopez, L. R., Vatter, A. E., and Talmage, D. W. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 1668.
- Lu, C. Y., Calamai, E. G., and Unanue, E. R. (1979). Nature (London) 282, 327.
- Lu, C. Y., Beller, D. I., and Unanue, E. R. (1980). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 77, 1597.
- Ly, I. A., and Mishell, R. A. (1974). J. Immunol. Methods 5, 239.
- Lyon, C. R., Tucker, T. F., and Uhr, J. W. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 1598.
- Macher, E., and Chase, M. W. (1969). J. Exp. Med. 129, 103.
- McAuslan, B. R. (1963). Virology 21, 383.
- McDevitt, H. O., and Chinitz, A. (1969). Science 163, 1207.
- McDevitt, H. O., Deak, B. D., Shreffler, D. C., Klein, J., Stimpfling, J. H., and Snell, G. D. (1972). J. Exp. Med. 135, 1259.
- McDougal, J. S., and Cort, S. P. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 445.
- McDougal, J. S., and Gordon, D. S. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 676.
- McGregor, D. D., Koster, F. T., and MacKaness, G. B. (1971). J. Exp. Med. 133, 389.
- MacKaness, G. B. (1962). J. Exp. Med. 116, 381.
- MacKaness, G. B., and Blanden, R. V. (1967). Prog. Allergy 11, 89.
- Martin, W. J., Ellman, L., Green, I., and Benacerraf, B. (1970). J. Exp. Med. 132, 1259.
- Meltzer, M. S., and Oppenheim, J. J. (1977). J. Immunol. 118, 77.
- Metcalf, D. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 635.
- Metcalf, D., Nossal, G. V. J., Warner, N. L., Miller, J. F. A. P., Mandel, T. E., Layton, J. E., and Gutman, G. A. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 142, 1534.
- Metzger, Z., Hoffeld, J. T., and Oppenheim, J. J. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 983.
- Miller, J. F. A. P., Vadas, M. A., Whitelaw, A., and Gamble, J. (1975). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 72, 5095.
- Miller, J. F. A. P., Vadas, M. A., Whitelaw, A., and Gamble, J. (1976). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 73, 2486.
- Miller, J. F. A. P., Vadas, M. A., Whitelaw, A., Gamble, J., and Bernard, C. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 1623.
- Miller, J. F. A. P., Gamble, J., Mottram, P., and Smith, F. I. (1979). Scand. J. Immunol. 9, 29.
- Mills, G., Monticone, V., and Paetkau, V. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 1325.
- Minami, M., Shreffler, D. C., and Cowing, C. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1314.
- Mizel, S. B. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 2167.
- Mizel, S. B., and Rosenstreich, D. L. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 2173.
- Mizel, S. B., Oppenheim, J. J., and Rosenstreich, D. L. (1978a). J. Immunol. 120, 1497.
- Mizel, S. B., Oppenheim, J. J., and Rosenstreich, D. L. (1978b). J. Immunol. 120, 1504.
- Mizel, S. B., Rosenstreich, D. L., and Oppenheim, J. J. (1978c). Cell. Immunol. 40, 230.
- Moller, G., Lemke, H., and Opitz, H. G. (1976). Scand. J. Immunol. 5, 269.
- Morgan, E. L., and Weigle, W. O. (1979a). J. Exp. Med. 150, 256.
- Morgan, E. L., and Weigle, W. O. (1979b). J. Exp. Med. 151, 1.
- Morgan, E. L., and Weigle, W. O. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1330.
- Morris, N. R., and Fischer, G. A. (1963). Biochim. Biophys. Acta 68, 84.
- Mosier, D. E. (1967). Science 158, 1573.
- Mosier, D. E. (1969). J. Exp. Med. 129, 351.
- Mosier, D. E., and Pierce, C. W. (1972). J. Exp. Med. 136, 1484.
- Mosier, D. E., Johnson, B. M., Paul, W. E., and McMaster, P. R. B. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 139, 1354.
- Mottram, P. L., and Miller, J. F. A. P. (1980). Eur. J. Immunol. 10, 165.
- Murphy, P. A., Simon, P. L., and Willoughby, W. F. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 2498.
- Nadler, P. I., Klingenstein, R. J., and Hodes, R. J. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 914.

- Nakano, K., Hosokawa, T., and Muramatsu, S. (1978). Dev. Comp. Immunol. 2, 505.
- Nathan, C. F. (1980). In "Mononuclear Phagocytes" (R. van Furth, ed.), p. 1165. Nijhoff, The Hague.
- Nathan, C. F., Brukner, L. H., Silverstein, S. C., and Cohn, Z. A. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 149, 84.
- Nelson, D. S. (1973). Nature (London) 246, 306.
- Nelson, R. D., and Leu, R. W. (1975). J. Immunol. 114, 606.
- Neumann, C., and Sorg, C. (1977). Eur. J. Immunol. 7, 720.
- Niederhuber, J. E. (1978). Immunol. Rev. 40, 28.
- Niederhuber, J. E. (1980). In "Macrophage Regulation of Immunity" (E. R. Unanue and A. S. Rosenthal, eds.), p. 197. Academic Press, New York.
- Niederhuber, J. E., and Allen, P. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 151, 1103.
- Niederhuber, J. E., Frelinger, J. A., Dine, M. S., Shoffner, P., Dugan, E., and Shreffler, D. C. (1976). J. Exp. Med. 143, 372.
- Niederhuber, J. E., Allan, P., and Mayo, L. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 1342.
- Nielsen, M. H., Jensen, H., Braendstrup, O., and Werdelin, O. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 140, 1260.
- Nordin, A. A. (1978). Eur. J. Immunol. 8, 776.
- North, R. J. (1969). J. Exp. Med. 130, 299.
- North, R. J. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 806.
- Nossal, G. J. V., and Ada, G. L. (1971). In "Antigens, Lymphoid Cells, and the Immune Response." Academic Press, New York.
- Novogrodsky, A., and Katchalski, E. (1972). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 69, 3207.
- Nussenzweig, M. C., and Steinman, R. M. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 151, 1196.
- Oehler, J. R., and Herberman, R. B. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 1785.
- Ohishi, M., and Onoue, K. (1975). Cell. Immunol. 18, 220.
- Oi, V. T., Jones, P. P., Goding, J. W., Herzenberg, L. A., and Herzenberg, L. A. (1978). In "Lymphocyte Hybridomas" (F. Melchers, M. Potter, and N. Warner, eds.), p. 115. Plenum, New York.
- Opitz, H. G., Niethammer, D., Lemke, H., Flad, H. D., and Huget, R. (1975a). Cell. Immunol. 16, 379.
- Opitz, H. G., Niethammer, D., and Jackson, R. C. (1975b). Cell. Immunol. 18, 70.
- Opitz, H. G., Opitz, U., Lemke, H., Hewlett, G., Schreml, S., and Flad, H. D. (1977a). J. Exp. Med. 145, 1029.
- Opitz, H. H., Opitz, U., Lemke, H., Flad, H. D., Hewlet, G., and Schlumberger, H. D. (1977b). J. Immunol. 119, 2089.
- Opitz, H. G., Lemke, H., and Hewlett, G. (1978). Immunol. Rev. 40, 53.
- Opitz, H. G., Hewlett, G., and Schlumberger, H. D. (1980). In "Macrophage Regulation of Immunity" (E. R. Unanue and A. S. Rosenthal, eds.), p. 415. Academic Press, New York.
- Oppenheim, J. J., Leventhal, B. G., and Hersch, E. M. (1968). J. Immunol. 101, 262.
- Oppenheim, J. J., Northoff, H., Greenhill, A., Mathieson, B. J., Smith, K., and Gillis, S. (1980). In "Characterization of Lymphokines" (A. de Weck, F. Kristensen, and M. Landy, eds.), p. 399.
- O'Toole, M. M., and Wortis, H. H. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 2010.
- Paetkau, V. (1980). Immunol. Rev. 51, 157.
- Paetkau, V., Mills, G., Gerhart, S., and Monticone, V. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 1320.
- Page, R. C., Davies, P., and Allison, A. C. (1978). Int. Rev. Cytol. 52, 119.
- Pantalone, R. M., and Page, R. C. (1975). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 72, 2091.
- Papamichael, M., Gutierrez, C., Embling, P., Johnson, P., Holborow, E., and Pepys, M. (1975). Scand. J. Immunol. 4, 343.
- Paswell, J. H., Dayer, J. M., and Merler, E. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 115.

- Paul, W. E., Shevach, E. M., Pickeral, S., Thomas, D. W., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 618.
- Pelus, L. M., and Bockman, R. S. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2118.
- Pelus, L. M., Broxmeyer, H. E., Kurland, J. I., and Moore, M. A. S. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 150, 277.
- Persson, U., Hammarstrom, L., and Smith, C. I. E. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 1138.
- Persson, U., Hammarstrom, L., Moller, E., Moller, G., and Smith, C. I. E. (1978). Immunol. Rev. 40, 78.
- Petri, J., Braendstrup, O., and Werdelin, O. (1978). Cell. Immunol. 35, 427.
- Petri, J., Braendstrup, O., and Werdelin, O. (1979). Scand. J. Immunol. 10, 493.
- Pettinelli, C. B., Ahmann, G. B., and Shearer, G. M. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1911. Pierce, C. W. (1969). J. Exp. Med. 130, 345.
- Pierce, C. W., and Aune, T. M. (1981). In "Advances in Immunopharmacology" (J. Hadden and P. Mullen, eds.), p. 397. Pergamon, Oxford.
- Pierce, C. W., and Benacerraf, B. (1969). Science 166, 1002.
- Pierce, C. W., and Malek, T. R. (1980). In "Macrophage Regulation of Immunity" (E. R. Unanue and A. S. Rosenthal, eds.), p. 35. Academic Press, New York.
- Pierce, C. W., Kapp, J. A., Wood, D. D., and Benacerraf, B. (1974). J. Immunol. 112, 1181.
- Pierce, C. W., Kapp, J. A., and Benacerraf, B. (1976). J. Exp. Med. 144, 371.
- Pierres, M., and Germain, R. N. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1306.
- Pledger, V. J., Stiles, C. D., Antoniades, H. N., and Sher, C. D. (1977). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 4481.
- Plescia, O. J., Smith, A. H., and Greenwich, K. (1975). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 72, 1848.
- Polverini, P. J., Cotran, R. S., Gimbrone, M. A., Jr., and Unanue, E. R. (1977). Nature (London) 269, 804.
- Ptak, W., Naidorf, K. F., and Gershon, R. K. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 444.
- Ptak, W., Zembala, M., and Gershon, R. K. (1978a). J. Exp. Med. 148, 424.
- Ptak, W., Zembala, Hanczakowski-Newicka, M., and Ssherson, G. L. (1978b). Eur. J. Immunol. 8, 645.
- Puri, J., and Lonai, P. (1980). Eur. J. Immunol. 10, 273.
- Radcliffe, G. N., and Axelrod, M. A. (1971). J. Exp. Med. 133, 846.
- Raff, H. V., Picker, L. J., and Stobo, J. D. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 152, 581.
- Raviola, E. (1975). In "A Textbook of Histology" (W. Bloom and D. Fawcett, eds.), p. 457. Saunders, Philadelphia.
- Richman, L. K., Klingeustein, R. J., Richman, J. A., Strober, W., and Berzofsky, J. A. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2602.
- Richman, L. K., Strober, W., and Berzofsky, J. A. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 619.
- Rigaud, M., Durane, J., and Breton, J. C. (1978). Biochim. Biophys. Acta 573, 408.
- Riisgaard, S., Rhodes, J. M., and Bennedsen, J. (1978). Scand. J. Immunol. 7, 209.
- Rode, H. N., and Gordon, J. (1974). J. Immunol. 111, 1270.
- Rodey, G. E., Luehrman, L. K., and Thomas, D. W. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2250.
- Rogoff, T. M., and Lipsky, P. E. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 1921.
- Rogoff, T. M., and Lipsky, P. E. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1740.
- Roseman, J. (1969). Science 165, 1125.
- Rosenberg, S. A., and Lipsky, P. E. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 926.
- Rosenstreich, D. L., and Mizel, S. B. (1978). Immunol. Rev. 40, 102.
- Rosenstreich, D. L., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1973). J. Immunol. 110, 934.
- Rosenstreich, D. L., Blake, J. T., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1971). J. Exp. Med. 134, 1170.
- Rosenstreich, D. L., Farrar, J. J., and Dougherty, S. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 131.
- Rosenthal, A. S. (1978). Immunol. Rev. 40, 136.
- Rosenthal, A. S., and Shevach, E. M. (1973). J. Exp. Med. 138, 1194.
- Rosenthal, A. S., Barcinski, M. A., and Blake, J. T. (1977). Nature (London) 267, 156.
- Rosenwasser, L. J., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1978a). J. Immunol. 120, 1991.
- Rosenwasser, L. J., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1978b). J. Immunol. 121, 2497.
- Rosenwasser, L. J., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1979a). J. Immunol. 123, 471.
- Rosenwasser, L. J., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1979b). J. Immunol. 123, 1141.
- Rosenwasser, L. J., Dinarello, C. A., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 150, 709.
- Rouse, van Ewijk, W., Jones, P. P., and Weissman, I. L. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 2508.
- Rowden, G., Lewis, M. G., and Sullivan, A. K. (1977). Nature (London) 268, 247.
- Rowden, G., Phillips, T. M., and Delovitch, T. L. (1978). Immunogenetics 7, 465.
- Sachs, D. H., and Cone, J. L. (1973). J. Exp. Med. 138, 1289.
- Salvin, S. B., and Nishio, J. (1969). J. Immunol. 103, 138.
- Salvin, S. B., Sell, S., and Nishio, J. (1971). J. Immunol. 107, 655.
- Schechter, B., Treves, A. J., and Feldman, M. (1976). J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 56, 975.
- Schechter, G. P., and MacFarland, W. (1970). J. Immunol. 105, 661.
- Scher, M. S., Beller, D. I., and Unanue, E. R. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 152, 1684.
- Scher, M. S., Beller, D. I., and Unanue, E. R. (1981). Submitted.
- Schmidtke, J. R., and Dixon, J. F. (1972a). J. Immunol. 108, 1624.
- Schmidtke, J. R., and Dixon, J. F. (1972b). J. Exp. Med. 136, 392.
- Schmidtke, J. R., and Hatfield, S. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 357.
- Schmidtke, J. R., and Unanue, E. R. (1971a). J. Immunol. 107, 331.
- Schmidtke, J. R., and Unanue, E. R. (1971b). Nature (London) 233, 84.
- Schrader, J. W. (1973). J. Exp. Med. 138, 1466.
- Schultz, R. M., Papamatheakis, J. D., and Chirigos, M. A. (1977). Science 197, 674.
- Schwartz, B. D., Paul, W. R., and Shevach, E. M. (1976). Transplant. Rev. 30, 174.
- Schwartz, R. H., and Paul, W. E. (1976). J. Exp. Med. 143, 529.
- Schwartz, R. H., Dickler, H. B., Sachs, D. H., and Schwartz, B. D. (1976). Scand. J. Immunol. 5, 731.
- Schwartz, R. H., Yano, A., and Paul, W. E. (1978). Immunol. Rev. 40, 153.
- Schwartz, R. H., Yano, A., Stimpfling, J. H., and Paul, W. E. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 149, 40.
- Scott, M. T. (1972). Cell. Immunol. 5, 459.
- Scott, W. A., Zrike, J. M., Hamill, A. L., Kempe, J., and Cohn, Z. A. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 152, 324.
- Seeger, R. C., and Oppenheim, J. J. (1970). J. Exp. Med. 132, 44.
- Seeger, R. C., and Oppenheim, J. J. (1972). J. Immunol. 109, 244.
- Sela, M. (1969). Science 166, 1365.
- Shelley, W. B., and Juhlin, I. (1977). Arch. Dermatol. 113, 187.
- Sherr, D. H., Heghinian, K. M., Benacerraf, B., and Dorf, M. E. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1389.
- Shevach, E. M. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 1482.
- Shevach, E. M. (1980). In "Macrophage Regulation of Immunity" (E. R. Unanue and A. S. Rosenthal, eds.), p. 59. Academic Press, New York.
- Shevach, E. M., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1973). J. Exp. Med. 138, 1213.
- Shevach, E. M., Paul, W. E., and Green, I. (1972). J. Exp. Med. 136, 1207.
- Shirrmacher, V., Pena-Martinez, J., and Festenstein, H. (1975). Nature (London) 255, 155.
- Shortman, K., and Palmer, J. (1971). Cell. Immunol. 2, 399.
- Shortman, K., Diener, E., Russell, P., and Armstrong, W. D. (1970). J. Exp. Med. 131, 461.
- Shreffler, D. C., and David, C. S. (1975). Adv. Immunol. 20, 125.
- Sidman, C. L., and Unanue, E. R. (1978). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75, 2401.
- Sidman, C. L., and Unanue, E. R. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 406.
- Sieckman, D. G., Asofsky, R., Mosier, D. E., Zitron, I. M., and Paul, W. E. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 147, 814.

- Siegel, I. (1970a). J. Allergy 46, 190.
- Siegel, I. (1970b). J. Immunol. 105, 879.
- Silberberg, I., Baer, R. L., Rosenthal, S. A., Thorbecke, G. J., and Berezowsky, V. (1975). Cell. Immunol. 32, 400.
- Silberberg, I., Baer, R. L., and Rosenthal, S. A. (1976). J. Invest. Dermatol. 66, 210.
- Silberberg-Sinakin, I., and Thorbecke, G. J. (1980). J. Invest. Dermatol. 75, 61.
- Silberberg-Sinakin, I., Thorbecke, G. J., Baer, R. L., Rosenthal, S. A., and Berezowsky, V. (1976). Cell. Immunol. 25, 137.
- Silberberg-Sinakin, I., Baer, R. L., and Thorbecke, G. J. (1978). Prog. Allergy 24, 268.
- Singer, A., Dickler, H. B., and Hodes, R. J. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 146, 1096.
- Singer, A., Cowing, C., Hatchcock, K. A., Dickler, H. B., and Hodes, J. J. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 147, 1611.
- Singer, A., Hathcock, K. S., and Hodes, R. J. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 149, 1208.
- Sjoberg, O., Andersson, J., and Moller, G. (1972). Eur. J. Immunol. 2, 123.
- Small, M., and Trainin, N. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 292.
- Smith, C. I. E., and Hammarstrom, L. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 823.
- Smith, J. W., Steiner, A. L., and Parker, C. W. (1971). J. Clin. Invest. 50, 442.
- Smith, K. A. (1980). Immunol. Rev. 51, 337.
- Smith, K. A., Lachman, L. A., Oppenheim, J. J., and Favata, M. L. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 151, 1551.
- Smith, T. J., and Wagner, R. R. (1967). J. Exp. Med. 125, 559.
- Snell, G. D. (1978). Immunol. Rev. 38, 3.
- Snyder, D. S., Lu, C. Y., and Unanue, E. R. (1981). Fed. Proc. 40, 4520.
- Sokolowski, J., Jakobsen, E., and Johannesen, J. V. (1978). Lymphology 11, 202.
- Spitznagel, J. K., and Allison, A. C. (1971). J. Immunol. 104, 128.
- Sprent, J. (1978a). J. Exp. Med. 147, 1142.
- Sprent, J. (1978b). J. Exp. Med. 147, 1159.
- Sprent, J. (1978c). J. Exp. Med. 147, 1838.
- Sprent, J. (1980a). In "Macrophage Regulation of Immunity" (E. R. Unanue and A. S. Rosenthal, eds.) p. 97. Academic Press, New York.
- Sprent, J. (1980b). J. Exp. Med. 152, 996.
- Spry, C. J., Pflug, J., Janossy, G., and Humphrey, J. H. (1980). Clin. Exp. Immunol. 39, 750.
- Stadecker, M. J., and Unanue, E. R. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 568.
- Stadecker, M. J., Calderon, J., Karnovsky, M. L., and Unanue, E. R. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 1738.
- Steeg, P. S., Moore, R. N., and Oppenheim, J. J. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 152, 1734.
- Steinberg, R. A., Levinson, B. B., and Tomkins, G. M. (1975). Cell 5, 29.
- Steinman, R. M., and Cohn, Z. A. (1973). J. Exp. Med. 137, 1142.
- Steinman, R. M., and Cohn, Z. A. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 139, 380.
- Steinman, R. M., and Witmer, M. G. (1978). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75, 5132.
- Steinman, R. M., Lustig, D., and Cohn, Z. A. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 139, 1431.
- Steinman, R. M., Adams, J., and Cohn, Z. A. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 141, 804.
- Steinman, R. M., Kaplan, G., Witmer, M. D., and Cohn, Z. A. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 149, 1.
- Steinman, R. M., Noqueira, N., Witmer, M. D., Tydings, J. D., and Mellman, I. S. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 152, 1248.
- Stenson, W. F., and Parker, C. W. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1.
- Stern, A. C., Erb, P., and Gissler, R. H. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 612.
- Stewart, C. C. (1980). In "Mononuclear Phagocytes—Functional Aspects" (R. van Furth, ed.), p. 377. Nijhoff, The Hague.

- Stingl, G., Wolff-Schreiner, E. C., Pichler, W. J., Schnait, F. G., Knapp, W., and Wolff, K. (1977). Nature (London) 268, 245.
- Stingl, G., Katz, S. I., Clement, L., Green, I., and Shevach, E. M. (1978a). J. Immunol. 121, 2005.
- Stingl, G., Katz, S. I., Shevach, E. M., Rosenthal, A. S., and Green, I. (1978b). J. Invest. Dermatol. 71, 59.
- Stingl, G., Katz, S. I., Shevach, E. M., Wolff-Schreiner, E. C., and Green, I. (1978c). J. Immunol. 120, 570.
- Stingl, G., Katz, S. I., Clement, L., Green, I., and Shevach, E. M. (1980). In "Macrophage Regulation of Immunity" (E. R. Unanue and A. S. Rosenthal, eds.), p. 285. Academic Press, New York.
- Suzuki, K., Fatham, C. G., and Tomasi, T. B., Jr. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 1530.
- Swierkosz, J. E., Roch, K., Marrack, P., and Kappler, J. W. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 147, 554.
- Swierkosz, J. E., Marrack, P., and Kappler, J. W. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 654.
- Tadakuma, T., and Pierce, C. W. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 967.
- Tadakuma, T., and Pierce, C. W. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 481.
- Tadakuma, T., Kuhner, A. L., Rich, R. R., David, J. R., and Pierce, C. W. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 323.
- Talmage, D. W., and Hemmingsen, H. (1975). J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 55, 442.
- Tamaki, K., Stingl, G., Gullino, M., Sachs, D. H., and Katz, S. I. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 784.
- Taniguchi, N., Miyawaki, T., Moriya, N., Nagaoki, T., Kato, E., and Kuda, N. O. (1977). J. Immunol. 118, 193.
- Taniyama, T., and Holden, H. T. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 43.
- Theis, G. A., and Thorbecke, G. J. (1970). J. Exp. Med. 131, 970.
- Thomas, D. W. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1760.
- Thomas, D. W., and Shevach, E. M. (1976). J. Exp. Med. 144, 1263.
- Thomas, D. W., and Shevach, E. M. (1977). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 2104.
- Thomas, D. W., and Shevach, E. M. (1978a). J. Immunol. 121, 1145.
- Thomas, D. W., and Shevach, E. M. (1978b). J. Immunol. 121, 1152.
- Thomas, D. W., and Wilner, G. D. (1980). In "Macrophage Regulation of Immunity" (E. R. Unanue and A. S. Rosenthal, eds.), p. 47. Academic Press, New York.
- Thomas, D. W., Forni, G., Shevach, E. M., and Green, I. (1977a). J. Immunol. 118, 1677.
- Thomas, D. W., Yamashita, U., and Shevach, E. M. (1977b). J. Immunol. 119, 223.
- Thomas, D. W., Meltz, S. K., and Wilner, G. D. (1979a). J. Immunol. 123, 759.
- Thomas, D. W., Meltz, S. K., and Wilner, G. D. (1979b). J. Immunol. 123, 1299.
- Thorbecke, G. J., Silberberg-Sinakin, I., and Flotte, T. J. (1980). J. Invest. Dermatol. 75, 32.
- Toews, G. B., and Lipscomb, M. E. (1980). Fed. Proc. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. 39, 911.
- Toews, G. B., Bergstresser, P. D., and Streilein, J. W. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 445.
- Togawa, A., Oppenheim, J. J., and Mizel, S. B. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 2112.
- Tracey, D. E. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 840.
- Tracey, D. E., and Adkinson, N. F., Jr. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 136.
- Tracey, D. E., Wolfe, S. A., Durdik, J. M., and Henney, C. S. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 1145.
- Treves, A. J. (1978). Immunol. Rev. 40, 205.
- Treves, A. J., Schechter, B., Cohen, I. R., and Feldman, M. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 1059.
- Unanue, E. R. (1970). J. Immunol. 105, 1339.
- Unanue, E. R. (1972). Adv. Immunol. 15, 95.

- Unanue, E. R. (1975). In "Mononuclear Phagocytes in Immunity, Infection, and Pathology" (R. van Furth, ed.), p. 721. Nijhoff, The Hague.
- Unanue, E. R. (1976). Am. J. Pathol. 83, 396.
- Unanue, E. R. (1978). Immunol. Rev. 40, 227.
- Unanue, E. R., and Askonas, B. A. (1968a). Immunology 15, 287.
- Unanue, E. R., and Askonas, B. A. (1968b). J. Exp. Med. 127, 915.
- Unanue, E. R., and Cerottini, J.-C. (1970). J. Exp. Med. 131, 711.
- Unanue, E. R., and Feldman, J. D. (1971). Cell. Immunol. 2, 269.
- Unanue, E. R., and Katz, D. H. (1973). Eur. J. Immunol. 3, 559.
- Unanue, E. R., and Kiely, J.-M. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 925.
- Unanue, E. R., Cerottini, J.-C., and Bedford, M. (1969). Nature (London) 222, 1193.
- Unanue, E. R., Dorf, M. E., David, C. S., and Benacerraf, B. (1974). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 71, 5014.
- Unanue, E. R., Beller, D. I., Calderon, J., Kiely, J.-M., and Stadecker, M. J. (1976a). Am. J. Pathol. 85, 465.
- Unanue, E. R., Kiely, J.-M., and Calderon, J. (1976b). J. Exp. Med. 144, 155.
- Unanue, E. R., Farr, A. G., and Kiely, J.-M. (1980). In "Mononuclear Phagocytes" (R. van Furth, ed.), p. 1837. Nijhoff, The Hague.
- Unkeless, J. C., Gordon, S., and Reich, E. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 139, 834.
- Vadas, M. A., Miller, J. F. A. P., Gamble, J., and Whitelaw, A. (1975). Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol. 49, 670.
- Vadas, M. A., Miller, J. F. A. P., Whitelaw, A., and Gamble, J. (1977). Immunogenetics 4, 137.
- Van den Tweel, J. G., and Walker, W. S. (1977). Immunology 33, 817.
- Van Ewijk, W., Verzijden, J. H. M., Van der Kwast, T. H., and Luijex-Meijer, S. S. M. (1974). Cell Tissue Res. 419, 43.
- Van Furth, R., and Cohn, Z. A. (1968). J. Exp. Med. 128, 415.
- Van Furth, R., and Diesselhoff-Den Dulk, M. M. C. (1970). J. Exp. Med. 132, 813.
- Van Furth, R., Diesselhoff-Den Dulk, M. M. C., and Maltie, H. (1973). J. Exp. Med. 138, 1314.
- Varesio, L., Herberman, R. B., Gerson, J. M., and Holden, H. T. (1979). Int. J. Cancer 24, 97.
- Vassali, J. D., and Reich, E. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 429.
- Veerman, A. J. (1974). Cell Tissue Res. 148, 247.
- Veerman, A. J., and Van Ewijk, W. (1975). Cell Tissue Res. 156, 441.
- Vilcek, J., and Ng, M. H. (1971). J. Virol. 7, 588.
- Vogel, A., Raines, E., Kariya, B., Rivest, M. J., and Ross, R. (1978). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75, 2810.
- Volkman, A. (1970). Ser. Haematol. 3, 62.
- Volkman, A. (1976). J. RES Soc. 19, 249.
- Volkman, A., and Collins, F. M. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 139, 264.
- Volkman, A., and Gowans, J. L. (1965a). Br. J. Exp. Pathol. 46, 50.
- Volkman, A., and Gowans, J. L. (1965b). Br. J. Exp. Pathol. 46, 62.
- Von Boehmer, H., Haas, W., and Jerne, N. K. (1978). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75, 2439.
- Wagner, H., Feldman, M., Boyle, W., and Schrader, J. W. (1972). J. Exp. Med. 136, 331.
- Wagner, H., Hardt, C., Heeg, K., Pfizenmaier, K., Solbach, W., Bartlett, R., Stockinger, H., and Rollinghof, M. (1980). Immunol. Rev. 51, 215.
- Wahl, L. M., Wahl, S. M., Mergenhagen, S. E., and Martin, G. R. (1975a). Science 187, 261.

- Wahl, L. M., Wilton, J. M., Rosenstreich, D. L., and Oppenheim, J. J. (1975b). J. Immunol. 114, 1296.
- Wahl, L. M., Olsen, C. E., Sandberg, A. L., and Mergenhagen, S. E. (1977). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 4955.
- Waldman, S. R., and Gottlieb, A. A. (1973). Cell. Immunol. 9, 142.
- Waldron, J. A., Horn, R. G., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1973). J. Immunol. 111, 58.
- Waldron, J. A., Horn, R. G., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1974). J. Immunol. 112, 746.
- Webb, D. R., and Jamieson, A. T. (1976). Cell. Immunol. 24, 45.
- Webb, D. R., and Osheroff, P. L. (1976). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 73, 1300.
- Webb, D. R., and Nowowiejski, I. (1977). Cell. Immunol. 33, 1.
- Weinberg, D. S. (1980). Fed. Proc. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. 39, 911.
- Weinberg, D. S., and Unanue, E. R. (1981). J. Immunol. 126, 794.
- Wekerle, H., and Ketelsen, U. P. (1980). Nature (London) 283, 402.
- Wekerle, H., Ketelsen, U. P., and Ernst, M. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 151, 925.
- Werb, Z., and Gordon, S. (1975a). J. Exp. Med. 142, 346.
- Werb, Z., and Gordon, S. (1975b). J. Exp. Med. 142, 361.
- Werdelin, O. (1980). In "Macrophage Regulation of Immunity" (E. R. Unanue and A. S. Rosenthal, eds.), p. 213. Academic Press, New York.
- Werdelin, O., and Braendstrup, O. (1979). Scand. J. Immunol. 10, 499.
- Werdelin, O., and Shevach, E. M. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2779.
- Werdelin, O., Braendstrup, O., and Pederson, E. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 140, 1245.
- Werdelin, O., Braendstrup, O., and Shevach, E. M. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 1755.
- Wiener, E., and Levanon, D. (1968). Science 159, 217.
- Williams, N. (1979). Blood 53, 1089.
- Wong, D. M., and Hersowitz, H. B. (1979). Immunology 37, 765.
- Wood, D. D. (1979a). J. Immunol. 123, 2395.
- Wood, D. D. (1979b). J. Immunol. 123, 2400.
- Wood, D. D., and Cameron, P. M. (1975). J. Immunol. 114, 1094.
- Wood, D. D., and Cameron, P. M. (1976). Cell. Immunol. 21, 133.
- Wood, D. D., and Gaul, S. L. (1974). J. Immunol. 113, 925.
- Wood, D. D., Cameron, P. M., Poe, M. T., and Morris, C. A. (1976). Cell. Immunol. 21, 88.
- Woodward, J. H., and Daynes, R. A. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 1227.
- Woodward, J. H., Fernandez, P. A., and Daynes, R. A. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 1196.
- Wolfe, S. A., Tracey, D. E., and Henney, C. S. (1976). Nature (London) 262, 584.
- Yamashita, U., and Hamaoka, T. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2637.
- Yamashita, U., and Shevach, E. M. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 1584.
- Yamashita, U., and Shevach, E. M. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 148, 1171.
- Yano, A., Schwartz, R. H., and Paul, W. E. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 146, 828.
- Yano, A., Schwartz, R. H., and Paul, W. E. (1978). Eur. J. Immunol. 8, 344.
- Yokomuro, K., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2019.
- Yoneda, T., and Mundy, G. R. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 149, 279.
- Zembala, M., and Asherson, G. L. (1974). Eur. J. Immunol. 4, 799.
- Ziegler, K., and Unanue, E. R. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 150, 1143.
- Ziegler, K., and Unanue, E. R. (1980). In "Macrophage Regulation of Immunity" (E. R. Unanue and A. S. Rosenthal, eds.), p. 245. Academic Press, New York.
- Zinkernagel, R. M. (1974). Nature ((London) 251, 230.
- Zinkernagel, R. M. (1978). Immunol. Rev. 42, 224.
- Zinkernagel, R. M., and Doherty, P. C. (1974). Nature (London) 251, 547.
- Zinkernagel, R. M., Althage, A., Adler, B., Blanden, R. V., Davidson, W. F., Kees, U., Dunlop, M. B. C., and Shreffler, D. C. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 1353.

T-Cell Growth Factor and the Culture of Cloned Functional T Cells

KENDALL A. SMITH AND FRANCIS W. RUSCETTI

The Immunology Program, Dartmouth Medical School, The Norris Cotton Cancer Center, Hanover, New Hampshire, and The Laboratory of Tumor Cell Biology, The National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, Maryland

I.	Introduction	137
II.	Lymphocyte-Activating Factor	141
	A. General Considerations	141
	B. The LAF Assay	142
	C. Biochemical Characteristics of LAF	144
	D. Functional Characteristics of LAF	146
III.	T-Cell Growth Factor	149
	A. General Considerations	149
	B. The TCGF Assay	150
	C. TCGF Production: The Cellular Origin of TCGF	153
	D. Biochemical Characteristics of TCGF	155
	E. Functional Characteristics of TCGF	159
IV.	The Initiation, Clonal Derivation, and Maintenance of Functional	
	T-Cell Lines	161
	A. General Considerations	161
	B. The Clonal Derivation of T-Cell Lines	163
	C. Cytolytic T-Cell Lines	165
	D. Helper T-Cell Lines	166
	E. Suppressor T-Cell Lines	168
	F. Neoplastic T Cells and TCGF	168
V.	The Functional Implications of TCGF	169
VI.	Conclusion	172
	References	173

I. Introduction

Twenty years have passed since the discovery that plant lectins initiated blastic transformation and mitosis in small resting lymphocytes (Nowell, 1960). As a result of this discovery and the development of assays for specific antigen-induced lymphocyte triggering, the ensuing decade brought forth a veritable explosion of information relative to the cellular basis of immunity. Together with the single-cell assay for antibody-forming cells promoted by Jerne and Nordin (1963), lectinor antigen-initiated T-lymphocyte proliferation assays gradually led to the appreciation that several distinct cell types were involved in immune responses. As a result, the attention of immunologists has focused during the past decade toward the dissection of the mechanisms of communication among the principal cells involved in the immune response.

Soon after the realization that lymphocytes were capable of selfrenewal, soluble mitogenic factors were discovered in the media of cultured lymphocytes (Kasakura and Lowenstein, 1965; Gordon and MacLean, 1965). Initially, it was thought that the mitogenic activities were by-products of the antigen- or lectin-induced cellular proliferative response, and functioned simply to augment a cellular activation process that was essentially ligand-driven. As experimental evidence accumulated, however, definitive proof of this hypothesis became elusive. Macrophages, as well as T cells, were found to be essential for T-cell proliferative responses to antigens or lectins (Oppenheim *et al.*, 1968; Seeger and Oppenheim, 1970; Rosenstreich *et al.*, 1976). The awareness that macrophages played an obligatory role in immunocyte proliferation and differentiation, thus abolished the notion that ligand-lymphocyte binding was the sole requirement for the initiation of blastic transformation and mitosis.

The identification of the cellular requirements for immune responses relied progressively upon sophisticated techniques of cellular identification and separation. Significant and most timely advances were the discovery of functionally distinct T-cell surface markers, the development of the fluorescence-activated cell sorter, and the advent of monoclonal antibodies. Gradually, as a result of these technical improvements, it became apparent that different functional T-cell subsets cooperated to generate a fully competent T-cell and B-cell immune response. All of these techniques, however, depended upon the assumption that the reagents identified and allowed separation of functionally distinct and homogeneous cell populations. Thus, despite intricate efforts to ensure homogeneity of separated cell populations, it always remained possible that the results obtained from functional experiments were derived from small numbers of remaining contaminating cells rather than the positively selected cells in question.

This deficiency of experimental design has now been overcome owing to the discovery that T lymphocytes can be maintained, apparently indefinitely, in continuous exponential proliferative culture (Morgan *et al.*, 1976; Ruscetti *et al.*, 1977). Moreover, under the proper conditions, subsequent studies revealed that it is possible to derive and maintain monoclonal functional T-cell lines (Gillis and Smith, 1977; Baker *et al.*, 1979; Von Boehmer *et al.*, 1979; Schreier *et al.*, 1980; Engers *et al.*, 1980; Sredni and Schwartz, 1980). The active moiety responsible for this advance was subsequently found to be a

138

soluble lymphokine of T-cell origin, termed T-cell growth factor (TCGF) (Gillis *et al.*, 1978b). Thus, lymphokines suddenly assumed a central importance to those interested in the regulation of the immune response; it is now apparent that the lectin/antigen-initiated proliferation of T-cells originally described by Nowell, is actually mediated by an intricate interaction of both macrophage- and T-cell-derived soluble factors. The insight gained by this realization has for the first time integrated immunologists who have approached immunocyte regulation from seemingly disparate disciplines. Although the molecular basis for the functional interaction of the soluble factors and the various cells involved in competent immune responses are now at the threshold of discovery, it may be beneficial at this time to review the established facts, and to explore the assumed facts based on the information presently available.

At the outset it is helpful to present a working model of T-cell activation. The model to be described is a condensation of information derived from several groups of investigators working independently, who have almost simultaneously arrived at strikingly similar conclusions (Smith et al., 1979b; Coutinho et al., 1979; Bonnard et al., 1979; Larsson et al., 1980a,b; Gronvik and Andersson, 1980; Paetkau et al., 1980; Ruscetti and Gallo, 1981). As displayed in Fig. 1, the T-cell proliferative response results from the interaction of at least three distinct cell types. When antigen or lectin is introduced to a mixed population of these cells, all the cells that bind the ligand through specific binding sites become "activated." This results in at least three responses: (a) release of lymphocyte-activating factor (LAF) from monocytes and macrophages; (b) under the influence of LAF, the release of TCGF by a specific T-cell subset; and (c) binding of TCGF by separate T-cell subsets resulting in the proliferative response. The importance of this concept has been the understanding that functional T-cell clonal expansion, although ligand initiated, is under a strict and obligatory regulatory control by soluble immunocyte products that have features characteristic of hormones. Thus, the clonal expansion and differentiation of functional T-cell immune responses can no longer be viewed simply as an externally driven phenomenon; rather there exists a unique signaling apparatus designed to transmit external foreign stimuli to internal hormone-like control.

It is apparent from this model that, because the ultimate realization of T-cell proliferation depends upon an intricate communication network between at least three functionally distinct cells, those signals that determine activate participation of each of the cells must assume a central importance. While there exists some circumstantial evidence to



FIG. 1. A model for T-cell activation. LAF, lymphocyte-activating factor; TCGF, T-cell growth factor.

indicate that activating signals may vary for different cells, many more data are required before it will be possible to ascribe with certainty the exact reaction sequences. It is evident, however, that lectin or antigen are obligatory to initiate the transformation of resting cells to an activated, receptive state. In addition, major histocompatibility complex (MHC) gene products perform an essential role in the activation process. Although these early triggering signals appear to initiate the reaction and dictate the specifity of the ultimate immune response, the nonspecific soluble factors of macrophage and T-cell origin actually mediate the antigen-directed clonal expansion of effector cells. Since more experimental data are required before the dissection of the functional role of activating signals can be realized, and because such a dissection will necessarily depend upon monoclonal functional cellular reagents, this review will concentrate on the events that occur subsequent to ligand-initiated MHC-modulated cellular activation, and which actually mediate the proliferative clonal expansion of activated T cells.

II. Lymphocyte-Activating Factor

A. GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS

Although it was initially assumed that the mitogenic factors found to be present in leukocyte cultures were lymphocyte products, Bach et al. (1970) reported that adherent cells appeared to release soluble factors that had mitogenic properties for lymphocytes. This report was subsequently confirmed and extended by Gery et al. (1972), who coined the term "lymphocyte-activating factor" (LAF) for macrophage-derived mitogenic factors. There seems to be no doubt that LAF is macrophage-derived; adherent cells originating from human (Bach et al., 1970), mouse (Gery et al., 1972), guinea pig (Rosenstreich et al., 1976), monkey (Blyden and Handschumacher, 1977), and dog (Ulrich, 1977) cells have been found to produce LAF. Additional evidence was reported by Lachman et al. (1977b), who found that murine tumor cell lines having macrophage characteristics released LAF activity. These workers also demonstrated that human acute monoblastic and myelomonocytic leukemia cells could be induced to release LAF activity (Lachman et al., 1978). In contrast, attempts to identify LAF release by lymphoid cell lines or freshly isolated malignant and normal lymphoid cells have been unsuccessful.

While LAF appears to be spontaneously released by macrophages soon after they are placed *in vitro* and allowed to attach to the surface of a culture vessel (Unanue and Kiely, 1977), various stimuli have been reported markedly to increase LAF release. LAF inducers fall into two major groups: those that enhance LAF release in the absence of other cells, and those that require T cells (Oppenheim *et al.*, 1979). Among the direct LAF inducers are bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS), phagocytic stimuli such as latex particles, phorbol myristic acetate, pyran copolymer, gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria, yeast, and mycobacterial peptidoglycolipids. It is noteworthy that this list contains many of the agents that have been used experimentally and clinically as immunological adjuvants.

Lipopolysaccharide is the prototype LAF inducer that is most commonly employed experimentally. Human monocytes have been found to be exquisitely sensitive to LPS, such that as little as 10 pg/ml can stimulate LAF release, with maximum release observed between 1 and 10 ng/ml (Wood and Cameron, 1978). In this regard, therefore, it is probable that many, if not all, *in vitro* immunological studies performed over the years employed reagents contaminated with LPS in sufficient quantities to induce maximal LAF release from macrophages. The effects of the LAF release on the results of the experiments, and thus the experimental conclusions drawn, can only be inferred at this time: future experiments where LPS is rigorously excluded and LAF carefully monitored, will be necessary to delineate the relative importance of LAF to the interpretations of experimental results.

Detailed studies by Rosenstreich et al. (1976), have shown that T cells are required for the induction of LAF release by macrophages in the presence of T-cell lectins or soluble protein antigens. Cell separation experiments have indicated that activated T cells (most probably of the Lyt1+2-3- subset) stimulate macrophages to release LAF, and the resultant product is indistinguishable from the LAF released after LPS stimulation. It is unclear whether direct T cell-macrophage contact is required for this type of stimulation or whether a T-cell-derived lymphokine is responsible for the macrophage stimulation. A recent report suggested that T-cell-derived macrophage-specific colonystimulating activity or macrophage growth factor is the lymphocyte product that fulfills this role (Moore et al., 1980). Further experiments are necessary, however, to ascertain the exact sequence of signals passing between macrophages and T cells. Suffice it to say at this point that it is guite possible that a cyclical interaction may exist between activated T cells and macrophages, the products of one cell type amplifying the release of products of the other cell type and vice versa.

B. THE LAF ASSAY

One of the major impediments to the dissection of the role and mechanism of action of LAF has been the absence of an assay that specifically detects LAF and no other mitogenic factor. LAF is traditionally assayed by its mitogenic effect on murine thymocytes (Oppenheim et al., 1979). It is important to characterize the sample to be assaved as LAF, for the thymocyte assay will also detect lymphocyte-derived mitogenic proteins, such as TCGF. Additionally, if the samples to be assayed contain T-cell lectins or antigens, the in situ production of mitogenic factors by the target thymocytes may be superimposed upon any mitogenic effect of LAF. The assay is conducted by culturing thymocytes (which contain less than 1% macrophages, thus serving as a good target cell population for a macrophage product) at high cell densities (usually 10 to 15×10^6 cells/ml) in the presence of a suboptimal concentration of a T-cell lectin and varving concentrations of LAF (Oppenheim et al., 1979). After 72-96 hours of culture, thymocytes exhibit a marked proliferative response that is dependent on LAF concentration. Displayed in Fig. 2 are the results from a typical assay. Several observations are noteworthy when the kinetics of the thymocyte response (Fig. 2A) are examined. Thymocytes incorporate considerable amounts of [³H]thymidine (Tdr) when initially placed into culture, whether or not LAF or lectin are



FIG. 2. The lymphocyte-activating factor (LAF) thymocyte assay. (A) The kinetics of LAF activity. C3H/HeJ thymocytes were cultured $(1 \times 10^7 \text{ cells/ml})$ in the presence of medium (\oplus); phytohemagglutinin (PHA) (\triangle); LAF derived from lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human mononuclear cells at a maximal stimulatory concentration (1:20 dilution, see Fig. 2B), (O); PHA plus LAF (\triangle). At the times indicated, [³H]Tdr was added for 4 hours prior to the cessation of the culture. (B) The LAF concentration-dependent effect on thymocyte [³H]Tdr incorporation determined 72 hours after the initiation of culture in the absence (O) and the presence (\oplus) of PHA (1 µg/ml). [From Smith *et al.* (1980d).]

present. This proliferative activity, however, declines regardless of the presence of lectin and/or LAF, and [³H]Tdr incorporation progressively decreases as the culture period is extended. By the second day of culture, cells exposed to both LAF and lectin exhibit a significant increase in [³H]Tdr incorporation, which is of even greater magnitude by the third day. Concomitant with the increase in [³H]Tdr incorporation is the appearance of blastoid cells, their proportion increasing as the culture period is extended. In contrast to the marked proliferative response observed when both LAF and lectin are present, cells exposed to LAF or lectin alone exhibit only minimal blast transformation and [³H]Tdr incorporation.

The concentration dependency of the LAF effect after 72 hours of culture is displayed in Fig. 2B, where thymocyte [³H]Tdr incorporation is plotted as a function of the reciprocal of the LAF sample dilution (the kinetic data shown in Fig. 2A were derived from the highest LAF concentration utilized, a 1:20 dilution). In the presence of PHA, as the concentration of LAF is increased thymocyte [3H]Tdr incorporation increases. The marked difference in LAF-induced [3H]Tdr incorporated in the presence and the absence of PHA deserves comment, for there is also a LAF concentration-dependent increase in [3H]Tdr in the absence of PHA. This modest difference in the amount of [3H]Tdr incorporated solely in the presence of LAF (800 cpm at the highest LAF concentration) compared to the medium control (100 cpm) has led some investigators to ascribe direct mitogenic activity to LAF (Rosenstreich and Mizel, 1978). It is also guite possible, however, that LAF, or perhaps other constituents in the LAF preparations, may simply retard the decline of proliferative activity present at the initiation of the culture (Fig. 2A).

A final point with regard to the traditional LAF assay is important. Although the experiment depicted in Fig. 2 displays the concentration-dependent effect of LAF, most investigators have assayed only one concentration (usually a 1:4 dilution) and compared the difference in [³H]Tdr incorporation affected by one LAF preparation to that of another. If one compares the dilutions (or titers) of the LAF samples that mediate comparable amounts of thymocyte proliferation, the assay can yield more useful information as to the quantity of LAF present in a given sample.

C. BIOCHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF LAF

Human LAF, derived from LPS-stimulated peripheral blood monocytes, has been examined by several groups (Blyden and Handschumacher, 1977; Lachman et al., 1977a,b; Wood, 1979). There is general agreement that human LAF elutes from molecular gel chromatography in a position corresponding to that of a globular protein of 13,000–15,000 molecular weight. Although species of higher molecular weight have also been identified, most investigators feel that these arise as a consequence of noncovalent interactions between LAF and contaminating molecules: such higher molecular weight forms are commonly observed when LAF is produced in the presence of serum and are not present in preparations derived in the absence of serum.

When LAF recovered from gel filtration was examined by isoelectric focusing (IEF) (Lachman *et al.*, 1977a), most of the activity centered in a relatively broad band at pH 6.5–7.0. Minor peaks of activity were also identified in the pH range of 5.0 to 6.0. The heterogeneity found on IEF has not been further delineated, and thus it is unclear whether LAF activity is present in several molecular species or in one protein that has undergone posttranslational modification or degradation. It should be noted, however, that Lachman *et al.* (1977a) demonstrated that the major band of LAF isolated from IEF in the pH range 6.8 to 7.2 migrated on polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE) with a uniform size.

Like human-derived LAF, analytical biochemical characterization of murine LAF by gel filtration has resulted in the active material migrating in a position corresponding to a globular protein of 13,000–15,000 daltons (Calderon et al., 1975; Lachman et al., 1977a; Economou and Shin, 1978; Mizel et al., 1978; Lachman and Metzgar, 1980). Again, higher molecular weight species have been identified by these methods, but most workers have concentrated on the lower molecular weight form. Analysis of active fractions obtained from gel filtration by DEAE chromatography has yielded a heterogeneous elution pattern over a broad range of salt concentrations (between 25 and 90 mM NaCl) (Mizel et al., 1978), thus suggesting that although the activity is fairly homogeneous in size, there is considerable heterogeneity in charge. Similar results have been obtained from LAF derived from LPS-activated peritoneal macrophages, as well as LPS- or Tcell-activated P388D, tumor cells. In fact there have been no discernible differences noted between LAF derived from these sources (Rosenstreich and Mizel, 1978).

Economou and Shin (1977) have examined LAF derived from serum-free cultures of murine peritoneal exudate cells by isoelectric focusing and have reported the activity to be heterodisperse, but present in two broad major peaks centered at pH 4.8 and 5.3. In contrast, Mizel (1980) reported that P388D₁-derived LAF focused in one distinct peak at pH 5.7. Suffice it to conclude at this point that murinederived LAF focuses at a considerably lower pH than does humanderived LAF. In this regard there are some parallels between LAF and TCGF derived from mouse and human cells (see the biochemical characteristics of TCGF, Section III,C).

While studies on the physicochemical nature of human LAF have revealed the activity to be relatively resistant to some proteases, both papain and chymotrypsin were found to decrease LAF activity (Wood, 1979), thus suggesting that the activity can be ascribed to a protein. Blyden and Handschumacher (1977) found that human LAF partially purified by gel filtration and ion exchange chromatography was unaffected by treatment with sodium periodate and iodoacetate, thus suggesting that, if carbohydrate or sulfhydryl residues are present in LAF, they are not essential for activity. Although the activity is resistant to low pH (0.18 N HCl at 23°C for 24 hours), alkalinization (pH 9.0 for 24 hours) results in inactivation. The activity is remarkably resistant to high temperatures: LAF partially purified by gel filtration and ion exchange chromatography loses activity only gradually at 100°C (Wood, 1979).

Physicochemical characterization of murine LAF has yielded many similarities to human LAF. Calderon et al. (1975), found LAF derived from murine peritoneal exudate cells to be resistant to trypsin. ribonuclease, carboxypeptidase A, papain, and neuraminidase. Activity of LAF, however, was reduced 41% by treatment with Pronase and totally destroyed by chymotrypsin and pepsin. Mizel (1980) also found LAF derived from phorbol myristic acetate-stimulated P388D₁ cells to be destroyed by Pronase, but not by trypsin, chymotrypsin, and papain. In the presence of 8 M urea, LAF activity was completely destroyed by papain: Mizel has interpreted this finding as being consistent with a reversible denaturation by urea that allows previously unexposed papain-sensitive sites to become accessible to proteolytic attack. Other data reported by Mizel (1980) suggested that a carbohydrate component either is not present or is not essential for biological activity: P388D₁-derived LAF was not inactivated by neuraminidase or sodium periodate, nor did it bind to concanavalin A(Con A)-Sepharose. Additionally, since LAF activity was not inactivated by reduction and alkylation, the active conformation of LAF does not appear to depend upon disulfide linkages.

D. FUNCTIONAL CHARACTERISTICS OF LAF

There has been considerable confusion as to the functional mechanism of LAF action, owing in part to the use of either unprocessed or only partially processed conditioned media for biological experiments.

LAF was originally defined as a macrophage-derived soluble factor that promoted thymocyte proliferation (Oppenheim *et al.*, 1979). As mentioned previously, some investigators attributed a direct mitogenic function to LAF owing to the fact that LAF-containing conditioned media were shown to promote a modest increase in thymocyte [³H]Tdr incorporation in the absence of other exogenous additives. This interpretation necessarily assumes that other entities, either present in the LAF-containing conditioned media or the fetal calf serum, do not provide low levels of antigenic stimulation required for the reception of an activating signal provided by LAF. Upon examination of the published data it is clear that LAF causes a marked concentration-dependent enhancement of lectin-initiated thymocyte ^{[3}H]Tdr incorporation (e.g., see Fig. 2). As a result of these data, most recent reports have redefined the operational definition of LAF as a macrophage-derived soluble factor that enhances lectin-initiated thymocyte proliferation. It is important to note, however, that the effects of LAF are not confined to thymocytes or lectin-initiated T-cell responses. In fact, the first report of the effects of LAF dealt with its macrophage replacing-activity in mixed lymphocyte cultures of human peripheral blood lymphocytes (Bach et al., 1970). Subsequent studies revealed that LAF-containing conditioned media would enhance the generation of cytotoxic T cells (Farrar et al., 1980) as well as the generation of antibody-forming cells (Wood and Cameron, 1976; Koopman et al., 1978; Hoffman and Watson, 1979). The mechanism whereby LAF mediates these seemingly diverse biological activities, however, has remained ill-defined.

Soon after it was realized that lectin-stimulated mononuclear cells released an activity that maintained continuous T-cell proliferation, it was questioned whether LAF was the moiety responsible for the T-cell growth. It was found, however, that partially purified human or murine LAF that clearly enhanced lectin-initiated thymocyte proliferation did not support continuous T-cell growth (Oppenheim et al., 1980). The most likely explanation, which could account for the thymocyte mitogenic effect of LAF and the lack of a growth-promoting effect of LAF on T cells, was the LAF-mediated enhancement of a T-cell released, and T-cell-specific, mitogen. Several groups of investigators have provided evidence that supports this hypothesis (Smith et al., 1979a; Larsson et al., 1980b; Smith et al., 1980b; Shaw et al., 1980). Partially purified human or murine LAF promotes TCGF release by thymocytes and adherent cell-depleted splenocytes. In the absence of adherent cells or LAF, T-cell enriched populations release little or no TCGF upon lectin or antigen stimulation.

Although these data support the idea that LAF is mitogenic for T

cells because it promotes the production of the T-cell-specific mitogen. TCGF, direct evidence in support of this concept was lacking. Additionally, since T-cell-enriched populations were utilized in the aforementioned experiments, it was impossible to rule out the possibility that the LAF effect was mediated via residual macrophages or intricate interactions among various T-cell subsets. To directly approach the LAF mechanism of action, we examined cloned murine T-lymphoma cells that released TCGF upon lectin stimulation. When these cells were cultured in a lymphokine-free medium, partially purified LAF promoted a LAF concentration-dependent increase in TCGF release (Smith et al., 1980c) (Fig. 3). Thus, it appears that LAF is mitogenic for T cells because it facilitates TCGF production. Additional experimental approaches have supported this model. Glucocorticoids, which cause a concentration-dependent inhibition of TCGF production, mediate a parallel suppression of the mitogenic effect of LAF on lectin-initiated T-cell proliferation (Smith et al., 1980b). Additionally. LAF has no mitogenic effect on splenocytes from athymic nude mice, which are incapable of TCGF production (Smith et al.,



FIG. 3. Lymphocyte-activating factor (LAF)-concentration-dependent production of T-cell growth factor (TCGF) activity from WEHI-7 clone 49 (\oplus), and clone 8 (\bigcirc). The LAF preparation was partially purified by Sephadex G-75 chromatography followed by isoelectric focusing. The LAF used for the experiment displayed was derived from the isoelectric focusing gradient, pH 6.85. [From Smith *et al.* (1980c).]

1980b). The implications of these results are that LAF serves as an early amplifier of T-cell proliferation by promoting the production of a second, T-cell-derived, soluble factor that actually mediates T-cell proliferation.

III. T-Cell Growth Factor

A. GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS

Beginning with the original reports by Gordon and MacLean (1965) and Kasakura and Lowenstein (1965) of the presence of mitogenic factors in mixed leukocyte cultures, many mitogenic factors thought to be of T-cell origin were described. For the most part, only unfractionated supernatants were assayed for biological activity, and the mitogenic factors were named according to the assay used to detect the activities. Thus, there are reports of mitogenic factors designated thymocyte mitogenic factor (TMF), thymocyte-activating factor (TAF), killer helper factor (KHF), thymocyte-stimulating factor (TSF), lymphocyte mitogenic factor (LMF), and others (for review, see Smith et al., 1979a). Because different lymphoid sites from different species (e.g., human, mouse, rat, and guinea pig) were utilized as cellular targets for assays by investigators, it is difficult to ascertain whether an activity described by one group of investigators is similar or divergent from an activity described by others. Additionally, because all the assays employed mixed populations of target cells, it was never clear whether the activity detected was due to the presence of LAF or to a separate mitogenic factor of T-cell origin.

With the discovery that one can select and maintain the continuous proliferation of T cells (Morgan *et al.*, 1976; Ruscetti *et al.*, 1977), it was possible to construct a specific, quantitative assay for the mitogenic factor responsible for T-cell growth (Gillis, *et al.*, 1978b). Thus, for the first time experiments clearly demonstrated the existence of an activity separable from LAF that functioned as a mitogen for T cells (Smith *et al.*, 1979a). As a result of these observations, at the Second International Lymphokine Workshop, which was held at Ermatingen, Switzerland in May, 1979, a group of investigators unofficially agreed to use common terms for putative macrophage-derived mitogenic factors and lymphocyte-derived mitogenic factors. The aims of this group of scientists were to list the known criteria of these two groups of factors so that investigators could establish to which group a particular activity belonged, and to provide for a common nomenclature to facilitate communication. A term with no meaning in the English language was purposely chosen so that there would be no confusion with existing terms. Interleukin 1 was chosen for macrophagederived mitogenic factors, and interleukin 2 was chosen for putative lymphocyte-derived mitogenic factors. It should be understood that the terms interleukin 1 and interleukin 2 designate many possible hormone-like factors. These terms should not be misconstrued as names for a particular entity, but rather as classes of biologically active molecules, a viewpoint stressed by Watson and Mochizuki (1980).

Because it can be ascribed to a single protein on the basis of size and charge, and because it can be defined by a specific activity (i.e., the maintenance of continuous T-cell proliferation), TCGF appears to be the first entity that deserves a separate designation within the interleukin 2 class. The name T-cell growth factor necessarily implies both the cellular specificity and the only known function for this moiety. It is hoped that future studies will delineate other "factors" as single proteins with similar target cell specificities, so that we may continue to dissect the interleukins and elucidate their functional importance for the immune response. In retrospect it is impossible to decide whether the biological properties of mitogenic factors described prior to the development of the TCGF assay were due to TCGF, or to other T-cell and macrophage-derived mitogenic factors, since reported biochemical characteristics of the activities are either nonexistent or too scanty to make meaningful comparisons. For these reasons, this review will concentrate on the biological and biochemical characteristics of the activity that is readily detectable in the TCGF assay and is responsible for the maintenance of continuous T-cell growth.

B. THE TCGF ASSAY

The TCGF assay is simply a lymphocyte proliferation assay whereby the TCGF-dependent proliferation of cloned cytolytic T cells is monitored by [3 H]Tdr incorporation. There are three important characteristics of this assay that distinguish it from traditional assays of lectin- or antigen-initiated lymphocyte proliferation: (a) the target cells are cloned cytolytic T cells; (b) [3 H]Tdr incorporation is quantified after only 24 hours of culture; and (c) the sample to be assayed for TCGF activity is added to the culture in \log_{2} dilutions.

The use of cloned cytolytic T-lymphocyte lines (CTLL) as the target cells for the assay is an absolute requirement for the unambiguous interpretation of results. Detailed studies have shown that TCGF is the sole proliferative stimulus for CTLL: TCGF-dependent CTLL do not proliferate in response to lectin, antigen, or LAF in the absence of other cells; TCGF purified by molecular gel chromatography and

150

isoelectric focusing, which migrates as a single molecular entity on sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE), mediates the proliferation of TCGF-dependent CTLL (Meir and Gallo, 1980; Smith *et al.*, 1980a; Robb and Smith, 1981). The addition of lectin or LAF to highly purified TCGF does not enhance its effect. Therefore, when TCGF-containing conditioned media are assayed using these target cells, one can be confident that any proliferative effect that occurs is due to TCGF. This is not true if other lymphoid cell populations are utilized as target cells, since the presence of antigen, lectin, and/or LAF in the conditioned media may stimulate the *in situ* production of TCGF from potential TCGF-producer cells present in the target cell population.

Since the target cells are harvested from TCGF-dependent growth prior to assay, all the cells are in the replicative cell cycle. Thus, when CTLL are placed into culture with limiting concentrations of TCGF, one measures their continued TCGF-dependent proliferation. In the absence of TCGF, cells cease to proliferate and lyse within 12-18 hours. If the [³H]Tdr pulse is delayed until after 20 hours, cells cultured in the absence of TCGF incorporate minimal amounts of [³H]Tdr (usually less than 100 cpm), whereas, if TCGF is present in excess, the cells proliferate over 24 hours and incorporate large amounts of [3H]Tdr (usually 15,000-20,000 cpm). The obvious advantages of such an assay are that only 1 day is required for completion, and there is a marked difference between maximum and minimum TCGF effect. In contrast to murine CTLL, murine helper T-cell clones (Schreier et al., 1980) and human T-cell lines (Ruscetti et al., 1980) still incorporate appreciable amounts of [3H]Tdr after 24 hours of culture in the absence of TCGF, and the assay must be extended for 48–72 hours.

The magnitude of continued CTLL proliferation is dependent upon the concentration of TCGF present in the assay sample. Thus, the dose response curve for TCGF-stimulated CTLL [³H]Tdr incorporation is symmetrically sigmoid when the response is plotted against the logarithm of the TCGF dose (Smith, 1980b). Because the [³H]Tdr incorporation of CTLL is dependent upon the concentration of TCGF, it is possible to compare one sample with another. A representative assay is depicted in Fig. 4A. It is obvious from this plot that the sample depicted by the open symbols contains more TCGF activity than the sample depicted by the filled symbols: the former could be diluted 1:512 before losing activity whereas the latter lost activity at a dilution of 1:64. The sigmoid shape of the dose-response curve indicates a Poisson distribution pattern, and thus the data are best quantified using probit analysis, which is commonly employed to quantify interferon (Jordon, 1972). The transformation of the data for probit analysis is accomplished by assigning a value of 100% to the counts per minute of [3 H]Tdr incorporated at the highest dose of TCGF. All other data points are then calculated as a percentage of the maximum. Data points that fall within two standard deviations about the mean (50% point) then fall upon a straight line. The data from the two TCGF samples depicted in Fig. 4A have been plotted by probit analysis as shown in Fig. 4B. The TCGF activity is quantified by noting the X axis intercept where the Y axis is at 50% of the maximum. Thus, the *titer* of TCGF in the sample depicted by the open symbols is 1:93, whereas for the other sample the titer is 1:16. Thus the TCGF concentration is



FIG. 4. T-cell growth factor (TCGF) assay. (A) Cytolytic T-lymphocyte lines (CTLL) [³H]Tdr incorporation as a function of the TCGF sample dilution. (B) Probit analysis. [From Smith (1980b).]

5.6-fold greater in one sample compared to the other. For ease of discussion one can arbitrarily define a unit of TCGF activity. In our laboratory we have defined a unit as the quantity of TCGF that has a 50% titer of 1:10. To standardize the results derived from successive assays, it is convenient to employ a laboratory standard that contains 1 unit of TCGF activity per milliliter. Thus, when unknown samples are quantified by comparison to the standard, any variations from one assay to another will be canceled. In practice, we have found the assay to be remarkably reproducible: the reciprocal titer of our laboratory standard in 120 successive assays was 10 ± 0.5 (mean \pm SEM).

If performed as described, the assay is specific for TCGF, rapid, quantitative, and reproducible. Because the assay requires very few CTLL cells (4×10^3 cells/well), it is possible to assay several hundred samples on a daily basis with relative ease. The quantitative aspects of the assay cannot receive enough emphasis; the lack of quantitative assays for other lymphokines has greatly impeded progress directed toward the definition of the biological and biochemical characteristics of the active moieties under study.

C. TCGF PRODUCTION: THE CELLULAR ORIGIN OF TCGF

Mature T cells are required for TCGF production: although freshly isolated cells do not appear to contain intracellular TCGF, nor do they release TCGF spontaneously, various T-cell stimuli including lectins (e.g., PHA, Con A, and pokeweed mitogen) and antigens (alloantigens, tumor antigens, soluble proteins) induce the release of TCGF, provided mature thymic-derived cells are present. Thymocytes release only 1–2% of TCGF as compared to splenocytes or cortisol-resistant thymocytes, and lymphoid cells from athymic nude mice do not release detectable TCGF activity upon lectin stimulation (Gillis *et al.*, 1978b, 1979).

Through the use of anti-Lyt sera, it has been shown that the phenotype of the murine T-cell required for TCGF production is Lyt1⁺2⁻3⁻: lysis of splenocytes with anti-Lyt1⁺ sera completely abrogates TCGF production whereas lysis with anti-Lyt2⁺ sera has no effect (Wagner and Rollinghoff, 1978). These data suggest that the classic T-helper cell, which functions to promote the generation of antibody-forming cells, is the source of TCGF activity. Perhaps the most definitive demonstration of this concept are the results of Schreier *et al.*, (1980), who have shown that cloned, erythrocyte antigen-specific T-helper cell lines release TCGF in an antigen-specific and H-2 restricted fashion. Because antigen-specific TCGF release could only be induced in the presence of I-A compatible adherent cells, it cannot yet

be concluded unequivocally that normal Lyt1⁺T cells are the source of TCGF. It also remains to be determined whether all Lyt1⁺T cells are capable of cooperating with adherent cells to promote TCGF elaboration or whether this is a function of only a fraction of Lyt1⁺ cells. It is established, however, that Lyt1⁻2⁺3⁺ cells do not release TCGF by protocols employing histocompatible adherent cells and either specific antigen or lectin (Schreier *et al.*, 1980).

In contrast to the ambiguity of the normal cellular source of TCGF, studies with malignant cell lines strongly suggest a T-cell origin. As detailed in the section on LAF activity, cloned murine lymphoma cells that express T-cell markers release TCGF and respond to LAF by enhanced TCGF production in the same manner as normal, T-cell-enriched populations (Smith *et al.*, 1980c). Others have found that murine T-lymphoma cell lines can be induced to release TCGF (Shimizu *et al.*, 1980; J. J. Farrar *et al.*, 1980; Gillis *et al.*, 1980a), while others (Schrader *et al.*, 1980; Harwell *et al.*, 1980; Pfizenmaier *et al.*, 1980) have reported that T-cell hybrid cell lines release TCGF upon lectin stimulation. In contrast to these positive findings with T-cell lines, cell lines with B-cell or macrophage characteristics have not been found to release TCGF activity (Gillis *et al.*, 1980a).

Three signals are involved in the elicitation of TCGF release from TCGF producer cells: lectin or antigen cell membrane binding, Ir gene products, and LAF (Smith et al., 1980b; Smith, 1980a; Schreier et al., 1980). The relative importance of these signals and their sequence of application to the T cell have yet to be delineated. Future experiments, which employ cloned T cells, defined culture medium, and purified antigens and lymphokines, will doubtless provide the answers. These experiments will be important, not only because they will provide for our understanding of the process of T-cell activation, but also because such an understanding will yield insight into possible defects of TCGF production that may have clinical relevance. Similarly, studies of the molecular mechanisms of TCGF production are necessary to understand the limits of TCGF-driven T-cell clonal expansion. Results to date suggest that after activation of both murine (Wagner and Rollinghoff, 1978) and human (Ruscetti et al., 1980) T cells, transcription and translation precede the appearance of TCGF in the culture medium. The kinetics of TCGF appearance are consistent with these data: TCGF first appears in measurable quantities within 4-6 hours after stimulation, and peak levels are attained after 12-24 hours (Gillis et al., 1978b). By analogy to other polypeptide hormone systems, one might anticipate any one of a number of sequences involved in the synthesis and release of TCGF.

154

D. BIOCHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF TCGF

The biochemical characteristics of human, rat, and mouse TCGF have been reported. Of the three, TCGF of human origin has been the most extensively characterized and therefore will serve as the focus for discussion. TCGF derived from lectin and alloantigen-stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells and tonsilar cells elutes from molecular gel chromatography in a position corresponding to that of a globular protein of 15,000–20,000 molecular weight (Gillis et al., 1980b; Meir and Gallo, 1980; Robb and Smith, 1981). When active material isolated by gel filtration was subjected to isoelectric focusing, initial reports suggested that the active material was heterogeneous with respect to charge. Meir and Gallo (1980) found that the activity focused diffusely between pH 5.0 and 7.5 with the peak at pH 6.8 when a gradient of pH 3.0 to 10.0 was applied to a 5 to 60% glycerol density gradient as support. Similarly, we found the activity to focus diffusely with the peak activity centered at pH 6.0-6.5 using a linear pH gradient ranging from pH 3.0 to 10 and a flat-bed apparatus with Sephadex G-75 as support (Gillis et al., 1980b). Subsequently, we found that TCGF derived from human tonsils focused in three major discrete peaks when applied to polyacrylamide gels and subjected to a narrower pH gradient (Fig. 5A) (Robb and Smith, 1981). The approximate pI values obtained from several experiments were 8.2 (peak a), 7.9 (peak b), and 7.6 (peak c). Similar results were obtained with a 10-fold greater sample size using a flat-bed apparatus and Sephadex G-75 as support; in both cases total recovery ranged from 40% to 70%. Essentially, the same profile was obtained with material focused in gels containing 4 M or 6 M urea, which suggested that the peaks did not arise as a consequence of noncovalent interactions between TCGF and contaminating molecules.

Glycosylation with a variable sialic acid content was one explanation that could account for the heterogeneity of the material. To test this possibility, tonsil-derived TCGF isolated by gel filtration was incubated with and without neuraminidase prior to IEF. As depicted in Fig. 5B, the three peaks of TCGF activity present in the untreated sample were replaced by a single peak after neuraminidase treatment. This peak consistently corresponded to the position of the high pI (8.2), peak a, of the untreated sample. Assays of TCGF following enzyme treatment revealed no detectable loss of activity, thus suggesting that the material had actually shifted to a single, higher pI value after removal of negatively charged N-acetylneuraminic acid. This was confirmed by isolation of peaks b and c, treatment with neuraminidase, and reelectrophoresis (Robb and Smith, 1981).



FIG. 5. T-cell growth factor (TCGF) activity isolated from isoelectric focusing gels (Pharmolyte pH 6.5-9.0). (A) Sephadex G-100 pool of human tonsil-derived TCGF (4000 units of TCGF loaded). (B) Sephadex G-100 pool of human tonsil-derived TCGF after incubation with neuraminidase (120 units of TCGF loaded). [From Robb and Smith (1981).]

The heterogeneity of TCGF derived from normal tonsil cells was also demonstrable on SDS-PAGE. As shown in Fig. 6A, TCGF activity isolated by gel chromatography separated into two peaks after SDS-PAGE with nominal molecular weights of 16,000 and 14,500. Essentially the same results were obtained with and without 2-mercaptoethanol in the sample buffer. This apparent heterogeneity in molecular size also appeared to be related to variable glycosylation and sialylation, since incubation with glycosidases and neuraminidase converted all the activity to a single peak (Fig. 6B).

In contrast to the heterogeneity of TCGF derived from normal human cells on IEF and SDS-PAGE, TCGF derived from a human T-leukemia cell line (JURKAT) (Kaplan *et al.*, 1976) focused as a single discrete peak corresponding to the pI of the asialo-form of tonsilderived TCGF (pI 8.2) (Robb and Smith, 1981). Also, on SDS-PAGE



FIG. 6. Sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of human tonsil-derived TCGF. (A) Sephadex G-100 pool. (B) Sephadex G-100 pool after incubation with a mixture of glycosidases and neuraminidase (*Diplococcus pneumoniae*). The arrows indicate the position of the tracking dye. [From Robb and Smith (1981).]

the JURKAT-derived TCGF migrated as a single protein with a nominal molecular size corresponding to asialo tonsil-derived TCGF (M_r 14,600). Treatment with neuraminidase and glycosidases did not alter its apparent pI or size. The results obtained with the tonsil and JURKAT-derived material are consistent with a single but variably glycosylated and sialylated protein entity as the moiety responsible for TCGF activity. While minor differences in size or amino acid sequence, particularly in neutral residues, could have gone undetected, these results are the first indication that a single protein is responsible for T-cell growth.

The observation that TCGF derived from normal cells exists in both sialylated and asialo forms may be of physiological and pharmacological importance. The rapid removal of circulating desialylated glycoproteins is well documented (Neufeld and Ashwell, 1979), and is mediated by a carbohydrate recognition system present only in hepatocytes. The initial step in clearance involves specific binding to a plasma membrane receptor that recognizes glycoproteins having terminal galactose or glucose residues on their oligosaccharide chains. Since desialylated TCGF bound to Ricinus communis agglutinin I affinity columns and could be specifically eluted with galactose (Robb and Smith, 1981), it appears that desialylated TCGF could be susceptible to rapid, physiological, hepatic clearance. Thus, like erythropoietin, one might anticipate that desialvlated TCGF might have in vitro biological activity but no in vivo biological activity (Goldwasser et al., 1974). From the potential immunotherapeutic standpoint, the removal of all of the carbohydrate component may improve the in vivo half-life of the molecule (as has been demonstrated for interferon) (Bose and Hickman, 1977), and thus prolong biological activity, since the carbohydrate component does not appear to be required for the mediation of T-cell proliferation. In this regard, JURKAT-derived TCGF, which can be produced in large quantities and is homogeneous in size and charge, may be especially useful. Additionally, looking toward the future, TCGF derived from recombinant DNA techniques (which would be nonglycosylated), should be active in vivo if the carbohydrate component only functions to provide for a hepatic clearance mechanism rather than a T-cell growth effect.

Rat- and murine-derived TCGF, although not as extensively characterized as the human material, demonstrate some parallels but also some differences from human TCGF. Rat-derived TCGF elutes from gel filtration with a nominal molecular size of $15,000-20,000 M_r$ whereas murine TCGF elutes in a position corresponding to a globular protein of 30,000-35,000 M_r (Watson et al., 1979; Gillis et al., 1980b). On ion exchange chromatography, rat and murine TCGF, like human TCGF, appear heterogeneous: rat-derived material elutes in a fashion similar to human TCGF with 0.05 M phosphate buffer, whereas murine TCGF requires 0.1-0.2 M salt for elution, and both elute in a relatively broad peak. Additionally, we found murine TCGF to be heterodisperse on isoelectric focusing with two peaks of activity centered at pH 4.3 and 4.9, while rat-derived TCGF focused in one diffuse peak centered at pH 5.5 utilizing a broad linear pH gradient (Watson et al., 1979; Gillis et al., 1980b). Using a narrower pH gradient, however, McKenzie and Culp (1981) found rat-derived TCGF to focus in two distinct peaks at pH 5.7 and 6.1. Thus it appears that, like human TCGF, murine- and rat-derived TCGF may be variably sialylated, which could account for the multiple peaks of activity that focus in the acidic pH range.

Physicochemical characterization of human TCGF has revealed that treatment with DNase or RNase had a negligible effect on activity, whereas trypsin abolished all activity (Meir and Gallo, 1980). Since human LAF is insensitive to trypsin degradation, this may be one criterion to identify LAF in conditioned media that may also contain TCGF. Additionally, human LAF focuses at a considerably lower pH (6.5–7.0) than does human TCGF even though both activities coelute on gel filtration. Treatment of human TCGF with the serine-specific protease inhibitor phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride or with sulfhydryl alkylator *N*-ethylmaleimide had no effect on the biological activity, suggesting that the mechanism of TCGF action does not involve proteolysis or a strategically located cysteine (Meir and Gallo, 1980).

E. FUNCTIONAL CHARACTERISTICS OF TCGF

TCGF functions to provide the stimulus necessary for T-cell proliferation, while an initial signal supplied by lectin/antigen-cell membrane binding is obligatory for the activation of T cells to a TCGFresponsive state. As is the case for the activation of TCGF-producer cells. MHC gene influences and LAF may also be involved in the activation of TCGF-responder cells; however, definitive data in support of their involvement in the activation process has not yet been presented. It is clear, on the other hand, that, once the activation signals have been received, lectin/antigen and LAF are no longer necessary, and TCGF responsive cells will proliferate indefinitely solely in the presence of asialo TCGF that migrates as a single moiety after SDS-PAGE (Robb and Smith, 1981). Since this TCGF preparation was devoid of detectable LAF and lectin, and since the addition of LAF or lectin do not enhance its growth-promoting effect, these data are consistent with the concept that TCGF provides the mitogenic stimulus to the cell rather than antigen or lectin. It follows that antigens or lectins are mitogenic for T cells because they cause T-cells both to release and to become responsive to the T-cell-specific mitogen, TCGF.

The acquisition of the TCGF-responsive state appears to be mediated by the appearance of TCGF-specific membrane binding sites on appropriately activated cells (Smith *et al.*, 1979b; Coutinho *et al.*, 1979; Bonnard *et al.*, 1979). Freshly isolated T cells will neither bind nor proliferate in response to TCGF, whereas T cells that have had prior exposure to antigen or lectin will absorb TCGF and proliferate, apparently indefinitely, as long as TCGF is present. Because activated T cells absorb TCGF in a time-, temperature-, and cell concentrationdependent manner, the depletion of TCGF by proliferating T cells accounts for the finite nature of short-term, lectin/antigen-initiated T-cell proliferation, and for the apparent infinite proliferative capacity of T-cell lines when they are supplemented with TCGF. It follows that once T cells become activated, the initial cells and all the subsequent daughter cells continue to express TCGF-specific responsivity. In fact, this unique feature of T-cells allowed for the creation of continuous long-term T-cell lines.

Responsiveness to TCGF appears to be a functional change that is specific for cells of the T-cell lineage. Small resting B cells, B-cell blasts, fibroblasts, and fibrosarcomas do not absorb TCGF, nor is there any discernible effect of TCGF on these cell populations (Smith *et al.*, 1979b). If a mixed population of cells are placed into culture in the presence of antigen/lectin and TCGF, only T-cell growth results (Morgan *et al.*, 1976; Ruscetti *et al.*, 1977). Thus, the appearance of TCGF binding sites on T cells, but not on cells of other lineages, determines the mitogenic specificity of T-cell lectins such as Con A or PHA: although B cells and macrophages bind these lectins, only T cells proliferate, since only T cells become responsive to TCGF.

Cells responsive to TCGF have been found among both mature thymic-derived T-cell and immature T-cell populations. These observations have necessitated a redefinition of the concepts of T-cell maturity and immunocompetence. For example, Wagner et al. (1979) showed that the majority of cortical, immature thymocytes, as detected by Lyt1⁺2⁺3⁺ surface antigens and receptors for peanut agglutinin, proliferated in response to TCGF and differentiated into both alloantigen-specific and H-2 restricted cytolytic effector cells. Additionally, we have found that lymphoid cells from athymic nude mice proliferate in response to TCGF in the presence of lectin and are also capable of differentiating into alloantigen-specific cytolytic T cells provided TCGF is supplied exogenously along with alloantigen (Gillis et al., 1979). Although athymic mice appear to have fewer precursor cells than do normal mice (Hönig and Bevan, 1980), these results suggest that, although the thymus appears to be required for the maturation of potential TCGF producer cells, TCGF-responder precursor cells may mature independently of the thymus. Formally, the definitions of maturity and immunocompetence relied upon the demonstration, either in vitro or in vivo, of a proliferative response to antigen followed by differentiation to a measurable effector function. Thus, because antigen-initiated proliferation is obligatory prior to immunocyte differentiation, cell populations may have been defined as immunoincompetent and immature, not because they necessarily lacked the capability of a proliferative response, but rather because they could have lacked the components required to elaborate TCGF, the actual mediator of the proliferative response (Smith, 1981).

T cells from all three functional T-cell subsets (i.e., cytolytic, helper, and suppressor) have now been shown to be capable of proliferating in

160

response to TCGF (Baker et al., 1979; Schreier et al., 1980; Fresno et al., 1980; MacDonald et al., 1980). Of these three classes, only helper T cells have been found to both produce and respond to TCGF (Schreier et al., 1980). Since TCGF is obligatory for the clonal expansion of functional T cells, the T-helper cell necessarily assumes a pivotal role in the regulation of the immune response as the only cell capable of releasing TCGF. One might anticipate, therefore, that regulatory influences that either suppress or enhance immune responses, may focus on the functional capabilities of the T-helper cell.

One final point that deserves emphasis with regard to TCGF function is the observation that T-cell proliferation is TCGF concentration-dependent. This fact should already be evident, since the concentration-dependent stimulation of CTLL proliferation is the basis for quantitation in the TCGF assay. From the practical standpoint this means that the extent of T-cell clonal expansion, and thus the saturation density of TCGF-dependent T-cell lines, is dictated by the concentration of TCGF present in the culture medium (Smith, 1980b). From the physiological standpoint, one may anticipate that the local and systemic concentration of TCGF will ultimately determine the magnitude of both the T-cell and B-cell immune reponse.

IV. The Initiation, Clonal Derivation, and Maintenance of Functional T-Cell Lines

A. GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS

The initial strategy used by ourselves (Gillis and Smith, 1977; Gillis et al., 1978a; Baker et al., 1979) and others (Nabholz et al., 1978; Rosenberg et al., 1978; Von Boehmer et al., 1979) to create functional cytolytic T-cell lines was to select for antigen-specific cells by repetitive *in vivo* sensitization followed by repetitive *in vitro* exposure to specific antigen. By such a process, the *in vivo* sensitizations expand antigen-specific clones, which are then selected for *in vitro*. By virtue of the fact that antigen nonreactive cells eventually die after a secondary or tertiary *in vitro* sensitization, one can selectively enrich for antigen-specific cells prior to initiation of long-term culture with TCGF-containing conditioned media.

As one might expect, with no prior selection for cytolytic cells, the antigen-reactive cells harvested after the *in vitro* selection period are functionally heterogeneous, as so nicely demonstrated by Glasebrook and Fitch (1980): one can detect cells with T-helper characteristics (i.e., TCGF-producer cells that release TCGF upon stimulation with specific antigen and histocompatible adherent cells) as well as cytolytic T cells. The relative frequency of functional T-cell subsets after short-term *in vitro* sensitization has yet to be determined; therefore, it is probable that selection of cells for a particular function prior to antigen-specific selection may skew the functional expression of the cells toward the desired subset.

After the cells are placed into continuous culture with TCGF, it is important to determine the saturation density of the cells. As discussed previously, this will depend upon the concentration of TCGF added to the cultures. We have found that a concentration of 1 unit/ml (i.e., a 50% TCGF titer of 1:10) will support the growth of murine T cells to a saturation density of 2 to 5×10^5 cells/ml. If the cells are allowed to deplete the medium of TCGF, irreversible damage occurs rapidly and the cells will die (Gillis *et al.*, 1978b; Kurnick *et al.*, 1979). A representative experiment depicting the TCGF-dependent growth and consumption of TCGF by CTLL is shown in Fig. 7. As the cell concentration increased over the culture period, the TCGF concentration decreased. Replacement of TCGF after saturation density occurred on day 7 resulted in a further increase in cell concentration; however, TCGF was then depleted rapidly, resulting in cell death by day 9.

We and others (Engers *et al.*, 1980) have experienced a most troublesome phenomenon after long-term culture is initiated if conditioned media that contain lectin as well as TCGF are utilized. After 3-4 weeks of culture, the cells may become refractory to the growthstimulating properties of the media, the doubling time may lengthen, and often all the cells may die. There are several possible reasons for this phenomenon, some of which may be physiological, and others may be *in vitro* artifacts. It is clear that the presence of lectin in the con-



FIG. 7. T-cell growth factor (TCGF) activity present in cultures of cytolytic T-lymphocyte lines (CTLL) as a function of cell concentration. [From Smith (1980b).]

ditioned media may become toxic to the cells. We found that PHA, Con A, and wheat germ agglutinin all exerted a concentrationdependent inhibition of TCGF activity with one-half maximal suppression occurring at approximately 1 μ g/ml. In contrast, pokeweed mitogen caused only a 20% inhibition at the highest concentration tested (a 1:10 dilution). In addition to lectin, there are other known inhibitors of T-cell proliferation present in TCGF-containing conditioned media (e.g., interferon and E prostaglandins). Therefore, by the use of crude conditioned media, the cells are necessarily exposed to growth-promoting substances and growth-inhibiting substances, and it is quite possible that eventually the negative influences overcome the positive influences.

Another possibility that has yet to be explored fully is the loss of critical cells upon passage, which may be initially present in limiting numbers. Likely candidates are macrophages, TCGF-producer cells, and possibly dendritic cells. Macrophages most probably play a dual role during prolonged culture: the removal of inhibitory substances, and the contribution of positive signals (e.g., LAF and Ia antigens). Empirically it has been determined that if T cells stop proliferating, the addition of irradiated adherent cells to the cultures will restore the growth rate of the T cells. Obviously, additional studies are necessary, utilizing cloned T-cells, defined lymphokine-free culture medium, and pure lymphokines to determine optimum growth conditions.

It is equally possible that it may be physiological for the cells to become unresponsive to the growth factor after a predetermined number of replicative cycles. "Down regulation" of TCGF receptors may occur due to continued exposure to TCGF or other polypeptide hormones, and thus the loss of TCGF receptors may be a physiological control mechanism favoring the return to the resting state after several weeks of culture. It has also been observed that cell lines often have chromosomal abnormalities after several months of culture (Engers et al., 1980). This has led some workers to speculate that T-cell lines cultured for long periods are highly selected, abnormal cells, and are not really reflective of their original progenitors. Despite these phenomena, it is clear that under the proper conditions T cells from all three functionally distinct subsets can be cultured for extended periods and clonally derived without losing their antigen-specific function present at the initiation of continuous TCGF-dependent cell growth.

B. THE CLONAL DERIVATION OF T-CELL LINES

It is obvious that cells must be truly monoclonal, or the asexual progeny of a single cell, if studies of the immunological function of such cells are to be meaningful. Sredni *et al.* (1980, 1981) have pointed out that if one attempts to clone after the initial *in vivo* and *in vitro* sensitization, the plating efficiency is low (1.5×10^{-5}) whereas if one clones after the initiation of TCGF-dependent growth, plating efficiencies approach 100%. Whether the initial low plating efficiency is a reflection of the absolute numbers of antigen-reactive cells present in the population, or whether only small numbers of cells are initially clonable, has yet to be explored.

When clones are derived from soft agar or methyl cellulose it is difficult to determine whether a colony resulted from a single cell unless the cloning procedure is repeated. If clones are derived by limiting dilution in suspension cultures, however, it is possible to predict the probability, based on Poisson statistics, of the occurrence of cofertile wells. At cell concentrations distributed at 0.3 cell/well or below, the probability that more than one cell was distributed to a well is less than 0.05 (Baker *et al.*, 1979). The most convincing characteristic of a monoclonal cell line is the demonstration that the immunological activity and specificity is identical in all subclones. We have found that monoclonal cytolytic cell lines yield remarkably similar functional activities upon subcloning (Baker *et al.*, 1979) (Fig. 8), and Schreier *et al.* (1980), as well as Sredni and Schwartz (1980), have observed similar



FIG. 8. Cytotoxicity of cytolytic T-lymphocyte lines (CTLL)-2-clone 15 and subclones against FBL-3 [Hn (▲), and P815 (●)] 6 weeks after insolation of the subclones; (A) clone 15; (B) subclone 15-1; (C) subclone 15-2; (D) subclone 15-3; (E) subclone 15-4; (F) subclone 15-5. [From Baker *et al.* (1979).]

exquisite specificity and activity of subclones derived from a single helper T-cell clone.

Alternative methods that favor the argument that a cell line is truly monoclonal can be derived experimentally by examining multiple markers in addition to immunological function. For example, one could derive two different cytolytic T-cell lines directed against different antigens in two strains of mice differing by H-2 and Thy-1 alleles. Additionally, if one cytolytic line was derived from a male and the other from a female, chromosome markers would be available. If one then mixed the cell lines prior to cloning, one could examine the clones for homogeneous expression of these multiple markers.

Although we and others have found cytolytic T-cell clones to remain remarkably stable with regard to their cytolytic specificity and efficiency for as long as a year, over prolonged culture periods both of these functions may deteriorate. Schreier *et al.* (1980) have found that the loss of immunological function and specificity may be due to the use of crude conditioned medium as a source of TCGF and to the use of fetal calf serum. When cytolytic T-cell clones were switched from such conditions to growth in serum-free, defined medium and partially purified TCGF, cytolytic specificity and efficiency returned.

C. CYTOLYTIC T-CELL LINES

There has been much interest in the *in vivo* function of cytolytic T-cell lines grown *in vitro*. In addition to the obvious goal of the potential therapeutic utility of tumor antigen-specific cytolytic T cells, the *in vivo* transfer of different functional subsets of T cells may help us to understand the relative importance of each cell type in allograft rejection. As a first step toward such experiments, Lotz *et al.* (1980) have studied the tissue distribution of radiolabeled TCGF-dependent T cells after *in vivo* transfer to mice and humans. They have reported similar results for both species: cells initially appeared to localize within the lungs (4 hours); thereafter, at 24 hours and 48 hours they were found almost exclusively in the liver and spleen. Although these investigators did not determine whether the cells were removed from the circulation and destroyed, their results will serve as a base line for future experiments of a similar nature.

We and others have examined the effect of tumor-specific cytolytic T-cell clones administered therapeutically to tumor-bearing mice. Our initial results are promising, in that cloned tumor specific cytolytic T cells administered 3 days after a lethal intravenous inoculation of Friend leukemia virus-induced leukemia cells resulted in a significant prolongation of survival or the CTLL-treated group (Smith, 1980b). Mills *et al.* (1980) have reported similar results using T-cell populations that had been generated *in vitro* by means of exogenous TCGF supplementation of mixed tumor-lymphocyte cultures. Obviously, many more experiments are necessary, but the preliminary data suggest that T cells that are cytolytic for tumor cells *in vitro* may function to retard tumor growth *in vivo*.

D. HELPER T-CELL LINES

Schreier and co-workers have extensively studied the *in vitro* and *in vivo* function of cloned T-helper cell lines. In addition to the aforementioned capacity to release TCGF, these workers have shown that T-helper cells cooperate with histocompatible adherent cells in the presence of specific antigen to cause the release of factors that enhance the generation of antibody-forming cells, the promotion of erythroid progenitor formation, and both macrophage- and granulocyte-specific colony formation (Schreier and Iscove, 1980). Although the exact cellular origin (i.e., T cell or adherent cell) of each of these factors cannot yet be assigned with certainty, it is tempting to speculate that T-helper cells are the source of this family of hematopoietic-promoting factors and that they are derived from a common precursor.

With regard to the mechanism of T-cell help in the generation of antibody-forming cells, Melchers, in collaboration with Schreier (1981) and others (Melchers et al., 1980), has reported the antigenspecific. H-2 restricted release of factors from cultures of cloned helper T cells and adherent cells that stimulate B cells to replicate and mature to immunoglobulin secretion. They have observed different effects on small resting B cells and B-cell blasts. When added to B-cell blasts, the factors act as B-cell mitogens, stimulating activated B cells to proliferate in the absence of specific antigen and irrespective of the H-2 haplotype of the B cells. Small resting B cells on the other hand, are not stimulated to proliferate by the same preparations of factors, even in the presence of specific antigen. They do, however, undergo polyclonal blast transformation and maturation to secretion of IgM and IgG. Although the number of factors present in such supernatants has yet to be defined, it is possible that at least one of these activities is due to macrophage-derived LAF. Wood (1979) and others (Koopman et al., 1978; Hoffman and Watson, 1979) have shown that LAF markedly potentiates the generation of antibody-forming cells from T-depleted normal splenocytes and athymic nude mouse splenocytes. Other than a direct effect of LAF on B cells, the only alternative route for a LAF effect in such circumstances is through the activation of residual T-helper cells. In addition, it is quite possible, as suggested by Melchers *et al.* (1980), that the mitogenic effect of their supernatants for activated B-cell blasts is mediated by a specific B-cell growth factor (BCGF) that operates in a nonspecific and H-2 unrestricted fashion (as does TCGF) to initiate B-cell proliferation. If this were indeed the case, then one would predict that it may be possible to create antigenspecific, BCGF-dependent B-cell lines.

Tees and Schreier (1980) have examined the function of cloned T-helper cell lines after *in vivo* transfer. They have shown that T-helper cells, if injected along with specific antigen into nude mice, persist for as long as 3 months. Of interest is the fact that T-helper cells recovered from such specifically reconstituted nude mice stimulated the generation of even greater numbers of antibody-forming cells than expected in a primary response of normal mice, suggesting that normally active suppressive mechanisms may be absent from nude mice. Additionally, a switch from IgM to IgG secretion was not observed in the clonally reconstituted mice. Thus, this experimental model may be useful for studying the function and regulation of specific helper T cells, especially to discriminate between useful and misleading *in vitro* phenomena.

Clones of T-helper cells have also recently been found to mediate delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) when injected into histocompatible hosts along with specific antigen (Bianchi *et al.*, 1981). Of interest was the fact that DTH responses of the same kinetics and magnitude were observed when cloned T-helper cells were inoculated into athymic mice and normal mice, thus indicating that host T cells were not essential for the response and that the cloned T-helper cells were the DTH-effector cells. Histologically, the DTH response mediated by cloned helper T cells in athymic and normal mice was indistinguishable from other Jones-Mote-type DTH responses. Because the nature of the cellular infiltration strongly suggested the release of chemotactic factors, it appears that cloned helper T cells may be responsible for the elicitation of these moieties as well.

Sredni and Schwartz (1980) have reported convincing data suggesting that a single T-helper clone is capable of responding to two separate stimuli, a specific alloantigen and a soluble antigen in conjunction with self-MHC products. Thus, these data support the hypothesis (Janeway *et al.*, 1980) that T cells bear at least two types of antigen receptors—one for allogeneic MHC antigens, and one for nominal antigen. Obviously, further studies of the antigen receptors of T-cell clones at the molecular level should provide the highly sought after information on the nature of the T-cell antigen receptor and the nature of the signals required to activate T cells.
E. SUPPRESSOR T-CELL LINES

Data regarding TCGF-dependent suppressor T-cell lines are preliminary, however; Fresno et al. (1980) reported that they had generated a sheep erythrocyte-specific suppressor T-cell line. Antigenactivated Lyt1-2+3+ cells were selected by fluorescence-activated cell sorting prior to initiation of TCGF-dependent growth. After clonal selection a cell line was identified that exerted antigen-specific suppression of the generation of antibody-forming cells. Through internal cellular radiolabeling procedures, it was found that the cells released a 70.000 M. polypeptide that dissociated upon proteolysis into two major polypeptides of 45,000 and 24,000 Mr. The 70,000 polypeptide specifically bound to sheep erythrocyte glycophorin and suppressed the effect of antigen-specific T-helper cells when added to cultures in nanogram amounts. These data indicate, therefore, that suppressor T cells, like cytolytic and helper T cells, have the capability of proliferating in response to TCGF and thus should serve as fertile reagents for the elucidation of the molecular mechanism of T-cell suppression.

F. NEOPLASTIC T CELLS AND TCGF

Once the striking TCGF dependency of functional T-cell lines derived from normal tissues was appreciated, malignant lymphoid cell lines were investigated for evidence of TCGF dependency. We have examined over 50 human leukemia and lymphoma cell lines (15 terminal deoxyribonucleotidyltransferase-positive T-cell, 20 B-cell, 8 non-T-non-B-cell, and 8 non-lymphoid myeloid-macrophage) for constitutive TCGF production and found all to be negative for detectable TCGF release (Ruscetti et al., 1981). Similar results were reported upon testing murine cell lines of lymphocytic and macrophage origin (Gillis et al., 1980a). Furthermore, we have found no evidence for TCGF absorption by established human malignant cell lines using protocols that easily detect TCGF absorption by TCGF-dependent T-cell lines derived from normal tissue. Finally, we have been unable to detect any effects by supplementing malignant T-cell lines with lectin-free, partially purified TCGF. Taken together, these results indicate that TCCF plays no role in the proliferation of established cell lines derived from neoplastic tissue. Rather, these data suggest that the existing cell lines that we have examined were established owing to the selection of cells that either do not require TCGF or depend upon some other growth factor for which we have no means of detection. In contrast to these results, a lymphoid cell line that expresses T-cell markers derived from a lymphoma of a gibbon ape was recently found to release TCGF spontaneously (Rabin *et al.*, 1918). The TCGF activity released by this cell line supports the growth of human, monkey, and murine TCGF-dependent T-cell lines. Further studies are necessary to ascertain whether this cell line replicates in response to its own growth factor; however, it is of interest that this cell line appears to be unique with regard to TCGF release.

Although the exploration of a possible TCGF-dependency of human T-cell leukemias and lymphomas has just begun, the initial findings are interesting. TCGF-dependent T-cell lines have been established from 12 of 14 patients with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL), and 8 of 11 patients selected as having acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL) of T-cell origin (Poiesz et al., 1980). Several observations point toward a malignant cell origin of these cell lines. All the lines were established using lectin-free, partially purified TCGF that was ineffective in initiating T-cell growth from lymphocytes isolated from normal volunteers in the absence of an activating signal supplied by lectin or antigen. Two cell lines originally dependent upon TCGF became independent of TCGF. These cell lines have been found to be constitutive low-level TCGF producers (Ruscetti et al., 1981). Morphologically the cell lines derived from CTCL patients are markedly different from those derived either from ALL patients or normals. The cultured CTCL cell lines contain many giant multinucleated cells in addition to mono- and binucleated cells. Ultrastructural analysis revealed the presence of highly convoluted nuclei in three of the CTCL lines, which were very similar to the cells of the primary tumors of these patients and are considered to be diagnostic for CTCL. Finally, the TCGF-dependent cells isolated from one CTCL patient had the same chromosomal aberrations that were found in freshly isolated tumor cells from this patient. Obviously, further work is necessary before concluding that TCGF plays any role in the pathogenesis of malignant lymphopoietic diseases, however, this area may provide for new therapeutic approaches to these diseases. Future studies of TCGF-specific binding sites on malignant cells, the search for spontaneous TCGF production by the cells, and the examination of in vivo TCGF levels in patients would appear to be worthwhile areas of pursuit.

V. The Functional Implications of TCGF

The ability to maintain antigen-specific functional T cells in continuous proliferative culture has provided the cellular reagents necessary for our initial studies of the hormone-like factors that were responsible for this technological advance. Thus, for the first time we have had the capacity to dissect T-cell immune responses from a functional standpoint. Only by utilizing cloned functional TCGF responsive T-cell lines, defined media, and highly purified TCGF and LAF preparations, was it possible to understand the critical roles played by LAF and TCGF in the T-cell immune response. The key to the significance of the LAF-TCGF amplification system for the ultimate realization of clonally expanded T-effector cells rests with the fact that these soluble factors act in series to provide a hormone-like concentrationdependent expansion of antigen-reactive T cells. The LAF effect on TCGF production, although not obligatory for the release of TCGF, greatly expands its cellular output. TCGF, in contrast, appears to be essential for T-cell mitosis: in situations where TCGF production does not occur (for example as is the case with the athymic mouse), there results a total absence of a competent T-cell immune response. The fact that the effects of both LAF and TCGF are concentrationdependent indicates that minor alterations in LAF production or action could have profound effects on TCGF production. It follows that physiological regulatory control mechanisms would have the most dramatic effects on the immune response if their influences were mediated at the levels of production and action of these essential hormones.

Since it is now possible to dissect the T-cell proliferative response into four functionally distinct components (i.e., LAF production, LAF action, TCGF production, and TCGF action), and since we can now assay each of these functions separately, for the first time we can begin to explore the site and mode of action of physiological, pharmacological, and pathological effects on T-cell proliferation. Our own initial efforts in this regard have centered on the mechanism of action of glucocorticoid hormones, since glucocorticoids are known to suppress profoundly ligand-initiated T-cell proliferation in vitro (Nowell, 1961) and are immunosuppressive when administered in pharmacologic doses in vivo. Through a series of experiments we found that the inhibitory effect of glucocorticoids on T-cell proliferation was primarily mediated by a glucocorticoid-specific, concentration-dependent suppression of TCGF production. The mechanism whereby glucocorticoids mediate the suppression of TCGF is twofold: an inhibition of LAF production, and an inhibition of LAF activity (Smith, 1980a). Thus glucocorticoids exert a concentration-dependent inhibition of LAF release and simultaneously suppress the TCGF-producer cell response to LAF, resulting in a complete abrogation of TCGF release. From a functional stand point, therefore, glucocorticoids produce the same

170

defect afflicting the athymic mouse—an inability to respond to antigenic stimuli by the elaboration of TCGF.

Because glucocorticoids are physiological hormones, these data suggest that there may be an intimate functional interaction between the classical endocrine system and the lymphocytotrophic hormones. Thus, our concepts of immunocyte regulation, once thought to be intricately controlled by a self-contained network of immunocyte products, necessarily must now be viewed as part of a broader neuroendocrine-immunocyte interaction. A corollary of this concept is that physiological, pharmacological, and pathological agents may modulate the immune response at any one of several points in the endocrine-lymphocyte hormone system, resulting in either immunosuppression or immunoenhancement. An example is the effect that bacterial products may have in augmenting both macrophage and lymphocyte function. Lipopolysaccharide is one of the most potent agents known to induce LAF release. It is guite possible that the well-known adjuvant effects of LPS may be mediated, at least in part, by LAF-facilitated TCGF release. Since the clonal expansion of both T-helper cells and T-cytolytic cells is TCGF-concentration-dependent. the ultimate effect of LPS would be the LPS-LAF-TCGF-dependent promotion of both the humoral and cellular immune response.

Because LAF and TCGF both appear to interact with their target cells by means of specific membrane binding sites, it can be anticipated that alterations of the active sites of these hormone-like factors. or their receptors, may lead to alterations in immunocyte function. Larsson (1980) has already provided some insight into the mechanism of action of one immunosuppressive drug (cyclosporin A), which appears to impede T-cell proliferation by interfering with the appearance of TCGF receptors on antigen-activated T cells. By analogy to other polypeptide hormone systems, we may expect to discover LAF-TCGF receptor agonists and antagonists that not only may be of therapeutic importance, but also may underlie clinical symptomatology manifested by either hyperimmune reactivity or immunodeficiency. Such examples already exist in the neuroendocrinological field; agonistic autoantibodies to the thyrotropic hormone receptor may underlie the etiology of hyperthyroidism, and antagonistic autoantibodies to the acetylcholine receptor appear to be responsible for myasthenia gravis.

Studies designed to explore the potential therapeutic utility of LAF and TCGF are embryonic at this time; however, recent experiments offer the promise that TCGF replacement therapy may be beneficial for immunodeficiency disease states manifested by defective TCGF production. Wagner *et al.* (1980) have shown that TCGF administration to athymic nude mice along with alloantigen results in the appearance of alloantigen-specific cytolytic T cells. Similarly, Kindred and Corley (1977) found that treatment of athymic mice with Con A-conditioned media led to the appearance of alloantibody, provided the mice were also immunized with alloantigen. Although it is impossible to ascertain whether these results were due to an effect of TCGF, a report by Stotter *et al.* (1980) suggests that TCGF administration to athymic mice leads to the generation of antigen-specific T-helper cells. Obviously, many more experiments are necessary, and before results can be attributed to a TCGF effect, homogeneous TCGF uncontaminated by other proteins must be administered. At this time, however, it is encouraging that positive results have been obtained in the initial experiments.

VI. Conclusion

The ability to maintain cloned functional T cells in continuous proliferative culture, combined with the ability to assay separately at least two of the hormone-like lymphokines that allowed for this technological advance, has provided us for the first time with the capacity to dissect T-cell immune responses from a functional standpoint. The accumulated experimental data indicate that a T-cell proliferative response to antigen/lectin is actually mediated by a soluble protein termed T-cell growth factor (TCGF). The realization that lectins or antigens are mitogenic for T cells because they cause both the release and the acquisition of responsiveness to TCGF has thus opened many new approaches to the study of the regulation of T cells. Detailed studies have indicated that the production of TCGF is augmented by macrophage-derived lymphocyte-activating factor (LAF). Since the effects of LAF are concentration dependent, and since T-cell clonal expansion is TCGF concentration dependent, the magnitude of the resultant T-cell immune response is necessarily dictated by the available quantities of these lymphokines. The implications of these findings are that minor alterations in the production or action of LAF and TCGF may result in major changes in T-cell proliferation that may have physiological and pathological relevance. Thus, through the use of cloned populations of functional T cells, future studies directed toward the molecular mechanisms of T-cell function and lymphocytotrophic hormone action should assure a more complete understanding of the T-cell immune response.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

Supported by National Cancer Institute Grants CA-17643, and CA-23108; and National Cancer Institute Contract NO1-CB-74141.

REFERENCES

- Bach, F. H., Alter, B. J., Solliday, S., Zoschke, D. C., and Janis, M. (1970). Cell. Immunol. 1, 219.
- Baker, P. E., Gillis, S., and Smith, K. A. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 149, 273.
- Bianchi, A. T. J., Hooijkaas, H., Benner, R., Tees, R., Nordin, A. A., and Schreier, M. H. (1981). Nature (London) 290, 62.
- Blyden G., and Handschumacher, R. E. (1977). J. Immunol. 118, 1631.
- Bonnard, G. D., Yasaka, K., and Jacobson, D. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2704.
- Bose, S., and Hickman, J. (1977). J. Biol. Chem. 252, 8336.
- Calderon, J., Kiely, J. M., Lefko, J. L., and Unanue, E. R. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 142, 151.
- Coutinho, A., Larsson, E. L., Gronvik, K. O., and Andersson, J. (1979). Eur. J. Immunol. 9, 587.
- Economou, J. S., and Shin, H. S. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1446.
- Engers, H. D., Callavo, D., North, M., Von Boehmer, H., Haas, W., Hengartner, H., and Nabholz, M. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1481.
- Farrar, J. J., Fuller-Farrar, J., Simon, P. L., Hilfiker, M. L., Stadler, B. M., and Farrar, W. L. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 2555.
- Farrar, W. L., Mizel, S. B., and Farrar, J. J. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1371.
- Fresno, M., Nabel, J., McVay-Boudreau, L., and Cantor, H. (1980). Proc. Int. Immunol. Congr., 4th, 5.4.02 (Abstr.).
- Gery, I., and Waksman, B. H. (1972). J. Exp. Med. 136, 143.
- Gery, I., Gershon, K., and Waksman, B. H. (1972). J. Exp. Med. 136, 128.
- Gillis, S., and Smith, K. A. (1977). Nature (London) 268, 154.
- Gillis, S., Baker, P. E., Ruscetti, F. W., and Smith, K. A. (1978a). J. Exp. Med. 148, 1093.
- Gillis, S., Ferm, M., Ou, W., and Smith, K. A. (1978b). J. Immunol. 120, 2027.
- Gillis, S., Union, N. A., Baker, P. E., and Smith, K. A. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 149, 1460.
- Gillis, S., Scheid, M., and Watson, J. (1980a). J. Immunol. 125, 2570.
- Gillis, S., Smith, K. A., and Watson, J. (1980b). J. Immunol. 124, 1954.
- Glasebrook, A. L., and Fitch, F. W. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 151, 876.
- Goldwasser, E., Kung, C. K.-H., and Eliason, J. (1974). J. Biol. Chem. 249, 4202.
- Gordon, J., and MacLean, L. D. (1965). Nature (London) 208, 795.
- Gronvik, K., and Andersson, J. (1980). Immunol. Rev. 51, 35.
- Harwell, L., Skidmore, B., Marrack, P., and Kappler, J. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 152, 893.
- Hoffmann, M. K., and Watson, J. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 1371.
- Hünig, T., and Bevan, M. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 152, 688.
- Janeway, C., Jones, B., Binz, H., Frischknecht, H., and Wigzell, H. (1980). Scand. J. Immunol. 12, 83.
- Jerne, N., and Nordin, A. A. (1963). Science 140, 405.
- Jordon, G. W. (1972). J. Gen. Virol. 14, 49.
- Kaplan, J., Tilton, J., and Peterson, W. D. (1976). Am. J. Hematol. 1, 219.
- Kasakura, S., and Lowenstein, L. (1965). Nature (London) 208, 894.
- Kindred, B., and Corley, R. B. (1977). Nature (London) 268, 531.
- Koopman, W. J., Farrar, J. J., and Fuller-Bonar, J. (1978). Cell. Immunol. 35, 92.

- Kurnick, J., Gronvik, K.-O., Kimura, A., Lindblom, J., Skoog, V., Sjöberg, O., and Wigzell, H. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 1255.
- Lachman, L. B., and Metzgar, R. S. (1980). J. Reticuloendothel. Soc. 27, 621.
- Lachman, L. B., Hacker, M. P., and Handschumacher, R. E. (1977a). J. Immunol. 119, 2019.
- Lachman, L. B., Hacker, M. P., Blyden, G. T., and Handschumacher, R. E. (1977b). Cell Immunol. 34, 416.
- Lachman, L. B., Moore, J. O., and Metzgar, R. S. (1978). Cell. Immunol. 41, 199.
- Larsson, E.-L. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 2828.
- Larsson, E.-L., Coutinho, A., and Martinez-A., C. (1980a). Immunol. Rev. 51, 61.
- Larsson, E.-L., Iscove, N., and Coutinho, A. (1980b). Nature (London) 283, 664.
- Lotz, M. T., Line, B. R., Mathisen, D. J., and Rosenberg, S. A. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1487.
- MacDonald, H. R., Cerottini, J.-C., Ryser, J.-E., Maryanski, J. L., Taswell, C., Widmer, M. B., and Brunner, K. T. (1980). Immunol. Rev. 51, 93.
- McKenzie, D., and Culp, W. (1981). Submitted.
- Meir, J. W., and Gallo, R. C. (1980). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 77, 6134.
- Melchers, F., Andersson, J., Lernhardt, W., and Schreier, M. H. (1980). Eur. J. Immunol. 10, 679.
- Mills, G. B., Carlson, G., and Paetkau, V. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1904.
- Mizel, S. B. (1980). Mol. Immunol. 17, 571.
- Mizel, S. B., Oppenheim, J. J., and Rosenstreich, D. L. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 1504.
- Moore, R. N., Oppenheim, J. J., Farrar, J. J., Carter, C. S., Jr., Waheed, A., and Shadduck, R. K. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1302.
- Morgan, D. A., Ruscetti, F. W., and Gallo, R. C. (1976). Science 193, 1007.
- Nabholz, M., Engers, H. O., Callovo, D., and North, M. (1978). Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 81, 176.
- Neufeld, E., and Ashwell, G. (1979). In "Biochemistry of Glycoproteins and Proteoglycans" (W. Lennarz, ed.), p. 241. Plenum, New York.
- Nowell, P. C. (1960). Cancer Res. 20, 462.
- Nowell, P. C. (1961). Cancer Res. 21, 1518.
- Oppenheim, J. J., Leventhal, B. G., and Hersh, E. (1968). J. Immunol. 101, 262.
- Oppenheim, J. J., Mizel, S., and Meltzer, M. S. (1979). In "Biology of the Lymphokines" (S. Cohen, E. Pick, and J. J. Oppenheim), p. 291. Academic Press, New York.
- Oppenheim, J. J., Northoff, H., Greenhill, A., Mathieson, B., Smith, K. A., and Gillis, S. (1980). In "Biochemical Characterization of Lymphokines" (A. de Weck, and M. Landy), p. 399. Academic Press, New York.
- Paetkau, V., Shaw, J., Mills, G., and Caplau, B. (1980). Immunol. Rev. 51, 157.
- Pfizenmaier, K., Rollinghoff, M., and Wagner, H. (1980). Behring Inst. Mitt. 67, 68.
- Poiesz, B. J., Ruscetti, F. W., Mier, J. W., Woods, A. M., and Gallo, R. C. (1980). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 11, 6815.
- Rabin, H., Hopkins, R., Neubauer, R., and Ruscetti, F. (1981). Submitted.
- Robb, R., and Smith, K. A. (1981). Mol. Immunol. (in press).
- Rosenberg, S. A., Schwarz, S., and Spiess, P. J. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1951.
- Rosenstreich, D. L., and Mizel, S. B. (1978). Immunol. Rev. 40, 102.
- Rosenstreich, D. L., Farrar, J. J., and Dougherty, S. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 131.
- Ruscetti, F. W., and Gallo, R. C. (1981). Blood 57, 379.
- Ruscetti, F., Meir, J., and Gallo, R. C. (1980). J. Supramol. Struct. 13, 547.
- Ruscetti, F. W., Morgan, D., and Gallo, R. C. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 131.

- Ruscetti, F., Poiesz, B., Tavella, C., and Gallo, R. C. (1981). In "Progress in Cancer Therapy" M. Moore, ed.). Raven, New York. In press.
- Schrader, J. W., Arnold, B., and Clark-Lewis, I. (1980). Nature (London) 283, 197.
- Schreier, M. H. (1981). In "Lymphokines" (E. Pick, ed.), Vol. 2, p. 31. Academic Press, New York.
- Schreier, M. H., and Iscove, N. (1980). Nature (London) 287, 228.
- Schreier, M. H., and Tees, R. (1980). Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol. 61, 227.
- Schreier, M. H., Iscove, N. N., Tees, R., Aarden, L., and von Boehmer, H. (1980). Immunol. Rev. 51, 315.
- Seeger, R., and Oppenheim, J. J. (1970). J. Exp. Med. 132, 44.
- Shaw, J., Caplan, B., Paetkau, V., Pilarski, L. M., Delovitch, T. L., and McKenzie, I. F. C. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 2231.
- Shimizu, S., Konaka, Y., and Smith, R. T. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 152, 1436.
- Smith, K. A. (1980a). Immunol. Rev. 51, 337.
- Smith, K. A. (1980b). In "Contemporary Topics in Immunobiology" (N. L. Warner, ed.), Vol. 11, p. 139. Plenum, New York.
- Smith, K. A. (1981). In "Lymphokines" (E. Pick, ed.), Vol. 2, p. 21. Academic Press, New York.
- Smith, K. A., Gillis, S., and Baker, P. E. (1979a). In "The Molecular Basis of Immune Cell Function" (J. G. Kaplan, ed.), p. 223. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Smith, K. A., Gillis, S., Baker, P. E., McKenzie, D., and Ruscetti, F. W. (1979b). Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 332, 423.
- Smith, K. A., Baker, P. E., Gillis, S., and Ruscetti, F. W. (1980a). Mol. Immunol. 17, 579.
- Smith, K. A., Lachman, L. B., Oppenheim, J. J., and Favata, M. F. (1980b). J. Exp. Med. 151, 1551.
- Smith, K. A., Gilbride, K. J., and Favata, M. F. (1980c). Nature (London) 287, 853.
- Smith, K. A., Gilbride, K. J., and Favata, M. F. (1980d). Behring Institute Mitt. 67, 4.
- Sredni, B., and Schwartz, R. H. (1980). Nature (London) 287, 855.
- Sredni, B., Tse, H., and Schwartz, R. H. (1980). Nature (London) 283, 581.
- Sredni, B., Tse, H., Chen, C., and Schwartz, R. H. (1981). J. Immunol. 126, 341.
- Stötter, H., Rüde, E., and Wagner, H. (1980). Eur. J. Immunol. 10, 719.
- Tees, R., and Schreier, M. H. (1980). Nature (London) 283, 780.
- Ulrich, F. (1977). J. Reticuloendothel. Soc. 21, 33.
- Unanue, E. R., and Kiely, J.-M. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 925.
- von Boehmer, H., Hengartner, H., Nabholz, M., Lernhardt, W., Schreier, M. H., and Haas, W. (1979). Eur. J. Immunol. 9, 592.
- Wagner, H., and Rollinghoff, M. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 148, 1523.
- Wagner, H., Rollinghoff, M., Schawaller, R., Hardt, C., and Pfizenmaier, K. (1979). Nature (London) 280, 405.
- Wagner, H., Hardt, C., Heeg, K., Rollinghoff, M., and Pfizenmaier, K. (1980). Nature (London) 284, 278.
- Watson, J., and Mochizuki, D. (1980). Immunol. Rev. 51, 257.
- Watson, J., Gillis, S., Marbrook, J., Mochizuki, D., and Smith, K. A. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 150, 849.
- Wood, D. D. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2395.
- Wood, D. D., and Cameron, P. M. (1976). Cell. Immunol. 21, 133.
- Wood, D. D., and Cameron, P. M. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 53.

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

Formation of B Lymphocytes in Fetal and Adult Life

PAUL W. KINCADE

Sloan-Kettering Institute for Cancer Research, Rye, New York

I.	Introduction	177
II.	Some Definitions	178
III.	Expression of Immunoglobulin Genes	181
IV.	Cloning Assays for Functional B Cells	185
V.	Formation of B Cells in Cell-Transfer Assays	189
VI.	Relationship between B-Lymphocyte Precursors and Other	
	Hematopoietic Lineages	192
VII.	Formation and Maturation of B Cells in Culture	199
VIII.	Microenvironments for B-Lymphocyte Formation	207
	A. In Birds	207
	B. In Mammals	209
IX.	Antigens Expressed on B-Lymphocyte Precursors	215
	A. Antigens Defined by Conventional Antibodies	215
	B. New Monoclonal Antibodies	217
	C. A Possible Sequence of Marker Acquisition	222
Х.	Functional Heterogeneity of B Lymphocytes-Specialized	
	Subpopulations	223
	A. Apparent Cell Sets	223
	B. Implications of the CBA/N (X ^{id}) Mutation	224
XI.	Important Uncertainties and Promising Sources of New Information	230
	References	235

I. Introduction

A considerable amount has been written about development of the potential to mount highly diverse antibody responses (Sigal and Klinman, 1978). This question of the generation of diversity can only grow more interesting in light of recent advances in our understanding of molecular events in antibody gene expression. It is also important, however, to consider the overall biology of cells that utilize these genes, and this review will focus on the problem of B-lymphocyte emergence in embryonic and adult life.

At the earliest time in development and in experimental situations when cells of the humoral immune system can be detected, these are infrequent with respect to surrounding nonlymphoid cells. There is probably also a cascade effect such that the least differentiated members of the series are present in the smallest numbers. In the last few years several limiting dilution (cloning) procedures have been developed that considerably facilitate the unambiguous detection of such cells. Procedures will also be discussed that may not only allow the differentiative potential of B-cell precursors to be assessed but provide some insight into the inductive signals and regulatory mechanisms involved. Of equal importance is the utilization of appropriate cell surface markers to enumerate and manipulate early B-lineage cells. Until very recently, it was considered by many that lymphoid and hematopoietic stem cells were "undifferentiated" and thus would lack distinctive markers. It is now clear that these precursors must be highly specialized and antigens recently identified by several laboratories may be useful in resolving categories and stages of differentiation.

Another subject of interest is the apparent functional heterogeneity of B lymphocytes, which suggests the possibility of specialized cell sets. That is, it has been considered likely that particular categories of B cells with similar receptors for antigen may be uniquely able to respond when the antigen is presented in different ways. Our understanding of this question is incomplete, and any conclusions should be considered speculative. However, this is an intriguing aspect of B-cell diversity whose origin might be traced back to very early differentiation steps.

Finally, an important objective of this review will be to identify some areas of agreement about early B-lineage events that are not adequately supported by direct evidence. The extraordinary progress of experimental hematologists in resolving the precursors of erythroid and myeloid cells has created a false sense of understanding about the nature and fate of stem cells relevant to the humoral immune system. An inspection of the literature will reveal a number of timely and critical questions about these processes.

II. Some Definitions

This particular branch of immunology profits from the collective wisdom of individuals schooled in experimental hematology, embryology, immunodeficiency diseases, and molecular biology. Partly because of this, the commonly employed nomenclature is often confusing, if not ambiguous. Terms such as stem cell, differentiation, maturation, induction, precursor, progenitor, pre-B, and B cell all may have quite different meanings to different individuals. It is unlikely that any precision will soon be achieved in this area because very complex and continuously evolving concepts are involved. For the present and for the purposes of this review, such terms will have to be defined to suit the context in which they are used.

Stem cells have been commonly defined as cells with extensive self-renewal capacity, which have multiple differentiation options and are unresponsive to some of the specific stimuli that regulate their more differentiative progeny. This description had practical value in distinguishing multipotential cells in the hematopoietic system from committed progenitor cells of erythroid, myeloid, and other lineages (Metcalf and Moore, 1971; Till and McCulloch, 1980). However, it has been found that under specialized culture conditions, committed granulocyte precursors, T cells, B cells, mast cells, and macrophages proliferate indefinitely (Dexter et al., 1980; Gillis et al., 1978; Melchers et al., 1975a; Tertian et al., 1981; Ralph, 1980). These studies were done with normal, nonmalignant cells, and serially propagated memory B cells have also been shown to have extensive, but finite, self-renewal capacity (Askonas and Williamson, 1972). Some vagueness is also given to the term stem cell by the possibility that certain multipotential cells, capable of giving rise to erythroid, neutrophil, macrophage, eosinophil, and megakaryocytic cells in culture (Johnson and Metcalf, 1977; Metcalf et al., 1979), may not be involved in lymphoid differentiation (see below). For purposes of this review, adjectives will be used to restrict and, it is hoped, clarify the use of this term; i.e., multipotential stem cells, lymphoid stem cells, mveloid stem cells, B stem cells, etc.

In the most restricted sense, the term differentiation refers only to events that occur within the nucleus of a cell to restrict options available to subsequent generations. Holtzer and colleagues (1972) have advanced the theory that rearrangements of chromosome structure occur only during special or "quantal" cell cycles whereby a new genetic program is conferred on daughter cells. Such differentiation steps are now known to take place within the B lineage during the initial selection of antibody-variable region genes and when certain switches in production of Ig isotypes are made (Brack et al., 1978: Seidman and Leder, 1978; Rabbits et al., 1980; and Davis et al., 1980). However, for most of the dramatic changes that occur in cells during development and function of the humoral immune system, it is not clear whether these are true differentiation events or rather the expression of a precommitted genetic program in response to appropriate stimuli. Through habit and convenience, various steps will be referred to in this communication as differentiation events when they might be less ambiguously called maturation. Similarly, an embryologist might use the term induction to describe a critical cellular interaction that has irrevocable consequences for the cells involved. The word will be used here more loosely to refer to the initiation of protein synthesis and/or surface marker expression on cells resulting from external stimulation (e.g., induction of Ig synthesis and display in normal B-cell precursors or established cell lines). It is unlikely that all these changes would be permanent.

Roitt et al. (1969) first coined the term "B" lymphocyte for the effector cells of the humoral immune system. It is doubly appropriate because it could represent either bursa of Fabricius or bone marrowderived cells. In practice and in this review this will be used to refer to cells with readily detectable surface immunoglobulin (sIg) that did not acquire it through passive means. However, it should be cautioned that distinctions between cells that have small amounts of sIg and those that have none are dependent on the assay techniques that are used. Newly formed lymphocytes in marrow acquire increasing amounts of sIg in a process that spans 2 days (Osmond and Nossal, 1974a,b), and it is improbable that absolute numbers of B cells determined by autoradiography, for example, would always precisely agree with estimates made using a fluorescence-activated cell sorter (FACS) with a different antibody preparation. This is one area in which use of monoclonal anti-Ig antibodies (Kincade et al., 1981b) might lead to a new level of standardization. It happens that appearance of sIg corresponds closely with the ability of murine cells to be stimulated by mitogens in semisolid agar cultures (Kincade et al., 1980a), and for convenience the term clonable cell will in some instances be used interchangeably with B cell.

Lafleur and colleagues (1972a,b) introduced the term "pre-B" to describe large cells that required a period of residence in irradiated recipients before being able to mount specific immune responses. Some confusion arises from the fact that another group refers to cells responding under similar circumstances, but with different response kinetics, as "preprogenitors" (Nossal et al., 1977). In both cases the responding cells were described as being sIg⁺. Others have taken up the term pre-B to denote cells with detectable cytoplasmic, but not surface, Ig, since there is a variety of circumstantial evidence to suggest that they are the immediate precursors of sIg⁺ cells (Cooper, 1981). We refer to any cell capable of giving rise to functional B cells as a precursor. This includes pluripotent stem cells, committed precursor cells whose only option is to generate B cells, and the type of cells that already are synthesizing subunits of Ig. It has not been shown that all cIg⁺ cells eventually become B cells, and it is not certain that all B cells derive from cells with those phenotypic characteristics. For this reason, the term pre-B might for now be reserved for use with cells that are demonstrably close to becoming B cells.

One of the more problematic words that it is necessary to use is

"mature." The timely appearance of B cells and their precursors in various tissues of developing mice is documented in the following sections, and it will be shown that those emerging during fetal and neonatal life may differ considerably from those present in adult tissues. These are "immature" in the sense that they may lack cell surface receptors and characteristics that typify adult cells. However, these may have reached the most developed stage necessary for them to function, and there is no information available on their survival and contribution to B-cell populations later in life. In some cases the acquisition of markers by cells of the B lineage seems to relate more to the chronological age of the animal than to the extent of differentiation that has occurred (Kincade et al., 1980b). The task is to distinguish between changes that take place coincident with development of the animal and those that correspond to the progression of B-lineage cells through various compartments. Pains will be taken to avoid equating and directly comparing, for example, cells from neonates, which lack sIgD, with those that are recently formed in adult marrow.

In order to deduce a probable sequence of events in embryonic life. it is often necessary to make measurements at various stages of gestation. Timed pregnancies are commonly estimated from the finding of vaginal plugs after overnight matings. However, there is considerable variability in the degree of development between and even within litters. Some laboratories consider the finding of plugs as day 0 but since matings usually occur at night, others consider this day 0.5, and still others consider this day 1 of gestation. It is obvious that a great deal of confusion can arise, for example, as to the precise stage when stem cells colonize an organ rudiment and when B cells and their precursors emerge. The problem is particularly acute for early embryos where a few hours can make a considerable difference and one suspects there is strain-dependent variability as well. For these reasons somite counts or other independent assessments of developmental stage should be reported (Gruneberg, 1943). It is unfortunate that this information is seldom included in immunology papers.

III. Expression of Immunoglobulin Genes

The most important, best understood, and perhaps most unique function of cells of the immune system is to synthesize immunoglobulin (Warner, 1974). Substantial progress has been recently made in understanding the molecular events associated with Ig gene rearrangement, transcription, and translation. It appears that complex mechanisms have evolved to utilize this genetic information maximally. Indeed there have been so many new and interesting findings that this subject alone would form the basis for a timely review. However, a summary of only the most salient observations will suffice as a background for the discussion that follows.

Immunoglobulin molecules are constructed from three sets of unlinked genes that encode the heavy chains, κ light chains, and λ light chains (Gottlieb, 1980). Each of these is in turn made from minigenes that are separated from each other in embryonic and somatic cells by a considerable stretch of DNA. This possibility was hypothesized by Drever and Bennett in 1965 and demonstrated experimentally by Hozumi and Tonegawa in 1976. It is now known that genes for light chains include those encoding the variable regions, five J (joining) segments, and those corresponding to the constant or Fc portions of the molecule. For the heavy chain, the genes include in addition to the variable region genes, the four J genes, and the constant region genes an additional set of genes called D (for diversity). At some point in the B lineage a critical differentiation event occurs such that V_H -D- J_H - and C_H genes are brought closer together into a transcriptional unit (Early et al., 1979, 1980a; Davis et al., 1980). A similar rearrangement occurs on one of the chromosomes for light chains bringing the V_L - J_L - C_L genes in proximity to each other (Sakano et al., 1979; Brack et al., 1978; Max et al., 1979). Transcription produces a precursor RNA that is processed to remove introns while still within the nucleus (Perry et al., 1980). Analysis of fetal liver hydrid cell lines suggests that the heavy-chain differentiation step occurs first (Maki et al., 1980). This also is consistent with the finding that the earliest Ig-synthesizing cells make only the μ chains of IgM (Burrows et al., 1979). However, the precise stage in embryogenesis when this first occurs, the nature of inductive stimuli that might bring it about, and its relationship to the initial commitment of stem cells to the B lineage are unknown.

Only one of a pair of chromosomes is involved in active synthesis of Ig molecules, and this process has been called allele or haplotype exclusion (Herzenberg *et al.*, 1976). It would seem that this could be explained in terms of selective rearrangement of genes of a single allele with concomitant blockage of a similar event on the homologous chromosome. However, it is now clear that in many cases rearrangements take place on both chromosomes (Perry *et al.*, 1980; Cory *et al.*, 1980; Hurwitz *et al.*, 1980). Many of these rearrangements are totally nonproductive (abortive), and others might result in production of incomplete messenger RNA species that can even be detected in non-lymphoid cells (Kemp *et al.*, 1980).

Complete messenger for Ig heavy chains carries information for two

alternative forms of the protein. One has a specialized hydrophobic tail that makes it an appropriate cell surface receptor molecule, and the other has a hydrophilic Fc portion and is destined to be secreted Ig (Alt *et al.*, 1980; Rogers *et al.*, 1980; Early *et al.*, 1980b; Kehry *et al.*, 1980). RNA processing results in messengers of the two kinds, and the ratio of these changes as a function of the progression of B cells toward plasma cells (Sibley *et al.*, 1980, 1981).

All cells of the B lineage derive from cells that first synthesize IgM (Kincade *et al.*, 1970; Lawton *et al.*, 1972). This conclusion derives from the observation that B-cell emergence can be aborted by treatment with anti- μ antibodies at an early stage of development. Further analysis revealed that there is a critical period just after the initial display of sIgM when recently formed B cells are hypersensitive to contacts with sIg receptors (Raff *et al.*, 1975; Kearney *et al.*, 1978; Burrows *et al.*, 1978; Sidman and Unanue, 1975). The anti-Ig antibodies bind to surface IgM molecules, cause them to be lost or internalized, and unlike the case with adult type B cells or when immature B-cell Ig is enzymically removed, it does not reappear. Cross-linking of sIg molecules is required, and analogies have been drawn between this phenomenon and neonatal type (clonal abortion) tolerance (Raff *et al.*, 1975; Nossal and Pike, 1975; Bruyns *et al.*, 1976; Teale and Mandel, 1980).

The possibility has been considered of a relatively high probability of abortive rearrangements occurring in the immunoglobulin genes of both chromosomes of a differentiating B-cell clone (Perry *et al.*, 1980). It is also conceivable that a given set of light-chain genes that were selected might not encode a protein that would adequately fold with the preselected heavy-chain molecule. Presumably, in either of these cases, the cells would never produce functional Ig and would be short-lived. The daily rate of B-lymphocyte production in bone marrow (and T cells in the thymus) is high (Osmond, 1979), but the fraction of these that survive outside the marrow is not known.

For the B cells that succeed in acquiring sIgM, there are options for further utilization of their Ig genes. A majority of peripheral B cells in adult animals bear both IgM and IgD (Abney *et al.*, 1978), and these molecules have equivalent antigen-binding sites (variable regions) (Fu *et al.*, 1974). The δ constant region gene is located in the DNA adjacent to that for μ , and it has been suggested that B cells that simultaneously produce both isotypes might do so by means of alternate splicing of a single transcript (Liu *et al.*, 1980).

The permanent switching of a given B-cell clone to the synthesis of another Ig isotype may occur according to a mechanism proposed by Honjo and Kataoka (1978; and Kataoka *et al.*, 1980). The probable gene order in the cluster of heavy-chain constant region genes is μ , δ , γ_3 , γ_1 , γ_{2b} , γ_{2a} , ε , α in the mouse, and sequential deletions of intervening sequences may occur in expressing all possible Ig classes (Cory *et al.*, 1980; Davis *et al.*, 1980; Rabbits *et al.*, 1980; Hurwitz *et al.*, 1980; Nishida *et al.*, 1981). That is, actively secreting cells producing IgA may be incapable of making IgM, IgG, etc., because these genes were excised during the switching process.

It was long considered possible that individual B cells undergoing immune responses could switch from the production of one isotype to another (Nossal *et al.*, 1964). However, the actual demonstration of intraclonal switches has been relatively recent (Pierce and Klinman, 1975; Gearhart *et al.*, 1975; Andersson *et al.*, 1978; Teale *et al.*, 1981). It has been suggested that some elements of the immune response might induce a particular pathway of Ig class expression. On the other hand, there are examples of Ig isotype diversification that seem to be independent of obvious antigenic stimulation (Lawton and Cooper, 1974). It remains to be seen whether class switches occur in B cells through some stochastic process only to be selected by appropriate conditions or, alternatively, whether this true differentiation event can be directed by particular inductive stimuli.

Many of the conclusions summarized in this section of the review derived from studies facilitated by the use of cloned tumor or hybridoma cell lines. For example, a cell line (70Z/3) that was established in this laboratory is providing some insight into mechanisms of Ig biosynthesis and cell surface display. The heavy- and light-chain (κ) genes are both rearranged in this cell line, and it continuously produces μ chains (Paige et al., 1979; Maki et al., 1980). When lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is present in the cultures during the G₁/S phase of the cell cycle, κ -chain messengers of different sizes are produced and assembled IgM appears on the cell surface (Sakaguchi et al., 1980; Perry and Kelly, 1979). Virtually all of the cells become sIg⁺ within 24 hours, but these convert to their original state within 48 hours of removal of the LPS. In contrast, when the mitogen dextran sulfate is added to the cultures instead of LPS, only μ chains appear on the cells and light chains are not detectable within the cytoplasm (Paige et al., 1981b). This induction of surface μ display does not seem to require protein synthesis, whereas expression of complete molecules following LPS stimulation does (Ralph, 1979). Even though active secretion of μ chains or IgM is not detectable with this line, approximately 30% of the intracytoplasmic μ chains are not of the hydrophobic (membrane insertion) form (Sibley et al., 1981).

As interesting as studies of myeloma and B-lymphoma cell lines may be, there are many questions that can only be addressed with normal cells. For example, it seems unlikely that a full understanding of the relative contributions of germ line genes, combinatorial associations between minigenes, and somatic mutations to the overall diversity of antibody specificities could be gained from studies of cell lines alone. The following sections will consider methods now available for enumerating and manipulating B cells and their precursors.

IV. Cloning Assays for Functional B Cells

Much of the progress that has been made in recent years in our understanding of early events in B-lymphocyte differentiation has followed the development of new ways of identifying relatively rare cells. That is, when B cells or their precursors first appear during ontogeny or during regeneration of irradiated animals, they are diluted among nonlymphoid hematopoietic cells. Passing reference has already been made to the use of cytoplasmic immunoglobulin as a marker for pre-B cells, and various cell surface antigens are discussed in detail below. However, assays that require an active, immune-type response are uniquely important for studies of lymphocyte development. It should be stressed that probably none of the available assays provide an unbiased assessment of all functional B-cell populations. This was most dramatically demonstrated in experiments of Howard and co-workers (1979) where the physical characteristics of virgin B cells were compared using two different assays. Practically all of the response in an adoptive transfer system resulted from relatively infrequent large cells, whereas typical small B cells contributed most of the response in cell culture assays. On the other hand, much of B-cell diversity is currently defined in terms of differential responsiveness in various assays, and it is possible that this reflects physiologically important heterogeneity. Immune responses that take place in bulk cultures or after adoptive transfer of large numbers of cells mimic normal immune responses in that only a proportion of potentially reactive B cells participate and their function is highly influenced by regulatory T cells, accessory cells, feedback antibody, and idiotypic networks, Limiting dilution techniques make it possible to overcome these problems and obtain at least relative estimates of the frequencies of particular B-lineage cells. Three of the most commonly used approaches are summarized here.

Perhaps the broadest spectrum of B-lineage cells is detected by the Klinman splenic focus technique (Klinman, 1972; Klinman et al.,

1976; Sigal and Klinman, 1978). Mice are usually preimmunized with a carrier protein and then some weeks later used as irradiated recipients of the cells to be assaved. Approximately 5% of the injected B cells are present in the recipient spleen when it is removed 16 hours later. The spleen is then cut into fragments that are placed in individual microcultures with a hapten-carrier conjugate and antibody is subsequently measured in the culture supernatants. The assay depends on suppressor T-cell activity declining more rapidly than helper T cells after priming and the ability of accessory and primed helper cells to function after irradiation. For some time this procedure was used only to measure T-cell-dependent immune responses, but recently it has been shown that T-independent responses can be obtained with particular antigens (Fung and Kohler, 1980). Sedimentation velocity separations indicate that cells of all sizes are detected in this assay and a conspicuous population of large Ia⁻ cells that may be easily tolerized in adult spleen is detected at longer culture intervals (J. L. Press et al., 1977; Teale et al., 1978a,b). It was estimated that about 80% of the DNP-specific B cells that lodge in the irradiated spleens can be stimulated to antibody secretion with DNP-hemocyanin in the fragment cultures (Klinman et al., 1976). This method also reveals B cells in neonatal spleen, sIg⁻ cells in adult spleen, and cells that appear in fetal liver by 14 days of gestation (Teale et al., 1979; Teale and Mandel, 1980). All of these presumably immature cell types are distinguishable from the more typical adult B cells by their susceptibility to tolerization and their tendency to form IgM only clones of antibodysecreting cells. It thus appears that some type of B-cell precursors are capable of maturing during the initial period of splenic fragment culture (a lag of 24 hours is usual between the time when cells are injected and the time when antigen is added to the cultures). However, the incidence of functional precursors dramatically increased when the donor fetal tissue was first held in organ culture (Teale and Mandel. 1980). The nature of sIg⁻ precursors that give rise to antigenresponsive clones under these circumstances requires further characterization.

Lefkovits (1972) first devised assays where B cells are diluted in cultures containing antigen and constant numbers of accessory and filler cells. The incidence of cultures containing antibody-secreting cells is calculated at each dilution, and the Poisson equation is used to estimate the frequency of functional B cells. This basic technique has been adapted by many laboratories to detect primary and memory B cells stimulated with T-cell-independent and T-cell-dependent antigens. In one such study, one out of two NIP-specific purified B cells produced antibody to NIP-polymerized flagellin (Nossal and Pike, 1976). Mitogens can also be used in this way to estimate the frequency of cells that respond to polyclonal stimulation (Quintans and Lefkovits, 1974; Andersson *et al.*, 1977a). Using thymus filler cells and a reverse plaque assay, Andersson and colleagues (1977a) found that one out of three small splenic B cells could be driven to immunoglobulin secretion with LPS. When an appropriate fetal calf serum is used in the culture medium, and especially when dextran sulfate is added to the cultures, this system also permits the maturation of B-cell precursors (Melchers, 1977a). The method has been used also to assess the diversity of antibody specificities among mitogen-responsive B-cell populations (Andersson *et al.*, 1977b; Eichmann *et al.*, 1977).

Metcalf discovered that addition of 2-mercaptoethanol (2-ME) to culture medium permitted murine B cells to form colonies in semisolid agar cultures (Metcalf et al., 1975). It was later learned that this clonal proliferation was dependent on the presence of mitogens that are native to laboratory grade agar (Kincade et al., 1976). With most hematopoietic or lymphoid cell suspensions and when 10^5 or fewer cells are placed in 1-ml cultures, all but the responding B cells lyse and disappear within a few days. In order to achieve a linear relationship between numbers of cells cultured and numbers of resulting colonies, it is also necessary to add one of several potentiators to the cultures (Metcalf, 1976; Kurland et al., 1977). Sheep red blood cells (SRBC), lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and adherent layers of peritoneal exudate macrophages have been used for this purpose, and the relative advantages of each are discussed in detail elsewhere (Kincade, 1981a). The usual fraction of B cells that form colonies (divide 5 or more times) in the presence of one potentiator is 2-4%, and up to 13% clone in the presence of all three (Kurland et al., 1977). A much larger number of B cells (perhaps as many as 60% in some circumstances) proliferate sufficiently only to form small aggregates (Metcalf, 1977). With LPS-potentiated cultures, the cloning efficiencies of sIg⁺ cells in newborn spleen, adult bone marrow, spleen, lymph nodes, and peripheral blood are approximately equivalent (Kincade et al., 1978b). In contrast, if SRBC are used alone in semisolid cultures, certain immature B cells in marrow clone poorly and a conspicuous population of abnormal B cells in autoimmune NZB mice are not detected at all (Lala et al., 1979; Kincade et al., 1979).

The characteristics of cells that can be cloned in semisolid agar are now reasonably well known. In immature tissues such as newborn spleen or liver and spleen of late-gestation embryos, all are Lyb-2⁺, IgM⁺, Ia⁺, and Qa-2⁺. They resist pretreatment with anti-Ig antibodies but, like immature B cells, do not proliferate in the continuous presence of anti- μ antibodies. Subsets of these can be defined on the basis of expression and function of sIgD. That is, there are clonable B cells that lack IgD, and two qualitatively distinct types of sIgD⁺ cells can be distinguished by their sensitivity to anti- δ antibodies added to the cultures. Clonable cells are as heterogeneous as all other B cells with respect to physical properties, and the only defined population that thus far has been found totally to lack colony-forming cells are in partially immunodeficient CBA/N mice (Kincade *et al.*, 1977, 1978b, 1980a,b; Metcalf *et al.*, 1976).

One particularly useful aspect of the semisolid agar cloning technique is the fact that it distinguishes between sIg⁺ B cells and their immediate precursors. Clonable B cells emerge simultaneously with sIg^+ cells in fetal liver and spleen and are diminished in parallel with B cells either by suppressive regimens of anti- μ antibodies administered from birth, or by adherence to anti-Ig coated plastic petri dishes (Johnson et al., 1976; Kincade et al., 1980a, 1981a). Furthermore, addition of anti- μ antibodies to the cultures almost completely prevents colony formation by B cells from normal mice (Kincade and Ralph, 1976; Kincade et al., 1979). While cloning of all sIgD⁺ cells from marrow is prevented by addition of anti- δ to the cultures, less mature, sIg⁻ cells from that site are unaffected. This suggests that IgD is probably not acquired efficiently during culture. Maturation of newly formed B cells and their immediate precursors must therefore be minimal once they are dispersed in semisolid agar, and the method can be used to assess numbers of B-lineage cells that have reached this milestone in their development.

It has been suggested that some of the cells within B-cell colonies progress to an Ig-secreting stage (Claesson *et al.*, 1978; Poulson and Claesson, 1980). However, few attempts have been made to optimize and exploit this to study the diversity of antibody specificities. In one study it was found that cells taken from colonies could be specifically triggered by antigen to yield antibody-secreting cells (Pillai and Scott, 1981).

There have been relatively few reports involving the cloning of human B lymphocytes (Radnay et al., 1979; Bobak and Whisler, 1980; Muraguchi et al., 1980a; Kuritani et al., 1980). A principal difficulty has been in obtaining T-independent mitogens that would efficiently stimulate human B cells in dispersed conditions without having first to activate them in liquid culture. However, it is already apparent that cloning procedures that have diagnostic utility will soon be developed (Muraguchi et al., 1980b). In summary, procedures now available permit the detection and characterization of relatively small numbers of functional B cells. By definition, cloning assays reveal the maximum diversity of lymphocyte populations, and the possibility that these resolve functionally specialized cell sets is considered in some detail below. There are obvious theoretical and practical advantages and disadvantages to each of the three systems described here. The relatively low cloning efficiency of the semisolid agar method and the absence of colony-forming cells in CBA/N mice suggest that particular categories of B cells may not be detected. This possible disadvantage is offset for many purposes by the fact that the incidence of functional B cells can be determined for many cell suspensions in a single experiment. The number of samples that can be processed by other cloning methods is considerably more limited.

V. Formation of B Cells in Cell-Transfer Assays

The simplest way to demonstrate the presence of B-cell precursors in cell suspensions is to inject them into irradiated or otherwise compromised recipient animals. This approach derived from the long-used practice of adoptively transferring immune responses (Cochrane and Dixon, 1962). It will be argued below that only those cell suspensions and tissues that contain committed B-lineage precursors have given rise to B cells in culture. In mammals, the only convincing demonstration that multipotential stem cells can experimentally follow this avenue of differentiation was the transfer of yolk sac cells to irradiated mice (Tyan and Herzenberg, 1968; Paige *et al.*, 1979). However, exceedingly complex events may take place between the time of cell injection and final readout of the experiment, and results thus obtained may be subject to multiple interpretations.

In the past, the transferred suspensions were usually very heterogeneous cell mixtures. Bone marrow grafts, for instance, may contain recirculating B and T cells, newly formed lymphocytes, Ig-synthesizing pre-B cells that are in the process of giving rise to B cells, committed B-cell precursors of different kinds, and multipotential stem cells that can potentially repopulate all blood cells. Most likely, these would differ in self-renewal and proliferative potential, and it is easy to imagine that the relative contribution of each to the B cells that emerge in the recipient would continuously change with time after transfer. Furthermore, if there are any niches or factors that commonly affect these cells and precursors of all the other hematopoietic lineages present in the inoculum, competition situations could arise. The complexity of precursors of B cells and accessory cells that may influence their differentiation is considered in detail in the following sections along with available methods for resolving and physically separating them.

The recipient animals are a second major source of variability. To begin with, it is clear that a fraction of cells of the B lineage, helper T cells, and other cell types capable of influencing immune responses survive (hematopoietic) lethal irradiation exposures. Unless appropriate markers are used, and in certain circumstances, a majority of the regenerating B-cell activity can derive from host rather than transferred cells (Pilarsky and Cunningham, 1975). Donor and host can be discriminated by cytogenetic markers like the T6 chromosome (Micklem et al., 1966), but this requires that the emerging cells of interest be in division. Alloantigenic disparities between recipient and injected cells can also be used (Mitchell and Miller, 1968), but one must determine that these differences do not impose an undesirable selective pressure on the transferred precursors. Immunoglobulin allotypes have also been used to advantage in studies involving mice, rats, and chickens (Tyan and Herzenberg, 1968; Hunt, 1980; Ivanyi and Makings, 1978), but the same reservations apply as for other genetic markers. Yet another solution is to take advantage of a partial immunodeficiency that preferentially affects B cells in a mutant strain of mice (Kincade et al., 1978a; Paige et al., 1979). CBA/N strain mice lack cells that can be detected by cloning in semisolid agar cultures, but these are formed from donor cells following irradiation and grafting with hematopoietic cells from normal CBA/H-T6T6 strain mice. It was determined that all the cells within the B-cell colonies bore the distinctive chromosome marker of the donor inoculum.

That surviving remnants of the host immune system can affect emerging B cells in irradiated recipients was apparent from studies of idiotype expression in the progeny of transferred hematopoietic cells (Kaplan *et al.*, 1978). The regenerating humoral immune system was reported to be influenced by injection of mitogens or thymocytes (Goidle *et al.*, 1976; Sherr *et al.*, 1978), whereas in other studies development of different parameters of B-cell diversity were not obviously affected by mitogens or T cells (Rosenberg and Cunningham, 1977; Van Muiswinkel *et al.*, 1975). In light of these findings, it would be unwise to assume that the kinetics of B-cell formation in this situation approximate those of normal developing or steady-state conditions.

Despite these complications, transfer models of some utility have been devised to enumerate and characterize B-cell precursors. Lafleur *et al.* (1972a) distinguished the immediate precursors of B cells from

typical B cells on the basis of time required after cell transfer before immunization with sheep red blood cells (SRBC). The assay was said to be quantitative for populations of marrow and spleen cells that were large (rapidly sedimenting) and that seemed to express surface Ig (Lafleur et al., 1972b). In a different study, where the thymus cellindependent antigen DNP-polymerized flagellin was used, a delay between transfer and immunization improved the performance of bone marrow but not of spleen cells (Stocker et al., 1974). However, differences in numbers of marrow cells injected were not proportionally reflected in the magnitude of the antibody responses obtained. It has been customary to plot log numbers of injected cells against the log of antibody titers, plaque-forming cell number, etc., in adoptive transfer assays (Celada, 1967; Stocker et al., 1974; Janeway, 1975). Slopes of 1 are considered to represent the contribution of a single cell type that is limiting in the immune response, whereas larger slopes are indicative of some form of interaction between injected cells that is favored by high cell doses.

When bone marrow, or any tissue that contains sIg⁺ cells, is used as a source of donor cells, it is possible that some of the B-cell activity measured in the recipients is due to the presistence and/or expansion of these B cells. However, studies of colony-forming B cells arising from transplants of normal CBA/H-T6T6 marrow to immunodeficient CBA/N mice suggest that this problem is insignificant with the cell doses that are usually employed (Paige et al., 1979). Functional B cells emerged at the same rate regardless of whether the marrow cells derived from normal mice or anti- μ -suppressed mice that were deficient in B cells. Physical removal of B cells with anti-Ig-coated plastic dishes vielded the same result. It is important to note that with this system clonable B cells are formed with equivalent efficiency in irradiated normal and in irradiated CBA/N recipients. This suggests that all components of microenvironments necessary for B-cell differentiation are intact in the defective mice. The characteristics of cells that give rise to B cells under these conditions are discussed in detail in Section IX of this review. For now, it will suffice to say that a doseresponse relationship exists between numbers of cells injected and numbers of clonable B cells that can be recovered from the recipient spleens 8-10 days later. At that time point, slopes just over one are obtained and a particular type of marker-bearing precursor is detected. When the assay is prolonged, it appears that other cell populations contribute to the emergence of functional cells.

Normally, chimerism is short-lived and inefficient when cells are injected into unirradiated recipients (Celada, 1966). This would be consistent with the notion that sessile stem cell populations are not forced out of their niches by recirculating stem cells (Micklem *et al.*, 1975b). Mutant W/W^v mice have macrocytic anemia, are deficient in CFU-s, and can be efficiently grafted with hematopoietic stem cells without prior irradiation (Russell, 1979; Harrison and Astle, 1976). Thymocytes were virtually completely replaced by this transplantation, whereas there were indications that some host-type B cells persisted for months without replacement with donor cells. Similarly, immunodeficient CBA/N mice can be successfully grafted with donor cells without prior irradiation, and the resulting B-cell chimerism is long-lived (Scher *et al.*, 1975b; Volf *et al.*, 1978; Paige *et al.*, 1979). There was little if any penetration of the donor cells into CFU-s, CFU-c, or T-cell compartments consistent with the selective nature of the X^{*id*} mutation.

In summary, there is evidence (detailed below) that stem cells and committed B-cell precursors give rise to functional B cells on transfer to appropriate recipients. However, the rate of emergence of B cells may be influenced by numerous factors and meaningful exploitation of these models requires definition and/or fractionation of the transferred cells.

VI. Relationship between B-Lymphocyte Precursors and Other Hematopoietic Lineages

The existence of a common stem cell for all blood cells has been assumed for some time although formal proof of that statement has been gradually and relatively recently acquired. Experiments by Ford *et al.* (1966) and Micklem *et al.* (1966) used the T6 chromosome marker to demonstrate that most dividing lymphoid and hematopoietic cells of irradiated mice transplanted with bone marrow derived from donor cells. This marker is known to be present in all somatic cells, so it was not known whether individual lineages were restored by different, precommitted precursors or by a common stem cell pool. A proportion of cells in animals that survive sublethal irradiation carry distinctive abnormal karyotypes, and this has been utilized in a number of studies to assess relationships between stem cells and their descendants (Wu *et al.*, 1968; Nowell *et al.*, 1970; Abramson *et al.*, 1977).

Most analyses of stem cells in rodents in the last 20 years have also employed the *in vivo* spleen colony-forming unit (CFU-s) assay devised by Till and McCulloch (1961). Limiting numbers of hematopoietic cells are transferred to lethally irradiated animals, splenic foci develop to macroscopic size within 8–10 days. A linear relationship exists between numbers of injected cells and numbers of developing spleen colonies, and this suggests that individual foci are clones. This was further supported by studies of colonies that arose in animals grafted with cytogenetically marked stem cells (Becker et al., 1963; Barnes et al., 1968). When unique metaphases were found in individual colonies, almost all of the dividing cells within the same focus were also marked. It should be emphasized that, while such results demonstrate the clonal nature of a majority of proliferating cells in spleen colonies, it cannot be assumed that all cells in proximity to these (including nondividing cells) originate from the same stem cell. In many studies the cellular composition was determined for splenic foci derived from various types of stem cells (Curry and Trentin, 1967; Metcalf and Moore, 1971). Individual colonies are predominantly ervthroid, granulocyte-macrophage, megakaryocytic, or mixed in terms of morphologically distinguishable cell types. The existence of mixed colonies that are presumably of clonal origin argues for their derivation from multipotential stem cells. It is interesting to note that some stem cells may, after injection, give rise to more than one spleen colony (Barnes et al., 1968).

Induced cytogenetic markers can be found in individual spleen colonies as well as lymphoid tissues of grafted animals, and Wu et al. (1968) took advantage of stem cell-deficient mutant mice to expand numbers of such marked stem cells. After a significant period of time, the penetration of these clones into the various lymphoid and hematopoietic pathways was assessed. In one such study, chimerism was found in T cells only, in myeloid cells only, or in B cells plus T cells and myeloid cells (Abramson et al., 1977). This result suggested the existence of truly multipotential stem cells, stem cells capable of giving rise only to nonlymphoid cells, and stem cells restricted to T-lineage differentiation. The first two categories of cells seemed capable of spleen colony formation. Because a selection pressure was applied in the form of the stem cell-deficient mice, the proportion of stem-cell clones of these three types does not necessarily reflect their relative incidence in normal tissues. Another consideration is the possibility that some types of stem cells might be particularly radiosensitive and therefore lost during the induction of the chromosome markers. For these reasons the existence of stem cells with different capabilities, for example, lymphoid stem cells or B-restricted stem cells, cannot be ruled out.

CFU-s obtained from a wide variety of tissues and stages of development have been characterized with respect to physical properties, cycling characteristics, seeding efficiencies, and self-renewal potential (Haskill and Moore, 1970; Moore *et al.*, 1970; Metcalf and Moore, 1971; Micklem *et al.*, 1973). Heterogeneity is apparent in terms of all these parameters, and it should be cautioned that the potentiality of CFU-s from one tissue, such as the yolk sac, is not necessarily equivalent to that of CFU-s obtained from other organs, such as fetal liver, spleen, and marrow. In adult marrow, most CFU-s are normally in a noncycling or G_0 state, but their mitotic activity can be influenced by a variety of nonspecific and also by some apparently specific substances (Lajtha, 1979; Wright and Lord, 1979). Models have been proposed to explain the control over stem cell self-renewal as opposed to differentiation along one of several pathways (Curry and Trentin, 1967; Till *et al.*, 1964), and the principal dispute is over the degree to which localized stimuli or "hematopoietic inductive microenvironments" influence stem-cell behavior.

Committed progenitor cells of the granulocyte-macrophage pathway can be cloned in semisolid agar cultures where their proliferation and maturation is dependent on the continuous presence of colonystimulating factors or activities (CSA) (Metcalf, 1977). Modifications to the basic technique also permit the propagation of clones of eosinophil, erythroid, and megakaryocytic cells. Physical and other properties of cells that form such colonies allow them to be distinguished from the in vivo CFU-s (reviewed in Metcalf and Moore, 1971). Johnson and Metcalf (1977) discovered that use of an appropriate spleen-conditioned medium permitted formation of colonies that may be more closely related to CFU-s. Individual foci could contain mixtures of erythroid, neutrophil, macrophage, eosinophil, and megakaryocytic cells. There was a degree of self-renewal of these colony-forming cells in vitro, and a small proportion of cells formed spleen colonies when taken from culture and injected into lethally irradiated animals (Metcalf et al., 1979). Lymphocytes were not found within these colonies, and cells belonging to T or B lineages have thus far not been shown to originate from these stem cells (F. Melchers, personal communication). The cells responsible for these mixedmorphology in vitro colonies might be equivalent to the myeloidrestricted stem cells referred to above or, alternatively, suitable environments may not have been found for them to express their lymphoid capability.

Studies of this kind lead to the conclusion that all blood cells ultimately derive from a common stem cell. Some of these cells are capable of giving rise to spleen colonies and some of the cells within spleen colonies are capable of lymphoid differentiation. On the other hand, an unknown proportion of spleen colonies probably derive from cells with more limited options. This possibility is schematically depicted in Fig. 1.



FIG. 1. A scheme depicting possible lineage relationships between lymphoid and other hematopoietic cells. Stem cells detected by the *in vivo* spleen colony-forming unit (CFU-s) assay are assumed to include restricted precursors of erythroid and myeloid cells and multipotential stem cells capable of giving rise to lymphocytes.

Cells dissected from spleen colonies have been used to restore humoral immunity to irradiated secondary recipients, and it was assumed that the time required was that due to the transition of stem cells (which self-renew to a degree within the splenic foci) to functional B cells (Trentin *et al.*, 1967; Yung *et al.*, 1973; Rozing *et al.*, 1977). Extensive examinations of spleen colonies has not revealed any that had predominantly lymphoid morphology (Curry and Trentin, 1967; Metcalf and Moore, 1971). However, the possibility of a minor entry of stem cells into B and T pathways would be difficult to rule out, particularly if the newly formed cells rapidly migrated elsewhere.

One study concluded that some B cells emerged within spleen colonies and that these derived from the same stem cell that made the clone (Lala and Johnson, 1978). This was based on the ability of small numbers of functional B cells to be detected by cloning in semisolid agar cultures and T6T6 chromosome typing of cells in in vitro B-cell colonies and the spleen colonies from which they were taken. However, another series of experiments done with similar methodology yielded quite different results (Paige et al., 1979). The rationale of the latter studies was that CBA/N mice have no clonable B cells but provide suitable microenvironments in which normal precursors can mature to functional cells (Kincade, 1977; Kincade et al., 1978b). The validity of the model was tested with chromosomally marked CBA/ H-T6T6 hematopoietic cells injected alone or mixed with CBA/N cells into lethally irradiated CBA/N mice. In all cases all the clonable B cells that developed in the recipients derived from the transferred T6T6 marked cells. CBA/N mice have normal numbers of CFU-s, so, when equal numbers of T6T6 and CBA/N bone marrow cells were injected, half of the spleen colonies developed from CBA/N stem cells. It was reasoned that the CBA/N type spleen colonies could have clonable B cells within them only if there was contamination by normal

T6T6 stem cells or committed precursors that were present in the injected inoculum. Indeed, approximately half of the spleen colonies were of T6T6 origin, but a larger number contained functional B cells, and there was no relationship between the colony type and the presence of clonable B cells. Furthermore, numbers of functional B cells were higher in the spaces between colonies than within the splenic foci. Therefore, these results suggest that there is probably no spatial relationship in irradiated, grafted spleens between CFU-s that give rise to macroscopic foci and emerging B cells.

This conclusion would seem to accord with the results of Owen (1979), who was unable to find $c\mu^+$, sIg^- cells in foci or white pulp areas of spleens of mice recovering from irradiation and grafting with bone marrow at a time when these pre-B cells were easily detectable in regenerating marrow. It is known that the majority of B cells that arise in irradiated, marrow-transplanted mice come from sIg^- cells (Paige *et al.*, 1979). Therefore, if expression of the Ig synthetic characteristics of pre-B cells is essential for B-cell formation, it must be argued either that clonable B cells found within spleen colonies came from cells that first traversed the bone marrow or that they quickly lost their pre-B cell characteristics on lodging in the spleen. The latter possibility is consistent with findings that sIg^- cells can complete their maturation within splenic fragments isolated in culture (Teale *et al.*, 1979; Teale and Mandel, 1980).

The incidences of spleen colony-forming cells and B-cell precursors were compared in fetal liver at different stages of gestation and found to be quite different (Paige et al., 1981a). Graded numbers of cells from 13- and 16-day fetal liver were transferred to irradiated mice, and total numbers of clonable B cells per spleen were determined 9 days later. With both types of graft there was a direct relationship between numbers of injected cells and numbers of resulting B cells, and the slopes of the curves on a log/log plot were just over 1. However, approximately 10 times as many 13-day cells had to be transferred to produce the number of B cells obtained with 16-day grafts. This indicates that, at this early time point after grafting, a relatively simple relationship exists between injected precursors and their functionally mature B-cell progeny and also that these precursors were considerably more numerous at the later gestational stage. In contrast, the incidence of CFU-s in 13- and 16-day liver was approximately the same, and a given dose of young fetal liver resulted in the same number of myeloid progenitor cells (CFU-c) in recipients as did older liver. The relationship of spleen colony-forming cells to the myeloid lineage is therefore much closer than it is to cells of the B-cell pathway. It is noteworthy that at a slightly longer assay interval, 14 days, the B-cell repopulating potentials of 13- and 16-day fetal liver were indistinguishable. This point is considered in a later section in relation to possible differences in B-cell precursors.

An even more dramatic dissociation of CFU-s and B-cell precursors was obtained by using a cytotoxic monoclonal antibody. This rat anti-mouse brain antibody (19B5) lyses a substantial proportion of fetal liver or bone marrow cells in the presence of complement, but CFU-s are not obviously affected (Shinefeld *et al.*, 1980). The ability of fetal liver or bone marrow suspensions to generate B cells after transfer to irradiated CBA/N mice was suppressed by immune elimination with 19B5, and this was apparent even when the recipient animals were examined 6 weeks after grafting. Control experiments were done to show that accessory cells were not the target of the 19B5 antibody (Paige *et al.*, 1981a). Again these results suggest that stem cells do not quickly give rise to large numbers of B cells in irradiated recipients.

The volk sac is an extraembryonic tissue in which Ig synthesis or other indications of B-lineage differentiation have generally not been detected (Owen et al., 1975; Phillips and Melchers, 1976; Andrew and Owen, 1978: Melchers and Abramczuk, 1980). However, this is the earliest site where CFU-s and cells capable of mixed in vitro colony formation have been found, and, according to one hypothesis, all hematopoietic stem cells derive from cells that emerge there (Moore and Metcalf, 1970; Metcalf et al., 1979; Moore and Owen, 1967; see discussion below). Paige et al. (1979) transferred suspensions of 10-day volk sac and 12-day fetal liver from CBA/H-T6T6 mice containing equivalent numbers of CFU-s to irradiated CBA/N recipients. Clonable B cells promptly emerged in liver-grafted animals whereas 8 weeks were required for expansion of newly formed B cells in recipients of yolk sac. That the yolk sac contained pluripotential stem cells was evident from finding the T6T6 marker in CFU-s, CFU-c, T cells, and B cells of grafted mice. Therefore, if the CFU-s assay is any indication of numbers of multipotent stem cells, a considerable interval must be required for them to generate B cells and a majority of the B cells that develop soon after grafting must derive from some type of committed progenitor population rather than pluripotential stem cells.

B-lineage precursors and stem cells may also be partitioned by transfer of cells into CBA/N mice without prior irradiation (Paige *et al.*, 1980). Grafted fetal liver or marrow cells from normal donors find niches that are uniquely available in these mice as a result of the X^{id} mutation (Volf *et al.*, 1978). This results in long-term chimerism, and, particularly in the case of fetal liver grafts, there is a substantial production and expansion of donor-type B cells. CBA/N mice are not deficient in numbers of CFU-s, and in the absence of irradiation there is no significant penetration of this compartment, CFU-c, or T cells by the injected cells. Bone marrow grafts also result in the production of normal B cells, but colonization of the CBA/N marrow and growth in numbers of functional B cells is less efficient than with fetal liver transplants (Paige *et al.*, 1980). It is possible that multipotent fetal liver stem cells are induced to enter the B lineage selectively in this situation. Alternatively, and perhaps more likely, the emerging B cells may derive from a class of B-cell precursors (which are deficient and/or defective in CBA/N mice) that has substantial proliferative/ differentiative potential.

There is some evidence for the relationship of lymphoid and hematopoietic cells in humans (Fialkow, 1976). Allelic forms of the enzyme glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) are encoded on the X chromosome, and individual somatic cells of heterozygous women express only one of the alleles of the enzyme. Malignancies may result from the transformation of a pluripotential stem cell such that a majority of the cells belonging to several lineages are marked by the same enzyme allele. Chronic myelocytic leukemia (CML) is such a disease, and although T cells may rarely be replaced by cells related to the leukemic clone, there is good reason to believe that B cells in affected individuals derive from a cell that is common to erythroid, megakaryocytic, and granulocyte-macrophage lineages (Fialkow et al., 1978; Martin et al., 1980). Patients with polycythemia vera, on the other hand, have increased numbers of circulating platelets, ervthrocytes, and granulocytes, which must originate from a common, abnormal stem cell, but lymphocytes are unaffected (Adamson et al., 1976). Such observations can be used to infer the existence of stem cells that have certain and multiple differentiation options. As with the investigations of animals, however, the relative frequencies of various stem cell types in normal circumstances and the possibility of cells with different destinies are not elucidated.

These observations do not discount the notion that lymphoid and myeloid cells derive from a common stem cell. Rather, they emphasize that no close precursor-product relationship between such stem cells and cells of the B lineage has ever been experimentally demonstrated. Similar conclusions came from aging and competitive repopulation studies where the behavior of CFU-s did not correspond well with lymphoid repopulating potential of cell suspensions (Micklem *et al.*, 1975; Harrison, 1980). This means that we have little idea of the kinetics or magnitude of the contribution of stem cells to development and maintenance of the humoral immune system. The difficulties involved in identifying putative inductive microenvironments that might be critical to this transition and in discerning when committed stem cells for T and B pathways diverge are obvious.

VII. Formation and Maturation of B Cells in Culture

Yoshida and Osmond (1971) enriched large transitional lymphocytes in suspensions of guinea pig bone marrow cells by discontinuous sucrose density gradient centrifugation and then observed the progression of these into small lymphocytes *in vitro*. In the following decade, many studies demonstrated that at least some of the processes involved in murine B-lymphocyte formation can occur in culture. There is no evidence that multipotential hematopoietic stem cells can be directed into the B lineage *in vitro*, but the possibility now exists for resolving important cellular interactions and stimuli required for differentiation of committed precursor cells. Culture techniques should also make it feasible to enumerate and manipulate relatively small numbers of these cells and assess the diversity of their antibody-forming potential.

In the studies cited in Table I these events appeared to occur spontaneously. In some cases, addition of substances like LPS to the cultures was found to have no influence on B-cell formation (Ryser and Vassalli, 1974; Melchers, 1977a; Pike and Nossal, 1979). In contrast, the investigations listed in Table II suggest that various inducing agents augmented or were essential for B-cell maturation events. There are some very obvious differences in the approaches that were employed. Most of the studies listed in Table I were done with only partially enriched B-cell precursors. An exception is the work of Pike and Nossal (1979), where the FACS was used to prepare small sIg⁻ bone marrow lymphocytes, most of which were just hours away from becoming functional B cells (Nossal *et al.*, 1977).

Komuro and Boyse (1973) discovered that T-lymphocyte marker expression could be induced by short-term culture of preselected cell populations with appropriate agents, and many comparable studies have been done with cells of the B lineage. Typically, a very small subpopulation of cells is isolated from spleen or bone marrow by density gradient centrifugation. All constituents of the separation and culture media would have been rigorously screened to have a low background stimulation of marker display. Native and synthetic substances raising cyclic AMP induce expression of a series of B-lymphocyte markers whereas, reciprocally, induction of the plasma cell antigen, PCl, requires cGMP elevation (Hämmerling and Chin, 1977; Scheid *et al.*,

Study	Tissues examined	Culture conditions	Change noted
Owen et al., 1974	14–15-Day fetal liver	Explant cultures	sIg ⁺ cells
Gelfand et al., 1974	Newborn spleen and liver	Dispersed cell culture	sIg ⁺ cells
Osmond and Nosal, 1974	Adult bone marrow	Marbrook cultures	sIg^+ cells ^b
Ryser and Vassalli, 1974	Small marrow lymphocytes	Dispersed cell culture	sIg^+ cells ^b
Nossal and Pike, 1975	Adult bone marrow	Marbrook cultures	Adoptive DNP resp. ^b
Raff et al., 1975	14–15-Day fetal liver	Explant cultures	sIg ⁺ cells
Owen et al., 1975	Fetal liver and spleen	Explant cultures	sIg ⁺ , Fc ⁺ , MBLA ⁺ cells
Johnson et al., 1976	Fetal liver and spleen	Explant cultures	Clonable B cells
Owen et al., 1976	14-Day fetal liver	Dispersed/reaggregated cells	sIg ⁺ cells
Owen et al., 1977	Fetal marrow	Explant cultures	sIg ⁺ cells
Melchers, 1977	13-Day fetal liver	Dispersed cell cultures	LPS resp. B cells
Stocker, 1977	Adult marrow, newborn spleen	Dispersed cell cultures	NIP precursor frequency
Burrows et al., 1978	B-cell-suppressed marrow	Dispersed cell cultures	cIg ⁺ and sIg ⁺ cells
Lau et al., 1979	Size-separated adult marrow	Dispersed cell cultures	Late LPS resp.
Pike and Nossal, 1979	FACS-separated adult marrow	Dispersed + thymus fillers	sIg ⁺ and LPS resp.
Teale et al., 1979	FACS-separated newborn spleen	Klinman splenic focus assay	DNP precursors
Teale and Mandel, 1980	14-Day fetal liver, 15-day spleen	Splenic focus and explant	sIg ⁺ and DNP resp.
Kincade et al., 1980	B-cell-depleted adult marrow	Dispersed cell cultures	Clonable B cells

TABLE I SOME EXAMPLES OF "SPONTANEOUS" MURINE B-CELL FORMATION/MATURATION in Vitro"

^a FACS, fluorescence-activated cell sorter; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; sIg, surface immunoglobulin; cIg, cytoplasmic Ig; DNP, dinitrophenyl.

^b Absolute numbers of B cells may not have increased in these studies.

TABLE II						
Some	EXAMPLES OF ENHANCEMENT (INDUCTION) OF B-CELL FORMATION/MATURATION IN CULTURE					
BY MITOGENS AND OTHER FACTORS ^a						

Study	Source of cells	Inducing agents used	Change noted
Scheid et al., 1975	Separated spleen	LPS, cAMP, etc.	C3 receptors
Hämmerling et al., 1975	Separated neonate marrow	LPS, ubiquitin, PGE ₁ , cAMP, etc.	Ia antigens
Hämmerling et al., 1976	Separated spleen and marrow	LPS	sIg, Ia, C3R
Hämmerling and Chin, 1977	Separated spleen and lymph nodes	Carbachol, cGMP, PGF ₂ , thymopoietin	PC.1
Watson, 1977	Separated marrow	LPS, cAMP, etc.	Ia antigens
Scheid et al., 1978	Separated spleen, Peyer's patch	Carbachol, cGMP, cAMP, LPS, poly(A:U), PGE ₁	C3R, PC.1
Fairchild and Cohen, 1978	B-cell-depleted marrow	LPS, cAMP	sIg, LPS response
Sitia <i>et al.</i> , 1979	Separated spleen	LPS	sIgD
Melchers, 1979	Placenta	Dextran sulfate	LPS resp. B cells
Melchers and Abramczuk, 1980	Placenta, fetal blood, liver	Dextran sulfate	LPS resp. B cells
Coutinho et al., 1980	Fetal liver, sIg-bone marrow	Anti-idiotype antibodies	LPS resp. B cells
Kincade et al., 1981	B-cell depleted marrow, fetal liver	Accessory cells	Clonable B cells

^a LPS, lipopolysaccharide; PGE, prostaglandin E; sIg, surface immunoglobulin.

1978). In some situations, substances like thymopoietin that induce T markers have an inhibitory effect on B-cell surface marker display. The most commonly used readout for such studies is the microcytotoxicity assay, and it could be argued that events unrelated to cell surface markers render cells more susceptible to lysis. However, absorption analysis suggested that an increment in antigen density occurred as a consequence of short-term induction (Hämmerling *et al.*, 1975). For T-lymphocyte antigens, it was determined that RNA and protein, but not DNA, synthesis were required for induction (Storrie *et al.*, 1976). By sequential separation of precursor populations, Hämmerling and colleagues (1976; Sitia *et al.*, 1979) were able to characterize the cells on which particular markers could be induced and propose a possible order for B-cell maturation events.

A protocol that has recently been used to assess the requirements for B-cell formation in culture is illustrated in Fig. 2. It is based on the observation that acquisition of sIg coincides with the ability of newly formed B cells to clone in semisolid agar whereas less mature cells give rise to colony-forming B cells after culture in liquid medium (Kincade *et al.*, 1980a). In the case of bone marrow precursors, the sIg⁺



FIG. 2. An experimental protocol for demonstrating the maturation of B-cell precursors *in vitro*. Bone marrow suspensions are depleted of B cells by adherence in the cold to anti-Ig-coated plastic dishes. These contain very few functional cells that can respond directly to mitogens in semisolid agar cultures. Clonable B cells emerge, however, from such suspensions and from fetal liver cells when they are first held in liquid cultures (where cells settle to relatively high densities).

B cells were first removed on anti- μ antibody-coated plastic dishes before holding the remaining cells in liquid culture. After an appropriate interval (usually 48 hours), the cells were then harvested and plated in semisolid agar. Since there were always some remaining clonable B cells after the B-cell depletion, it was important to establish that these did not simply proliferate or mature during the liquid preculture period. That this was not the case was suggested by the fact that similarly B-cell-depleted lymph node cell suspensions did not generate functional B cells in culture (Kincade et al., 1981a). Others have found that this tissue lacks cells with any characteristics of B-cell precursors (Raffet al., 1976; Lafleur et al., 1972a; Lau et al., 1979). The relative size of precursors in marrow that could give rise to clonable B cells during liquid preculture was determined by separating the cell suspensions by velocity sedimentation at unit gravity. It was obvious that while the cloning efficiency of small, rapidly sedimenting cells was slightly increased by liquid culture, a majority of the functional cells that emerged as a result of this treatment arise from large precursors (Kincade et al., 1981a).

There is considerable precedent for cells in culture being dependent on or influenced by adherent, macrophage-like cells. For example, it is known that adherent cells favor the maturation and proliferation in culture of erythroid, neutrophil-macrophage, and megakaryocytic precursors and thymocytes (Kurland et al., 1980; Williams et al., 1981; Beller and Unanue, 1978). Furthermore, adherent marrow cells elaborate a soluble factor that specifically inhibits division of hematopoietic stem cells (Wright et al., 1980). The possible importance of adherent cells in the formation of B cells in culture was tested by first depleting marrow suspensions of B cells with antibody-coated dishes and then removing adherent cells by passage through Sephadex G-10 columns. Functional B cells did not emerge from cultures of these doubly depleted cells unless adherent cells from bone marrow or peritoneal exudates were added. Equivalent restoration was obtained when adherent cells were obtained from normal and immunodeficient CBA/N mice. The latter are a good practical source of accessory cells because they are incapable of contributing any clonable B cells. These experiments suggest that adherent accessory cells can dramatically augment the formation of B cells from sIg⁻ precursors (Kincade et al., 1981a). Representative results are illustrated in Table III.

Among the known effects of adherent cells is their ability to facilitate the number and size of B-cell colonies, particularly when other potentiators are not added to the cultures (Kurland *et al.*, 1977). It therefore seemed possible to explain these results in terms of carry-over of mac-
PAUL W. KINCADE

Cell suspension	Initial clonable B cells	Clonable B cells recovered after liquid culture	
		Cultured with	No. ^a
Unseparated bone marrow	8640		
Bone marrow depleted of B cells	311	Medium alone	1467
•		10 ⁵ Adherent PEC ^b	1451
		10 ⁶ CBA/N marrow	1744
Bone marrow depleted of		Medium alone	300
B cells and adherent cells		10 ⁵ Adherent PEC	1160
		10 ⁶ CBA/N marrow	788
16.5-Day fetal liver		Medium alone	1415
		10 ⁵ Adherent PEC	1948
		10 ⁶ CBA/N marrow	4061
16.5-Day fetal liver		Medium alone	1190
depleted of adherent cells		10 ⁵ Adherent PEC	1295
		10 ⁶ CBA/N marrow	6259

TABLE III INFLUENCE OF FILLER CELLS ON MATURATION OF FETAL AND ADULT PRE-B CELLS in Vitro

^a Numbers of colonies per 10⁶ initial cells. Adult marrow was held for 48 hours and fetal liver was held for 96 hours in liquid precultures.

^b PEC, peritoneal exudate cells.

rophages or their products to the semisolid agar cultures. Control experiments were done in which adherent cells and B-cell precursors were held in separate liquid cultures and then added together just before plating. This established that the accessory cells needed to be present when new B cells were being formed.

A series of recent studies have established that some of the functions attributable to adherent macrophages result from the presence of small numbers of dendritic cells in the cultures (Steinman and Witmer, 1978). The contribution of dendritic cells to the experiments described above was not ruled out, but the adherent cells that were used were 99% phagocytic and nonspecific esterase positive. It is noteworthy that, in several limiting dilution-type liquid culture assays, thymocytes are used as filler cells (Melchers, 1977a; Pike and Nossal, 1979). The possible role of thymic macrophages (Beller and Unanue, 1980) in such assays has not been determined.

It is possible that the adherent cells (presumably macrophages) merely improved culture conditions in the above experiments by conditioning the medium. On the other hand, it would be worthwhile to look for more specific mediators of accessory cell function. Tumor necrosis serum has been used to induce surface marker expression on immature B cells (Hoffmann *et al.*, 1977). More recently, M. Scheid (unpublished observations) discovered that the active moiety is most likely the macrophage product, interleukin 1 (Gery and Waksman, 1972). Nonspecific macrophage stimulation *in vivo* is thought to cause the sequential transition of newly formed small B lymphocytes into large blasts and then into typical small B cells with shortened response kinetics (Howard *et al.*, 1978; Shortman and Howard, 1979). It remains to be seen whether one or more macrophage-derived factors can influence several stages in B-lineage differentiation, beginning perhaps with sIg⁻ precursors.

Committed progenitor cells of the B lineage are present in fetal liver by 12 days of gestation, whereas substantial numbers of functional B cells do not emerge in that organ until at least day 17 of gestation (Paige et al., 1979; Johnson et al., 1976). If accessory cells are important for the final stages of precursor maturation, the availability of these could limit B-cell development during embryonic life. However, unlike adult bone marrow, depletion or addition of adherent cells had no influence on the emergence of functional B cells from liquid cultures of fetal liver (Table III). It is possible that in fetal liver sufficient immature precursors of adherent cells are present that can mature during the liquid preculture period and obscure their importance. It was also noted that where LPS either had no effect or slightly stimulated adult cultures it consistently inhibited cultures of fetal liver (Kincade et al., 1981a). Both of these observations might be attributable to differences in the nonlymphoid cell composition of fetal and adult tissues. Another possibility, which will be considered later in the context of other observations, is that B-cell precursors in fetal tissues are intrinsically less adherent cell-dependent and more LPS sensitive than their adult counterparts.

In conducting these experiments, it was found that maturation of fetal pre-B cells *in vitro* could be enhanced substantially by addition of adult CBA/N bone marrow cells to the cultures. Marrow cells from these clonable B-cell deficient mice had no influence when added to cultures of normal adult marrow, and it did not matter if the CBA/N cells were depleted of adherent cells before addition to the fetal liver cultures. This suggests that fetal liver is deficient in some type of nonadherent accessory cell that is common in adult marrow. The development of this cell population during ontogeny could have a significant influence over the number of functional B cells produced. However, when culture conditions were optimized by use of adult CBA/N marrow cells, the age of the donor embryo was important both in terms of the number of B cells formed and the time required for their emergence. This accords with findings of others that committed B-cell precursors appear in waves at various stages of embryogenesis in particular tissues (Melchers, 1977b; Melchers and Abramczuk, 1980).

Constituents of the culture medium could be an inadvertent source of inductive stimulation in experiments of this kind. For example, it is customary to add 2-mercaptoethanol to culture medium to promote lymphocyte viability, and it is known to act via its favorable effect on albumin (Claesson *et al.*, 1979). In this respect 2-ME is a nutrient, but it has also been said to be mitogenic for resting small lymphocytes (Goodman and Weigle, 1977), and it has been found to increase B-cell surface marker expression in short-term cultures (M. Scheid, unpublished observations). This was an essential component of liquid cultures in which clonable B cells were emerging only when adequate numbers of adherent cells were unavailable (Kincade *et al.*, 1981a), whereas clonal expansion of mitogen-activated B cells is absolutely dependent on this substance (Metcalf, 1976).

In some culture studies it was possible to observe B-cell formation and maturation in the absence of serum (Raff et al., 1975). However, it has generally been found that inclusion of carefully selected batches of fetal calf serum (FCS) is essential to obtaining good B-cell recovery (Melchers, 1977a; Melchers and Abramczuk, 1980; Kincade et al., 1981a). There is an interesting parallel in the behavior of the 70Z/3pre-B lymphoma cell line, where background expression of sIg was highly dependent on batches of FCS (Paige et al., 1978). This result could not be explained in terms of endotoxin contamination of certain sera and batches that were optimal for induction of the cell line were also superior in supporting B-cell formation in fetal liver organ cultures (C. Paige, unpublished observations). More recently, it was found that the cell line proliferates normally in a specially designed serum-free medium (Iscove and Melchers, 1978) but sIgM could not be induced with LPS unless 1% serum was added to the cultures (Paige et al., 1981b). The serum requirement for differentiation of early erythroid lineage cells was largely replaceable by a 35,000 dalton glycoprotein (Iscove, 1978), and it is hoped that the distinguishing features of good and bad serum lots of B-lineage cell cultures can be similarly defined.

At the present time it is seldom possible to distinguish between factors and manipulations that make up for nutritional inadequacies of cell cultures and those that mimic important signals for regulating B-cell formation. Indeed, the degree to which observations derived with tissue culture methods can be generalized to the situation *in vivo* must always be questioned. However, the methods now available permit at least the terminal events in B-cell emergence to occur under controlled circumstances, and this undoubtedly will lead us to a better understanding of the regulation of these processes. Furthermore, markers that have recently been defined with monoclonal antibodies now make it possible to isolate committed B-cell precursors in a high degree of purity. The culture techniques allow relatively small numbers of these to be manipulated and should ultimately provide information about the minimal signals necessary for their proliferation and/or differentiation.

VIII. Microenvironments for B-Lymphocyte Formation

A. IN BIRDS

Development of the humoral immune system in birds is highly dependent on a single tissue, the bursa of Fabricius (Glick *et al.*, 1956). The concept of separate origins for cells that mediate humoral and cell-mediated immune responses first derived from studies of the roles of the bursa and thymus in chickens (Warner *et al.*, 1962; Cooper *et al.*, 1966). Much is known about the colonization of that organ by stem cells, the development of bursal lymphocytes, and the onset of Ig synthesis. Questions remain, however, about the orogin of these stem cells, their nature, and the degree to which B cells can emerge in the absence of presumably specialized microenvironments.

Basophilic cells in the circulation of chick embryos between day 7 and day 15 of incubation enter the bursa, invade the epithelium, and give rise to B lymphocytes (Moore and Owen, 1965, 1966; Metcalf and Moore, 1971; Le Douarin et al., 1975; Houssaint et al., 1976). The first IgM bearing cells appear in the bursa from about day 13 of incubation; unlike the case with mammals, this is not preceded by a prolonged period of cytoplasmic μ -chain synthesis (Thorbecke *et al.*, 1968; Kincade and Cooper, 1971; Lydyard et al., 1976). In one study, chromosomally marked 13-14-day bursal cells were injected into sublethally irradiated embryos, and there was little tendency of these to give rise to T cells (Weber and Alexander, 1978). This might suggest that the stem cells that enter this tissue are already predestined to become B cells. On the other hand, in transfilter organ culture experiments it has been shown that populated embryonic bursas can serve as a source of cells that enter thymus rudiments and give rise to lymphocytes (Jotereau et al., 1980). The evidence to date suggests that these continue to differentiate along the T cell line (N. Le Douarin, personal communication).

Surgical bursectomy, performed at around day 17 of incubation, results in a profound immune deficiency. Such animals were found to be agammaglobulinemic, to lack plasma cells and germinal centers, and to fail to produce specific antibody (Van Alten et al., 1968; Cooper et al., 1969). Permanently agammaglobulinemic chickens can consistently be prepared by bursectomy and X-irradiation at hatching (Cooper et al., 1966), embryonic injections of anti- μ antibodies followed by bursectomy at hatching (Kincade et al., 1970), some treatment protocols employing testestosterone (Warner et al., 1969), or bursectomy combined with cytotoxic drug treatment (Linna et al., 1972; Toivanen et al., 1972). A deficiency of sIg⁺ B cells also results from embryonic bursectomy (Kincade et al., 1971), and this is less severe the later the operation is performed (Kincade et al., 1973). Animals surgically bursectomized in the late embryonic-newly hatched period are atypical in a number of respects. The full range of Ig isotypes may not be expressed, and individual animals may fall into a stable pattern of selective IgA deficiency or IgG and IgA deficiency (Kincade et al., 1973; Kincade and Cooper, 1973). Antibody responses, primary responses in particular, are often defective (Jankovic and Isakovic, 1966; Rose and Orlans, 1968). Antibodies made by these animals may have limited diversity (Huang and Dreyer, 1978; Ivanyi, 1975), and recovery from tolerance is impaired (Ivanyi and Salerno, 1972). This might suggest that if very few B-cell clones leave the bursa before it is removed, there is little ability to add to or diversify them later.

All these observations lead to the conclusion that the bursa is obligate to the formation of B cells in birds. However, it has been reported that at least some vestige of the humoral immune system was present in chickens whose bursas were removed at an extremely early stage (Fitzsimmons *et al.*, 1973; Jankovic *et al.*, 1975). In one such study, tissues destined to become bursa were destroyed by cauterization at 65-70 hours of incubation (Ewert and Cooper, 1979). No sIg⁺, Ia⁺ cells were found in surviving animals within 2 weeks of hatching. A small number of B cells were detectable, however, when tests were performed at a later time (M. D. Cooper, personal communication).

Some bursectomy procedures result in the formation of active suppressor T-cell populations that are capable of preventing B-cell differentiation (Blaese *et al.*, 1974; Grebenau *et al.*, 1976; Kermani-Arab and Leslie, 1977). For example, spleen cells taken from bursectomized chickens suppressed development of the humoral immune system when transferred to young chickens with intact bursas. As a crucial test of how well tissues other than the bursa can support the stem cell to B-lineage transition, the effect of bursectomy in athymic chickens should be investigated.

B. IN MAMMALS

It has been obvious for some time that the formation of B cells is not restricted to a single tissue in mammals (Stutman, 1973; Nossal and Pike, 1973). Possible candidates for mammalian equivalents of the bursa of Fabricius can now be evaluated in terms of the earliest sites where Ig genes are expressed, the effect of tissue ablation, the distribution and frequency of precursors that can give rise to B cells, and localization of cells that express early B-lineage markers.

In vivo spleen colony-forming units (CFU-s) and granulocytemacrophage progenitors (CFU-c) have first been detected within the yolk sac of murine embryos (Moore and Metcalf, 1970). There is also an appreciable incidence of cells which with appropriate conditioned medium form mixed morphology colonies composed of megakaryocytes, erythrocytes, eosinophils, granulocytes, and macrophages (Johnson and Metcalf, 1977; Metcalf *et al.*, 1979). Numbers of CFU-s and CFU-c reportedly increase during explant culture of isolated yolk sacs (Perah and Feldman, 1977; Moore and Metcalf, 1970), but neither Ig-synthesizing or LPS-responsive B-lineage cells appear (Owen *et al.*, 1975, 1976; Melchers and Abramczuk, 1980). Nor did yolk sac cells function in a transfer assay designed to detect the immediate precursors of B cells (Phillips and Melchers, 1976).

A number of observations suggest, however, that hematopoietic stem cells capable of lymphoid differentiation are also present within the blood islands of this extraembryonic tissue. Grafting yolk sac cells into 8-10-day embryos in situ resulted in animals that were chimeric for T cells and CFU-s (Weissman et al., 1976). Irradiated recipients given volk sac cells developed donor-type Ig, and the thymus and other lymphoid organs were repopulated by chromosomally marked cells of donor origin (Tyan and Herzenberg, 1968; Moore and Metcalf, 1970; Stutman, 1976; Paige et al., 1979). In one study, repopulation of thymus grafts by yolk sac cells took longer than with fetal liver grafts and did not occur in ⁸⁹Sr-treated recipients (Stutman, 1976). This was interpreted to mean that transit through bone marrow was important to the thymus seeding capability of yolk sac stem cells. Clonable B cells developed from CBA/H-T6T6 yolk sac cells placed in irradiated CBA/N mice but did not consistently appear in appreciable numbers until 8 weeks after grafting (Paige et al., 1979).

The incidences and time of appearance of CFU-s and CFU-c in murine yolk sac were consistent with the hypothesis that hematopoietic stem cells arise *de novo* only within extraembryonic tissues and subsequently migrate via the bloodstream to colonize various lymphoid and hematopoietic organs (Moore and Metcalf, 1970; Moore and Owen, 1967; Metcalf and Moore, 1971). Hematopoiesis has not been observed in organ cultures of isolated fetal liver when the tissue was obtained from embryos of less than 11 days of gestation (28 somites) (Moore and Metcalf, 1970; Johnson and Jones, 1973; Cudennec et al., 1981). This did occur, however, when liver from slightly older embryos was cultured, when embryos were cultured along with intact volk sacs, or when the liver rudiments were allowed to be colonized by volk sac cells migrating across a membrane in vitro. Early liver rudiments also became hematopoietic when grafted into irradiated mice with an appropriate source of stem cells (Johnson and Moore, 1975). The dependence of intraembryonic B-lymphocyte development on volk sac-derived cells has not been thoroughly investigated. Organ cultures of 11-day and older fetal liver fragments, but not 12-day volk sac, developed $c\mu^+$ cells (Owen et al., 1976).

At approximately the same stage of development (11 days of gestation), Andrew and Owen (1978) were able to detect some $c\mu^+$ cells in umbilical blood, and this leaves open the possibility that stem cells are not induced to follow B-lineage differentiation in the liver. Formal proof of that would require showing that prelymphoid hepatic rudiments will support differentiation of cells of this lineage without first being colonized by precommitted B-cell precursors that arise elsewhere. Without such a demonstration, it is not certain that the fetal liver contains bursal equivalent microenvironments.

In studies performed to date, cells expressing the 14.8 series of antigens were first detectable in 12-day fetal liver. At this stage no cells bearing this antigen were detected in either yolk sacs or embryonic blood (E. S. Medlock and P. W. Kincade, unpublished observations). As is demonstrated in the following section, cells capable of quickly giving rise to clonable B cells under liquid culture circumstances can be completely removed by monoclonal antibodies directed to this marker. The same was found to be true for cells that give rise to the B cells formed within 10 days, but not those arising later in irradiated recipient mice. In contrast, it has been reported that a wave of B-cell precursors appears within the ectoplacenta and circulating blood before their expansion in liver (Melchers and Abramczuk, 1980). Reconciliation of these findings will require determining whether precursors able to mature under the liquid culture conditions employed by Melchers are positive for this B-lineage antigen. It is noteworthy that dextran sulfate was added to these cultures along with thymus filler cells. The rationale for this is that certain data suggest that immature cells of the B lineage are uniquely responsive to this mitogen (Gronowicz *et al.*, 1974).

The significance of the rare $c\mu^+$ cells in early embryonic blood (Andrew and Owen, 1978) is also not clear. All the cells with these pre-B characteristics in adult marrow express the 14.8 antigen, and their numbers greatly exceed Ig-synthesizing cells in early fetal liver (Landreth *et al.*, 1981b). The relationship suggested between these cells in Fig. 4 is seemingly in conflict with the observation of $c\mu^+$ but not 14.8 antigen⁺ cells in the early embryonic blood. It is possible that a very early wave of B-cell differentiation occurs before this antigen system is activated. Otherwise, it would have to be concluded that a possibly important and precocious event in differentiation of the humoral immune system occurs first within the fetal liver.

Since Volpe et al. (1979) discerned that thymocytes of amphibians, like those of birds and mammals, derive from immigrant cells, the concept of extrinsic colonization of lymphoid rudiments by stem cells has not been seriously questioned. However, studies by Dieterlen-Lievre and her colleagues using chicken and quail embryos have raised the possibility that some site other than the yolk sac might provide stem cells relevant to intraembryonic lymphoid and hemopoietic differentiation in birds (Dieterlen-Lievre, 1975; Lassila et al., 1978; Martin et al., 1979; Beaupain et al., 1979). Exchange grafts were made between very early blastoderms of quail and chick embryos such that the fate of cells in the yolk sac of one species could subsequently be determined in embryos of the other species that developed in association with it. The origin of cells could be discerned in this situation because of distinctly different nuclear morphologies in stained preparations. Essentially all the bursal cells that developed were of the same type as the embryo, although a small number of yolk sac cells were present for a time within the embryos. The same conclusion resulted from analysis of hemoglobin markers and when the yolk sacs and embryos differed only for sex and Ig allotype. These results have been used to argue that, while the yolk sac stem cells of birds probably have the same potential as those arising from some site within the embryo, the latter normally contribute most to the lifelong production of lymphoid and other blood cells. Collections of basophilic cells observed in the dorsal mesentery of quail embryos 4-5 days old are possible candidates for such stem cells (Dieterlen-Lievre, personal communication). Comparable studies have not been performed with mammals, and it should be noted that there are many physiologic differences between these species. For example, the liver is not the major hematopoietic tissue in birds that it is in murine embryos (Kingsbury *et al.*, 1956; LeDouarin, 1975). Given the present uncertainty about the nature of stem cells and committed precursors that might be present in early embryonic blood, the question of where stem cells relevant to the humoral immune system originate should be regarded as open. As previously discussed, the yolk sac of mammals clearly contains cells able to give rise to B and T lymphocytes. It remains to be formally established that similar stem cells can or cannot arise in intraembryonic tissues.

By biosynthetic labeling, immunoglobulin synthesis has been detectable within 10-12-day embryos and in large cells in fetal liver from 13 days of gestation (Melchers et al., 1975). The early appearance of cells with detectable cytoplasmic, but not surface. Ig in embryonic liver and then spleen and bone marrow has also been documented (Raff et al., 1976; Owen et al., 1974; Andrew and Owen, 1978), There is general agreement that cells with sIg detectable by immunofluorescence first emerge in fetal liver between 16 and 17 days of gestation (Nossal and Pike, 1973; Owen et al., 1974; Bruyns et al., 1976; Andrew and Owen, 1978; Teale and Mandel, 1980). However, studies employing surface labeling of cells with lactoperoxidase (Melchers et al., 1976) or rosetting with anti-Ig coated RBC (Rosenberg and Parish. 1977) suggested that very small quantities of sIg might be displayed in an unstable fashion on the surface of immature B-lineage cells. Another report indicated that rosetting was more sensitive than autoradiography, and this permitted some large marrow lymphocytes to be detected with anti-Ig (Yang et al., 1978). The curious tendency of lightly rosetting cells in fetal liver to be removed with carbonyl iron (Rosenberg and Parish, 1977) should perhaps be given further consideration. Studies of cell lines also suggested that some μ chains could be released from pre-B cells (Levitt and Cooper, 1980). It is a characteristic of B cells that have just acquired small quantities of sIg to be sensitive to exposure to anti-Ig antibodies (Kincade et al., 1970; Lawton et al., 1972; Raff et al., 1975). However, while the emergence of small lymphocytes with B-cell markers may be prevented, numbers of sIg⁻ lymphocytes and cIg⁺ cells are not affected (Kearney et al., 1978; Burrows et al., 1978; Osmond and Gordon, 1979). This would indicate that if Ig (μ chains or complete IgM molecules) is displayed in small amounts on B-cell precursors, it may have little functional significance.

Between 13 and 16 days of gestation, there is a dramatic increase in the incidence of committed B-cell precursors in fetal liver. This was apparent from titrations of cells in liquid cultures that could give rise to LPS-responsive B cells (Melchers, 1977b). Using adult thymus cells

as fillers, it was estimated that these expanded approximately 100-fold over this interval. The relative incidence of B-cell precursors capable of giving rise to clonable B cells within 9 days of transfer to irradiated recipients was also determined by titration (Paige et al., 1981a). These increased approximately 10-fold over the 13-16-day interval. Of particular interest is the fact that the frequency of stem cells (CFU-s) and cells capable of giving rise to myeloid progenitor cells (CFU-c) did not change during this period of embryonic liver development (Metcalf and Moore, 1971; Paige et al., 1981a). A perhaps more gradual increase occurred in numbers of cells that could respond in the Klinman splenic focus assay (Teale and Mandel, 1980). Cells displaying the 14.8 antigen also expand during this time (unpublished observations). The problem noted elsewhere in this review in standardizing gestational stages should be sufficient caution to prevent direct comparison of these various data. The results do show, however, that substantial proliferation occurs prior to the emergence of cells with easily detectable sIg.

It has been acknowledged for some time that the bone marrow is a major site of production of small lymphocytes in adult rodents (Osmond and Everett, 1964). Extensive studies employing autoradiography alone or in combination with cell surface marker analysis have contributed much of what we know about the final steps in B-cell formation in adult mammals (Osmond, 1975; Rosse, 1976). When a single injection of radiolabeled thymidine is given to an animal, all cells in DNA synthesis that are exposed to the isotope become labeled. Autoradiography and grain count analysis can then be used to follow the fate of these cells, since the amount of radioactivity is halved by each division and labeled cells are lost only through death or migration of the cells to other tissues. Typical small lymphocytes, which comprise approximately a quarter of marrow nucleated cells, are not immediately labeled, but increasing numbers of them become so with time after pulse exposure. Studies by Osmond and Nossal (1974a,b) first established a relationship between these newly formed, small lymphocytes and cells of the humoral immune system of mice. They found that sIg⁺ cells in that site did not themselves divide but were instead derived from recently formed sIg- small lymphocytes, which in turn were the progeny of cycling large cells. The data suggested that the sIg density gradually increased on these cells and that a random loss (through exit or death) of marrow B cells occurred during this maturational sequence.

Cells with detectable cytoplasmic, but not surface, μ chains in the marrow are both large and small (Cooper *et al.*, 1976). Owen *et al.*

(1977) learned that the large ones were among the cycling marrow lymphocyte population. More recent observations suggest that large, dividing Ig⁻ cells give rise to large $c\mu^+$ cells, which then may divide only once to yield two daughter cells destined to acquire surface Ig (Landreth *et al.*, 1981a). That the cells that precede Ig-synthesizing cells are cycling is also consistent with the finding that considerable time is required for recovery from hydroxyurea treatment (Rusthoven and Phillips, 1980). It is also noteworthy that $c\mu^+$ cells reappear before sIg⁺ cells after cyclophosphamide treatment (Burrows *et al.*, 1978). In other studies, it seemed that receptors for Fc and complement as well as Ia antigens are all acquired soon after sIgM is displayed on small marrow lymphocytes (Yang *et al.*, 1978; Lala *et al.*, 1979).

It should be noted that while marrow is a major site of B-cell formation and includes precursor cells of various stages of maturity, a significant fraction (7-20%) of the lymphocytes in that tissue are long lived and the incidence of such cells tends to increase with age (Miller and Osmond. 1975). Some of these have been accounted for as being recirculating B and T cells. An additional population of recently formed null cells have not been further identified (O. W. Press et al., 1977; Yang et al., 1978). The production of small lymphocytes in murine bone marrow has been calculated to be approximately 10⁸ cells per day (Osmond, 1975). This rate is maximal in young adults and subsequently declines with age (Miller and Osmond, 1975). It is not obviously influenced by suppressive doses of anti- μ antibodies (D. Osmond, personal communication) but is abnormally low in gnotobiotic animals (Osmond, 1979). These observations would suggest that numbers of sIg⁺ lymphocytes do not feed back to regulate the rate of B-cell formation, whereas environmental antigenic stimulation can play a role. This may relate to other studies that indicate that nonspecific stimulation, perhaps acting via macrophages, causes the sequential transition of newly formed B cells to large cells and then to small typical B cells that have improved response capability in short-term assays (Howard et al., 1978; Shortman and Howard, 1979). The apparent importance of macrophages in augmenting the formation of B cells in culture has been illustrated and discussed elsewhere in this review.

The bone-seeking isotope ⁸⁹Sr has been used experimentally to ablate bone marrow more or less selectively and test its importance in B-cell differentiation. It was found that such marrow-suppressed animals could support the generation of functional B cells after wholebody irradiation and reconstitution with hematopoietic cells (Phillips and Miller, 1974; Kincade *et al.*, 1975; Rozing *et al.*, 1975). It should be remembered, however, that the grafted cells were in each case mixtures of undifferentiated stem cells and committed precursors of possibly several kinds. Thus, while it can be said that the marrow is not obligate to the final stages in formation and expansion of B cells, the necessity for stem cells to interact with that tissue has not been evaluated. Much the same problem applies to the designation of any tissue in mammals as the equivalent of the bursa of Fabricius.

There is some controversy as to the role of the spleen in B-cell formation and maturation. For example, $c\mu^+$, sg^- cells are not found in that tissue under normal circumstances or during regeneration from irradiation, although they are detectable in marrow (Burrows et al., 1978; Owen et al., 1979). In contrast, apparently sIg⁻ cells from spleen were able to give rise to antigen-responsive B-cell clones in the Klinman splenic focus assay (Teale et al., 1979). Lafleur et al. (1972a,b) considered the spleen to be a source of large immature "pre-B" cells, but these were described as being sIg⁺. In addition, there are small numbers of cells in adult spleen that can be induced to express B-cell markers during short-term culture with appropriate factors (Scheid et al., 1975; Hämmerling et al., 1976). There is reason to believe that many of the newly formed small lymphocytes that leave the marrow migrate to the spleen (Brahim and Osmond, 1970), and some of these might not be fully mature. Also, when immature cells from marrow were injected into the bloodstream, they completed the process of acquiring B-cell markers in the spleen (Ryser and Vassalli, 1974; Yang et al., 1978). Therefore, to reconcile these observations it is only necessary to suppose that the intracellular pool of μ chains declines rapidly after cells leave marrow. An alternative possibility would be that, under certain circumstances, it is possible to form functional B cells without a prolonged period of $c\mu$ expression.

IX. Antigens Expressed on B-Lymphocyte Precursors

A. ANTIGENS DEFINED BY CONVENTIONAL ANTIBODIES

The field of immunogenetics has revealed a large number of serologically detectable, polymorphic structures on murine lymphocyte surfaces (McKenzie and Potter, 1979). Display of some of these seems to correspond to stages of differentiation, and these have been generally referred to as differentiation antigens (Boyse and Old, 1969). Some, but not necessarily all, may also correspond to particular cell lineages, but many others are shared by cell types that have no obvious common features. Elsewhere in this review, antigens are considered that coincide with B-lineage maturational stages or with the ability of B cells to respond in various ways, or both. Conventional heteroantibodies have been occasionally used to study murine B- lymphocyte emergence, but standardization of such reagents is extremely difficult (Ryser and Vassalli, 1974; Owen *et al.*, 1975; Gorczynski, 1977). Only very recently have antigens been identified that are expressed on relatively undifferentiated lymphocyte precursors, and such determinants should be invaluable in identifying sites of origin of such early B lineage cells. In addition, these make it possible for the first time to enumerate and manipulate both B cells and their precursors.

Genes within the midportion of the murine major histocompatibility complex (MHC) encode Ia antigens that are expressed on most B cells, subpopulations of macrophages, and some T cells (Goding et al., 1975; Hämmerling, 1976; Schwartz et al., 1976). Cells with detectable cytoplasmic, but not surface. Ig lack detectable Ia: B cells bearing Ia are few in number and express a low density of antigens in fetal or newborn mice, and full expression occurs some weeks after birth (Kearney et al., 1977; Mond et al., 1980a). It has been reported that small numbers of Ia⁻ B cells are present in adult tissues and a series of induction experiments suggested that these might represent a normal intermediate stage in B-cell maturation (J. L. Press et al., 1977; Hämmerling et al., 1976). Other studies suggest that most B cells express at least small amounts of Ia and that these antigens are acquired in parallel with sIg by newly formed B cells in marrow (Mond *et al.*, 1980b): Lala et al., 1979). Essentially all clonable B cells of adult mice are eliminated by anti-Ia + complement treatment (Kincade et al., 1978b), whereas marrow precursors able to give rise to B cells during liquid culture are not affected (Kincade et al., unpublished observations). These antigens are also not demonstrable on CFU-s or CFU-c of the mouse by cytotoxic elimination (Kincade et al., 1978b; Basch et al., 1977) whereas comparable antigens are present on the myeloid cells of humans (Winchester et al., 1977).

Genes corresponding to several lymphocyte antigens are located in the *Tla* region, distal to the *H*-2*D* end of the MHC of the mouse (Flaherty, 1978; Klein *et al.*, 1978). In addition to TL antigens, which are normally only displayed on thymocytes, there is a series of antigens called Qa, which are expressed by peripheral lymphocytes (Stanton and Boyse, 1976; Flaherty *et al.*, 1978; Hämmerling *et al.*, 1979). Qa-2 is especially interesting because of its distribution and appearance during ontogeny. It is demonstrable on T cells and B cells belonging to several functionally distinct categories as well as CFU-s and CFU-c (Kincade *et al.*, 1980), but not erythrocytes, brain, kidney, or epidermal cells. The immediate precursors of B cells in adult marrow are also Qa-2⁺ (Kincade *et al.*, unpublished observations). However, this antigen is not demonstrable on any cells of fetal or newborn animals, and longer than 4 weeks may be required for full expression on all tissues. That is, both undifferentiated and fully mature cells express Qa in adults, but the time of appearance corresponds with the chronological age of the animal. This can be contrasted with the first appearance of H-2 antigens which have been consistently demonstrated by day 16 of gestation and have a wider cellular representation (Edidin, 1972). There is evidence that Qa-1 and Qa-4 antigens are also displayed on some B-cell populations, but developmental studies have not been done (Nell *et al.*, 1980; Kincade *et al.*, unpublished observations).

Lyb-2 is a well characterized B-lymphocyte alloantigen for which three alleles are known (Sato and Boyse, 1976; Shen *et al.*, 1977; Sato *et al.*, 1977; Taylor and Shen, 1977). The molecule is 40,000–45,000 daltons in size but can be distinguished from MHC-linked antigens by the fact that it is not associated with β -2-microglobulin (Tung *et al.*, 1977). All B cells but not antibody-secreting cells in adult mice display Lyb-2, and the number of positive cells in marrow exceeds the number of sIg⁺ cells (Yakura *et al.*, 1980; Sato and Boyse, 1976). All clonable B cells in adult tissues express Lyb-2 as do the sIg⁻ cells in marrow, which can quickly give rise to B cells (Kincade *et al.*, 1980a, unpublished observations). However, the same conditions of immune elimination did not affect the B-cell precursors in 16-day fetal liver. This marker would be the one of choice for studying B cells and their immediate precursors in adult murine tissues, but it would not be suitable for analysis of comparable events during embryogenesis.

B. New Monoclonal Antibodies

The 19B5 antibody described in another section of this review was extremely useful in resolving putative stem cells from the earliest members of the B lineage (Paige *et al.*, 1981a). However, a large proportion of cells in hematopoietic tissues are killed by this cytotoxic antibody (Shinefeld *et al.*, 1980), and it was therefore not suitable for localizing and enumerating relatively rare B-cell precursors. An ideal marker would have a more restricted cellular representation and yet be present from a very early stage of embryonic development.

Another approach to this problem was to prepare a panel of monoclonal antibodies directed to B-cell antigens (Kincade *et al.*, 1981c). Rats were immunized with murine B-lymphoma cell lines. The immune rat spleen cells were then fused with enzyme-deficient, nonsecreting, murine plasma cell tumors. Clones were selected whose antibody bound to the immunizing cell lines but not to erythrocytes, thymocytes, or T lymphoma cells. Six of these antibodies bound to idiotypic or isotypic determinants of immunoglobulin (Kincade *et al.*, 1981b). A set of three clones were characterized that produced antibody to stem cells (CFU-s), certain myeloid cells, and peripheral T cells as well as B cells. Another set of five clones (typified by the prototype clone, 14.8) made antibodies that similarly bound to normal B cells and established B-lineage cell lines (Table IV). A small proportion of peripheral T cells were recognized by 14.8 antibody, but most nonlymphoid cell types were not. A notable exception is the myelomonocytic leukemia line, WEHI-3, which also expresses the T-cell marker Thy-1 (Ledbetter and Herzenberg, 1979).

Genetic polymorphism has not been apparent for the antigen detected by these antibodies, and it is interesting that two B cell lines did not display this marker whereas all the B cells in the strains of origin were positive. This suggests that some distinctions of normal cells are lost by tumor cells in culture and would correspond to the absence of HLA antigens on a human B-cell line (Singer and Williamson, 1979). Of special interest is the fact that pre-B cell lines were positive, and it is clear that this antigen is displayed on normal B-cell precursors as well (Kincade *et al.*, 1981c, see below).

The tentative conclusion that this group of monoclonal antibodies are directed to the same structure derives from the similarity of immunofluorescence staining patterns obtained by labeling 13 established cell lines and examining them with a FACS. Two antibodies

TABLE IV

DISTRIBUTION OF A B-LYMPHOCYTE ANTIGEN DETECTED BY A GROUP OF MONOCLONAL ANTIBODIES^a

Positive cell types

Established cell lines: RAW 118 (lymphoma), 18.8 (pre-B lymphoma), 70Z/3 (pre-B lymphoma), W 279 (B lymphoma), 38C-13 (B lymphoma), WEHI-3 (Thy-1⁺, myelomonocytic leukemia)

Normal tissues: Bone marrow (24%), spleen (49%), lymph nodes (49%), thymus (1%), sIg⁺ cells (100%), T cells (25% of those in lymph nodes), B-cell precursors (see text)

Negative cell types

Established cell lines: EL-4 (T lymphoma), RAW 264 (macrophage tumor), P 815 (mastocytoma), GM 86 (erythroleukemia), 416B^b (stem cell line), W 231 (B lymphoma), K56F (B lymphoma)

Normal tissues: Macrophages, erythrocytes, neutrophils, brain, stem cells (CFU-s), myeloid progenitor cells (CFU-c)

^a Comparable results were obtained by immunofluorescence or absorption testing of antibodies from clones 14.8, 177.17, 385.11, 54.20, and 83.4.

^b Under certain circumstances, a minority of these cells are antigen positive.

with very similar specificities to these were independently developed in another laboratory (Coffman and Weissman, 1981a,b). The most notable difference in those and the ones summarized in Table IV is that no reactivity for peripheral T cells was found. One of these clones was found to precipitate a 220,000 dalton glycoprotein, and it has been determined that several of the clones in the 14.8 group also recognize a molecule of this size (J. S. Tung and P. W. Kincade, unpublished observations). This is an important finding because it relates these B-lymphocyte antigens to a previously described family of high molecular weight antigens present on T and B cells, which have in turn been found to be identical to a polymorphic lymphocyte antigen system designated Ly-5.

Trowbridge and colleagues (1975) first noted that a major target of rabbit anti-mouse lymphocyte sera was a series of antigens of approximate 200,000 molecular weight. It seemed that B cells must express the larger (220,000 MW) form, and it was later found that all of these shared at least some antigenic determinants (Trowbridge and Mazauskas, 1976; Trowbridge, 1978; Tung et al., 1981). The Ly-5 antigen system was originally thought to encode antigens that were restricted to T cells because of their greater susceptibility to alloantiserum plus complement-mediated lysis (Komuro et al., 1975). Scheid and Triglia (1979) later used a rosetting procedure to demonstrate than an antigen or antigens determined by this genetic locus were displayed on myeloid cells, granulocytes, macrophages, natural killer cells, T cells, and B cells, but not on erythrocytes, teratocarcinoma, or neuroblastoma cells. Michaelson et al. (1979) learned that allele-specific anti-Ly-5 antisera precipitated several spleen cell antigens, including a 220,000 MW species. Biochemical, cross-precipitation, and peptide analyses then revealed that the so-called T-200 family of molecules described by Trowbridge actually bear Ly-5 antigen determinants (Omary et al., 1980; Siadak and Nowinski, 1980; Tung et al., 1981). Congenic mouse strains differing for Ly-5 alleles are now available, and there are a number of monoclonal rat anti-mouse antibodies that probably recognize this family of lymphocyte antigens (Trowbridge, 1978; Ledbetter and Herzenberg, 1979). At least four of the 14.8 series of monoclonal antibodies, one developed by Coffman and Weissman (1981b) and one directed at human cells (Dalchau and Fabre, 1981), recognize the member of this family that is preferentially expressed on B cells.

Aside from the cellular representation of the 14.8 series of antigens shown in Table IV, initial studies have been made of the tissue distribution of antigen-bearing cells (Medlock and Kincade, 1981). Antigen-positive cells were not detected in fetal yolk sac,

placenta, or circulating blood whereas they were easily found in the liver at 12 days of gestation. The incidence of these cells rose from approximately 3% to 16% between day 16 of gestation and birth. Examinations of cryostat sections of newborn spleen revealed collections of antigen-bearing cells, 3-4 cell layers thick, distributed around the central arteries of developing periarteriolar lymphoid sheaths (PALS). These cells predominated in PALS of adult spleen and in cortical primary follicles and germinal centers of lymph nodes. Antibodycoated plastic dishes have been utilized to deplete and/or enrich selectively for cells bearing these antigens (Landreth *et al.*, 1981b). Essentially all the B-cell precursors from fetal liver or adult marrow that are capable of giving rise to clonable B cells in the system depicted in Fig. 2 are removed by this adherence procedure, whereas numbers of CFU-s and CFU-c in the suspensions are not diminished. The ability of such suspensions to regenerate functional B cells on transfer to irradiated or immunodeficient mice is dramatically reduced by removal of antigen-bearing cells, but only if the assays are performed within 10 days of grafting. At longer intervals after grafting, the contribution of these particular cells to the rapid expansion in B-cell numbers is not obvious (Table V). This would indicate that 14.8 antigen-positive precursors of B cells may have limited proliferative potential and that some type of less mature precursors account for most of the B cells that emerge from 2 weeks of grafting onward. As noted elsewhere in this review, such cells still have little obvious relationship with CFU-s (Paige et al., 1981a). It should be cautioned, however, that the true proliferative potential of 14.8 antigen-positive cells could have been underestimated if they were incompletely removed by the antibodycoated dishes, and similar studies have to be performed with positively selected cells.

	Clonab	e B cells recovered after residence in		
16-Day fetal liver suspension	Liquid culture, 4 days	Unirradiated CBA/N spleen, 10 days	Irradiated CBA/N spleen, 10 days	Irradiated CBA/N spleen, 19 days
Undepleted Depleted of 14.8 ⁺ cells	2031" 127	349 62	5202 1565	626,000 687,000

TABLE V MATURATION OF B-CELL PRECURSORS in Vitro AND in Vivo

"All data are expressed as numbers of clonable B cells per 10⁶ initial cells.

Remarkably enriched lymphocyte populations can be obtained by recovery of cells from 14.8 antibody-coated dishes. One such preparation is shown in Fig. 3. This was made by first depleting sIg^+ B cells from adult marrow with monoclonal anti- μ , allowing the remaining cells to incubate in 14.8 antibody-coated dishes, and finally mechanically removing the specifically adherent cells. This suspension was composed of greater than 97% lymphocytes and included small leptochromatic lymphocytes and large, pale "transitional" cells. Approximately half of these cells contained μ chains. Fetal liver cells from 16-day embryos where only 3% of the cells are 14.8 antigen⁺ have been similarly enriched so that 97% of the cells were lymphocytes. Some morphological differences have been noted in the fetal and adult cells, and a much lower percentage of the fetal lymphocytes at this



FIG. 3. A positively selected preparation of bone marrow B-cell precursors. Bcell-depleted bone marrow suspensions were allowed to adhere to plastic dishes coated with the 14.8 monoclonal antibody. Specifically adhering cells were mechanically removed, cytocentrifuged, and stained with Jenner-Giemsa stain. All the cells that can give rise to B cells in culture or quickly after transfer to irradiated mice are included in such selected populations. (Preparation made and photographed by K. Landreth and G. Lee.) stage synthesize detectable μ chains (Landreth *et al.*, 1981b, and unpublished observations). Numbers of these cells considerably exceed numbers of $c\mu^+$ cells in fetal liver and precede the appearance of sIg⁺ cells in that site by at least 4 days.

C. A POSSIBLE SEQUENCE OF MARKER ACQUISITION

The above observations suggest that appropriate markers will now permit the resolution of various B-cell precursors and allow them to be experimentally manipulated. A possible series of maturational stages that might occur between undifferentiated stem cells and the earliest functional B cells is depicted in Fig. 4. The various cell types are distinguished both by their apparent display of surface antigens described in this section as well as by the apparent time required for their transition to B cells under experimental circumstances. The very long time required for substantial B-cell recovery from irradiation in yolk sac-grafted animals and the striking differences in the incidence and locations of CFU-s and B-lineage precursors form the basis for the distinction of the first two cell types. The differential effects of removal of 19B5 antigen⁺ cells (Paige et al., 1981a) and depletion of 14.8⁺ cells (Kincade et al., 1981e) on precursors that give rise to B cells in irradiated mice suggest a possible subdivision of these early B-cell precursors. Both or neither of these cell types could be irrevocably committed to differentiate along the humoral immune line. The permanent and selective chimerism achieved with unirradiated CBA/N mice (Paige et al., 1980) argues for the existence of a committed B stem cell,



FIG. 4. Some possible categories of B-cell precursors. Cells are resolved by their apparent expression of surface antigens, the time required for formation of functional B cells in experimental circumstances, and postulated changes in size and cytoplasmic μ synthesis (adult marrow only).

222

but the characteristics of these have not been determined. Cells displaying 14.8 antigen considerably exceed numbers of Ig-synthesizing cells in fetal liver, and in bone marrow approximately half of the sIg⁻, 14.8⁺ lymphocytes are $c\mu^+$. The remaining cells in the series are so placed because of the presumed events that take place in adult bone marrow and the results of culture and transplantation experiments discussed in other sections.

X. Functional Heterogeneity of B Lymphocytes—Specialized Subpopulations

A. APPARENT CELL SETS

The emergence of B cells with antibody specificities for an extremely large array of antigens was documented in an earlier volume of this series (Sigal and Klinman, 1978). B cells are also extraordinarily diverse in terms of physical properties, display of cell surface markers, and responses in various assays. This heterogeneity may be attributable in part to cells differing with respect to maturity, antigen experience, or recent stimulation by specific and nonspecific factors. However, in recent years much has been said about differential responsiveness that might reflect functional specialization of B-cell sets. Any consideration of B-cell development should at least acknowledge this possible dimension of B-cell heterogeneity.

Playfair and Purves (1971) and Gershon (1974) introduced the terms B1 and B2 to denote cells that could be activated to antibody secretion without T-cell help or only in the presence of T-cell help. Many others have examined responses of B cells to the same hapten presented on T-independent carriers, e.g., Ficoll, and on T-dependent carriers, e.g., ovalbumin. Gorczynski and Feldman (1975) observed an apparent difference in the size of cells responding to haptens presented on different carriers. This was true for marrow and spleen but not lymph node cells and might be explained in terms of differential recruitment of immature (Lafleur et al., 1972a) or nonspecifically activated (Howard et al., 1979) cell sets. Jennings and Rittenberg (1976) demonstrated that the magnitude of immune responses to TNP-T4 (a T-cellindependent antigen) and TNP-KLH (a T-cell-dependent antigen) in culture were additive when both antigens were used together and responses to the individual antigens could be selectively inhibited by high doses. In other studies using limiting dilution analysis in liquid cultures, it was shown that simultaneous immunization with two such different antigens stimulated very nearly the sum of the number of B cells that were activated when the antigens were used separately

(Quintans and Cosenza, 1976; Lewis and Goodman, 1977; Tittle and Rittenberg, 1978). Memory B1 and B2 cells are also differentially affected by allogeneic T-cell help (Golding and Rittenberg, 1980). More recently it was found that hapten-specific B-cell sets could also be independently stimulated with presentation on different carriers in the Klinman splenic focus assay (Fung and Kohler, 1980).

Mosier and colleagues (1977, 1979) studied the appearance of B cells in ontogenv that responded to different T-independent (TI) antigens. On the basis of these findings and other distinctions, they proposed subdivision of these antigens into two types. Type 1 includes haptenated Brucella or LPS, and cells responding to them emerge by the time of birth and are present in partially immunodeficient CBA/N mice. Type 2 includes haptens conjugated to Ficoll, dextran, and pneumococcal vaccine, and responsiveness to them develops some days later. Among other differences, antigens in the first category are taken to be good mitogens. TI-1 antigens apparently can elicit antibody from the same subsets as T-dependent (TD) antigens, but in a T-cell independent fashion. Galanaud et al. (1975, 1976) found that responses to nonmitogenic antigens or haptenated SRBC were sensitive to the drug azothioprine, whereas responses to mitogenic carriers like LPS were resistant. Similarly, Kunkl and Klaus (1980) found that the drug cyclosporin A can be used to inhibit selectively antibody production to DNP-Ficoll without impairing responses to DNP-LPS or DNP-Brucella.

Independence of B-cell sets in formation of antibody to hapten presented in various ways has been demonstrated with primary (IgM) and memory (IgG) responses (Quintans and Cosenza, 1976; Tittle and Rittenberg, 1978). Thus, there may be at least four populations of B cells (B1 virgin, B2 virgin, B1 memory, and B2 memory) with similar antibody specificities but distinct triggering requirements. However, if there is selectivity at the level of antibody responses, the same does not hold for proliferative responses. There are circumstances in which antigens of one type cause expansion (priming for memory responses) in cells that would not make antibody to them (Tittle and Rittenberg, 1980; Mosier, 1978; Scott *et al.*, 1979). The complexity of this problem is evident by the fact that it has been necessary to evoke even more populations of B cells to explain certain findings (Fung and Kohler, 1980; Tittle and Rittenberg, 1980).

B. IMPLICATIONS OF THE CBA/N (X^{id}) MUTATION

Many observations and speculations on functional B-cell diversity center on studies of partially immunodeficient CBA/N strain mice. These were first discovered and described on the basis of their X chromosome-linked inability to form antibody to pneumococcal S III antigen and low serum IgM levels (Amsbaugh *et al.*, 1972, 1974). The mutation was later mapped and termed X^{ia} (Berning *et al.*, 1980). It was soon learned that CBA/N mice were unresponsive to certain other TI antigens whereas at least some antibody was made on immunization with TD antigens (Scher *et al.*, 1973, 1975b; Janeway and Barthold, 1975; Cohen *et al.*, 1976). However, responses were measured to the TI-1 type of immunogens discussed above (Mosier *et al.*, 1978).

Newborn CBA/N mice have approximately normal numbers of splenic sIg⁺ cells, but these fail to develop to normal adult values (Kincade *et al.*, 1978a; Scher *et al.*, 1975a). Furthermore, the B cells of adult X^{id} mice lack many of the characteristics associated with normal mature populations. They develop a persistent population of sIg⁺ cells that have large amounts of μ relative to δ and that would be typical of spleen cells of young normal mice (Finkelman *et al.*, 1975; Scher *et al.*, 1976, 1980). Ia antigens are expressed on these cells, and on average the density is higher than normal (Scher *et al.*, 1975a; Kincade *et al.*, 1978a; Mond *et al.*, 1980a). Spleen cells from adult defective animals neither provoke proliferative responses across minor histocompatibility differences nor respond to stimulation by intact anti-Ig antibodies, whereas normal mature B cells do (Ahmed and Scher, 1976; Sieckman *et al.*, 1978).

Because CBA/N mice fail to develop many of the B-cell populations and functional characteristics of normal adult mice, it seemed for a time that the mutation might represent a maturational block in a single lineage of B-cell differentiation. According to this interpretation, these mice would possess all B-cell functions that are proximal to this point and lack all those that emerge later in the sequence. Further, their B cells might be representative of intermediate stages in differentiation in adults and typical of B cells present at any one time in immature animals. The finding that B cells capable of colony formation in semisolid agar were never detectable in any tissue of fetal or adult CBA/N mice was not easily reconciled with this view (Kincade, 1977). As detailed elsewhere in this review, the clonable B cells that emerge in the liver of normal embryos at 17 days of gestation are "immature" in the sense that Ia, Qa-2, and IgD are not expressed, and the cells are hypersensitive to capping of their surface Ig. Maturation of B-lineage cells within semisolid cultures seems to be minimal, and B-cell function was most efficiently restored in unirradiated CBA/N mice by grafting with fetal liver cells (Kincade et al., 1978a; Kincade and Paige,

1979). These observations suggested that the mutation of these mice must affect an early stage of B-cell development.

The disease results from an X-linked mutation, and, according to the Lyon hypothesis (1974), one of a pair of X chromosomes in heterozygous female mice should be randomly inactivated in somatic cells during embryonic life. Such animals should therefore be mosaics of normal and defective B cells which in turn arose from equal numbers of normal and defective stem cells. The incidences and total numbers of clonable B cells in young female offspring of the cross CBA/N × CBA/H were almost exactly half that of their male littermates (Kincade *et al.*, 1978a). In more mature mice, numbers of these cells tended to increase, presumably because of the influence of environmental antigen stimulation. A similar gene dosage effect was noted in other studies employing heterozygous carrier female animals (Amsbaugh *et al.*, 1972; Scher *et al.*, 1975a).

The deficiency in clonable B cells did not correspond well with numbers of sIg^+ cells in the F₁ mice, and there was reason to suspect that many of the residual B cells of CBA/N mice are intrinsically defective (Kincade et al., 1978a). B cells of these mice could be activated by several B-cell mitogens, but only when the cells were held at high density in liquid cultures (Kincade, 1977). When activated blasts were dispersed in semisolid agar cultures, they died within a few days without further proliferation. Artificial mixtures were prepared between CBA/N and normal CBA/H-T6T6 spleen cells and then cultured at different cell densities with LPS. The proportion of responding normal cells, as evidenced by T6T6 marked metaphases, steadily increased as the cultures became more dilute. From the percentage of cells that proliferated under the most optimal conditions, it appeared that CBA/N mice had one-third to one-fifth as many responsive B cells as the normal mice (Kincade and Paige, 1979). Others reported an extraordinarily low incidence of LPS responsive cells using limiting dilution liquid culture conditions (Huber and Melchers, 1979).

There have been other suggestions that the T-cell-dependent antibody responses of these mice were not completely intact. Scher and colleagues (1979), for example, found that, while primary IgM responses to SRBC antigen were subnormal, the primary IgG titers to this antigen were practically nil. This was substantially increased by priming, but others had noted that a particular, presumably highaffinity, component of HRBC cross-reactive antibody was missing from SRBC responses of these mice (Gershon and Kondo, 1976). The avidity question was addressed in another series of experiments where hapten T-dependent carrier conjugates were employed, and it was considered to be normal (Stein *et al.*, 1980). The tolerance susceptibility of CBA/N B cells has also been examined. When B cells from adult animals were exposed to TNP-hapten presented on LPS before challenge in liquid cultures with the same antigen, CBA/N cells were more tolerance sensitive than those of normal mice (McKearn and Quintans, 1980). However, normal tolerance thresholds were noted when TNP-Brucella was employed as tolerogen and immunogen. Metcalf *et al.* (1980b) used similar haptens presented on mouse immunoglobulin or ovalbumin to tolerize before testing residual responses in the Klinman system with the T-dependent antigen, hapten-KLH. Conditions were used such that virtually all the hapten-specific B cells from newborn mouse spleen and less than 10% of adult B cells would be tolerized. Adult CBA/N cells were intermediate in sensitivity, and their resistant clones comprised approximately a third of the response.

CBA/N mice do not make IgM antibodies to the hapten phosphorylcholine (PC) on primary immunization, even when it is presented on TI-1 type carriers, to which they are generally good responders (Mond *et al.*, 1977). However, these mice do mount substantial titers of IgE anti-PC antibodies during primary immune responses and can make normal amounts of IgG or IgA antibody on repeated challenge (Kishimoto *et al.*, 1979; Clough *et al.*, 1981).

It was recently found by one group that responsiveness to a particular moiety of endotoxin, the mitogenicity of Fc fragments of human immunoglobulin, and the antigen TNP-Ficoll were all substantially recovered in aged CBA/N mice, whereas recognition of the mitogen 2-ME was never acquired (Fidler *et al.*, 1980). It was suggested that development of certain B-cell functions might be severely delayed rather than aborted entirely. A slight retardation in the development of B cells responding to TI-1 type antigens was also noted in neonate defective mice (Mosier *et al.*, 1977). In contrast, clonable B cells were never detectable in spleen, lymph nodes, or bone marrow of X^{id} mice, even when the animals were over 2 years old (Kincade, unpublished observations).

Ia antigens and Qa-2 are generally not confined to a particular functionally restricted subpopulation of B cells although cytotoxic conditions can be found where some types of responses are more sensitive than others (Frelinger *et al.*, 1978; Kincade *et al.*, 1980b; Mond *et al.*, 1979; Bick and Shreffler, 1979). The availability of CBA/N mice, however, stimulated the development of a number of antibodies that discriminate B-cell sets. Huber *et al.* (1977) immunized CBA/N mice with normal cells to produce a noncytotoxic antiserum that reacted with approximately half the normal adult B cells. This antiserum (anti-Lyb-3) also had an adjuvant effect on suboptimal dose immunizations with SRBC and seemed to obviate the requirement for T-cell help. Ahmed et al. (1977) absorbed an alloantiserum with X^{id} cells until a similar pattern of reactivity was obtained and this serum (anti-Lyb-5) was cytotoxic. Among the specificities in the anti-Lyb-5 serum was one that blocked in vitro responses to haptenated Ficoll, and polymorphisms of this determinant segregated along with genes for Ig heavy-chain allotypes (Subbaro et al., 1979). This antigen was designated Lyb-7. All of these determinants have in common their absence from CBA/N B cells, late appearance in ontogeny, and expression on only a proportion of B cells in adult mice. It has generally been true that antigen-positive cells can mediate immune responses of which CBA/N mice are incapable. An antigen with similar distribution was discovered to be a private specificity encoded by I region genes (Huber, 1979). Very recently a monoclonal antibody was prepared that binds to most CBA/N B cells and B cells in neonates but labels only some of the B cells (which are Lyb-5⁻ in normal adult spleen (J. Kung, personal communication). This marker might therefore correspond to those (B1) populations that are not detected by the Lyb-3, Lyb-5, Lyb-7, and IaW39 antisera.

The T cells of immune-deficient CBA/N mice are reportedly normal in mitogen responses, in cytotoxic activity, and in helping Tdependent humoral responses (Scher *et al.*, 1975b, 1979; Janeway and Barthold, 1975). T cells from these mice did not, however, provide nonspecific augmentation to a polyclonal LPS response (Goodman and Weigle, 1979b). CBA/N macrophages are normally sensitive to endotoxin, release normal amounts of LAF, prostaglandin, and factors that enhance proliferation of B-cell clones, and they are equivalent to other mice in acting as accessory cells for pre-B cell maturation (Kincade, 1977; Rosenstreich *et al.*, 1978; Kincade *et al.*, 1981a). Similarly, numbers of CFU-s, CFU-c, and CFU-m (megakaryocyte) are normal, and irradiated X^{*id*} mice support the formation of B cells from immature precursors as well as CBA/H mice (Kincade, 1977; Paige and Kincade, unpublished observations).

The lesion of CBA/N mice may affect important interactions between particular B-cell sets and accessory cells. It was recently found that a proportion of normal B cells bind to adherent macrophages in culture and that X^{id} mice lack such B cells (O'Toole and Wortis, 1980). It was reported that macrophage-presented antigen selectively activates Lyb-5⁺ B cells and that CBA/N mice are unresponsive to antigen delivered in this way, even when antigens are chosen to which they are responsive in soluble form (Boswell *et al.*, 1980a,b). It should be noted that in another study the most efficient cells in presenting TNP-Ficoll were B cells rather than macrophages (Kirkland *et al.*, 1980). Some similarities have been noted in the human Wiscott-Aldrich syndrome and the CBA/N lesion (Cooper, 1976). In both immune deficiencies, responses to complex polysaccharide antigens are poor. Levels of IgE are elevated in patients with this disease, and X^{id} mice can mount impressive primary IgE antibody responses (Waldmann *et al.*, 1972; Kishimoto *et al.*, 1979). The human disease is also characterized by thrombocytopenia. The defective mice were recently found to have a slightly reduced platelet number, and these showed diminished ADP and thrombin-induced aggregation in comparison to controls. Electron microscopic examination of platelets from these animals did not, however, reveal any ultrastructural abnormalities (M. Long and P. Kincade, unpublished observations).

All of these observations point to the possible existence of functionally restricted B-cell subpopulations. It remains to be seen whether these are stable cell sets comparable to T cells specialized for help or suppression (Cantor and Boyse, 1975). If they are, we need to address the question of their developmental interrelationships. It has been proposed that such commitment might occur early in development to yield separate lineages of differentiating B cells (Kincade, 1977; Kincade et al., 1978a). One analysis of irradiated mice grafted with limiting numbers of neonatal spleen cells would be consistent with the existence of separable categories of B cells at this early stage (Quintans et al., 1979). It is also not clear whether the antibody specificity repertoires of different B-cell populations would be equivalent. In the case of B1 and B2 responses to the hapten PC, the same idiotype was produced (Quintans and Cosenza, 1976; Fung and Kohler, 1980). However, it is now known that idiotypes are not necessarily clonal markers (Reth et al., 1979; Estess et al., 1980), and either fine specificity analysis of antibodies elicited from different B-cell sets or new monoclonal antibodies directed to "idiotopes" should be employed to study this question.

The apparent B-cell heterogeneity discussed in this section might be, at least in part, attributable to relatively trivial differences in maturity, cycle status, or recent encounters with specific and nonspecific stimuli (Shortman and Howard, 1979; Melchers *et al.*, 1980). To this end, the physical characteristics and response kinetics of cells that are detected in various assays should be rigorously studied. Solution of this problem also requires a better understanding of the functional relationships between categories of B cells and helper cells. Recent observations indicate that T-cell dependency is a matter of degree and some T-cell-derived factors influence even those responses that were formerly thought to be completely T-cell independent (Goodman and Weigle, 1979a; Mond *et al.*, 1980b). The CBA/N model has been of unquestioned utility in dissecting B-cell diversity, and observations made with it should continue to fuel speculation in this area. However, it seems unlikely that the mutation of these mice neatly partitions stages of maturity such that all of their B cells are typical of subpopulations found in young normal mice. On the contrary, the mutant gene product may be expressed widely in the humoral immune system and yet differentially affect various responses.

XI. Important Uncertainties and Promising Sources of New Information

A major objective of this review is to call attention to commonly held assumptions that are inadequately supported by experimental observations. It is therefore fitting to conclude with a restatement of these and other important questions in the context of new approaches that seem capable of elucidating them.

At the top of such a list would be the issue of the nature and number of stem cells. The use of irradiation-induced chromosome markers has provided evidence for stem cells common to both lymphoid and hematopoietic cells, T-lineage restricted cells, and myeloid-committed stem cells. In addition, the grafting experiments described with CBA/N mice could be used to argue for the existence of committed stem cells of the B lineage that have extensive proliferative/ differentiative potential. However, these studies provide no evidence for the relative frequency of stem cells of the various kinds and major questions remain about the efficiency with which they would be detected in various assays. The analysis of marker distribution in clonal human malignancies can also suggest different types of stem cells but provides no insight into their incidence and normal behavior. No doubt our repertoire of markers will continue to increase, and these will permit substantial enrichment of particular categories of cells. For example, cells bearing one antigen but lacking several others can be brought to relative homogeneity by sorting procedures and then placed in several in vivo and in vitro situations. The obvious caveat is that the act of labeling, selecting, and transferring these cells may influence their behavior. However, we should soon know the minimum capabilities of many cells with given cell surface marker phenotypes.

If our knowledge is incomplete about the types of stem cells that might exist, we have considerably less idea as to their life histories and the progression of their progeny through various stages of differentiation. It appears that some of the B-cell differentiation events must occur very early in embryonic life. However, it is not clear whether committed precursor cells arising at that time persist or are replaced by similar cells arising at later stages of development. Documenting the time required for a given cell type to give rise to B cells on transfer to irradiated recipients tells us nothing about the kinetics of progression through various compartments under homeostatic circumstances. It has been possible in the case of anemic W mice and B-cell-deficient CBA/N mice to achieve chimerism without the use of irradiation. Appropriate exploitation of these models could provide insight into the homing and fate of selected cell populations under more normal conditions than those pertaining in whole body-irradiated animals.

It is now clear that a number of the processes involved in B-cell formation can take place in cell culture. Since all the tissues and cell suspensions that have been used to initiate such cultures already contained some cells with B-lineage characteristics (e.g., synthesis of Ig), we cannot be certain whether stem cells were committed to this pathway *in vitro*. Appropriate application of new monoclonal antibodies that recognize B-lineage antigens should make it possible to resolve this point and then move on to the more interesting question of what signals are necessary to achieve this important differentiation step.

The cell culture approach also should make it possible to define the nature and minimal number of factors and interactions necessary for progression of cells through various differentiation stages. However, it is now obvious that this requires both a better understanding of the constituents of culture medium (particularly the fetal calf serum) and a high degree of enrichment of the cells of interest. For example, positively selected cells that lack sIg but bear B-lineage markers should be placed in association with physically separated accessory cells of different types (nonadherent bone marrow, peritoneal exudate macrophages, thymocytes, etc.) to determine which allow the maximum expansion and/or differentiation of these precursors in culture. It would simplify interpretation of the results of such experiments if serum-free medium and purified factors (lymphokines and monokines) could be successfully employed.

The problems in identifying sites in mammals that are functionally equivalent to the avian bursa of Fabricius have been discussed in some detail. More important than implicating a particular tissue, however, is describing the microanatomy associated with the emergence of early B-lineage cells. The precedent of studies describing close associations of stromal elements with differentiating erythroid, myeloid, and thymus cells (Bessis and Breton-Gorius, 1962; Curry and Trentin, 1967; Trentin, 1971; Westen and Bainton, 1979; Wekerle and Ketelsen,

1980) suggest that the location of B-lineage cells within the architecture of hematopoietic tissues is a timely question. The structure and development of bone marrow have been thoroughly described, and it is of some interest that gradients of stem cells and proliferating cells may exist from the endosteal surface to the center of the bone shaft (Weiss, 1976; Chen and Weiss, 1975; Lord et al., 1975; Shackney et al., 1975). Preliminary immunofluorescence observations suggest that Igsynthesizing cells are scattered in sections of embryonic liver (E. S. Medlock and P. W. Kincade, unpublished observations). However, these may have migrated from their point of origin, and the structure of cells proximal to them needs to be determined. Furthermore, the availability of new monoclonal antibodies directed to perhaps earlier appearing and certainly more frequently expressed markers might be uniquely advantageous to such analyses. It would seem probable that either through chance or deliberate design, some of the new monoclonal antibodies that are being produced by many laboratories will be specific for determinants on constituents of the putative microenvironments in which B cells and their precursors are formed. Once the basic microanatomy of cellular interactions is described, we should be in a position to ask questions about the nature of cellular recognition processes that govern the migration of stem cells and their progeny (Butcher et al., 1979).

The advent of cell fusion technology (Kohler and Milstein, 1976) provided a seemingly easy solution to resolution of complex cellular populations, and one could only encourage the preparation of additional monoclonal antibodies to additional cell surface antigens. It should be noted that such antigens are not always distributed in a predictable fashion (Springer, 1980). For instance, the cellular representation of Thy-1 antigen is guite different in rats and mice, and in both species it is present on cells with few obvious common features (Crawford and Goldschneider, 1980). Despite this, antibodies to this antigen have been used to highly enrich stem cells of the rat (Goldschneider et al., 1980), and even antibodies directed to broadly distributed markers can be used to advantage (Paige et al., 1981). Many of the more useful antibodies now available for distinguishing functionally restricted B-cell sets were either made in immunodeficient animals or rendered specific through extensive cross-absorption protocols. Almost by definition, these may not be uniform and of sufficient avidity for some purposes. It is hoped that the conventional reagents will soon be replaced by monoclonal antibodies of similar as well as additional reactivities. Many of the highly specific functions of precursors and mature B cells must be mediated by cell-surface receptors for factors and aside from the utility of the new monoclonal reagents, these may be useful in identifying some of these structures.

A provocative recent example of antibodies directed to functional receptors comes from the work of Coutinho and colleagues (1978, 1980; and Forni *et al.*, 1979). It was found that anti-idiotypic antibodies (including some monoclonal antibodies) cross-reacted with some non-Ig cell surface determinant and that such reagents could promote the maturation, proliferation, and terminal differentiation of cells of the B lineage. This finding has potential implications for the influence of maternal and adult idiotypic networks on B-cell development. Among the unexpected observations was the fact that $c\mu^+$, sIg⁻ "pre-B" cells were unlabeled by the anti-idiotypic antibodies whereas functional B-cell precursors in fetal liver and sIg⁻ marrow populations were. Until these observations are reconciled, it remains possible that cells synthesizing only μ chains are not representative of an obligate stage of B-cell differentiation.

The new observations on molecular aspects of Ig gene rearrangement and expression need to be correlated with normal changes in cell surface phenotypes and stages of differentiation. The possibility of error in gene splicing has been suggested, and it remains to be determined how many cells undergo abortive rearrangement of both chromosomes and what their fate would be. Some insight into these questions should come from isolation of cells bearing B-lineage antigens at various stages of development and examining their Ig gene configurations.

The CBA/N model is likely to provide interesting observations for some time to come, and there are other single-gene mutations (including Sl, W, Me, Lpr) that have not been adequately studied from the point of view of early B-lineage abnormalities. Development of autoimmune disease in the New Zealand mouse strains is certainly attributable to more than one gene, but the model could provide insight into important immunoregulatory phenomena (Kincade, 1981b). For instance, preliminary observations suggest that functional B cells are not formed normally in marrow cultures under circumstances that seem optimal for other mouse strains (H. Jyonouchi and P. W. Kincade, unpublished observations). Analyses of naturally occurring human immunodeficiency and autoimmune diseases should also continue to contribute to our understanding of fundamental problems (Good and Finstad, 1980).

Established cell lines and tumors have been given less attention in this review than might be justified (Warner *et al.*, 1979; Ralph, 1979). Particularly interesting as experimental models are those that seem not to be completely frozen in differentiation, but rather are responsive to certain inductive stimuli (Fu et al., 1978; Paige et al., 1978; Boss et al., 1979; Knapp et al., 1979; Siden et al., 1979; Burchiel and Warner, 1980; Gronowicz et al., 1980; Isakson et al., 1980). It was very recently learned that an established, nonmalignant cell line that can form CFU-s and enter certain hematopoietic lineages (Dexter et al., 1979) is able to give rise to cells expressing lymphocyte alloantigens within irradiated recipients (M. P. Scheid and P. W. Kincade, unpublished observations).

Fetal tissues provide a convenient source of B-cell precursors that are not contaminated with mature B cells, and it is important to study the very earliest B-lineage differentiation events. However, it is not necessarily true that fetal precursor cell characteristics and mechanisms through which B cells are formed in embryos are identical to those of adult bone marrow. It was noted, for example, that fetal liver precursors colonized the marrow of adult CBA/N mice better than normal marrow cells and tended to be more rapidly sedimenting (Paige et al., 1979, 1981a). It was demonstrated here that adult type pre-B cells were absolutely dependent on adherent accessory cells for maturation in vitro whereas this dependence was not obvious for fetal liver cells. At least two antigens (Lvb-2 and Oa-2) that were found on adult marrow precursors were not observed on comparable embryonic cells and newly formed B cells in marrow were Ia⁺, whereas fetal B cells were not. Enriched cells from fetal liver that bear B-lineage antigens differ morphologically from the majority of cells similarly isolated from adult marrow (K. Landreth, unpublished observations). Some of these differences may relate to differences in the total cellular composition of fetal and adult hematopoietic tissues rather than to intrinsic differences in the precursor cells. It may also be that cells that predominate in embryos represent relatively rare intermediate stages of adult B-cell differentiation. However, the possibility must be seriously considered that the early waves of B-cell formation that occur in fetal tissues may take place through processes somewhat different from and perhaps simpler than those that occur in adult life.

Finally, models have been proposed for a likely sequence of size changes and marker acquisition by differentiating B cells (Strober, 1975; Nossal *et al.*, 1977; Hämmerling *et al.*, 1976; Scher *et al.*, 1977). The principal limitations of these is that they do not detail embryonic events, explain the apparent functional heterogeneity of all B-cell sets, or identify those changes and cellular interactions that are obligate to the emergence of B cells. Data derived from all the sources cited above should soon provide compelling reasons for updating those hypotheses.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Original and unpublished observations that were freely discussed in this review resulted from collaborative studies with C. Paige, G. Lee, M. Moore, M. Scheid, T. Watanabe, K. Landreth, E. Medlock, L. Sun, H. Jyonouchi, and J. S. Tung. Drs. M. A. S. Moore, K. S. Landreth, and E. Medlock read and made helpful suggestions on portions of the manuscript. This work is supported by Grants AI-12741, CA-17404, and Research Center Development Award AI-00265 from the National Institutes of Health.

References

- Abney, E. R., Cooper, M. D., Kearney, J. F., Lawton, A. R., and Parkhouse, R. M. E. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 2041.
- Abramson, S., Miller, R. G., and Phillips, R. A. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 1567.
- Adamson, J. W., Fialkow, P. J., Murphy, S., Prchal, J. F., and Steinman, L. (1976). N. Engl. J. Med. 295, 913.
- Ahmed, A., and Scher, I. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 1922.
- Ahmed, A., Scher, I., Sharrow, S. O., Smith, A. H., Paul, W. E., Sachs, D. H., and Sell, K. W. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 101.
- Alt, F. W., Bothwell, A. L. M., Knapp, M., Siden, E., Mather, E., Koshland, M., and Baltimore, D. (1980). Cell 20, 293.
- Amsbaugh, D. F., Hansen, C. T., Prescott, B., Stashak, P. W., Barthold, D. R., and Baker, P. J. (1972). J. Exp. Med. 136, 931.
- Amsbaugh, D. F., Hansen, C. T., Prescott, B., Stashak, P. W., Asofsky, R., and Baker, P. J. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 139, 1499.
- Andersson, J., Coutinho, A., Melchers, F., and Watanabe, T. (1976). Cold Spring Harbor Symp. 41, 227.
- Andersson, J., Coutinho, A., Lernhardt, W., and Melchers, F. (1977a). Cell 10, 27.
- Andersson, J., Coutinho, A., and Melchers, F. (1977b). J. Exp. Med. 145, 1520.
- Andersson, J., Coutinho, A., and Melchers, F. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 147, 1744.
- Andrew, T. A., and Owen, J. J. T. (1978). Dev. Comp. Immunol. 2, 339.
- Askonas, B. A., and Williamson, A. R. (1972). Nature (London) 238, 337.
- Barnes, D. W. H., Evans, E. P., Ford, C. E., and West, B. J. (1968). Nature (London) 219, 518.
- Basch, R. S., Janossy, G., and Greaves, M. F. (1977). Nature (London) 270, 520.
- Beaupain, D., Martin, C., and Dieterlen-Lievre, F. (1979). Blood 53, 212.
- Becker, A. J., McCulloch, E. A., and Till, J. E. (1963). Nature (London) 197, 452.
- Beller, D. I., and Unanue, E. R. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1861.
- Beller, D. I., and Unanue, E. R. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1433.
- Berning, A. K., Eicher, E. M., Paul, W. E., and Scher, I. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1875.
- Bessis, M. C., and Breton-Gorius, J. (1962). Blood 19, 635.
- Bick, P. H., and Shreffler, D. C. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2298.
- Blaese, R. M., Weiden, P. L., Koski, I., and Dooley, N. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 140, 1097.
- Bobak, D., and Wisler, R. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 2764.
- Boss, M., Greaves, M., and Teich, N. (1979). Nature (London) 278, 551.
- Boswell, H. S., Ahmed, A., Scher, I., and Singer, A. (1980a). J. Immunol. 125, 1340.
- Boswell, H. S., Nerenberg, M. I., Scher, I., and Singer, A. (1980b). J. Exp. Med. 152, 1194.
- Boyse, E. A., and Old, L. J. (1969). Annu. Rev. Genet. 3, 269.
- Brack, C., Hirama, M., Lenhard-Schuller, R., and Tonegawa, S. (1978). Cell 15, 1.
- Brahim, F., and Osmond, D. G. (1970). Anat. Rec. 168, 139.

- Bruyns, C., Urbain-Vansanten, G., Planard, C., de Vos-Cleotens, C., and Urbain, J. (1976). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 73, 2462.
- Burchiel, S. W., and Warner, N. L. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1016.
- Burrows, P. D., Kearney, J. F., Lawton, A. R., and Cooper, M. D. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 1526.
- Burrows, P. D., LeJeune, M., and Kearney, J. F. (1979). Nature (London) 280, 838.
- Butcher, E., Scollay, R., and Weissman, I. (1979). Nature (London) 280, 496.
- Cantor, H., and Boyse, E. A. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 141, 1376.
- Celada, F. (1966). J. Exp. Med. 124, 1.
- Celada, F. (1967). J. Exp. Med. 125, 199.
- Chen, L. T., and Weiss, L. (1975). Blood 46, 389.
- Claesson, M. H., Layton, J. E., and Luckenbach, G. A. (1978). Immunology 35, 397.
- Claesson, M. H., Flad, H. D., and Opitz, H. G. (1979). Cell. Immunol. 46, 398.
- Clough, E. R., Levy, D. A., and Cebra, J. J. (1981). J. Immunol. 126, 387.
- Cochrane, C. G., and Dixon, F. J. (1962). Adv. Immunol. 2, 205.
- Coffman, R. L., and Weissman, I. L. (1981a). J. Exp. Med. 153, 269.
- Coffman, R. L., and Weissman, I. L. (1981b). Nature (London) 289, 681.
- Cohen, P. L., Scher, I., and Mosier, D. E. (1976). J. Immunol. 115, 301.
- Cooper, M. D. (1976). J. Invest. Dermatol. 67, 431.
- Cooper, M. D. (1981). J. Clin. Immunol. 1, 81.
- Cooper, M. D., Peterson, R. D. A., South, M. A., and Good, R. A. (1966). J. Exp. Med. 123, 75.
- Cooper, M. D., Cain, W. A., Van Alten, P. J., and Good, R. A. (1969). Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol. 35, 242.
- Cory, S., Jackson, J., and Adams, J. M. (1980). Nature (London) 285, 450.
- Coutinho, A., Forni, L., and Blomberg, B. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 148, 862.
- Coutinho, A., Forni, L., and Bernabe, R. R. (1980). Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 3, 171.
- Crawford, J. M., and Goldschneider, I. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 969.
- Cudennec, C. A., Thiery, J. P., and LeDouarin, N. M. (1981). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. (in press).
- Curry, J. L., and Trentin, J. J. (1967). Dev. Biol. 15, 395.
- Dalchan, R., and Fabre, J. W. (1981). J. Exp. Med. 153, 753.
- Davis, M. M., Calame, K., Early, P. W., Livant, D. L., Joho, R., Weissman, I. L., and Hood, L. (1980). Nature (London) 283, 733.
- Dexter, T. M., Allen, T. D., Scott, D., and Teich, N. M. (1979). Nature (London) 277, 471.
- Dexter, T. M., Garland, J., Scott, D., Scolnick, E., and Metcalf, D. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 152, 1036.
- Dieterlen-Lievre, F. (1975). J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 33, 607.
- Early, P. W., Dabis, M. M., Kaback, D. B., Davidson, R., and Hood, L. (1979). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 76, 857.
- Early, P., Huang, H., Davis, M., Calame, K., and Hood, L. (1980a). Cell 19, 981.
- Early, P., Rogers, J., Davis, M., Calame, K., Bond, M., Wall, R., and Hood, L. (1980b). Cell 20, 313.
- Edidin, M. (1972). In "Transplantation Antigens, Markers of Biological Individuality" (B. D. Kahan and R. A. Reisfeld, eds.), p. 75. Academic Press, New York.
- Eichmann, K., Coutinho, A., and Melchers, F. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 146, 1436.
- Estess, P., Lamoyi, E., Nisonoff, and Capra, J. D. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 151, 863.
- Ewert, D. L., and Cooper, M. D. (1979). Fed. Proc. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. 38, 1367.
- Fairchild, S. S., and Cohen, J. J. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1227.

Fialkow, P. J. (1976). Biochim. Biophys. Acta 458, 283.

- Fialkow, P. J., Denman, A. M., Jacobson, R. J., and Lowenthal, M. N. (1978). J. Clin. Invest. 62, 815.
- Fidler, J. M., Morgan, E. L., and Weigle, W. O. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 13.
- Finkelman, F. D., Smith, A. H., Scher, I., and Paul, W. E. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 142, 1316.
- Fitzsimmons, R. C., Garrod, E. M. F., and Garnett, I. (1973). Cell. Immunol. 9, 377.
- Flaherty, L. (1978). In "Workshop on the Origins of Inbred Strains of Mice" (H. C. Morse, ed.), p. 409. Academic Press, New York.
- Flaherty, L., Zimmerman, D., and Sullivan, K. A. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1640.
- Ford, C. E., Micklem, H. S., Evans, E. P., Gray, J. G., and Ogden, D. A. (1966). Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 129, 283.
- Forni, L., Cazenave, P. A., Cosenza, H., Forsbeck, K., and Coutinho, A. (1979). Nature (London) 280, 241.
- Frelinger, J. A., Hibbler, F. J., and Hill, S. W. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 2376.
- Fu, S. M., Winchester, R. J., Feizi, T., Walzer, P. D., and Kunkel, H. G. (1974). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 71, 4487.
- Fu, S. M., Chiorazzi, N., Kunkel, H. G., Halper, J. P., and Harris, S. R. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 148, 1570.
- Fu, S. M., Chiorazzi, N., Kunkel, H. G., Halper, J. P., and Harris, S. R. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 148, 1570.
- Fung, J., and Köhler, H. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 640.
- Galanaud, P., Crevon, M. C., and Dormont, J. (1975). Clin. Exp. Immunol. 22, 139.
- Galanaud, P., Crevon, M. C., Erard, D., Wallon, C., and Dormont, J. (1976). Cell. Immunol. 22, 83.
- Gearhart, P. J., Sigal, N. H., and Klinman, N. R. (1975). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 72, 1707.
- Gelfand, M. C., Asofsky, R., and Paul, W. E. (1974). Cell. Immunol. 14, 460.
- Gershon, R. K. (1974). Contemp. Top. Immunobiol. 3, 1.
- Gershon, R. K., and Kondo, K. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 701.
- Gery, I., and Waksman, B. H. (1972). J. Exp. Med. 136, 143.
- Gillis, S., Ferm, M. M., Ou, W., and Smith, K. A. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 2027.
- Glick, B., Chang, T. S., and Jaap, R. G. (1956). Poult. Sci. 35, 224.
- Goding, J. W., Nossal, G. J. V., Schreffler, D. C., and Marchalonis, J. J. (1975). J. Immunogenet. 2, 9.
- Goidle, E., Klass, J., and Siskind, G. W. (1976). J. Exp. Med. 143, 1503.
- Golding, H., and Rittenberg, M. B. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1237.
- Goldschneider, I., Metcalf, D., Battye, F., and Mandel, T. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 152, 419.
- Good, R. A., and Finstad, J. (1980). In "Primary Immunodeficiencies" (M. Seligmann and W. H. Hitzig, eds.), p. 523. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Goodman, M. G., and Weigle, W. O. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 489.
- Goodman, M. G., and Weigle, W. O. (1979a). J. Immunol. 122, 2548.
- Goodman, M. G., and Weigle, W. O. (1979b). J. Immunol. 123, 2484.
- Gorczynski, R. M. (1977). Immunology 32, 709.
- Gorczynski, R. M., and Feldman, M. (1975). Cell. Immunol. 18, 88.
- Gottlieb, P. D. (1980). Mol. Immunol. 17, 1423.
- Grebenau, M. D., Lerman, S. P., Pallidino, M. A., and Thorbecke, G. J. (1976). Nature (London) 260, 46.
- Gronowicz, E., Coutinho, A., and Moller, G. (1974). Scand. J. Immunol. 3, 413.
- Gronowicz, E. S., Doss, C. A., Howard, F. D., Morrison, D. C., and Strober, S. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 976.

Gruneberg, H. (1943). J. Hered. 34, 89.

- Hämmerling, G. J. (1976). Transplant. Rev. 30, 64.
- Hämmerling, U., and Chin, A. F. (1977). Eur. J. Immunol. 8, 533.
- Hämmerling, U., Chin, A. F., Abbott, J., and Scheid, M. P. (1975). J. Immunol. 115, 1425.
- Hämmerling, U., Chin, A. F., and Abbott, J. (1976). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 73, 2008.
- Hämmerling, G. J., Hämmerling, U., and Flaherty, L. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 150, 108.
- Harrison, D. E. (1980). Blood 55, 77.
- Harrison, D. E., and Astle, C. M. (1976). Transplantation 22, 42.
- Haskill, J. S., and Moore, M. A. S. (1970). Nature (London) 226, 853.
- Herzenberg, L. A., Herzenberg, L. A., Black, S. J., Loken, M. R., Okumura, K., van der Loo, W., Osborne, B. A., Hewgill, D., Goding, J. W., and Warner, N. L. (1976). Cold Spring Harbor Symp. 41, 33.
- Hoffmann, M. K., Oettgen, H. F., Old, L. J., Chin, A. F., and Hämmerling, U. (1977). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 1200.
- Holtzer, H., Weintraub, H., Mayne, R., and Mochan, B. (1972). Curr. Top. Dev. Biol. 7, 299.
- Honjo, T., and Kataoka, T. (1978). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75, 2140.
- Houssaint, E., Belo, M., and LeDouarin, N. M. (1976). Dev. Biol. 53, 250.
- Howard, M. C., Fidler, J. M., Hamilton, J., and Shortman, K. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 911.
- Howard, M. C., Fidler, J. M., Baker, J., and Shortman, K. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 309.
- Hozumi, N., and Tonegawa, S. (1976). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 73, 3628.
- Huang, H. V., and Dreyer, W. J. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1738.
- Huber, B. T. (1979). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 76, 3460.
- Huber, B., and Melchers, F. (1979). Eur. J. Immunol. 9, 827.
- Huber, B., Gershon, R. K., and Cantor, H. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 10.
- Hunt, S. V. (1980). Haematol. Blood Transfus. 25, 193.
- Hurwitz, J. L., Coleclough, C., and Cebra, J. J. (1980). Cell 22, 349.
- Isakson, P. C., Uhr, J. W., Krolick, K. A., Finkelman, F., and Vitetta, E. S. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 151, 749.
- Iscove, N. N. (1978). In "Hemopoietic Cell Differentiation" (D. W. Golde, M. J. Cline, D. Metcalf, and C. F. Fox, eds.), p. 37. Academic Press, New York.
- Iscove, N. N., and Melchers, F. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 147, 923.
- Ivanyi, J. (1975). Immunology 28, 1007.
- Ivanyi, J., and Makings, C. W. (1978). Transplantation 26, 221.
- Ivanyi, J., and Salerno, A. (1972). Immunology 22, 247.
- Janeway, C. A. (1975). J. Immunol. 114, 1394.
- Janeway, C. A., and Barthold, D. R. (1975). J. Immunol. 115, 898.
- Jankovic, B. D., and Isakovic, K. (1966). Nature (London) 211, 202.
- Jankovic, B. D., Knezevic, Z., Isakovic, K., Mitrovic, K., Markovic, B. M., and Rajcevic, M. (1975). Eur. J. Immunol. 5, 656.
- Jennings, J. J., and Rittenberg, M. B. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 1749.
- Johnson, G. R., and Jones, R. O. (1973). J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 30, 83.
- Johnson, G. R., and Metcalf, D. (1977). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 3879.
- Johnson, G. R., and Moore, M. A. S. (1975). Nature (London) 258, 726.
- Johnson, G. R., Metcalf, D., and Wilson, J. W. (1976). Immunology 30, 907.
- Jotereau, F. V., Houssaint, E., and LeDouarin, N. M. (1980). Eur. J. Immunol. 10, 620.
- Kaplan, D. R., Quintans, J., and Köhler, H. (1978). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75, 1967.
- Kataoka, T., Kawakami, T., Takahashi, N., and Honjo, T. (1980). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 77, 919.

- Kearney, J. F., Cooper, M. D., Klein, J., Abney, E. R., Parkhouse, R. M. E., and Lawton, A. R. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 146, 297.
- Kearney, J. F., Klein, J., Bockman, D. E., Cooper, M. D., and Lawton, A. R. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 158.
- Kehry, M., Ewald, S., Douglas, R., Sibley, C., Raschke, W., Fambrough, D., and Hood, L. (1980). Cell 21, 393.
- Kemp, D. J., Harris, A. W., and Adams, J. M. (1980). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 77, 7400.
- Kermani-Arab, V., and Leslie, G. A. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 530.
- Kincade, P. W. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 249.
- Kincade, P. W. (1981a). In "Immunological Techniques Applied to Aging Research" (W. H. Adler and A. A. Nordin, eds.), chap. 5, p. 85. CRC Press, West Palm Beach, Florida.
- Kincade, P. W. (1981b). In "Immune Defects in Laboratory Animals" (M. E. Gershwin and B. Merchant, eds.). Plenum, New York (in press).
- Kincade, P. W., and Cooper, M. D. (1971). J. Immunol. 106, 371.
- Kincade, P. W., and Cooper, M. D. (1973). Science 179, 398.
- Kincade, P. W., and Paige, C. J. (1979). In "B Lymphocytes in the Immune Response" (M. D. Cooper, D. Mosier, and I. Scher, eds.), p. 349. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Kincade, P. W., and Ralph, P. (1976). Cold Spring Harbor Symp. 41, 245.
- Kincade, P. W., Lawton, A. R., Bockman, D. E., and Cooper, M. D. (1970). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 67, 1918.
- Kincade, P. W., Lawton, A. R., and Cooper, M. D. (1971). J. Immunol. 106, 1421.
- Kincade, P. W., Self, K. S., and Cooper, M. D. (1973). Cell. Immunol. 8, 93.
- Kincade, P. W., Moore, M. A. S., Schlegel, R. A., and Pye, J. (1975). J. Immunol. 115, 1217.
- Kincade, P. W., Ralph, P., and Moore, M. A. S. (1976). J. Exp. Med. 143, 1265.
- Kincade, P. W., Moore, M. A. S., Lee, G., and Paige, C. J. (1978a). Cell. Immunol. 40, 294.
- Kincade, P. W., Paige, C. J., Parkhouse, R. M. E., and Lee, G. (1978b). J. Immunol. 120, 1289.
- Kincade, P. W., Lee, G., Fernandes, G., Moore, M. A. S., Williams, N., and Good, R. A. (1979). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 76, 3464.
- Kincade, P. W., Lee, G., Scheid, M. P., and Blum, M. D. (1980a). J. Immunol. 124, 947.
- Kincade, P. W., Flaherty, L., Lee, G., Watanabe, T., and Michaelson, J. (1980b). J. Immunol. 124, 2879.
- Kincade, P. W., Lee, G., Paige, C. J., and Scheid, M. P. (1981a). J. Immunol. (in press).
- Kincade, P. W., Lee, G., Sun, L., and Watanabe, T. (1981b). J. Immunol. Methods 42, 17.
- Kincade, P. W., Lee, G., Watanabe, T., Paige, C. J., Scheid, M. P., Medlock, E. S., and Landreth, K. S. (1981c). *In* "Proceedings of the Second International Conference on B Lymphocytes in the Immune Response" (N. Klinman, D. Mosier, I. Scher, and E. Vitetta, eds.), p. 89. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Kingsbury, J. W., Alexanderson, M., and Kornstein, E. S. (1956). Anat. Rec. 124, 165.
- Kirkland, T. N., Sieckmann, D. G., Longo, D. L., and Mosier, D. E. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1721.
- Kishimoto, T., Shigemoto, S., Watanabe, T., and Yamamura, Y. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 1039.
- Klein, J., Flaherty, L., Van de Berg, J. L., and Shreffler, D. C. (1978). Immunogenetics 6, 489.
- Klinman, N. R. (1972). J. Exp. Med. 136, 241.
- Klinman, N. R., Pickard, A. R., Sigal, N. H., Gearhart, P. J., Metcalf, E. S., and Pierce, S. K. (1976). Ann. Immunol. Inst. Pasteur 127C, 489.
- Knapp, M. R., Severinson-Gronowicz, E., Schroder, J., and Strober, S. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 1000.
- Köhler, G., and Milstein, C. (1976). Eur. J. Immunol. 6, 511.
- Komuro, K., and Boyse, E. A. (1973). Lancet 1, 740.
- Komuro, K., Itakura, K., Boyse, E. A., and John, M. (1975). Immunogenetics 1, 452.
- Kunkl, A., and Klaus, G. G. B. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 2526.
- Kuritani, T., Kishimoto, T., Muraguchi, A., and Yamamura, Y. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 2633.
- Kurland, J. I., Kincade, P. W., and Moore, M. A. S. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 146, 1420.
- Kurland, J. I., Meyers, P. A., and Moore, M. A. S. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 151, 839.
- Lafleur, L., Miller, R. G., and Phillips, R. A. (1972a). J. Exp. Med. 135, 1363.
- Lafleur, L., Underdown, B. J., Miller, R. G., and Phillips, R. A. (1972b). Ser. Haematol. 5, 50.
- Lajtha, L. G. (1979). Differentiation 14, 23.
- Lala, P. K., and Johnson, G. R. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 148, 1468.
- Lala, P. K., Johnson, G. R., Battye, F. L., and Nossal, G. J. V. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 334.
- Landreth, K. S., Rosse, C., and Clagett, J. (1981a). Submitted.
- Landreth, K. S., Kincade, P. W., and Lee, G. (1981b). Fed. Proc. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. 40, 4990.
- Lassila, O., Eskola, J., Toivanen, P., Martin, C., and Dieterlen-Lievre, F. (1978). Nature (London) 272, 353.
- Lau, C. Y., Melchers, F., Miller, R. G., and Phillips, R. A. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 1273.
- Lawton, A. R., and Cooper, M. D. (1974). In "Contemporary Topics in Immunobiology" (M. D. Cooper and N. L. Warners, eds.), p. 193. Plenum, New York.
- Lawton, A. R., Asofsky, R., Hylton, M. B., and Cooper, M. D. (1972). J. Exp. Med. 135, 297.
- Ledbetter, J. A., and Herzenberg, L. A. (1979). Immunol. Rev. 47, 63.
- LeDouarin, N. M. (1975). Med. Biol. 53, 427.
- LeDouarin, N. M., Houssaint, E., Jotereau, F. V., and Belo, M. (1975). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 72, 2701.
- Lefkovits, I. (1972). Eur. J. Immunol. 2, 360.
- Levitt, D., and Cooper, M. D. (1980). Cell 19, 617.
- Lewis, G. K., and Goodman, J. W. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 146, 1.
- Linna, T. J., Frommel, D., and Good, R. A. (1972). Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol. 42, 20.
- Liu, C. P., Tucker, P. W., Mushinski, J. F., and Blattner, F. P. (1980). Science 209, 1348.
- Lord, B. I., Testa, N. G., and Hendry, J. H. (1975). Blood 46, 65.
- Lydyard, P. M., Grossi, C. E., and Cooper, M. D. (1976). J. Exp. Med. 144, 79.
- Lyon, M. F. (1974). Proc. R. Soc. (Londor) B187, 243.
- McKearn, J. P., and Quintans, J. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 77.
- McKenzie, I. F. C., and Potter, T. (1979). Adv. Immunol. 27, 179.
- Maki, R., Kearney, J., Paige, C., and Tonegawa, S. (1980). Science 209, 1366.
- Martin, C., Lassila, O., Nurmi, T., Eskola, J., Dieterlen-Lievre, F., and Toivanen, P. (1979). Scand. J. Immunol. 10, 333.
- Martin, P. J., Najfeld, V., Hansen, J. A., Penfold, G. K., Jacobson, R. J., and Fialkow, P. J. (1980). Nature (London) 287, 49.
- Max, E. E., Seidman, J. G., and Leder, P. (1979). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 76, 3450.
- Medlock, E. S., and Kincade, P. W. (1981). Fed. Proc. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. 40, 4952.

- Melchers, F. (1977a). Eur. J. Immunol. 7, 476.
- Melchers, F. (1977b). Eur. J. Immunol. 7, 482.
- Melchers, F. (1979). Nature (London) 277, 219.
- Melchers, F., and Abramczuk, J. (1980). Eur. J. Immunol. 10, 763.
- Melchers, F., Coutinho, A., Henrich, G., and Andersson, J. (1975a). Scand. J. Immunol. 4, 853.
- Melchers, F., von Boehmer, H., and Phillips, R. A. (1975b). Transplant. Rev. 25, 26.
- Melchers, F., Andersson, J., and Phillips, R. A. (1976). Cold Spring Harbor Symp. 41, 147.
- Melchers, F., Andersson, J., Lernhardt, W., and Schreier, M. H. (1980). Immunol. Rev. 52, 89.
- Metcalf, D. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 635.
- Metcalf, D. (1977). "Hemopoietic Colonies." Springer-Verlag, Berling and New York.
- Metcalf, D., and Moore, M. A. S. (1971). "Haemopoietic Cells." American Elsevier, New York.
- Metcalf, D., Nossal, G. J. V., Warner, N. L., Miller, J. F. A. P., Mandel, T. E., Layton, J. E., and Gutman, G. A. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 142, 1534.
- Metcalf, D., Wilson, J. W., Shortman, K., Miller, J. F. A. P., and Stocker, J. (1976). J. Cell. Physiol. 88, 107.
- Metcalf, D., Johnson, G. R., and Mandel, T. E. (1979). J. Cell. Physiol. 98, 401.
- Metcalf, D., Johnson, G. R., and Burgess, A. W. (1980a). Blood 55, 138.
- Metcalf, E. S., Scher, I., and Klinman, N. R. (1980b). J. Exp. Med. 151, 486.
- Michaelson, J., Scheid, M., and Boyse, E. A. (1979). Immunogenetics 9, 193.
- Micklem, H. S., Ford, C. E., Evans, E. P., and Gray, J. (1966). Proc. R. Soc. London Ser. B 165, 78.
- Micklem, H. S., Ogden, D. A., and Payne, A. C. (1973). In "Haemopoietic Stem Cells." A Ciba Foundation Symposium, Vol. 13. North-Holland Publ., Amsterdam.
- Micklem, H. S., Anderson, N., and Ross, E. (1975a). Nature (London) 256, 41.
- Micklem, H. S., Ford, C. E., Evans, E. P., and Ogden, D. A. (1975b). Cell Tissue Kinet. 8, 219.
- Miller, S. C., and Osmond, D. G. (1975). Cell Tissue Kinet. 8, 97.
- Mitchell, G. F., and Miller, J. F. A. P. (1968). J. Exp. Med. 128, 821.
- Mond, J. J., Lieberman, R., Inman, J. K., Mosier, D. E., and Paul, W. E. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 146, 1138.
- Mond, J. J., Scher, I., Mosier, D. E., Baese, M., and Paul, W. E. (1978). Eur. J. Immunol. 8, 459.
- Mond, J. J., Sehgal, E., Sachs, D. H., and Paul, W. E. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 1619.
- Mond, J. J., Kessler, S., Finkelman, F. D., Paul, W. E., and Scher, I. (1980a). J. Immunol. 124, 1675.
- Mond, J. J., Mongini, P. K. A., Sieckmann, D., Sieckmann, P., and William, E. (1980b). J. Immunol. 125, 1066.
- Moore, M. A. S., and Metcalf, D. (1970). Br. J. Haematol. 18, 279.
- Moore, M. A. S., and Owen, J. J. T. (1965). Nature (London) 208, 415.
- Moore, M. A. S., and Owen, J. J. T. (1966). Dev. Biol. 14, 40.
- Moore, M. A. S., and Owen, J. J. T. (1967). Lancet ii, 658.
- Moore, M. A. S., McNeil, T. A., and Haskill, J. S. (1970). J. Cell. Physiol. 75, 181.
- Mosier, D. E. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1453.
- Mosier, D. E., Scher, I., and Paul, W. E. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 1363.
- Mosier, D. E., Mond, J. J., and Goldings, E. A. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 1874.
- Mosier, D. E., Goldings, E. A., and Bottomly, K. (1979). In "B Lymphocytes in the

Immune Response" (M. D. Cooper, D. E. Mosier, I. Scher, and E. S. Vitetta, eds.), p. 91. Elsevier, Amsterdam.

- Muraguchi, A., Kishimoto, T., Kuritani, T., Watanabe, T., and Yamamura, Y. (1980a). J. Immunol. 125, 564.
- Muraguchi, A., Kishimoto, T., Kuritani, T., and Yamamura, Y. (1980b). J. Immunol. 125, 2638.
- Nell, L. J., Kastner, D. L., and Rich, R. R. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 2597.
- Nishida, Y., Kataoka, T., Ishide, N., Nakai, S., Kishimoto, T., Böttcher, J., and Honjo, T. (1981). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 78, 1581.
- Nossal, G. J. V., and Pike, B. L. (1973). Immunology 25, 33.
- Nossal, G. J. V., and Pike, B. L. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 141, 904.
- Nossal, G. J. V., and Pike, B. L. (1976). Immunology 30, 189.
- Nossal, G. J. V., Szenberg, A., Ada, G. L., and Austin, G. M. (1964). J. Exp. Med. 119, 485.
- Nossal, G. J. V., Shortman, K., Howard, M., and Pike, B. L. (1977). Immunol. Rev. 37, 187.
- Nowell, P. C., Hirsch, B. E., Fox, D. H., and Wilson, D. B. (1970). J. Cell. Physiol. 75, 151.
- Omary, B. M., Trowbridge, I. S., and Scheid, M. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 151, 1311.
- Osmond, D. G. (1975). J. Reticuloendothel. Soc. 17, 99.
- Osmond, D. G. (1979). In "B Lymphocytes in the Immune Response" (M. D. Cooper, D. E. Mosier, I. Scher, and E. S. Vitetta, eds.), p. 63. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Osmond, D. G., and Everett, N. B. (1964). Blood 23, 1.
- Osmond, D. G., and Gordon, J. (1979). Cell. Immunol. 42, 188.
- Osmond, D. G., and Nossal, G. J. V. (1974a). Cell. Immunol. 13, 117.
- Osmond, D. G., and Nossal, G. J. V. (1974b). Cell. Immunol. 13, 132.
- O'Toole, M. M., and Wortis, H. H. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 2010.
- Owen, J. J. T. (1979). In "B Lymphocytes in the Immune Response" (M. D. Cooper, D. E. Mosier, I. Scher, and E. S. Vitetta, eds.), p. 71. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Owen, J. J. T., Cooper, M. D., and Raff, M. C. (1974). Nature (London) 249, 361.
- Owen, J. J. T., Raff, M. C., and Cooper, M. D. (1975). Eur. J. Immunol. 5, 468.
- Owen, J. J. T., Mordan, R. K., Robinson, J. H., Singh, U., and Willcox, H. N. A. (1976). Cold Spring Harbor Symp. 41, 129.
- Owen, J. J. T., Wright, D. E., Habu, S., Raff, M. C., and Cooper, M. D. (1977). J. Immunol. 118, 2067.
- Paige, C. J., Kincade, P. W., and Ralph, P. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 641.
- Paige, C. J., Kincade, P. W., Moore, M. A. S., and Lee, G. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 150, 548.
- Paige, C. J., Kincade, P. W., Shinefeld, L. A., and Sato, V. L. (1981a). J. Exp. Med. 153, 154.
- Paige, C. J., Kincade, P. W., and Ralph, P. (1981b). Nature (London) (in press).
- Perah, G., and Feldman, M. (1977). J. Cell. Physiol. 91, 193.
- Perry, P. P., and Kelly, D. E. (1979). Cell 18, 1333.
- Perry, R. P., Kelley, D. E., Coleclough, C., Seidman, J. G., Leder, P., Tonegawa, S., Matthyssens, G., and Weigert, M. (1980). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 77, 1937.
- Phillips, R. A., and Melchers, F. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 1099.
- Phillips, R. A., and Miller, R. G. (1974). Nature (London) 251, 444.
- Pierce, S. K., and Klinman, N. R. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 142, 1165.
- Pike, B. L., and Nossal, G. J. V. (1979). Eur. J. Immunol. 9, 708.
- Pilarsky, L. M., and Cunningham, A. J. (1975). Immunology 114, 138.
- Pillai, P. S., and Scott, D. W. (1981). J. Immunol. 126, 1883.
- Playfair, J. H. L., and Purves, E. C. (1971). Nature (London) New Biol. 231, 149.
- Poulsen, P. B., and Claësson, M. H. (1980). Differentiation 17, 77.

- Press, J. L., Strober, S., and Klinman, N. R. (1977). Eur. J. Immunol. 7, 329.
- Press, O. W., Rosse, C., and Clagett, J. (1977). Cell. Immunol. 33, 114.
- Quintans, J., and Cosenza, H. (1976). Eur. J. Immunol. 6, 399.
- Quintans, J., and Lefkovits, I. (1974). J. Immunol. 113, 1373.
- Quintans, J., McKearn, J. P., and Kaplan, D. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 1750.
- Rabbitts, T. H., Forster, A., Dunnick, W., and Bentley, D. L. (1980). *Nature* (London) 283, 351.
- Radnay, J., Goldman, I., and Rozenszajn, L. A. (1979). Nature (London) 278, 351.
- Raff, M. C., Owen, J. J. T., Cooper, M. D., Lawton, A. R., Megson, M., and Gathings, W. E. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 142, 1052.
- Raff, M. C., Megson, M., Owen, J. J., and Cooper, M. D. (1976). Nature (London) 259, 224.
- Ralph, P. (1979). Immunol. Rev. 48, 107.
- Ralph, P. (1980). In "Mononuclear Phagocytes" (R. Van Furth, ed.), p. 439. Martinus Nijhoff, The Hague.
- Reth, M., Imanishi-Kari, T., and Rajewsky, K. (1979). Eur. J. Immunol. 9, 1004.
- Rogers, J. P., Early, C., Carter, C., Calame, K., Bond, M., Hood, L., and Wall, R. (1980). Cell 20, 303.
- Roitt, I. M., Torrigiani, G., Greaves, M. F., Brostoff, J., and Playfair, J. H. (1969). Lancet 2, 367.
- Rose, M. E., and Orlans, E. (1968). Nature (London) 217, 231.
- Rosenberg, Y. J., and Cunningham, A. J. (1977). Eur. J. Immunol. 7, 257.
- Rosenberg, Y. J., and Parish, C. R. (1977). J. Immunol. 118, 612.
- Rosenstreich, D. L., Vogen, S. N., Jacques, A., Wahl, L. M., Scher, I., and Mergenhagen, S. E. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 685.
- Rosse, C. (1976). Int. Rev. Cytol. 45.
- Rozing, J., Buurman, W. A., and Benner, R. (1975). Cell. Immunol. 24, 79.
- Rozing, J., Brons, N. H. C., and Benner, R. (1977). Cell. Immunol. 29, 37.
- Russell, E. S. (1979). Adv. Genet. 20, 357.
- Rusthoven, J. J., and Phillips, R. A. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 781.
- Ryser, J. E., and Vassalli, P. (1974). J. Immunol. 113, 719.
- Sakaguchi, N., Kishimoto, T., Kikutani, H., Watanabe, T., Yoshida, N., Shimizu, A., Yamawaki-Kataoka, Y., Honjo, T., and Yamamura, Y. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 2654.
- Sakano, H., Huppi, K., Heinrich, G., and Tonegawa, S. (1979). Nature (London) 280, 288.
- Sato, H., and Boyse, E. A. (1976). Immunogenetics 3, 565.
- Sato, H., Itakura, K., and Boyse, E. A. (1977). Immunogenetics 4, 591.
- Scheid, M. P., and Triglia, D. (1979). Immunogenetics 9, 423.
- Scheid, M. P., Goldstein, G., Hämmerling, U., and Boyse, E. A. (1975). Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 249, 531.
- Scheid, M. P., Goldstein, G., and Boyse, E. A. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 147, 1727.
- Scher, I., Frantz, M. M., and Steinberg, A. D. (1973). J. Immunol. 110, 1396.
- Scher, I., Ahmed, A., Strong, D. M., Steinberg, A. D., and Paul, W. E. (1975a). J. Exp. Med. 141, 788.
- Scher, I., Steinberg, A. D., Berning, A. K., and Paul, W. E. (1975b). J. Exp. Med. 142, 637.
- Scher, I., Sharrow, S. O., and Paul, W. E. (1976). J. Exp. Med. 144, 507.
- Scher, I., Ahmed, A., and Sharrow, S. O. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 1938.
- Scher, I., Berning, A. K., and Asofsky, R. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 477.
- Scher, I., Berning, A. K., Kessler, S., and Finkelman, F. D. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1686.

- Schwartz, R. H., Dickler, H. B., Sachs, D. H., and Schwartz, B. D. (1976). Scand. J. Immunol. 5, 731.
- Scott, D. W., Tuttle, J., and Alexander, C. (1979). In "B Lymphocytes in the Immune Response" (M. D. Cooper, D. E. Mosier, I. Scher, and E. S. Vitetta, eds.), p. 263. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Seidman, J. G., and Leder, P. (1978). Nature (London) 276, 790.
- Shackney, S. E., Ford, S. S., and Wittig, A. B. (1975). Cell Tissue Kinet. 8, 505.
- Shen, F. W., Spanondis, M., and Boyse, E. A. (1977). Immunogenetics 5, 481.
- Sherr, D. H., Szewczuk, M. R., and Siskind, G. W. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 147, 196.
- Shinefeld, L. A., Sato, V. L., and Rosenberg, N. E. (1980). Cell 20, 11.
- Shortman, K., and Howard, M. (1979). In "B Lymphocytes in the Immune Response" (M. D. Cooper, D. Mosier, E. Scher, and E. Vitetta, eds.), p. 97. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Siadak, A. W., and Nowinski, R. C. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1400.
- Sibley, C. H., Ewald, S. J., Kenry, M. R., Douglas, R. H., Raschke, W. C., and Hood, L. E. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 2097.
- Sibley, C. H., Mar, H. A., and Mains, P. E. (1981). Submitted.
- Siden, E. J., Baltimore, D., Clark, D., and Rosenberg, N. E. (1979). Cell 16, 389.
- Sidman, C. L., and Unanue, E. R. (1975). J. Immunol. 114, 1730.
- Sieckmann, D. G., Scher, I., Asofsky, R., Mosier, D. E., and Paul, W. E. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 148, 1628.
- Sigal, N. H., and Klinman, N. R. (1978). Adv. Immunol. 26, 255.
- Singer, P. A., and Williamson, A. R. (1979). Eur. J. Immunol. 9, 224.
- Sitia, R., Abbott, J., and Hämmerling, U. (1979). Eur. J. Immunol. 9, 859.
- Springer, T. A. (1980). In "Monoclonal Antibodies" (R. H. Kennett, T. J. McKearn, and K. B. Bechtol, eds.), p. 185. Plenum, New York.
- Stanton, T. H., and Boyse, E. A. (1976). Immunogenetics 3, 525.
- Stein, K. E., Brennan, C. A., Mond, J. J., Makela, O., and Paul, W. E. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1798.
- Steinman, R. M., and Witmer, M. D. (1978). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75, 5132.
- Stocker, J. W. (1977). Immunology 32, 275.
- Stocker, J. M., Osmond, D. G., and Nossal, G. J. V. (1974). Immunology 27, 795.
- Storrie, B., Goldstein, G., Boyse, E. A., and Hämmerling, U. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 1358.
- Strober, S. (1975). Transplant. Rev. 24, 84.
- Stutman, O. (1973). Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 29, 19.
- Stutman, O. (1976). Ann. Immunol. (Paris) 127, 943.
- Subbarao, B., Ahmed, A., Paul, W. E., Scher, I., Lieberman, R., and Mosier, D. E. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 2279.
- Taylor, B. A., and Shen, F. W. (1977). Immunogenetics 4, 597.
- Teale, J. M., and Mandel, T. E. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 151, 429.
- Teale, J. M., Howard, M. C., Falzon, E., and Nossal, G. J. V. (1978a). J. Immunol. 121, 2554.
- Teale, J. M., Howard, M. C., and Nossal, G. J. V. (1978b). J. Immunol. 121, 2561.
- Teale, J. M., Liu, F. T., and Katz, D. H. (1981). Submitted.
- Tertian, G., Yung, Y. P., Guy-Grand, D., and Moore, M. A. S. (1981). J. Immunol. (in press).
- Thorbecke, G. J., Warner, N. L., Hochwald, G. M., and Ohanian, S. H. (1968). Immunology 15, 123.
- Till, J. E., and McCulloch, E. A. (1961). Radiat. Res. 14, 213.
- Till, J. E., and McCulloch, E. A. (1980). Biochim. Biophys. Acta 605, 431.

- Till, J. E., McCulloch, E. A., and Siminovitch, L. (1964). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 51, 29.
- Tittle, T. V., and Rittenberg, M. B. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 936.
- Tittle, T. V., and Rittenberg, M. B. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 202.
- Toivanen, P., Toivanen, A., and Good, R. A. (1972). J. Immunol. 109, 1058.
- Trentin, J. J. (1971). Am. J. Pathol. 65, 621.
- Trentin, J., Wolf, N., Cheng, V., Fahlberg, W., Weiss, D., and Bonlag, R. (1967). J. Immunol. 98, 1326.
- Trowbridge, I. S. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 148, 313.
- Trowbridge, I. S., and Mazauskas, C. (1976). Eur. J. Immunol. 6, 557.
- Trowbridge, I. S., Ralph, P., and Bevan, M. J. (1975). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 72, 157.
- Tung, J. S., Michaelson, J., Sato, H., Vitetta, E. S., and Boyse, E. A. (1977). Immunogenetics 5, 485.
- Tung, J. S., Scheid, M. P., Pierotti, M. A., Hämmerling, U., and Boyse, E. A. (1981). Immunogenetics (in press).
- Tyan, M. L., and Herzenberg, L. A. (1968). J. Immunol. 101, 446.
- Van Alten, P. J., Cain, W. A., Good, R. A., and Cooper, M. D. (1968). Nature (London) 217, 358.
- Van Muiswinkel, W. B., van Beek, J. J., and van Soest, P. L. (1975). Immunology 29, 327.
- Volf, D., Sensenbrenner, L. L., Sharkis, S. J., Elfenbein, G. J., and Scher, I. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 147, 940.
- Volpe, E. P., Tompkins, R., and Reinschmidt, D. (1979). J. Exp. Zool. 208, 57.
- Waldmann, T. A., Polmar, S. H., Balestra, S. T., Jost, M. C., Bruce, R. M., and Terry, W. D. (1972). J. Immunol. 109, 304.
- Warner, N. L. (1974). Adv. Immunol. 19, 67.
- Warner, N. L., Szenberg, A., and Burnet, F. M. (1962). Aust. J. Exp. Biol. Med. Sci. 40, 373.
- Warner, N. L., Uhr, J. L., Thorbecke, G. J., and Ovary, Z. (1969). J. Immunol. 103, 1317.
- Warner, N. L., Daley, M. J., Richey, J., and Spellman, C. (1979). Immunol. Rev. 48, 197. Watson, J. (1977). J. Immunol. 118, 1103.
- Weber, W. T., and Alexander, J. E. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 653.
- Weiss, L. (1976). Anat. Rec. 186, 161.
- Weissman, I. L., Baird, S., Gardner, R. L., Papaioannou, V. E., and Raschke, W. (1976). Cold Spring Harbor Symp. 41, 9.
- Wekerle, H., and Ketelsen, U. P. (1980). Nature (London) 283, 402.
- Westen, H., and Bainton, D. F. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 150, 919.
- Williams, N., Jackson, H., Ralph, P., and Nakoinz, I. (1981). Blood 57, 157.
- Winchester, R. J., Ross, G. D., Jarowski, C. I., Wang, W. Y., Halper, J., and Broxmeyer, H. E. (1977). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 4012.
- Wright, E. G., and Lord, B. I. (1979). Leukemia Res. 3, 15.
- Wright, E. G., Garland, J. M., and Lord, B. I. (1980). Leukemia Res. 4, 537.
- Wu, A. M., Till, J. E., Simiovitch, L., and McCulloch, E. A. (1968). J. Exp. Med. 127, 455.
- Yakura, H., Shen, F. W., Boyse, E. A., and Tang, L. (1980). Immunogenetics 10, 603.
- Yang, W. C., Miller, S. C., and Osmond, D. G. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 148, 1251.
- Yoshida, Y., and Osmond, D. G. (1971). Blood 37, 73.
- Yung, L. L., L., Wyn-Evans, T. C., and Diener, E. (1973). Eur. J. Immunol. 3, 224.

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

Structural Aspects and Heterogeneity of Immunoglobulin Fc Receptors¹

JAY C. UNKELESS,² HOWARD FLEIT, AND IRA S. MELLMAN³

Department of Cellular Physiology and Immunology, The Rockefeller University, New York, New York

I.	Introduction	247
II.	Specificity and Heterogeneity of Fc Receptor Activity	248
	A. Mouse Fc Receptors for IgG_1 , IgG_{2b} , and IgG_{2a}	248
	B. Guinea Pig Fc Receptors for IgG	253
	C. Fc Receptors for IgG on Human Cells	254
	D. Fc Receptors for IgE, IgA, and IgM	255
III.	Isolation and Characterization of IgG Fc Receptors	257
	A. Fc Receptor Purification Using the Anti-Receptor Monoclonal	
	Antibody, 2.4G2	258
	B. Fc Receptor Purification Using IgG Affinity Adsorbents	260
IV.	Conclusion	267
	References	268

I. Introduction

Receptors for immunoglobulin (Ig) on cells of the immune system provide an important link between the humoral and cellular aspects of immunity by enabling effector cells, such as macrophages and polymorphonuclear leukocytes, to identify microorganisms and other antigens recognized as "foreign." In addition, it seems likely that Ig receptors serve other, more complex functions in the immune response since the receptors are also found on the surfaces of a variety of immunocompetent cells such as T and B lymphocytes. The involvement of Fc receptors in such phenomena as idiotype suppression can be inferred from the necessity of an intact Fc domain on the anti-idiotypic antibody for suppression and generation of suppressor T cells. Thus, the study of Fc receptors and the cellular interactions they can trigger is of clear importance to an understanding of the regulation of the

'The work reported here was supported by grant AI-14603 from the Public Health Service.

² Andrew W. Mellon Foundation fellow and recipient of a Faculty Research Award (FRA-205) from the American Cancer Society.

³ Recipient of a Junior Faculty Research Award (JFRA-26) from the American Cancer Society. Present address: Section of Cell Biology, Yale University School of Medicine, New Haven, Connecticut. immune response. At the level of the individual cell, binding of Ig to its receptor can modulate cell behavior dramatically. Cross-linking of the IgE Fc receptor, for example, causes explosive degranulation of mast cells and basophils, with important physiological consequences. Of no less interest are the macrophage functions triggered by interaction of IgG Fc receptors with immune complexes or opsonized particles. Secondary events to these receptor-ligand interactions include phagocytosis or internalization of the bound ligand (Silverstein *et al.*, 1977), antibody-mediated cytolysis of target cells (Cerrottini and Brunner, 1974), and the release of soluble mediators of inflammation including prostaglandin (Humes *et al.*, 1980), leukotriene (Rouzer *et al.*, 1980), and hydrolytic enzymes (Gordon *et al.*, 1974; Werb and Gordon, 1975).

The mechanisms by which immune complexes mediate these activities through interaction with Fc receptors are not known. Clearly, detailed information on the structure of the receptor molecule(s) is necessary to understand these processes in detail. Accordingly, in the last few years an increasing number of investigators have studied the properties of Fc receptors (FcR) from a number of cell types. In this review, we will attempt to evaluate and clarify work on FcR structure as well as to examine the recent data that suggest the existence of FcR heterogeneity. We will limit our consideration largely to results published since the comprehensive review by Dickler (1976).

II. Specificity and Heterogeneity of Fc Receptor Activity

A. MOUSE FC RECEPTORS FOR IgG1, IgG2b, AND IgG2a

1. Subclass Specificity and Trypsin Sensitivity

The first observation that mouse macrophages have more than one class of FcR for IgG was by Kossard and Nelson (1968), later confirmed by Askenase and Hayden (1974). In these studies, the formation of rosettes with antibody-coated erythrocytes was examined using both normal and trypsin-treated macrophages. Erythrocytes sensitized with "early" antisera failed to bind to trypsinized macrophages although they formed rosettes with untreated cells. On the other hand, erythrocytes sensitized with hyperimmune mouse serum formed rosettes regardless of trypsin treatment of the macrophages. Askenase and Hayden (1974) found further that rosette formation with "early" antisera was inhibited by an IgG_{2a}-specific antiserum, suggesting that the mouse IgG subclass that bound to the trypsin-sensitive site was IgG_{2a} . More recently, binding studies of monomeric ¹²³I-labeled mouse myeloma proteins to mouse macrophages and macrophage-like cell lines confirmed the presence on macrophages of a trypsin-sensitive binding site specific for IgG_{2a} (Unkeless and Eisen, 1975; Heusser *et al.*, 1977). These studies were extended by Diamond *et al.* (1978), who employed different subclasses of monoclonal anti-erythrocyte antibodies to show that IgG_{2a} -coated red cells did not bind to trypsinized macrophages, in contrast to IgG_{2b} -coated cells. Thus, the specificity of IgG_{2a} for a trypsin-sensitive receptor was not affected by the formation of immune aggregates. Similar findings were also obtained using IgG_{2a} covalently attached to CNBr-activated Sephadex beads (Unkeless, 1977).

2. Competition Experiments

Another set of observations providing evidence for the existence of multiple FcR's on mouse macrophages is the demonstration of lack of inhibition of binding of one IgG subclass by different subclasses of IgG. Walker (1976) found that binding of labeled monomeric mouse IgG_{2a} to macrophages or macrophage cell lines was not inhibited by aggregated IgG_{2b} or IgG_1 , nor was binding of labeled aggregated IgG_{2b} inhibited by aggregated IgG_1 or monomeric IgG_{2a} . The lack of competition by IgG_{2a} and aggregated IgG_{2b} was interpreted as evidence for the existence of separate sites. Similar results were reported by Heusser et al. (1977), who reached much the same conclusion-that monomeric IgG_{2a} bound to one site and aggregated IgG of all subclasses, including IgG_{2a}, bound to a distinct, trypsin-resistant site. Apart from the question of whether IgG_{2a} aggregates bind to a trypsinresistant site, these results are in general agreement with conclusions drawn by Diamond et al. (1978) and Diamond and Scharff (1980), who found that binding to macrophages of IgG1 and IgG20-coated erythrocytes could not be inhibited by aggregated IgG2a, nor IgG2a-coated ervthrocytes by aggregated IgG_1 or IgG_{2b} . Based on these competition experiments, it appears that there are at least two receptors, one specific for IgG_{2b}/IgG₁ aggregates, and another, trypsin-sensitive receptor that binds mouse IgG2a. Matters may be yet more complex, however. Mouse IgG_3 , which does not bind as a monomer (Unkeless and Eisen, 1975), binds when presented as an immune complex. Diamond and Yelton (1981) reported that binding of erythrocytes coated with an anti-erythrocyte IgG₃ to macrophages could not be inhibited by aggregated IgG of any mouse subclass except IgG₃, suggesting the existence of a separate (trypsin-resistant) IgG_3 receptor on mouse macrophages.

Other evidence, however, indicates that the specificity of these Fc receptors is not absolute, especially when monomers of myeloma proteins are used to compete against each other. Segal and Titus (1978) reported that monomeric mouse IgG2a, IgG2b, and IgG1 compete equally for binding to receptors on the P388D1 macrophage cell line. A similar study was published by Haeffner-Cavaillon et al. (1979), who found preferential association of IgG_{2a} with one receptor and IgG_{2b} with the other, albeit with marked cross-specificity. Interestingly, they found that canine IgG discriminated between the IgG_{2b}/IgG_1 and IgG_{2a} Fc receptors, since it would inhibit only mouse IgG_{2a} binding. Unlike Segal and Titus (1978), they found no competition by mouse IgG_1 . The reason for the discrepancies between these results and the findings discussed above, which suggest the existence of two functionally distinct receptor sites, is not clear. However, a possible explanation may relate to the use of monomeric vs. aggregated IgG in these binding and competition experiments. The high degree of crossreactivity of monomeric IgG_{2a} and IgG_{2b} binding (Segal and Titus, 1978; Haeffner-Cavaillon et al., 1979) was not observed when immune complexes or aggregates were employed (Diamond et al., 1978; Walker, 1976; Heusser et al., 1977). Thus, it is possible that complex formation results in alterations in affinity or in the actual conformation of the Fc domain of IgG such that subclass specificity in binding to cellular FcR is restored.

3. Fc Receptor-Negative Mutants and Variants

Although the binding and competitive inhibition studies are not unequivocal, the clear consensus is that mouse macrophages have at least two, and perhaps three, distinct FcR activities—one that is trypsin-resistant and appears to bind IgG_{2b} and IgG_1 aggregates preferentially, a second that is sensitive to trypsinization and specific for IgG2a, and a third that binds IgG3 aggregates. If there are indeed distinct FcR proteins, it should be possible to differentiate among them genetically by deriving cell lines in culture that lack one or the other receptor activities. To this end, Unkeless et al. (1979) have selected for mutants that bound few IgG-coated erythrocytes in populations of mutagenized 1774 macrophages. A series of clones were isolated that were largely deficient in the ability to bind IgG_{2b} -coated erythrocytes but exhibited a normal capacity to bind monomeric IgG_{2a}. The defect was, however, pleiotropic. Many of these clones also had a partial C3b receptor defect and were characterized by abnormal surface morphology and reduced adhesiveness.

Another intesesting set of variants was isolated by Diamond et al. (1979), who used a variation of the clever "Trojan horse" selection

scheme originally devised by Muschel et al. (1977). In order to isolate variants incapable of ingesting IgG_{2a}-coated erythrocytes, the erythrocytes were loaded with the toxic adenosine analog tubercidin, and fed to J774 cells. Some of the surviving clones obtained in this manner were able to ingest mouse IgG_{2b} - and IgG_1 -coated erythrocytes normally, but although IgG_{2a} -coated cells bound, they were not ingested (Diamond and Scharff, 1980). These results demonstrate that IgG_{2b} / IgG1 and IgG2a receptors are independently coupled to the signaltransducing mechanism or contractile apparatus of the macrophage, which facilitates the phagocytosis of FcR-bound opsonized particles. Ordinarily, all mouse IgG subclasses are known to mediate the ingestion and lysis of erythrocytes (Ralph et al., 1980; Diamond and Yelton, 1981). Apparently no cell lines deficient in IgG_{2a} binding per se were isolated using the tubercidin selection system. However, one cell line variant of J774 has been isolated that is selectively deficient in the ability to bind IgG₃-coated erythrocytes, which provides further evidence for the existence of an IgG_3 -specific receptor (Diamond and Yelton, 1981).

4. Monoclonal Anti-Fc Receptor Antibody

An independent approach to the question on FcR specificity and heterogeneity was afforded by the isolation of a monoclonal rat antimouse FcR antibody (Unkeless, 1979). This antibody, designated 2.4G2 IgG, was derived from the fusion of the Hprt⁻ mouse myeloma P3U1 with the spleen cells of a rat immunized with the mouse macrophage cell lines 1774 and P388D₁. The resulting hybrids were selected in HAT medium and the clone producing 2.4G2 IgG was identified by screening culture supernatants for the ability to inhibit rosette formation by erythrocytes coated with monoclonal antierythrocyte IgG_{2b} . Several lines of evidence strongly suggested that 2.4G2 IgG was directed against the trypsin-resistant receptor for IgG_{2b} and IgG₁ aggregates. First, the monovalent 2.4G2 Fab fragment (prepared by papain digestion of 2.4G2 IgG purified from ascites) was shown to inhibit rosette formation by erythrocytes coated with either monoclonal anti-erythrocyte IgG_1 or IgG_{2b} but not IgG_{2a} . Second, the binding of ¹²⁵I-labeled 2.4G2 Fab to macrophages was not affected by prior trypsin treatment of the cells. Third, 2.4G2 Fab did not interfere (<10%) with the binding of $[125I]IgG_{2a}$ monomer under conditions were 2.4G2 binding sites were completely saturated (Mellman and Unkeless, 1980). In addition, the IgG₁/IgG_{2b} FcR-negative J774 mutants described above (Unkeless et al., 1979) were almost totally deficient in the ability to bind 2.4G2 Fab.

Since by definition, the monoclonal 2.4G2 IgG recognized only one

antigenic site. ¹²⁵I-labeled antibody was used to determine the distribution of the antigen on different cell types. In addition to cells of macrophage origin, 2.4G2 IgG was found to bind only to lymphoid cells and cell lines that rosetted with IgG-sensitized erythrocytes, which suggests that macrophage and lymphocyte FcRs are structurally if not genetically related. 2.4G2 Fab did not bind to FcR negative cells or to macrophages of species other than the mouse, including rat, rabbit, and guinea pig (Unkeless, 1979). It is noteworthy that the 2.4G2 antigen was expressed on the S49.1 T cell line, which does not bind IgG_{2a} (Heusser *et al.*, 1977; Anderson and Grey, 1978; Mellman and Unkeless, unpublished results). Taken together, these data demonstrate that 2.4G2 IgG recognizes an FcR for IgG₁/IgG_{2b}, and moreover, that this receptor is functionally distinct from the trypsin-sensitive IgG_{2a} receptor.

5. Other Evidence for Fc Receptor Heterogeneity

The receptors for IgG_{2a} and IgG_{2b}/IgG_1 on mouse macrophages can also be differentiated by temperature sensitivity to rosette formation at 4°C, where the IgG_{2a} receptor is largely inactive, and by the greater sensitivity of the IgG_{2b}/IgG_1 FcR to inhibition by cytochalasin B (Diamond *et al.*, 1978). The receptors can also be capped differentially by plating macrophages on rabbit IgG immune complex-coated cover slips (Michl *et al.*, 1979). Such macrophages have IgG_{2b}/IgG_1 receptors effectively cleared from their apical surfaces, but still bind IgG_{2a} coated erythrocytes. Moreover, this residual binding is trypsin sensitive.

Diamond *et al.* (1978) found that the inhibition of binding of rabbit IgG-coated erythrocytes to mouse macrophages required the addition of both aggregated IgG_{2a} and IgG_{2b} . Thus, they concluded that rabbit immune complexes were bound by both the trypsin-resistant IgG_{2h} IgG_1 FcR and trypsin-sensitive IgG_{2a} FcR. Similar conclusions were deduced from the study of binding of rabbit immune complexes to IgG_{2b}/IgG₁ FcR negative J774 variants (Unkeless et al., 1979). Relevant to this conclusion are the recent observations of Sulica et al. (1979), who studied the effect of *Staphylococcus aureus* protein A on the binding of rabbit IgG to macrophages. While protein A inhibited the the binding of rabbit IgG immune complexes, the binding of monomeric IgG was actually enhanced. In light of the demonstration that rabbit IgG monomer binds to the IgG_{2a}-specific receptor (Unkeless, 1977; Unkeless et al., 1979), these results imply that the IgG_{2a} receptor interacts with different domains of the rabbit IgG Fc region than does the IgG_{2b}/IgG₁ receptor, which binds primarily rabbit IgG

immune complexes. It should be pointed out, however, that protein A inhibits the binding of both IgG_{2b} - and IgG_{2a} -coated erythrocytes to J774 cells (Diamond and Yelton, 1981).

Further evidence that the IgG_{2a} and IgG_{2b}/IgG_1 mouse Fc receptors may interact with different domains of IgG comes from the work of Diamond et al. (1979), who studied the ability of aggregated mutant myeloma proteins to inhibit the binding to macrophages of IgG2a or IgG_{2b} -coated erythrocytes. A mutant IgG_{2b} myeloma protein with a deleted C_H3 domain still inhibited IgG_{2b}-coated erythrocyte rosettes, whereas another variant protein, with a crossover such that the $C_{H}3$ domain contained IgG_{2a} sequence and the C_H2 domain contained largely IgG_{2b} sequence, inhibited partially both IgG_{2a} and IgG_{2b}mediated rosetting. This data, as well as that of Sulica et al. (1979) with protein A, suggested that different receptors may bind different domains of the Fc piece, and that the same antibody may interact with different receptors through different contact regions. This may account for the discrepant results in studies of binding of IgG fragments to Fc receptors, which have implied that either the $C_{\mu}2$ domain (Alexander et al., 1976; Ovary et al., 1976; Tsay and Schlamowitz, 1978; Johanson et al., 1981), or the $C_{H}3$ domain (Yasmeen et al., 1976; Okafor et al., 1974; Ramasamy et al., 1975; McNabb et al., 1976) was involved.

B. GUINEA PIG FC RECEPTORS FOR IgG

The guinea pig has two IgG subclasses, IgG1 and IgG2. Although IgG₂ was initially described as the only cytophilic subclass (Berken and Benacerraf, 1966), the subsequent quantitative binding studies of Leslie and Cohen (1974, 1977) revealed that both IgG1 and IgG2 bound to guinea pig macrophages in a specific fashion. Moreover, IgG1 did not compete for the binding of IgG₂ and although IgG₂ inhibited IgG₁ binding, its K_i was lower than the K_a of either subclass. Similar results were obtained using inhibition of rosette formation: IgG₁ could not block the binding to guinea pig macrophages of IgG₂-coated erythrocytes, and both subclasses inhibited the rosetting of IgG₁-coated erythrocytes (Alexander et al., 1978). These results suggest that guinea pig macrophages, like the mouse macrophages, have multiple Fc receptors. Apparently, both the IgG₁ and IgG₂ FcR's are expressed on the plasma membranes of guinea pig macrophages, since all cells can be shown to bind erythrocytes sensitized with either IgG_1 or IgG_2 . On the other hand, FcR-positive guinea pig T lymphocytes can be subdivided into two populations that bear receptors for guinea pig IgG_1 (47%) or IgG₂ (66%) based on the inhibition by aggregated IgG₁ or IgG₂ of rosette formation using rabbit IgG-coated ox erythrocytes

(Ricardo, 1980). The simultaneous addition of aggregated IgG of both subclasses inhibited rosetting by >90%. No evidence was obtained for the expression of both the IgG₁ and IgG₂ FcR's on individual T cells. The existence of T cells bearing FcR's exclusively for one or the other IgG subclass may have important implications with regard to the regulation of the immune response, since FcR-positive T cells are classically thought of as being suppressor T cells. It is of obvious interest to determine whether analogous mouse T cell subpopulations exist that express FcR's specific for different mouse IgG subclasses.

C. Fc RECEPTORS FOR IgG ON HUMAN CELLS

The binding of human IgG to human peripheral blood monocytes was first demonstrated by Huber and Fudenberg (1968). They showed that monocytes were capable of binding erythrocytes coated with either anti-Rh₀ IgG or with nonspecific IgG bound to the erythrocytes by chromic chloride or diazotized benzidine. Erythrocytes coated with Fab fragments of IgG were not bound by the monocytes. Inhibition experiments using human myeloma IgG's of different subclasses demonstrated that IgG1 and IgG3 inhibited rosette formation more effectively than IgG₂ and IgG₄. Similarly, Fc fragments derived from human IgG₁ and IgG₃ myeloma proteins inhibited rosette formation between human monocytes and anti-Rh₀(D)-coated human erythrocytes (Okafor et al., 1974). Confirming these rosette inhibition studies by direct binding assays of radiolabeled IgG, several groups have shown that human IgG_1 and IgG_3 bind with higher avidity to mononuclear cells than do IgG_4 and IgG_2 (Alexander *et al.*, 1978; Hay et al., 1972; and Huber et al., 1971).

In addition to monocytes, receptors for IgG have been demonstrated on peripheral blood neutrophils (Messner and Jelinek, 1970). As with monocytes, inhibition of rosette formation was demonstrated using myelomas of IgG₁ and IgG₃ subclasses. These investigators showed that IgG's against bacterial antigens or anti-Rh₀ Ripley bound to both neutrophils and monocytes whereas conventional anti-Rh₀ IgG bound only to monocytes, similar to the findings of Huber *et al.* (1969). This finding suggested the possibility of differences among receptors on neutrophils and monocytes.

A human leukemic cell line, U937, derived from a patient with histiocytic lymphoma, has been used to study the binding of human IgG. High affinity for IgG_1 ($K_a = 2.9 \times 10^8$ liters/mole) and IgG_3 was demonstrated in this cell line as well as lower affinity for IgG_4 (Anderson and Abraham, 1980). IgG₁ and IgG₃ myelomas were equivalent in their ability to compete for the IgG₁ binding site. Double reciprocal inhibition experiments that used all four human IgG subclasses indicated that U937 has a single Fc binding site. In addition, preparations of human placental membranes have been shown to bind IgG with subclass specificity similar to that shown by others with monocytes, i.e., human IgG₁ and IgG₃ bound better than IgG₂ or IgG₄ (McNabb *et al.*, 1976). Only the Fc portion bound to the placental membrane preparations. Using a purified fraction of placental plasma membrane vesicles, these investigators more recently demonstrated that IgG₁ and IgG₃ bound to the placental FcR more avidly than did IgG₂ and IgG₄ (Van der Meulen *et al.*, 1980).

The binding of human IgG to the human promyelocytic leukemia cell line HL-60 has been studied (Crabtree, 1980). HL-60 cells were shown to possess approximately 20,000 Fc receptors per cell and to bind human IgG₁ and IgG₃. Interestingly, one-half as much IgG₁ complexed with protein A bound to HL-60 cells compared to uncomplexed human IgG₁. Since the binding of human IgG₁ to the P388D₁ mouse macrophage line was totally inhibited by protein A, the authors suggest the possibility that there are two types of Fc receptors on HL-60 cells.

D. Fc RECEPTORS FOR IgE, IgA, AND IgM

The most intensively and thoroughly studied immunoglobulin receptor is the IgE-specific FcR found on mast cells and basophilic granulocytes (for review, see Metzger, 1978). IgE binds to this receptor with high avidity ($K_a \ge 10^{10} M^{-1}$) and dissociates extremely slowly (Kulczycki and Metzger, 1974). The high association constant has facilitated the isolation of the IgE FcR by affinity chromatography from both rat basophilic leukemia cells and rat peritoneal mast cells in several laboratories (Kanellopoulos et al., 1979; Kulczycki and Parker, 1979; Kulczycki et al., 1979; Froese, 1980). The basophil IgE receptor has been purified to homogeneity in milligram quantities (Kanellopoulos et al., 1979). The receptor appears to be similar on both cell types and is generally agreed to be a glycosylated integral membrane protein consisting of one or possibly two polypeptides with molecular weights of 45,000-55,000. In addition, through the use of bifunctional cross-linking reagents, the IgE FcR has been found to be closely associated with another smaller (~30,000) molecular weight peptide (Holowka et al., 1980). It is interesting to note that the macrophage/ lymphocyte FcR for IgG seems to be structurally similar to the IgE receptor (see below).

Considerable attention has been devoted to understanding the role of the IgE receptor in triggering the release of mast cell or basophil granule content. While incompletely understood, it is evident that degranulation is potentiated by receptor aggregation in the plane of the membrane as a consequence of extracellular "bridging" by a multivalent ligand. Metzger and co-workers have used both anti-receptor antibody and chemically cross-linked IgE complexes to show that the aggregation of at least two receptors is necessary to elicit a response (Segal *et al.*, 1977; Isersky *et al.*, 1978). Since a more detailed consideration of IgE receptor function is beyond the scope of the present paper, the reader is referred to the following reviews: Metzger, 1978; Ishizaka and Ishizaka, 1978; Sobotka *et al.*, 1978.

In addition to the high-affinity basophil/mast cell IgE Fc receptor, IgE Fc receptors have been described on lymphocytes (Gonzalez-Molina and Spiegelberg, 1978; Yodoi and Ishizaka, 1979) and on macrophages (Dessaint et al., 1979; Melewicz and Spiegelberg, 1980). The number of lymphocytes bearing IgE FcR increases dramatically in rats infected with *Nippostrongylus brasiliensis*, which induces high levels of IgE. Yodoi et al. (1979) subsequently observed that IgE would induce IgE receptors on lymphocytes in vitro and that this induction was dependent on protein and RNA, but not DNA, synthesis. A similar phenomenon was observed for lymphoid cells that bear IgA Fc receptors, which are present in large numbers (up to one-third of peripheral *θ*-bearing lymphocytes) in mice that bear IgA-secreting plasmacytomas (Gebel et al., 1979; Hoover and Lynch, 1980). IgA Fc receptors have also been reported on subpopulations of monocytes and granulocytes through use of rosetting techniques, and there was no inhibition of IgA rosettes by IgG, or vice versa (Fanger et al., 1980). Receptors for IgM on lymphocytes have been well described, particularly for human cells [see Dickler (1976) for review], and are thought to define a subset of T helper cells (Moretta et al., 1977). Of particular interest is the observation that T lymphocytes can modulate from expression of IgG receptors to IgM Fc receptors upon exposure to IgG immune complexes (Pichler et al., 1978; Moretta et al., 1978). There is also a report on the presence of IgM receptors on macrophages from cultured bone marrow cells and splenic macrophages (Roubin and Zolla-Pazner, 1979).

Interestingly, several nonlymphoid cell types have been found to express FcR for IgG. Best known are receptors that mediate the transfer of maternal Ig to progeny. Such diverse tissues as neonatal rat intestinal epithelial cells (Rodewald, 1976, 1980; Guyer *et al.*, 1976), the placental syncytial trophoblast (McNabb *et al.*, 1976), fetal rabbit yolk sac membrane (Cobb *et al.*, 1980; Schlamowitz, 1976), and fetal chick yolk sac (Linden and Roth, 1978) express FcR. A preliminary report has appeared which suggests that retinal pigmented epithelial cells also bear FcR for IgG (Elner, 1981). In addition, it is apparent that fibroblasts infected with herpes virus express FcR activity (Baucke and Spear, 1979). It is interesting to speculate whether these diverse receptors are related and have common structural determinants.

III. Isolation and Characterization of IgG Fc Receptors

A detailed knowledge of the structure of the Fc receptor(s) for IgG would be of great value in understanding the mechanism whereby the binding of immune complexes signals the release of mediators of inflammation, phagocytosis, and other cellular phenomena. Accordingly, there have been numerous reports on the isolation and characterization of FcR's. Since there has been considerable disagreement among these published reports, it may be worthwhile to discuss criteria by which these results should be evaluated. Ideally, the protein isolated should be purified to homogeneity and should have FcR activity and specificity consistent with the activity on the cell surface. Similarly, the distribution of the molecule should reflect the distribution of the receptor on different cell types. The yield and recovery of the protein should be specified, and should be at least reasonably consistent with the number of binding sites detected on the cell surface, assuming that the receptor is primarily a cell-surface molecule. If a sufficient quantity of pure protein could be prepared, the production of sera that both immunoprecipitate specifically the immunogen and block receptor activity would constitute conclusive evidence for isolation of the desired molecule.

The principal method used to isolate Fc receptors has been affinity chromatography of a nonionic detergent lysate over IgG or IgG aggregates coupled to a solid support. These studies have been modeled after the successful isolation of the IgE Fc receptor (see above). However, the use of affinity chromatography to purify the Fc receptor for IgG has resulted in conflicting reports of molecular weight (M_r) . Part of this confusion may relate to the probable presence of multiple FcR's or FcR activities on individual cell types. In addition, however, the avidity of the IgG FcR'(s) for its ligand(s) is probably not as high as the mast cell-basophil IgE-specific FcR for IgE. IgG's of different subclasses have been estimated to bind with K_a 's of $10^5 M^{-1}$ to $10^8 M^{-1}$ whereas IgE binds with a K_a in excess of $10^{10} M^{-1}$ (Kulczycki and Metzger, 1974). Thus, efforts to purify the IgG FcR have been hindered both by the low affinity of the FcR molecule for IgG and by the necessity—in order to preserve receptor activity—of using mild detergents that may not remove nonspecifically adsorbed proteins from the affinity matrix.

A. Fc Receptor Purification Using the Anti-Receptor Monoclonal Antibody, 2.4G2

In contrast to the use of immobilized IgG as an affinity adsorbent, the availability of the anti-FcR monoclonal antibody 2.4G2 (see above) offered several distinct advantages and one major disadvantage as an immunoadsorbent for FcR isolation from cell lysates. The disadvantage was that, by definition, 2.4G2 recognized one antigenic site; thus, other receptors or receptor-associated molecules might be discarded during the purification. On the other hand, the major advantages were that the 2.4G2 Fab fragment had a high K_a , $\sim 1 \times 10^9 M^{-1}$, and that the antigen-antibody complex was not disrupted by sodium dodocyl sulfate-Nonidet P-40 (SDS-NP40) or deoxycholate-containing buffers, thus allowing stringent washing procedures. Accordingly, using 2.4G2 Fab coupled to Sepharose 4B, a one-step >5000-fold purification of FcR to apparent homogeneity was effected from NP40 detergent lysates of J774 macrophages (Mellman and Unkeless, 1980). Typically, antigenic activity was recovered with an efficiency of >50%. The degree of purification attained was in good agreement with the theoretical yield based on the saturation binding value of 2.4G2 Fab to the J774 cell surface (about 600,000 sites per cell, which corresponds to $\sim 0.01\%$ of total cell protein). The antigen was displaced from the immunoadsorbent using a pH 11.5 0.5% deoxycholate buffer described by McMaster and Williams (1979), and after neutralization, the eluate could be analyzed immediately for antigenic activity. The purification procedure was carried out in the presence of the protease inhibitors phenylmethyl sulfonyl fluoride and trasylol and took only 1-2 hours, thus minimizing opportunity for proteolytic degradation.

1. Structure of the Purified Receptor

The presumptive FcR isolated from J774 cells exhibited two diffuse polypeptides of 60,000 and 47,000 M_r following SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. The presence of oligosaccharide on the receptor was demonstrated by the following observations: the antigen bound to concanavalin A; the pI of the purified protein was broad (pH 4.6–5.8) and was shifted to more alkaline values by neuraminidase treatment; and the antigen was labeled by the galactose oxidase/NaB[³H]₄ procedure. Trace amounts of the ¹²⁵I-labeled antigen were also isolated from other FcR-bearing cells of B cell, T cell, null lymphocyte, and macrophage lineage for purposes of comparison. The ¹²⁵I-labeled glycoprotein displayed significant M_r heterogeneity, ranging from 45,000 M_r (thioglycolate-elicited mouse peritoneal macrophages) to >70,000 M_r (B-cell line WEHI 231).

The basis for the multiple polypeptides from J774, and the divergent M_r for antigens from different Fc-receptor bearing cells is not clear, but may reflect proteolysis and/or altered glycosylation of the same gene product. We favor the interpretation that the two polypeptides are related forms of the same receptor because (a) both peptides bear the 2.4G2 antigenic determinant; (b) trypsinization of macrophages does not alter the number of 2.4G2 binding sites; (c) trypsinization of ¹²⁵I-labeled macrophages decreases the amount of the 60,000 and increases the amount of the 47,000 M_r peptide; (d) and preliminary two-dimensional analysis of both tryptic and chymotryptic peptides suggests an overall similarity between the two bands (I. S. Mellman and J. C. Unkeless, unpublished results).

Since detergent is required to solubilize the 2.4G2 antigen from J774 membranes, it is apparent that the receptor is an integral protein of the plasma membrane (Steck, 1974). Moreover, in detergent-free solution, the FcR forms large aggregates similar to the "protein micelle" structure commonly observed for membrane proteins in aqueous solution (Simons *et al.*, 1978). Such behavior is consistent with the FcR being an amphipathic molecule, with a hydrophilic ectodomain and a hydrophobic domain normally buried in the membrane. In the presence of NP40, however, the FcR aggregates appear to be disrupted as indicated by their sedimentation velocity in sucrose density gradients (I. S. Mellman and J. C. Unkeless, unpublished results).

2. Fc Receptor Activity of the Purified 2.4G2 Antigen

The isolated receptor from J774 cells, after dialysis to remove deoxycholate, was iodinated *in vitro* using chloramine-T. The purified, labeled protein bound with high avidity to IgG; approximately 50% bound to rabbit anti-DNP immune complex-coated Sephadex beads whereas <0.5% bound to beads bearing the corresponding $F(ab')_2$ complexes (Mellman and Unkeless, 1980). The purified receptor would also hyperagglutinate IgG-coated erythrocytes, which demonstrates the multivalent nature of the aggregates. This effect was particularly dramatic when monoclonal anti-erythrocyte antibodies, which do not hemagglutinate, were used. However, the subclass specificity of the purified receptor was different from that expected based on the inhibition by 2.4G2 Fab fragment of IgG_{2b} and IgG₁ immune complexes (see above). As determined both by binding of ¹²⁵I-labeled FcR to IgG-coated particles and by hyperagglutination of IgG-coated erythrocytes, the purified receptor bound to IgG_{2a} in addition to IgG_{2b} and IgG₁. IgG₃ was not recognized. The binding of IgG_{2a} by the purified J774 receptor may, however, be an *in vitro* artifact. Preliminary results with Fc receptor isolated by 2.4G2 Fab affinity chromatography from the S49.1 T cell line, which does not bind IgG_{2a} (I. S. Mellman and J. C. Unkeless, unpublished results; Anderson and Grey, 1978), show that the purified T-cell FcR, in the absence of detergent, binds to IgG_{2a}. Similarly, in the presence of 0.5% NP40 (which disrupts the FcR aggregates) ¹²⁵I-FcR from J774 cells binds only IgG_{2b}- and IgG₁-coated Sephadex beads (I. S. Mellman and J. C. Unkeless, unpublished results). Thus, it seems quite likely that the 2.4G2 antigen is in fact the IgG₁/IgG_{2b} FcR.

The purified FcR has been used as an immunogen in rabbits. Immunoprecipitation studies using either ¹²⁵I-surface labeled or [³⁵S]methionine-labeled macrophages and the lymphoid Fc receptorbearing S49.1 T cell line showed the antisera were specific for the same peptides precipitated by 2.4G2 IgG. Furthermore, the rabbit antiserum totally inhibited IgG-mediated rosette formation on J774 cells at a dilution of 1:1000 (I. S. Mellman and J. C. Unkeless, unpublished results). Thus, it has been possible to purify the antigen using a monoclonal antibody from a fusion in which the rat spleen cells were immunized with viable macrophages, and subsequently produce specific antisera to the purified protein.

B. Fc RECEPTOR PURIFICATION USING IgG AFFINITY ADSORBENTS

1. Mouse Macrophages

Several groups have purified FcR's from macrophages by affinity chromatography over IgG affinity columns and obtained results largely in accord with the properties of the protein isolated using the monoclonal anti-FcR antibody as immunoadsorbent. Loube *et al.* (1978) isolated a 57,000 M_r protein by chromatography of NP40 lysates of [¹²⁵I]lactoperoxidase labeled P388D₁ cells over human IgG₁ or mouse IgG_{2a} Sepharose. No such peptide was isolated after chromatography over IgM and Fab-coupled columns. Since a general protein label was not used, the degree of purification could not be assessed, nor was there any demonstration of FcR activity of the isolated proteins. A similar approach was employed subsequently to isolate FcR that had been shed into the medium by P388D₁ cells (Loube and Dorrington, 1980). This material, labeled with [³⁵S]methionine, displayed two well separated peptides of 62,000 and 58,000 M_r , as well as a variable amount of a 12,000 M_r peptide. One-dimensional peptide maps of these components, though of low resolving power, suggested that they were related.

Substantially similar results to those reported by Dorrington's group have been reported by Kulczycki et al. (1980), who isolated ¹²⁵Ilabeled or [14C]glucosamine-labeled FcR by chromatography of NP40 lysates of labeled rabbit alveolar macrophages over rabbit IgG coupled to Sepharose. The bound protein, after washing with 1% NP40 in a pH 8 borate saline buffer, was eluted with 0.5 M acetic acid/1% NP40 and immediately neutralized. The labeled receptor had a broad electrophoretic mobility, centered at $M_r \sim 50,000$. About 50-70% of the material thus isolated could then rebind to IgG-Sepharose compared to a background binding to BSA, Fab, or F(ab')₂ Sepharose of about 5–15%. Again, since a general protein label was not used, the degree of purification obtained is not known. The demonstration of rebinding to IgG-Sepharose, although circular in reasoning, is important and is in agreement with the results of Mellman and Unkeless (1980), who observed that the isolated, detergent-free 1774 Fc receptor was inactive at pH 4.3, but regained full activity when reneutralized to pH > 5.

Lane et al. (1980) have isolated ¹²⁵I-labeled Fc receptor from thioglycolate-elicited peritoneal macrophages by chromatography of NP40 lysates over Sepharose coupled with various IgG preparations or non-IgG controls. Elution of the bound protein was accomplished either with acetic acid or SDS. Use of aggregated human IgG or rabbit IgG complexes as the immunoadsorbent resulted in the isolation of two closely spaced proteins of 67,000 and 52,000 M_r . However, only the 52,000 M_r peptide was isolated from an aggregated mouse IgG₁ column, and the $67,000 M_r$ peptide was the predominant peptide isolated from an aggregated IgG_{2a} immunoadsorbent. Trypsinization removed the 67,000 M_r peptide preferentially. Thus, the authors concluded that there are two structurally different proteins, one specific for IgG_{2b}/IgG_1 and the other specific for IgG_{2a} . However, rigorous proof of the distinctiveness of these two proteins must reside in tryptic mapping or sequence studies. It should be noted that the two peptides isolated by Lane et al. (1980) look very similar to those isolated by Loube and Dorrington (1980), who used a similar isolation protocol employing human IgG₁, supposedly the human analog of mouse IgG_{2a} . In addition, they found similarity in the peptide maps of their 62,000 and $58,000 M_r$ proteins.

Schneider et al. (1981) reported a partial purification of IgG-FcR

from NP40 lysates of P388D₁ cells labeled with ¹²⁵I by lactoperoxidase-catalyzed iodination. They coupled myeloma proteins of IgG₁, IgG_{2a}, and IgG_{2b} subclasses, pooled mouse Ig and rabbit IgG, to Sepharose for use as affinity adsorbents, and used the same acetic acid elution followed by rapid neutralization described previously (Kulczycki *et al.*, 1980) to obtain Fc binding protein which could be used for rebinding studies. Unlike the results described by Lane *et al.* (1980), they found that substantially the same peptides were isolated from all IgG immunoadsorbents. Furthermore, material isolated by chromatography IgG_{2a} or IgG_{2b} Sepharose would rebind equally well to either subclass, and rebinding was inhibited equally well by either subclass. The reasons for the discrepancies between Schneider *et al.* (1981) and Lane *et al.* (1980) are not obvious, since the methods used by both groups were very similar.

Moreover, the conclusion of Lane et al. (1980) that the 60,000 M_r protein is the IgG_{2a} -specific FcR and the 52,000 M_r protein is the IgG_1/IgG_{2b} FcR is difficult to reconcile with the results obtained for FcR's purified using 2.4G2 (Mellman and Unkeless, 1980; see above). First, identification of the larger of the two J774 FcR peptides, which is the major species, as the IgG_{2a} FcR is inconsistent with the small number of IgG_{2a} binding sites ($\sim 1 \times 10^5$ per cell) relative to the number of binding sites for immune complexes and 2.4G2 Fab (4 to $6 \times$ 10⁵ per cell). Second, trypsinization of J774 cells did not decrease the number of ¹²⁵I-2.4G2 Fab binding sites although the $60,000 M_r$ protein was apparently completely converted to the 47,000 M_r peptide. This result strongly suggests that the 2.4G2 antigenic site was preserved in the lower molecular weight proteolytic degradation product. Finally, although the one- and two-dimensional gels presented by Lane et al. (1980) and by Mellman and Unkeless (1980) are similar, it is significant that the monoclonal anti-FcR antibody 2.4G2 immunoprecipitated only a single, broad $45,000 M_r$ glycoprotein from thioglycolateelicited macrophages—the cell type used by Lane et al. for their FcR isolation by ligand affinity chromatography. Further genetic and biochemical studies will be needed to resolve these conflicts.

2. Fc Receptors from Human Mononuclear Cells

Results comparable to those discussed for mouse macrophage and lymphocyte FcR have been reported for human FcR's isolated from mononuclear cells (Cunningham-Rundles *et al.*, 1978, 1980). In the first publication (Cunningham-Rundles *et al.*, 1978) NP40 lysates of surface iodinated pooled mononuclear cells (80–90% lymphocytes and 10–20% monocytes) were incubated either with IgG, F(ab')₂, or unconjugated Sepharose, and washed in PBS. Two peaks of radioactivity, 60,000 and $120,000 M_r$, which were present only after incubation with IgG Sepharose, were observed in nonreducing gels. Reduction of the sample resulted in only a 60,000 M_r peptide which was not isolated from an FcR-negative cell line Molt 4. In the later paper, after nitrogen bomb cavitation, protein solubilized by an unspecified method was passed over a column of heat-aggregated IgG and eluted with pH 2.3 glycine. As before, a peptide of $60,000 M_r$ was isolated and, in nonreduced gels, a dimer of $120,000 M_r$. However, there were no controls using either Fab or F(ab')₂ immunoadsorbents or non-receptor-bearing cells, nor was any activity of the purified protein described, nor were any quantitative purification data included. The NH₃ terminus was identified as glycine, but, as glycine was used to elute the material from the column, the result is suspect without any quantitative data or controls. An antiserum elicited using the purified protein as immunogen inhibited T-cell rosettes 50% at a 1:30 dilution, but the antiserum was not used for immunoprecipitation.

3. Other Cell Types

Although there seems to be reasonable consensus among several laboratories that the purified and active FcR is a glycoprotein of 50,000–70,000 M_r that is not altered by reduction, this is by no means universally accepted. Rather than affinity chromatography, Bourgois et al. (1977) have used a coprecipitation system of immune complexes formed overnight in the presence of labeled NP40 lysates of various cell types. To prevent proteolysis, phenylmethyl sulfonyl fluoride, 100 mM iodacetamide, and trasylol were added. In this and subsequent reports (Sire et al., 1980; Kahn-Perles et al., 1980) the FcR was described as a single-chain $110,000-120,000 M_r$ peptide that was extremely sensitive to proteolysis. After proteolytic cleavage the peptides remained associated by disulfide bonds. After reduction peptides of 90,000, 75,000, 46,000, and 23,000 were observed. The 120,000 M_r protein was observed from lysates of mouse macrophages, thymus cells, B cells, and fibroblasts (Bourgois et al., 1977), rabbit lymphoid cells (Sire et al., 1980), and the P815 mastocytoma cell line (Kahn-Perles et al., 1980), but not on the L5178Y T lymphoma line. The relation of the 120,000 M_r peptide to the 50,000-70,000 M_r FcR protein discussed above is unclear. No activity has been demonstrated for the 120,000 M_r protein. The presence of this peptide on mouse fibroblasts which do not bear FcR's or react with the monoclonal mouse anti-FcR antibody 2.4G2, is also a source of concern.

A comparable coprecipitation method was used by Neauport-Sautes

and Fridman (1977) and by Joskowitz et al. (1978) to isolate a molecule termed immunoglobulin binding factor (IBF) secreted by allogeneic activated T cells and by the L5178Y lymphoma. The L5178Y lymphoma line was characterized by Bourgois et al. (1977) and by Unkeless (1979) as being FcR negative, but this apparently was not the case for the line used by Neauport-Sautes and Fridman (1977). Supernatants of [³H]fucose-labeled L5178Y cells bound to IgG-coated and, to a lesser extent, to IgM-coated erythrocytes. The crude fucose-labeled supernatant medium upon chromatography on Sephadex G-200 separated into two peaks. Approximately 50% of the total radioactivity in both the void volume peak and the peak with a M_r of 140,000 bound to IgG-coated erythrocytes. This value is surprisingly high for what should be a minor cell surface component. In acrylamide gels, peptides of 40,000 M_r and 20,000 M_r were observed after reduction; without reduction an 80,000 M_r protein was observed. No quantitation of the amount of protein secreted and/or purified was given, but the Sephadex G-200 pools containing IgG binding activity suppressed an in vitro anti-sheep red blood cell (SRBC) response. In a subsequent paper, Joskowitz et al. (1978) described the purification of IBF by affinity chromatography from unlabeled activated T cells. This material was then chromatographed on an anti-Ia affinity column, eluted, and iodinated. When anti-Ia of the appropriate haplotype was employed, peptides of 40,000 and 17,000 M_r were detected. They thus concluded that the FcR (or immunoglobulin binding factor) bears determinants for both IgG and Ia. However, since the starting material was not pure (and in fact no criteria for purity were ever presented) subsequent isolation of Ia specificities is not proof of association.

Frade and Kourilsky (1977) also analyzed FcR from membranes of L5178Y cells. Total membranes labeled with ¹⁴C-labeled amino acids were dissolved in deoxycholate and after dialysis, were fractionated on Sephadex G-200. As described by Neauport-Sautes and Fridman (1977), a high percentage of material eluting in the first two peaks bound to IgG-coupled Sepharose; after chromatography of either of the pooled peaks on IgG-Sepharose followed by IgM-Sepharose, a homogeneous glycoprotein of 110,000 M_r was found that gave rise, on reduction, to subunits of 56,000, 36,000, 25,000, 18,000, and 15,000 M_r . The amount of material so isolated is difficult to reconcile with the extremely small number of receptors on lymphoid cells. For example, the S49.1 mouse T cell line, a relatively rich source of FcR, binds only 7 ng of 2.4G2 Fab/10⁶ cells (Unkeless, 1979), which is ~0.01% of total cell protein. The association of membrane proteins with IgG-Sepharose in the absence of detergent might represent "nonspecific"

interactions of hydrophobic domains of membrane proteins with the hydrophobic domains of the Fc piece of IgG.

Takacs (1980) has reported isolation of FcR from human lymphoblastoid cell lines, which represented 4-5% of total cytoplasmic membrane protein. NP40-solubilized membrane proteins were chromatographed on a column containing immune complexes or aggregated IgG, and bound material eluted with pH 2.5 glycine-HCl (which removes a 46,000 M_r peptide), and then SDS, which eluted more of the 46,000 M_r peptide and some contaminating protein. The material was a glycoprotein, distinguishable from actin by isoelectric focusing, and could agglutinate erythrocytes coated with subhemagglutinating amounts of IgG. Antisera directed against the protein were reported to inhibit IgG-mediated rosette formation, but Fab or F(ab')₂ fragments were not tested for ability to inhibit FcR. Furthermore, binding of the anti-FcR antibody did not correlate well with binding of immune complexes by lymphoblastoid cell lines (Elliott and Takacs, 1979). For example, although the putative receptor was found to be a major constituent (>4% of total cell protein) of WT-18 cells, only 5% of these cells were found to bind IgG immune complexes whereas 98% bound the $F(ab')_2$ fragment of the anti-receptor antibody. Thus the function in the cell of this protein has not been unequivocally demonstrated.

Thoenes and Stein (1979) reported the isolation of a low M_r FcR from B type chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) cells through the use of a somewhat different method of solubilizing membrane proteins. Since meaningful results could not be obtained using NP40 lysates, membranes from surface-iodinated CLL cells were prepared from cells disrupted by nitrogen cavitation and then incubated in 80 mM EDTA. 50 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, and 20 mM Tris-HCl at pH 7.3. Solubilized proteins were then subjected to coprecipitation using human IgG or $F(ab')_2$ aggregates followed by sheep anti-human antiserum. A 28,000 M_r polypeptide was identified that was precipitated only by intact IgG. A similar protein could not be isolated from membrane extracts of T-type CLL cells. This peptide exhibited a single peak after isoelectric focusing (pI 5.5) and was reported to have an aminoterminal glycine. However, no quantitative data were presented. There was no estimation of the amount of material isolated, and all the experiments presented were based on ¹²⁵I-labeled material, which makes evaluation of the purity of the peptide difficult. Preparation of an antiserum was reported that inhibited rosette formation 60-80% at 1:30 dilution and stained FcR-bearing leukemic cells but not T-type leukemias, peripheral T cells, or erythrocytes. No attempt was made to immunoprecipitate receptor using this antiserum.

Suzuki *et al.* (1980a,b) have also used B-type CLL cells as a source of FcR, but were able to employ NP40 or Triton X-100 to solubilize intrinsic membrane proteins. Lysates of iodinated cells were first passed over protein A-Sepharose (to remove IgG) and then chromatographed on heat-aggregated IgG-Sepharose. After washing, the bound protein was eluted with 6 *M* urea. A single, nonglycosylated protein (M_r 30,000 and pI 6.5) was isolated which was shown, after dialysis, to be capable of rebinding to IgG. A similar polypeptide was not found in lysates of the FcR-negative cell line, Molt 4. From 10¹² CLL cells, they obtained 60–70 mg of the purified protein. The putative FcR did not bind to F(ab')₂ or Fab fragments and did appear to inhibit the formation of rosettes by 40–60% at concentrations of 20–40 µg of receptor per milliliter. Comparable inhibition was reported for F(ab')₂ fragments purified from an antiserum raised against the isolated protein.

The remarkable finding in the second paper (Suzuki *et al.*, 1980b) is that the same protein (identified by tryptic peptide maps and amino acid analysis) was eluted from a phosphorylcholine-Sepharose column. Furthermore, the IgG and phosphorylcholine binding protein exhibited phospholipase A_2 activity, releasing fatty acid from the 2 position of phosphotidylcholine in a Ca2+-dependent reaction with a pH optimum of 9.5. The activity of the phospholipase was stimulated five- to sixfold by roughly stoichiometric amounts of Fc fragment. The protein isolated by Suzuki et al. (1980a,b) may well be the same as that characterized by Thoenes and Stern (1979) and is clearly differentiated from the FcR's isolated from mouse macrophages by Mellman and Unkeless (1980), Loube and Dorrington (1980), Kulczycki et al. (1981), and Lane et al. (1980) by lower M_r , absence of carbohydrate, and sharp isoelectric point. The relation of this protein to other human FcR's on mononuclear cells that have been characterized must await further clarification.

4. Herpes Virus-Induced Fc Receptor

The Fc receptor induced by infections of fibroblasts by herpes simplex virus has been purified by Baucke and Spear (1979) by passage of NP40 lysates of [³⁵S]methionine-labeled cells over columns of immobilized immune complexes, followed by elution with 2–3 *M* KSCN. They obtained two glycoproteins, of M_r 80,000 and 65,000, which were not isolated from uninfected cells, or F(ab')₂ control columns; the same proteins were isolated from two different species, HEp-2 cells (a human carcinoma line) and BHK-21 cells (hamster). Pulse-chase analysis revealed a precursor-product relationship between a protein slightly lower in M_r than 65,000 and the 80,000 M_r peptides. The relative ease with which Baucke and Spear (1978) identified the peptides in [35 S]methionine-labeled cells may be due, in part, to the inhibition of most host protein synthesis by the viral infection. The 80,000 M_r protein was found as well on the herpes simplex virion, where it is a minor constituent relative to major viral glycoproteins (Para *et al.*, 1980). The virions bound immune complexes and, interestingly, upon infection of HEp-2 cells at high multiplicities of infection in the presence of cycloheximide, the HEp-2 cells gained the ability to bind peroxidase immune complexes. The role this FcR plays in the viral life cycle is not clear, but it has been proposed to protect infected cells from immune cytolysis (Costa and Rabson, 1975; Adler *et al.*, 1978). It would be of interest to determine whether there are structural homologies between the herpes-induced FcR and macrophage receptor.

IV. Conclusion

The extensive literature of the identification, isolation, and characterization of FcR's provides a clear demonstration of the difficulties in studying cell-surface receptors. In particular, it has shown that defining specific receptors simply on the basis of their ligand-binding activities may lead to some confusion, depending on the nature of the ligand chosen for study. Similarly, the subsequent use of these ligands as affinity reagents for the purification of solubilized FcR can pose problems. Clearly proving that polypeptides isolated in this way are, in fact, receptors is also difficult, since simply demonstrating the ability of the putative FcR to rebind IgG is somewhat circular in reasoning. Thus, it becomes extremely important to show that the purity, yield, specificity, cellular distribution, and immunogenicity of the isolated material is consistent with its being an FcR. To date, the only isolation attempt to have met all these criteria is that which was effected using the anti-IgG/IgG_{2b} FcR monoclonal antibody 2.4G2. In addition, since this FcR was isolated on the basis of its antigenicity, the subsequent demonstration of its avidity for IgG Fc regions represents a totally independent property of the molecule. Several reports agree fairly well with the data obtained using 2.4G2. Thus, it is probably fair to conclude that at least one macrophage FcR is a glycoprotein, consisting of one or two polypeptides of M_r 45,000–60,000, and that the same antigen, at least, in the mouse, is formed on lymphoid cells as well.

It also seems clear that the many years of experience in FcR isolation hold important lessons for those involved more recently in isolating other cell surface receptors. Typically, ligand-mediated affinity chromatography has been employed and, more often than not, few or no other criteria are applied to substantiate the identification of the isolated polypeptides. There are some notable exceptions to this situation including the isolation of receptors for acetylcholine (Lindstrom *et al.*, 1978), asialoglycoproteins (Kawasaki and Ashwell, 1976; Pricer and Ashwell, 1976), and transcobalamin II (Seligman and Allen, 1978). In these cases, not only has a functional receptor protein been purified to homogeneity, but antisera have been raised against the isolated proteins which were shown to inhibit receptor function. Thus, since this approach seems to be generally applicable, similar data should be gathered for other putative receptor preparations before accepting their identification as receptors.

References

- Adler, R., Glorioso, J. C., Cossman, J., and Levine, M. (1978). Infect. Immun. 21, 442.
- Alexander, M. D., Leslie, R. G. Q., and Cohen, S. (1976). Eur. J. Immunol. 6, 101.
- Alexander, M. D., Andrews, J. A., Leslie, R. G. Q., and Wood, N. J. (1978). *Immunology* 35, 115.
- Anderson, C. L., and Abraham, G. N. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 2735-2741.
- Anderson, C. L., and Grey, H. M. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 648.
- Askenase, P. W., and Hayden, B. J. (1974). Immunology 27, 563.
- Bauke, R., and Spear, P. G. (1979). J. Virol. 32, 779.
- Berken, A., and Benacerraf, B. (1966). J. Exp. Med. 123, 119.
- Bourgois, A., Abney, E. R., and Parkhouse, R. M. E. (1977). Eur. J. Immunol. 7, 691.
- Cerrottini, J. C., and Brunner, K. T. (1974). Adv. Immunol. 18, 67.
- Cobbs, C. S., Shaw, A. R., Hillman, K., and Schlamowitz, M. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1648.
- Costa, J. C., and Rabson, A. S. (1975). Lancet i, 77.
- Crabtree, G. R. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 448-453.
- Cunningham-Rundles, C., Siegal, F. P., and Good, R. A. (1978). Immunochemistry 15, 365.
- Cunningham-Rundles, C., Lawless, D., Gupta, S., Galanos, C., and Good, R. A. (1980). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 77, 3645.
- Dessaint, J. P., Capron, A., Joseph, M., and Bazin, H. (1979). Cell. Immunol. 46, 24.
- Diamond, B., and Scharff, M. D. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 631.
- Diamond, B., and Yelton, D. E. (1981). J. Exp. Med. 153, 514.
- Diamond, B., Bloom, B. R., and Scharff, M. D. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1329.
- Diamond, B., Birshtein, B. K., and Scharff, M. D. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 150, 721.
- Dickler, H. B. (1976). Adv. Immunol. 24, 167.
- Elliott, B. E., and Takács, B. J. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 543.
- Elner, V. M. (1981). Science 211, 74.
- Fanger, M. W., Shen, L., Pugh, J., and Bernier, G. M. (1980). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 77, 3640.
- Frade, R., and Kourilsky, F. M. (1977). Eur. J. Immunol. 7, 663.
- Froese, A. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 981.
- Gebel, H. M., Hoover, R. G., and Lynch, R. G. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 111Q.
- Gonzalez-Molina, A., and Spiegelberg, H. L. (1978). J. Clin. Invest. 59, 616.

- Gordon, S., Unkeless, J. C., and Cohn, Z. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 140, 995.
- Guyer, R. H., Koshland, M. E., and Knopf, P. M. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 587.
- Haeffner-Cavaillon, N., Klein, M., and Dorrington, K. J. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 1905.
- Hay, F. C., Torrigiani, G., and Roitt, I. M. (1972). Eur. J. Immunol. 2, 257.
- Heusser, C. H., Anderson, C. L., and Grey, H. M. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 1316.
- Holowka, D., Hartmann, H., Kanellopoulos, J., and Metzger, H. (1980). J. Recept. Res. 1, 41.
- Hoover, R. G., and Lynch, R. G. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1280.
- Huber, H., and Fudenberg, H. H. (1968). Int. Arch. Allergy 34, 18-31.
- Huber, H., Douglas, S. D., and Fudenberg, H. H. (1969). Immunology 17, 7.
- Huber, H., Douglas, S. D., Nusbacher, J., Kochwa, S., and Rosenfield, R. E. (1971). Nature (London) 229, 419.
- Humes, J. L., Burger, S., Galavage, M., Kuehl, F. A., Jr., Wightman, P. D., Dahlgren, M. E., Davies, P., and Bonney, R. J. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 2110.
- Isersky, C., Taurog, J. D., Poy, G., and Metzger, H. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 549.
- Ishizaka, K., and Ishizaka, T. (1978). Immunol. Rev. 41, 109.
- Johanson, R. A., Shaw, A. R., and Schlamowitz, M. (1981). J. Immunol. 126, 194.
- Joskowicz, M., Rabourdin-Lombe, Neauport-Sautes, C., and Fridman, W. H. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 777.
- Kahn-Perles, B., Sire, J., Boned, A., and Bourgois, A. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1360.
- Kanellopoulos, J., Rossi, G., and Metzger, H. (1979). J. Biol. Chem. 254, 7691.
- Kawasaki, T., and Ashwell, G. (1976). J. Biol. Chem. 251, 1296.
- Kossard, S., and Nelson, D. S. (1968). Aust. J. Exp. Biol. Med. Sci. 46, 63.
- Kulczycki, A., Jr., and Metzger, H. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 140, 1676.
- Kulczycki, A., Jr., and Parker, C. W. (1979). J. Biol. Chem. 254, 3187.
- Kulczycki, A., Jr., Hempstead, B. L., Hofmann, S. L., Wood, E. W., and Parker, C. W. (1979). J. Biol. Chem. 254, 3194.
- Kulczycki, A., Jr., Krause, V., Killion, C. C., and Atkinson, J. P. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 2772.
- Lane, B. C., Kan-Mitchell, J., Mitchell, M. S., and Cooper, S. M. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 152, 1147.
- Leslie, R. G. Q., and Cohen, S. (1974). Immunology 27, 577.
- Leslie, R. G. Q., and Cohen, S. (1977). Eur. J. Immunol. 6, 848.
- Linden, C. D., and Roth, T. F. (1978). J. Cell Sci. 33, 317.
- Lindstrom, J., Einarson, B., and Merlie, J. (1978). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75, 769.
- Loube, S. R., and Dorrington, K. J. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 970.
- Loube, S. R., McNabb, T. C., and Dorrington, K. J. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 709.
- McMaster, R. W., and Williams, A. F. (1979). Eur. J. Immunol. 9, 426.
- McNabb, T., Koh, T. Y., Dorrington, K. J., and Painter, R. H. (1976). J. Immunol. 117, 882.
- Melewicz, F. M., and Spiegelberg, H. L. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1026.
- Mellman, I. S., and Unkeless, J. C. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 152, 1048.
- Messner, R. P., and Jelinek, J. (1970). J. Clin. Invest. 49, 2165-2171.
- Metzger, H. (1978). Immunol. Rev. 41, 186.
- Michl, J., Picczonka, M. M., Unkeless, J. C., and Silverstein, S. C. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 150, 607.
- Moretta, L., Webb, S. R., Grossi, C. E., Lydyard, P. M., and Cooper, M. D. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 146, 184.
- Moretta, L., Mingari, M. C., and Romanzi, C. A. (1978). Nature (London) 272, 618.
- Muschel, R. J., Rosen, N., and Bloom, B. R. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 175.
- Neauport-Sautes, C., and Fridman, W. H. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 1269.

- Okafor, G. O., Turner, M. N., and Hay, F. C. (1974). Nature (London) 248, 228.
- Ovary, Z., Saluk, P. H., Quijada, L., and Lamm, M. E. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 1265.
- Para, M. F., Baucke, R. B., and Spear, P. G. (1980). J. Virol. 34, 512.
- Pichler, W. J., Lum, L., and Broder, S. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1540.
- Pricer, W. E., Jr., and Ashwell, G. (1976). J. Biol. Chem. 251, 7539.
- Ralph, P., Nakoinz, I., Diamond, B., and Yelton, D. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1885.
- Ramasamy, R., Secher, D. S., and Adetugbo, K. (1975). Nature (London) 253, 656.
- Ricardo, M. J., Jr., (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 2009.
- Rodewald, R. (1976). J. Cell Biol. 71, 666.
- Rodewald, R. (1980). J. Cell Biol. 85, 18.
- Roubin, R., and Zolla-Pazner, S. (1979). Eur. J. Immunol. 9, 972.
- Rouzer, C. A., Scott, W. A., Kempe, J., and Cohn, Z. A. (1980). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 77, 4279.
- Schlamowitz, M. (1976). In "Maternofetal Transmission of Immunoglobulins" (W. A. Hemmings, ed.), pp. 155-165. Cambridge Univ. Press, London and New York.
- Schneider, R. J., Atkinson, J. P., Krause, Y., and Kulczycki, A., Jr. (1981). J. Immunol. 126, 735.
- Segal, D. M., and Titus, J. A. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 1395.
- Segal, D. M., Taurog, J. D., and Metzger, H. (1977). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 2993.
- Seligman, P. A., and Allen, R. H. (1978). J. Biol. Chem. 253, 1766.
- Silverstein, S. C., Steinman, R. M., and Cohn, Z. A. (1977). Annu. Rev. Biochem. 46, 69.
- Simons, K., Helenius, A., Leonard, K., Sarvas, M., and Gething, M. J. (1978). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75, 5306.
- Sire, J., Kahn-Perles, B., Collé, A., and Bourgois, A. (1980). Eur. J. Immunol. 10, 116.
- Sobotka, A. K., Malveaux, F. J., Marone, G., Thomas, L. L., and Lichtenstein, L. M. (1978). Immunol. Rev. 41, 171.
- Steck, T. L. (1974). J. Cell Biol. 62, 1.
- Sulica, A., Medesan, C., Lacky, M., Onica, D., Sjöquist, J., Ghetie, V. (1979). Immunology 38, 173.
- Suzuki, T., Sadasivan, R., Wood, G., and Bayer, W. L. (1980a). Mol. Immunol. 17, 491.
- Suzuki, T., Sadasivan, R., Saito-Taki, T., Stechschulte, D. J., Balentine, L., and Helmkamp, G. M., Jr. (1980b). *Biochemistry* 19, 6037.
- Takacs, B. J. (1980). Mol. Immunol. 17, 1293.
- Tanabe, T., Pricer, W. E., Jr., and Ashwell, G. (1979). J. Biol. Chem. 254, 1038.
- Thoenes, J., and Stein, H. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 150, 1049.
- Tsay, D. D., and Schlamowitz, M. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 520.
- Unkeless, J. C. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 931.
- Unkeless, J. C. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 150, 580.
- Unkeless, J. C. (1980). J. Reticuloendothel. Soc. 28, 115.
- Unkeless, J. C., and Eisen, H. N. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 142, 1520.
- Unkeless, J. C., Kaplan, G., Plutner, H., and Cohn, Z. A. (1979). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 76, 1400.
- Van Der Meulen, J. A., McNabb, T. C., Haeffner-Cavaillon, N., Klein, M., and Dorrington, K. J. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 500.
- Walker, W. S. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 911.
- Werb, Z., and Gordon, S. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 142, 361.
- Yasmeen, D., Ellerson, J. R., Dorrington, K. J., and Painter, R. H. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 518.
- Yodoi, T., and Ishizaka, K. (1979). J. Immunol. 122, 2577.
- Yodoi, J., Ishizaka, T., and Ishizaka, K. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 455.

The Autologous Mixed-Lymphocyte Reaction

MARC E. WEKSLER, CHARLES E. MOODY, JR., AND ROBERT W. KOZAK

Department of Medicine, Cornell University Medical College, New York, New York

I.	Introduction	271
II.	The Autologous MLR in Man	275
	A. Lymphocyte Proliferation in Culture	275
	B. Lymphocyte Proliferation Induced by Autologous Neoplastic Cells	276
	C. Lymphocyte Proliferation Induced by Lymphoid Cell Lines	277
	D. Lymphocyte Proliferation Induced by Autologous Blood Cells	279
	E. Cells That Participate in the Autologous MLR	280
	F. Antigens That Stimulate the Proliferation of Autologous	
	T Cells	285
	G. The Autologous MLR as an Immune Phenomenon	286
	H. Effector Activity Generated during the Autologous MLR	288
III.	Alterations in the Autologous MLR during Aging and in	
	Human Disease	291
	A. Systemic Lupus Erythematosus	291
	B. Infectious Mononucleosis	293
	C. Multiple Sclerosis	294
	D. Aging	294
	E. Sjögren's Syndrome	295
	F. Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia	296
	G. Hodgkin's Disease	296
IV.	Autologous and Syngeneic Reactivity in Experimental Animals	297
	A. The Isogeneic Lymphocyte Interaction in Mice	297
	B. The Syngeneic MLR in Mice	298
	C. The Syngeneic MLR in Other Species	300
	D. Effector Functions Generated in the Syngeneic MLR	301
	E. Alterations in the Syngeneic MLR with Age and Disease	302
	F. Other Autologous Interactions	304
V.	Concluding Remarks	305
	References	308

I. Introduction

This review considers the reaction between T lymphocytes and autologous cells. Although emphasis is placed on studies carried out with human lymphocytes, investigations in experimental animals that corroborate or extend findings obtained in man will be discussed. A considerable body of evidence suggests that T lymphocytes recognize determinants on autologous cells specified by genes of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC). Whenever possible, the autologous mixed-lymphocyte reaction (MLR) will be related to the recognition of self MHC determinants that occurs in the normal immune response.

During the past 10 years, there has been a growing recognition that immune reactions to foreign antigens depend upon presentation of foreign determinants in association with autologous MHC determinants. Lymphocyte receptors for autologous MHC determinants, which play an essential role in the immune response to foreign determinants, are clonally distributed (Janeway *et al.*, 1976). The term MHC restriction is used to describe the requirement for histocompatibility between interacting lymphocyte populations, between lymphocytes and monocytes as well as the consequences of the associative recognition of foreign antigens with autologous histocompatibility determinants (Zinkernagel and Doherty, 1979). Thus, lymphocyte receptors for self MHC determinants are important in both the afferent and efferent limbs of the immune response.

Although immune recognition of autologous determinants has been rapidly incorporated into contemporary immunological thinking, it is important to recognize that this concept represents a radical departure from orthodox immunological theory that had been accepted for nearly a century. At the end of the last century, Ehrlich and Morgenroth (1900) were studying the antibody response of goats immunized with allogeneic erythrocytes. These investigators observed that antibodies induced by allogeneic erythrocytes reacted with the immunizing erythrocytes and other allogeneic erythrocytes, but never with autologous erythrocytes. These investigators were the first to contrast the ease of inducing immunity to foreign antigens with the difficulty in inducing immunity to autologous antigens. Based on these results, Ehrlich proposed the doctrine of "horror autotoxicus." According to this concept, the normal immune system, despite its capacity to respond to a vast repertoire of foreign antigens, cannot react to autologous antigens. Furthermore, Ehrlich predicted that immune reactions to autologous antigens, if such occurred, would lead to disease.

Later on in this century, the study of tissue and organ transplantation, governed by cell-mediated immunity, supported the concept that the immune response was activated by foreign, but not by autologous, cells and tissues. Furthermore, the *in vitro* correlate to transplantation immunity, the allogeneic MLR appeared to demonstrate reactivity to allogeneic but not autologous lymphocytes. Thus, the discrimination between self and nonself appeared to be an empirical fact of cellmediated and humoral immunity and a fundamental tenet of immunological theory. The discovery that immunological tolerance could be induced by administering foreign antigen to fetal or neonatal animals suggested a mechanism to explain the failure of the immune system to react to autologous antigens. Self-tolerance, established during the ontogeny of the immune system, might preclude immune reactions to autologous antigens.

In 1962, Burnet extended his clonal selection theory of immune reactivity to explain the lack of immunological reaction to autologous antigens. He suggested that self-tolerance resulted from clonal deletion of lymphocytes with receptors for autologous antigens during early development. According to his thesis, autoantibodies resulted from the appearance of "forbidden clones," which arose by somatic mutation.

Despite the heuristic value of clonal deletion of autoreactive lymphocytes as an explanation for self-tolerance, evidence obtained in the last 10 years has challenged this concept. Two lines of evidence weigh heavily against clonal deletion: one, based on the identification of normal lymphocytes that bind autologous antigens or can be activated to express autoreactivity; the other, derived from MHC-restricted interactions among autologous cells in the immune response.

Bankhurst and his colleagues (1973) identified in the blood of normal individuals B lymphocytes that bind human thyroglobulin. Thyroglobulin-binding lymphocytes have also been found in lymphocyte preparations from normal mice (Clagett and Weigle, 1974). Normal human lymphocytes also include cells that bind mammalian DNA (Bankhurst and Williams, 1975). The frequency of thyroglobulin- or DNA-binding lymphocytes was comparable to the frequency of lymphocytes that bind conventional foreign antigens. Finally, a subpopulation of T lymphocytes has been found in both experimental animals and man that bind autologous erythrocytes (Charreire and Bach, 1975; Baxley *et al.*, 1973).

In addition to the demonstration of lymphocytes that bind autologous antigens, the existence of autoreactive lymphocytes has been demonstrated by the appearance of autoantibodies or autoaggressive lymphocytes following polyclonal activation of lymphocytes. Thus, incubation of lymphocytes from normal mice with lipopolysaccharide *in vitro* stimulates the appearance of autoerythrocyte plaque-forming cells (Hammarstrom *et al.*, 1976) and by the secretion of anti-poly(A) antibodies (Fischbach *et al.*, 1978). Incubation of normal murine T lymphocytes with allogeneic effect factor has been reported to activate cytotoxic T lymphocytes with specificity for autologous cells (Altman and Katz, 1980). Polyclonal activation of B cells *in vivo* also leads to the expression of autoreactive lymphocytes. Thus, patients with chronic bacterial (Williams and Kunkel, 1962) or parasitic (Greenwood, 1974) disease frequently have autoantibodies in their serum. Similarly, mice given the polyclonal activator, lipopolysaccharide, develop anti-DNA antibodies (Izui *et al.*, 1977) and antibodies that are cytotoxic to autologous spleen cells (Primi *et al.*, 1977). Finally, autoaggressive lymphocytes have been generated in culture after incubation with rat brain (Orgad and Cohen, 1974) or testicular tissue (Wekerle and Begemann, 1976). Thus, considerable evidence has been collected that normal lymphocytes not only bind autologous antigens, but also can be activated to express autoreactivity.

The other line of evidence suggesting immune recognition of autologous cells comes from studies of cell cooperation and MHCrestricted immune responses. Cell cooperation between T and B lymphocytes, discovered more than 15 years ago, was initially thought to reflect antigen-linking of cooperating cells: B lymphocytes recognizing haptenic determinants and T lymphocytes recognizing carrier determinants (Mitchison, 1970). Subsequently, genetic restriction required for cell cooperation between T and B lymphocytes suggested direct interaction between the cooperating cells. The first clue that recognition of MHC determinants was involved in cell cooperation came from experiments that attempted to restore immune competence to nude mice. Kindred and Shreffler (1972) found that a normal antisheep red blood cell (SRBC) response could be restored in nude mice by administering thymocytes from normal donors only if the donors shared the same H-2 determinants as the nude mice. Katz and his associates employed congenic mice to map the MHC determinants required for cell cooperation. These studies revealed that cell cooperation required B and T lymphocytes to share the same I region of the MHC (Katz and Armerding, 1976). Shevach (1976) showed that the normal interaction of T cells with antigen-pulsed macrophages also required that T cells and macrophages have the same I-region genes. The induction of helper T lymphocytes in vitro (Erb and Feldmann, 1975) and the transfer of delayed-type hypersensitivity in vivo (Miller et al., 1976) also required I-region identity of T cells and macrophages. As interactions of T lymphocytes with allogeneic cells did not induce suppressor activity (Kindred, 1975), it appears that the failure of cell cooperation results from a failure of T cells to interact positively with allogeneic determinants on non-T lymphocytes.

Recognition of MHC determinants has also been shown to be a requirement for activity of effector T lymphocytes. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes express MHC restriction, reflecting the capacity of T lymphocytes to recognize autologous MHC determinants. The determinants recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes are coded for by the H-2D

or H-2K region of the murine MHC as expressed by the thymus gland (Zinkernagel *et al.*, 1978). The studies of cell cooperation and MHC-restricted cytotoxicity support the concept that T-cell recognition of autologous MHC determinants is essential for the interaction of T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes, and macrophages in the immune response.

In addition to cell recognition of autologous MHC determinants, regulatory products of T and B lymphocytes react with determinants on autologous cells. Thus, factors produced by suppressor T lymphocytes act only on cells that share *I*-region determinants with the suppressor T lymphocytes (Tada *et al.*, 1976). Auto-anti-idiotypic antibody recognizes surface determinants on autologous B lymphocytes. Auto-anti-idiotypic antibody has been shown to "down regulate" antibody production by autologous B lymphocytes (Goidl *et al.*, 1979). Displacement of cell-bound auto-anti-idiotypic antibody by hapten reactivates antibody secretion.

In summary, immunological thinking has changed dramatically in the 1970s with regard to the nature of self-tolerance. Today, clonal deletion of autoreactive lymphocytes is not believed to be the only mechanism of self-tolerance. Weigle and his associates (1975) have argued convincingly that T-cell tolerance to autologous antigens and the activity of suppressor T cells are important mechanisms that contribute to self-tolerance. While autoaggressive immune reactions may be pathological and be normally suppressed, the existence of lymphocytes that recognize autologous determinants seems clear. Finally, a series of important studies over the 1970s suggest that recognition of autologous MHC and idiotypic determinants plays a critical role in the regulation of the normal response. How the adaptive features of autorecognition are expressed while the maladaptive consequences of autoreactivity are repressed is not entirely clear. What is clear, is that the immune response is driven as much by recognition of self as of nonself determinants.

II. The Autologous MLR in Man

A. LYMPHOCYTE PROLIFERATION IN CULTURE

The capacity of human blood lymphocytes to proliferate in culture was first reported by Nowell (1960), who recognized that the plant lectin phytohemagglutinin (PHA) stimulated lymphocyte transformation and mitosis. Subsequently, Bain and her associates (1963) and Hirschhorn and his associates (1963) reported that lymphoblasts ap-
peared in cultures containing lymphocytes from two unrelated individuals. This reaction termed the allogeneic MLR was rapidly recognized to be an *in vitro* correlate of the allograft reaction. The rules of transplantation immunology established by tissue grafting were observed in the allogeneic MLR. Thus, the degree of mixed lymphocyte reactivity reflected the histocompatibility of the lymphocyte donors, and no allogeneic MLR was detected in cultures containing lymphocytes from identical twins. Genetic analysis revealed that the HLA-D locus that codes for the determinants that stimulate the allogeneic MLR was distinct but closely linked to the HLA-A, -B, and -C loci that code for the histocompatibility determinants detected by serological means. Studies that identified the responding and stimulating cells in the allogeneic MLR showed that non-T lymphocytes and monocytes stimulated allogeneic T-lymphocyte proliferation. This conclusion was supported by the finding that the gene products of the HLA-D locus were expressed on non-T lymphocytes and monocytes, but were absent or weakly expressed on resting T cells (Mann and Sharrow, 1980). Further study of the allogeneic MLR revealed that the proliferative response was followed by the generation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes that express specificity for the allogeneic gene products of the HLA-A. -B. or -C loci. In addition, the allogeneic MLR was found to possess two cardinal attributes of an immune response: memory and specificity (Fradelizi and Dausset, 1975). An unexpected observation made in the course of the study of the allogeneic MLR was the extraordinary frequency of allospecific T lymphocytes (10⁻²) in contrast to the frequency of antigen-specific B lymphocytes (10^{-5} to 10^{-6}). These characteristics and other considerations concerning the allogeneic MLR have been thoroughly reviewed by Dupont et al. (1976).

B. LYMPHOCYTE PROLIFERATION INDUCED BY AUTOLOGOUS NEOPLASTIC CELLS

The early studies of human lymphocyte proliferation induced by autologous cells involved cocultures of lymphocytes with autologous neoplastic cells. This approach was chosen because transplantation techniques used in animals to identify tumor-associated antigens could not be employed in man. Human lymphocytes were cultured with a variety of neoplastic cells including Burkitt's lymphoma, renal and breast carcinoma, seminoma, and osteogeneic and liposarcoma (Vanky and Stjernsward, 1971). Fridman and Kourilsky (1969) studied the proliferative response of lymphocytes, taken from 10 patients with acute leukemia during remission, in culture with cryopreserved autologous leukemic blast cells. The neoplastic cells were obtained before treatment and stored in liquid nitrogen. Leukemic cells from 6 patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and from 1 patient with acute myeloblastic leukemia stimulated tritiated thymidine ([³H]Tdr) incorporation by autologous lymphocytes. The authors, noting the similarity of the reaction to the allogeneic MLR, suggested that their observations might be due to antigenic differences between leukemic and normal cells.

Another strategy to identify tumor-specific antigens involved the coculture of neoplastic cells with normal lymphocytes from an MHC-identical sibling. M. L. Bach *et al.* (1969) showed that the leukemic cells from 2 out of 3 patients with acute leukemia stimulated [³H]Tdr incorporation by lymphocytes from MHC-identical siblings. Cells from the leukemic patients, obtained during remission, did not stimulate lymphocytes from the normal siblings. The authors believed that their results suggested that either leukemic cells possessed leukemia-associated antigens or that blast cells expressed differentiation antigens not found on normal cells.

C. LYMPHOCYTE PROLIFERATION INDUCED BY LYMPHOID CELL LINES

Continuous cultures of lymphoblastoid cells derived from normal subjects or patients with a variety of diseases share certain morphological and biochemical characteristics with neoplastic cells. Most of these cell lines express characteristics of B-lymphocyte lineage and were referred to as B-lymphoblastoid cell lines (B-LCL). Several groups studied the capacity of B-LCL to stimulate lymphocyte proliferation. B-LCL were found to stimulate autologous lymphocytes as vigorously as they stimulated allogeneic lymphocytes (Green and Sell, 1970; Weksler and Birnbaum, 1972). This observation was compatible with the concept that B-LCL expressed a differentiation antigen not found on normal B lymphocytes. There was little evidence that new HLA determinants were expressed by B-LCL, that fetal calf serum used to cultivate the B-LCL or factors released from B-LCL explained their capacity to stimulate autologous lymphocytes. As B-LCL could be established by infection of lymphocytes with Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) and most B-LCL contained the EBV genome (Klein et al., 1968), the possibility that EBV antigens caused B-LCL stimulation of autologous lymphocytes was carefully considered. It was shown that lymphocytes from donors not sensitized to EBV reacted as strongly to B-LCL as did lymphocytes from EBV immune donors (Weksler, 1976). Furthermore, lymphocyte proliferation stimulated by B-LCL was not inhibited by antiserum to EB viral capsid or membrane antigen. Finally, B-LCL that did not possess the EBV genome stimulated autologous lymphocyte proliferation. The capacity of differentiation antigens on proliferating cells to stimulate autologous lymphocyte proliferation was suggested by the finding that human lymphoblasts induced by mitogen stimulated autologous lymphocyte proliferation (Weksler, 1973; Bluming *et al.*, 1975). The lymphoblast-associated antigens might be cell cycle-specific determinants that were expressed during restricted periods of the cell cycle of normal cells (Fox *et al.*, 1971).

Cells of different lineage do not express the same differentiation antigen. Lymphoid cells of the B lineage express determinants that stimulate allogeneic and autologous lymphocyte proliferation whereas lymphoid cells of the T lineage do not stimulate proliferation of either allogeneic or autologous lymphocytes (see Table I). LCL derived from T-lymphoid cells failed to stimulate lymphocyte proliferation, in striking contrast to the capacity of B-LCL to stimulate lymphocyte proliferation (Royston *et al.*, 1974; Weksler, 1976). Thus, T lymphocytes or T-LCL did not stimulate allogeneic lymphocyte proliferation although non-T lymphocytes or B-LCL from the same donor did. Subsequently, it was found that Ia-like antigens appear to be the major stimulating determinant for lymphocyte proliferation. The fact that these antigens

I-LIMPHOCITE PROLIFERATION					
Stimulating cells	Responding cells	Pro- liferation	References		
Allogeneic or autologous B-LCL ^a	Peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBL)	++++	Hardy <i>et al.</i> , 1970; Weksler and Birnbaum, 1972		
Mitogen-activated autologous PBL	Peripheral blood lymphocytes	++	Weksler, 1973; Bluming et al., 1975		
Allogeneic T-LCL	Peripheral blood lymphocytes	-	Royston <i>et al.</i> , 1974; Weksler, 1976		
Allogeneic non-T lymphocytes	T Lymphocytes	++++	Kuntz et al., 1976; Ilfeld et al., 1977		
Allogeneic T lymphocytes	T Lymphocytes	-	Kuntz et al., 1976		
Autologous non-T lymphocytes	T Lymphocytes	++	Opelz et al., 1975; Kuntz et al., 1976		
Autologous T lymphocytes	T Lymphocytes		Opelz et al., 1975; Kuntz et al., 1976		

TABLE I LINEAGE OF HUMAN LYMPHOID CELLS THAT STIMULATE T-LYMPHOCYTE PROLIFERATION

^a LCL, lymphoblastoid cell line.

are well expressed on B-lymphoid cells but poorly expressed on T-lymphoid cells confirms the importance of cell lineage in the expression of determinants capable of stimulating lymphocyte proliferation.

D. LYMPHOCYTE PROLIFERATION INDUCED BY AUTOLOGOUS BLOOD CELLS

Background thymidine incorporation occurred in autologous cultures that served as controls for the allogeneic MLR. The first clue that this phenomenon represented an interaction between autologous lymphocyte subpopulations came from studies that investigated [³H]Tdr incorporated by control cultures containing cells from only one individual. Raising the number of mitomycin C-treated cells incubated with a constant number of autologous cells increased [3H]Tdr incorporation (Etheredge et al., 1973). Subsequently, Opelz et al. (1975), showed that [³H]Tdr incorporated by unfractioned lymphocytes in culture could be dramatically altered by changing the ratio of T and non-T cells. When the number of non-T cells added to a constant number of autologous T cells was decreased, [³H]Tdr incorporation fell. In contrast, [3H]Tdr incorporation rose when the number of non-T cells added to a constant number of T cells was raised. This observation and studies that employed different lymphocyte subpopulations as responding and stimulating cells suggested that non-T cells stimulated [3H]Tdr incorporated by autologous T cells. T cells and non-T cells that are the responding and stimulating populations in the allogeneic MLR play a similar role in autologous cultures. For this reason, the reaction between T lymphocytes and autologous non-T lymphocytes was termed the autologous MLR. Autologous non-T cells stimulated approximately one-third as much [3H]Tdr incorporation as did allogeneic non-T cells in cultures (Kuntz et al., 1976).

Although gamma irradiation can denature proteins, irradiation damage did not explain the capacity of non-T cells to stimulate autologous T-cell proliferation. Mitomycin C-treated (Opelz *et al.*, 1975), as well as untreated (Kuntz *et al.*, 1976; Katz and Fauci, 1979), non-T cells also stimulated the proliferation of autologous T cells. Techniques used to isolate T cells did not activate them (Opelz *et al.*, 1975; Kuntz *et al.*, 1976). Thus, the interaction of T cells with sheep erythrocytes was not required for T cells to respond to autologous non-T cells. T cells obtained by negative selection (depletion of non-T cells) also were stimulated to proliferate by autologous non-T cells. In addition, unfractionated lymphocytes were stimulated by autologous non-T cells. Another potential artifact considered was the role of allogeneic serum components routinely used to support the autologous MLR. In fact, when the autologous MLR was performed in autologous serum, a greater proliferative response was observed than that observed in allogeneic serum (Kuntz *et al.*, 1976; Ilfeld *et al.*, 1977).

E. CELLS THAT PARTICIPATE IN THE AUTOLOGOUS MLR

1. The Responding Cell

Elegant studies by Lohrman and Whang-Peng (1974) using chromosomally marked T cells showed that T lymphocytes are the proliferating lymphocyte subpopulation in the allogeneic MLR. Similarly, the early studies of the autologous MLR revealed that T lymphocytes are the proliferating cells in this reaction (Opelz *et al.*, 1975; Kuntz *et al.*, 1976).

The techniques used to prepare T cells have identified characteristics of the T cells that proliferate in the autologous MLR (Table II). Autoreactive T lymphocytes are medium-size cells. Fractionation of T cells on Percoll or bovine serum albumin (BSA) density gradients revealed that low-density T cells were most responsive to autologous non-T cells and to concanavalin A (Con A), while both low and high density fraction responded to alloantigen and PHA (Stobo and Loehnen, 1978; Smith and Knowlton, 1981). T lymphocytes that rosette immediately with sheep red blood cells (SRBC) are referred to as "early" rosette-forming cells whereas the remaining T cells will form "late" rosettes if incubated for 1 hour with SRBC. "Early" rosette-forming cells comprise 20-30% of the peripheral blood lymphocytes and were shown to be enriched for autologous responsive T cells as compared with the "late" rosette-forming T cells (Yu, 1978). Therefore, autoreactive T lymphocytes appear to have a high affinity for SRBC.

Characteristics	References			
Are low density	Stobo and Loehnen, 1978; Smith and Knowlton, 1981			
Form early rosettes with sheep red blood cells	Yu, 1978			
Express receptor for autologous erythrocytes	Palacios et al., 1980; Tomonari et al., 1980; Fournier and Charriere, 1981			
React with OKT ₄ monoclonal antibody	Kozak et al., 1981			
Respond to concanavalin A	Fournier and Charriere, 1978; Sakane and Green, 1979; Smith and Knowlton, 1981			
	Characteristics Are low density Form early rosettes with sheep red blood cells Express receptor for autologous erythrocytes React with OKT ₄ monoclonal antibody Respond to concanavalin A			

TABLE II CHARACTERISTICS OF AUTOREACTIVE T LYMPHOCYTES

280

A subpopulation of human T lymphocytes bind autologous erythrocytes (Baxley et al., 1973). These autologous rosette-forming T cells (Tar) were shown by several groups to contain the autoreactive T-cell population (Palacios et al., 1980; Tomonari et al., 1980; Fournier and Charriere, 1981). Thus, Tar cell preparations were more responsive and Tar-depleted preparations were less responsive than the original T-cell preparation to autologous non-T lymphocytes. Although T lymphocytes depleted of Tar cells did not respond well in the autologous MLR. Palacios and his co-workers (1980) found these cells to be more responsive in the allogeneic MLR than were the original unfractionated T cells. Thus, T cells that form rosettes with autologous erythrocytes are enriched with respect to autoreactive T cells and depleted with respect to alloreactive T cells. Other techniques can be used to distinguish autoreactive T cells from alloreactive T cells. Auto- and allo-activated T cells can be fractionated after a primary MLR using Percoll gradient density centrifugation. The OKT series of monoclonal antibodies have been used to characterize auto- and alloreactive T cells. The OKT4 monoclonal antibody is believed to define a subset of T cells endowed with helper function and the capacity to induce suppressor function, and OKT5 and OKT8 antibodies define T-cell subsets with suppressor-cytotoxic effector function (Reinherz et al., 1979). Ninety percent of autoactivated T cells prepared in this manner reacted with the monoclonal antibody OKT4, but only 10% reacted with OKT5 or OKT8 (Kozak et al., 1981). In contrast, 60% of normal T cells are stained by OKT4 and 20-30% with OKT5 or OKT8. Alloreactive T cells and fractions depleted of autoreactive cells had a normal T-cell profile. Thus, autoactivated T lymphocytes appear to fall in the helper-inducer class of T lymphocytes. This conclusion correlates with the phenotype of the murine autoreactive T cells. Pasternak et al. (1980) and Altman and Katz (1980) reported that treatment of murine T cells with anti-Lyt 1 antibody and complement eliminates the capacity of T-cell preparations to respond to autologous non-T cells. The Lyt 1 T cell is a helper-inducer cell.

Autoreactive and alloreactive T cells also differ in population size. Limiting dilution analyses has revealed that the number of autoreactive T cells in the blood is significantly less than the number of alloreactive T cells (Kozak *et al.*, 1981). Thus, the frequency of autologous responding units was 3×10^{-4} , and the frequency of allogeneic responding units was 4×10^{-3} .

The relationship between autoreactive T cells and other subsets of T cells has been determined by eliminating an activated subset by the technique of Zoschke and Bach (1971), which makes use of bromodeoxyuridine (Budr) and light to delete a proliferating population. Elimination of Con A-responsive T cells by this method eliminated the autoreactive T cell population (Smith and Knowlton, 1981). This indicates that the autoreactive T-cell population lies within the Con A-responsive T-cell population. Sakane and Green (1979) using this technique have shown that eliminating autoreactive T cells from a T-cell population eliminated those T cells activated by Con A to become suppressor cells. Other results that suggest a close relationship between autoreactive T cells and Con A-responsive T cells are the findings that Con A expands the autorosetting population of T cells in culture (Fournier and Charreire, 1978) and that all the Con A-induced suppressor cells are found within the autorosetting population (Sakane *et al.*, 1980). A diagram illustrating the relationship between autoreactive, alloreactive, Con A-responsive, autorosetting lymphocyte, and suppressor cells induced by Con A is shown in Fig. 1.

Recent evidence suggests a heterogeneity of autoreactive T lymphocytes. Hausman and her associates (1980) have reported two distinct T-cell populations responding in the autologous MLR. One T-cell population reacts with autologous macrophages and participates in the proliferative response to conventional antigens. This subset can be identified with a monoclonal antibody, T-29. This autoreactive T-cell population comprises about 10% of all T lymphocytes. The other autoreactive T cell population lacks the determinant identified by the T-29 antibody and is stimulated by autologous B lymphocytes.



FIG. 1. Relationship between T cells that are activated by Con A $(T_{Con A})$, by allogenetic cells (T_{Aulo}) , by autologous cells (T_{Aulo}) , T cells that form rosettes with autologous erythrocytes (T_{ar}) , and T cells that develop suppressor activity in the presence of Con A $(T_{s Con A})$. The area of the circles is not intended to reflect the size of the T cell subpopulations.

2. Stimulating Cell

The cells that stimulate the autologous MLR have been the focus of a great deal of attention and of controversy. The earliest studies showed that the stimulating cells were present in the non-T-cell preparation (Opelz et al., 1975; Kuntz et al., 1976). As non-T lymphocytes are a heterogeneous population of cells including B lymphocytes, null (L, K) lymphocytes, and monocytes, it was not clear whether all or only certain cell types were capable of stimulating autologous T lymphocytes. It was originally shown that removal of phagocytic or adherent cells increased the stimulating capacity of non-T-cell preparations. B and null lymphocytes were separated based on the capacity of B lymphocytes to form rosettes with mouse erythrocytes and the capacity of null lymphocytes to form rosettes with antibody-sensitized human ervthrocytes (Ripley rosettes). Thus, preparations enriched for B or null lymphocytes could be obtained by positive or negative selection. Null cells obtained by either technique stimulated autologous T cells better than did B lymphocytes (Kuntz et al., 1976).

A cell preparation that stimulates autologous T cells more strongly than the original non-T-cell population must be enriched for the most stimulating cells. However, preparations that stimulate less strongly than the original non-T-cell preparation may contain cells that are intrinsically less stimulatory or contain a smaller percentage of the most stimulatory cells. Another fact that contributes to the contradictory conclusions drawn from studies of the cells that stimulate autologous T cell proliferation comes from the method of purification. Thus, differences were obtained when a stimulatory cell preparation was obtained by positive or negative selection. When a population contains three or more cell types, positive selection is the only method for identifying the most stimulatory cell. When a preparation obtained by negative selection is more stimulatory than the original population, one can only conclude that the cells depleted were not the most stimulatory cells. We have summarized the studies that have investigated the type of cell in the non-T-population that stimulates the autologous MLR (Table III). As one can see from Table III, cells isolated by positive selection usually stimulated poorly. Only macrophages prepared by positive selection were more stimulatory than the original preparation (Beale et al., 1980). On the other hand, preparations depleted of null cells (Sakane et al., 1978b) or of B cells (Gottlieb et al., 1979; Kuntz et al., 1976) were more stimulatory than the unfractionated non-T-cell preparation. These results, although not establishing which cell type in the null or B depleted preparation is most stimulatory, are consistent

Null lymphocytes		B lymphocytes		Macrophages			
En- riched	De- pleted	En- riched	De- pleted	En- riched	De- pleted	References	
++	~	+	+++	ND	+++	Kuntz <i>et al.</i> , 1976	
ND	ND		++	ND	ND	Takasugi <i>et al.</i> , 1977	
ND	ND	ND	ND	—	+++	Smith, 1978	
~	+ + +	ND	ND	+	ND	Sakane <i>et al.</i> , 1978b	
ND	ND		ND	ND	ND	Semenzato et al., 1979	
ND	ND	+	+++		ND	Gottlieb et al., 1979	
+	ND		ND	+++	+	Beale et al., 1980	

TABLE III Lineage of Stimulatory Cells in the Autologous Mixed Lymphocyte Reaction^a

^a Table III compares the results of several investigators who have identified the cell that stimulates autologous T lymphocytes. The stimulation by unfractionated non-T cells is taken as ++. A preparation that is more stimulatory is identified by +++, and a preparation that is less stimulatory is identified by +. Little or no stimulation is identified by -. It should be noted that if preparations depleted of a subpopulation increased its stimulatory capacity, it was concluded that the depleted cell was not the principal stimulatory cell.

with the conclusion that macrophages are the most stimulatory cells. However, in three studies (Smith, 1978; Sakane et al., 1978b; Gottlieb et al., 1979) macrophages obtained by positive selection were not more stimulatory than the original non-T-population. It should be noted that the stimulatory capacity of macrophages is critically dependent upon their number. Above or below an optimal concentration of macrophages their capacity to stimulate declines (Beale et al., 1980). Addition of macrophages to non-T cells has frequently been reported to inhibit the autologous MLR (Fernandez and MacSween, 1980a). The reason for discrepancy between positively and negatively selected cell preparations is not obvious. It is possible that perturbation of the cell surface that occurs as a consequence of positive selection may alter the stimulatory capacity of the cells. It is difficult to determine whether the stimulatory capacity of preparations that were equal or less than the original non-T-cell population reflects contamination with the most stimulatory cells or the intrinsic but weaker capacity of null cells (Kuntz et al., 1976; Beale et al., 1980) or of B cells (Gottlieb et al., 1979).

Stobo and his associates have identified a subpopulation of macrophages that stimulate autologous T cells. This subpopulation of macrophages expresses a 120,000 MW cell-surface determinant that has been identified by a monoclonal antibody called Mac-120 (Raff *et al.*, 1980). Approximately 40% of peripheral blood macrophages react with Mac-120. The macrophage is the only cell in the non-T-cell preparation that expresses this determinant. Macrophages that carry the Mac-120 determinant stimulate the T lymphocyte identified by the T-29 monoclonal antibody (Hausman *et al.*, 1980). Thus, one component of the autologous MLR reflects the proliferation of T-29-positive T cells stimulated by Mac-120-positive macrophages.

The autologous MLR is far more sensitive to corticosteroids than is the allogeneic MLR. Thus, administration of hydrocortisone prior to obtaining blood for *in vitro* study or addition of hydrocortisone to mixed lymphocyte culture preferentially inhibits the autologous MLR as compared to the allogeneic MLR reaction (Ilfeld *et al.*, 1977; Katz and Fauci, 1979; Hahn *et al.*, 1980). Yu and his associates (1978) have found that preincubation of T cells had little or no effect, whereas preincubation of the non-T-cell preparations with methylprednisolone inhibited its capacity to stimulate autologous T cells. Studies by MacDermott and Stacey (1981) suggest that macrophages within the non-T-cell preparation are affected by corticosteroids.

F. ANTIGENS THAT STIMULATE THE PROLIFERATION OF AUTOLOGOUS T CELLS

Gene products of the HLA-D locus of the MHC or the closely related D-related (Dr) antigens are thought to be the determinants that stimulate the allogeneic and autologous MLR. These antigens have a tissue distribution being expressed primarily restricted hematopoietic cells. HLA-D determinants are identified by their capacity to stimulate lymphocyte proliferation, and the closely related Dr antigens are identified by serological techniques. Dr antigens have been identified on B cells, macrophages (Wernet, 1976), null cells (Niaudet et al., 1979), a subpopulation of T cells (Greaves et al., 1979), and activated T cells (Ko et al., 1979; Greaves et al., 1979). Using more sensitive techniques, small amounts of Dr antigens have been detected on most blood T cells (Mann and Sharrow, 1980). Evidence that Dr antigens stimulate the autologous MLR comes from the inhibition of the autologous MLR by specific anti-Dr antiserum. Gottlieb and her co-workers (1979) were able to inhibit the autologous MLR using a Fab fragment of a rabbit anti-human Dr antigen antiserum. Huber and co-workers (1981) demonstrated that the continuous presence of heterologous anti-Dr antibodies, as well as the pretreatment of stimulator cells with specific antibody and complement, would inhibit

proliferation of the autologous MLR. The finding that specific Fab antiserum blocks autologous non-T cell-induced proliferation lends support to the stimulatory capabilities of Dr antigens. Bergholz and his associates (1977) correlated the degree of inhibition of the autologous MLR by specific anti-HLA-D antiserum with the expression of anti-Dr antigens on non-T cells. The autologous MLR was inhibited by 79% if the cells were homozygous for the Dr specificity of the antiserum and was inhibited 58% if the cells were heterozygous for the Dr specificity of the antiserum. Finally, the appearance of Dr antigens on activated T cells and the simultaneous acquisition of the capacity to stimulate autologous T cells suggest that Dr determinants stimulate the autologous MLR (Indiveri et al., 1980). This study demonstrated that incubation with PHA led to the appearance of Dr antigens on T cells that can stimulate autologous T-lymphocyte proliferation. This reaction was shown to possess memory and specificity. The stimulation of autologous T cells could not be attributed to residual PHA and was partially blocked by monoclonal anti-Dr antibody.

Although considerable evidence suggests that Dr determinants are critical for stimulation of the autologous MLR, Tomonari and his associates (1980) investigated the shared antigens on allogeneic lymphocytes required to produce a secondary response after a primary autologous MLR. Self recognition was not found to be restricted to one specific locus, but complete HLA identity was necessary for autologous MLR primed lymphocytes to respond to allogeneic cells as self in a secondary response. In Japan certain haplotypes are very common, and the authors believed that the determinants that stimulate the autologous MLR are closely linked to the Dr locus, and use of donors that share complete HLA identity with the donors of the primary culture increases the possibility that this determinant will also be shared.

The HLA-D locus is probably analogous to the murine *I* locus. It was therefore of interest to consider whether reactivity in the autologous MLR could be controlled by immune response genes. One study tried to correlate the level of the autologous MLR with Dr phenotype (Dock and Davey, 1980). No relationship between high, medium, and low responders in the autologous MLR and Dr phenotype was found. More extensive studies and examination of quantitative and qualitative differences in Dr expression, autologous MLR activity, and immune response awaits investigation.

G. THE AUTOLOGOUS MLR AS AN IMMUNE PHENOMENON

Lymphocyte proliferation can result from immune or nonimmune mechanisms. The allogeneic MLR exhibits characteristics of an im-

mune response, memory and specificity. The autologous MLR also has these classical attributes of an immune response (Weksler and Kozak, 1977). As has been noted in the allogeneic MLR (Fradelizi and Dausset, 1975; Sheehy et al., 1975), a secondary response in the autologous MLR is characterized by an altered rate of response. In the primary autologous MLR [³H]Tdr incorporation peaked on day 6 or 7, whereas in secondary cultures maximum [3H]Tdr incorporation occurred on day 3. The accelerated response following rechallenge with autologous cells suggested that "memory" had developed in the autoreactive T-cell population. Specificity was demonstrated in the autologous MLR by comparing the magnitude of response in a secondary culture stimulated by cells from the original donor or by cells from an unrelated donor. T cells activated in the autologous MLR incorporated more [³H]Tdr when rechallenged with autologous non-T cells than when challenged with allogeneic non-T cells, despite the fact that allogeneic non-T cells stimulate more [³H]Tdr incorporation in primary cultures than do autologous non-T lymphocytes. The generation of memory and specificity during the autologous MLR was confirmed by Sakane and Green (1979) and Zier et al. (1979). In addition, Sakane and Green (1979) confirmed the specificity by eliminating either autoor allo-reactive T cells, using Budr and light according to the method of Zoschke and Bach (1971). Eliminating autoreactive T cells by this method did not impair the allogeneic reactivity of the residual T-cell population. Conversely, the autologous MLR was well preserved after elimination of alloreactive T cells. However, cross-reactivity between autoreactive and alloreactive T cells was suggested by the fact that removal of allogeneic T cells did diminish the autologous MLR by approximately 30% (Sakane and Green, 1979) and by the fact that alloactivated T cells respond with secondary kinetics to autologous non-T cells (Weksler and Kozak, 1977). Further evidence for this distinct specificity of auto- and alloreactive T cells was obtained by separating auto- and alloreactive T cells by Percoll density centrifugation (Kozak et al., 1981). This technique permits the auto- and alloreactive T cells to be isolated after mixed lymphocyte culture. Thus, after an autologous MLR, all the autoreactive T cells were recovered in the low density fraction whereas less than 5% of autoreactive cells were recovered in the high density fraction that contained 97% of alloreactive T cells. In general, cross-reactivity was seen more clearly when the specificity of the secondary response was studied following an allogeneic MLR.

Clearly the only way of determining whether an individual cell expresses cross-reactivity or whether the observed cross-reactivity results from the use of a heterogeneous population where the possibility of recruitment exists, is to clone auto- and allo-reactive T cells. If autoactivated clones were restimulated by allogeneic and autologous cells, the cross-reactivity would exist at the level of the individual T cell.

H. EFFECTOR ACTIVITY GENERATED DURING THE AUTOLOGOUS MLR

1. Effector-Cell Function Generated during the Autologous MLR

The proliferative response observed in the autologous MLR may represent the afferent limb of an immunological response. The efferent limb of this immune response was investigated by studying suppressor, helper, and cytotoxic activity of cells generated during this reaction. Suppressor T lymphocytes activated during an autologous MLR have been shown to suppress both T and B lymphocyte reactions.

T lymphocytes activated during the 6 days of an autologous MLR were shown by Smith and Knowlton (1979) to suppress the proliferation of T cells and the generation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) in an allogeneic MLR. Significant suppression was seen when autoactivated T cells represented as little as 10% of the responding T-cell population in an allogeneic MLR. No suppression was detected if autoactivated T cells were treated with mitomycin C. Autoactivated T cells did not suppress the allogeneic MLR when added 24 hours before the end of the culture period. Whether autoactivated T cells can directly influence the activity of CTL or whether the effect on CTL is secondary to the inhibition of T-cell proliferation is not certain.

B-cell function is also suppressed by T cells activated in an autologous MLR. Thus, addition of autoactivated T cells to peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBL) suppressed their plaque-forming cell (PFC) response to formalinized staphylococci by 50–100% (Innes *et al.*, 1979). Suppressor activity was inhibited by irradiating the autoactivated cells. Autoactivated T cells showed no MHC restriction, as they suppress the PFC response of PBL from the same or unrelated donors. Neither supernatant from an autologous MLR nor T lymphocytes incubated in the absence of non-T cells inhibited the PFC response.

The relationship between autoactivated T cells and suppressor cells was strengthened by the findings of Sakane and Green (1979). These investigators reported that elimination of autoreactive T cells by the addition of Budr to an autologous MLR followed by exposure to light prevented the induction of suppressor cells by Con A. This result indicates that the Con A-induced suppressor cells lie within the population of autoreactive T cells (Fig. 1). Evidence has suggested that Con

288

A-induced suppressor cells were developed only in the presence of the cell population required for an autologous MLR. Thus, Con A does not induce significant suppressor activity in the absence of an autologous MLR (Innes et al., 1979). Recent studies by Smith and Knowlton (1981) have shown that elimination of Con A-responsive T lymphocytes by Budr and light abrogated the autologous MLR, although the reaction to allogeneic cells and PHA was retained. Furthermore, when autoreactive T lymphocytes were eliminated by Budr and light there was no effect on the response of T lymphocytes to allogeneic cells, PHA. or Con A. In fact, the response to Con A was increased by eliminating the autoactivated T cells. This, perhaps, was a consequence of eliminating Con A-induced suppressor cells contained within the autoreactive T cell population that normally limits the proliferative response in culture. Thus, it appears that suppressor cells generated in an autologous MLR and Con A-induced suppressor cells are drawn from the same subset of T lymphocytes (Fig. 1).

Not all T cells activated in the autologous MLR become suppressor cells. Helper activity has also been generated during the autologous MLR. Hausman and Stobo (1979) have found that autoactivated T cells, isolated by BSA density centrifugation, possessed helper activity manifested by their capacity to augment pokeweed mitogen (PWM)-induced immunoglobulin production by autologous B cells. Little helper activity was found if autoreactive T cells were eliminated from an autologous MLR by Budr and light. High-density T cells not activated in the autologous MLR did not provide helper activity.

The generation of CTL in autologous MLR has been studied by several investigators. Vande Stouwe et al. (1977) did not detect any CTL after an autologous MLR when autologous or allogeneic PBL or LCL were used as targets. T cells incubated with autologous B-LCL did not acquire any specific cytotoxic activity. However, these cells did show nonspecific cytotoxicity for a number of B-LCL. Although the autologous MLR did not induce specific CTL, this reaction did provide the proliferative stimulus required for the generation of specific CTL. Thus, the addition of heat-treated allogeneic PBL (which themselves did not induce proliferation or generate CTL cells) to an autologous MLR resulted in the appearance of specific CTL. The CTL generated were specific for the allogeneic cells added to the autologous MLR. No cytotoxic reactivity was generated for autologous cells. Subsequent studies showed that irradiated, allogeneic T cells that fail to induce CTL also stimulated the generation of specific CTL when added to an autologous MLR (Weksler et al., 1980). These experiments demonstrate that the autologous MLR can provide the proliferative stimulus

required to generate CTL in the presence of cells that express determinants that can stimulate CTL differentiation but lack the determinants necessary to induce the proliferation of helper T cells required for the differentiation of precursors to CTL. This strategy could be employed to produce specific CTL for leukemic and other neoplastic cells by adding tumor cells to an autologous MLR. Specific CTL obtained in this manner could be grown up with T-cell growth factor to obtain tumor-specific CTL in numbers that would offer therapeutic potential.

Although the autologous MLR does not generate specific cytotoxicity for autologous cells. Miller and Kaplan (1978) suggested that autologous human B lymphoblasts induced by lipopolysaccharides were lysed by T cells activated in the autologous MLR. Autologous PBL or autologous non-T cells were not lysed. In contrast, Tomonari (1980) demonstrated that nonspecific cytotoxic cells were generated during an autologous MLR which lysed a wide variety of target cells. These cells killed autologous B-cell lines, autologous and mitogen-induced lymphoblasts, and nonlymphoid cell lines (e.g., squamous cell carcinoma). Normal autologous and allogeneic non-T cells were less susceptible to cytotoxic attack. We have reconciled some of these differences with respect to the generation of nonspecific cytotoxic cells in the autologous MLR. We found that the source of serum used to support the autologous MLR is critical. Pooled allogeneic serum did not support the development of nonspecific cytotoxic cells during the autologous MLR whereas autologous serum did. The mechanism by which autologous serum facilitates the generation of nonspecific cytotoxic activity is not clear.

2. Factors Produced by the Autologous MLR

Immunoregulatory factors are produced during the autologous MLR. Chiorazzi *et al.* (1979) have demonstrated that supernatant medium from the autologous MLR contain helper factors for immunoglobulin production by autologous PBL or tonsillar lymphocytes. Yu *et al.* (1980) showed that supernatant medium from autologous MLR contained helper factors not only for the development of antibodyproducing cells, but also for the differentiation of cytotoxic cells. Supernatant medium, obtained 48 hours after the initiation of an autologous MLR, facilitated the proliferation and differentiation of CTL in cultures containing irradiated allogeneic T cells or TNP-modified autologous cells (Weksler *et al.*, 1980). In the absence of supernatant neither cell proliferation nor differentiation of CTL occurred. In the absence of allogeneic T or TNP-modified autologous cells, the supernatant did not stimulate cell proliferation or differentiation of CTL. Helper activity in the supernatant medium was not removed by passage over insolubilized anti-Ia or anti-Ig antibodies (Yu *et al.*, 1980). These factors are active with allogeneic as well as autologous T cells and thus appear to express no histocompatibility restriction. Finally, neither lymphocyte-inhibiting factor (Arvilommi and Rasanen, 1980) nor interferon (Manger *et al.*, 1980) has been detected during the autologous MLR.

III. Alterations in the Autologous MLR during Aging and in Human Disease

When the autologous MLR was described by Kuntz et al. (1976), a potential role for this reaction in the regulation of the immune response was suggested. Evidence for an immunoregulatory role of this reaction includes the generation, during the autologous MLR, of helper activity (Hausman and Stobo, 1979), of suppressor activity (Sakane and Greene, 1979; Innes et al., 1979; Smith and Knowlton. 1979), and of cytotoxic activity (Miller and Kaplan, 1978; Tomonari, 1980) as well as the generation of soluble factors with immunoregulatory function (Yu et al., 1980; Weksler et al., 1980; Lattime et al., 1981). The impaired autologous MLR observed in patients with diseases associated with abnormal immunological regulation lends additional support for an immunoregulatory role of the autologous MLR. Immune disturbances have been documented in systemic lupus erythematosus, infectious mononucleosis, multiple sclerosis, aging, Sjögren's syndrome, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and Hodgkin's disease, and in each of these states the autologous MLR is altered (Table IV).

A. SYSTEMIC LUPUS ERYTHEMATOSUS

Several studies have reported an impairment in the autologous MLR of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE); SLE is a multisystem disease in which a variety of autoantibodies are found. It has been suggested that the presence of autoantibodies in patients with SLE is due to impaired regulation of B cells by regulatory T cells (Steinberg and Klassen, 1977). Specifically, a deficiency of suppressor T cells in patients with SLE has been reported (Sakane *et al.*, 1978a). The autologous MLR in cultures from 15 patients with inactive SLE was only one-half that observed in cultures from 38 normal subjects (Sakane *et al.*, 1978b). No autologous MLR could be demonstrated in 18 patients with active SLE. These SLE patients were not receiving immunosuppressive drugs or more than 10 mg of prednisone per day. Despite the marked impairment of the autologous MLR in these pa-

Group studied	Response" (% of control)	Cellular basis of alteration	Reference
Systemic lupus erythematosus (active)	10	T and non-T	Sakane et al., 1979
Systemic lupus erythematosus (inactive)	17	Non-T	Kuntz et al., 1979
Systemic lupus erythematosus (inactive)	52	Т	Sakane et al., 1978
Infectious mononucleosis	15	Non-T	Moody et al., 1978
Multiple sclerosis	600	Non-T	Birnbaum and Kotolinek, 1981
Aged (9 over 50 years)	500	ND ^b	Fournier and Charreire, 1981
Aged (over 65 years)	33	ND	Fernandez and MacSween, 1980
Sjögren's syndrome	36	ND	Miyasuka et al., 1980
Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	1	ND	Smith et al., 1977
Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	23	ND	Kuntz, 1977
Hodgkin's disease	18	Т	Engleman et al., 1980

TABLE IV						
AUTOLOGOUS MIXED	LYMPHOCYTE	REACTIVITY	DURING	AGING ANI	D HUMAN	DISEASE

^a In order to compare the results obtained by different investigators, the autologous MLR in experimental subjects has been expressed as a percentage of the autologous MLR in healthy individuals reported in the same study. Healthy individuals between 20 and 40 years of age usually served as controls.

^bND, not determined.

tients, the allogeneic MLR response was normal. When the T-lymphocyte preparations were fractionated into T-gamma and T-gamma-depleted preparations, the T-gamma preparations from patients with SLE were impaired in their response to both autologous and allogeneic non-T lymphocytes. In contrast, lymphocyte preparations depleted of T-gamma cells responded normally to allogeneic lymphocytes, but not to autologous lymphocytes. Lymphocytes from 6 patients with active SLE did not generate an autologous MLR or normal suppressor activity after incubation with Con A. Sakane and his associates (1978b) suggested that the defect in T-gamma-mediated autologous reactivity might form the basis for the failure to generate Con A-induced suppressor cells, calling attention to the finding of Moretta and his colleagues (1977) that T-gamma cells mediate suppression. Kuntz et al. (1979) also reported that lymphocytes from patients with SLE were impaired in their response to autologous non-T cells but had a normal response to allogeneic non-T cells. In this study the autologous MLR in 7 patients with SLE was only 17% of that observed in healthy age-matched controls. Although T cells from patients with SLE respond normally to allogeneic cells, non-T cells from these patients did not stimulate allogeneic T cells normally. The cellular basis of the impaired autologous MLR was studied in 3 patients and their HLA-identical healthy siblings. T lymphocytes from these patients and their siblings responded normally to non-T cells from the healthy siblings. In contrast, non-T cells from the patients did not stimulate T cells from patients or their healthy siblings normally. Thus, non-T cells from the patients with SLE stimulated only 25% as much [³H]Tdr incorporation by T cells as did non-T cells from the healthy sibling.

Two patients with SLE and their identical twins were studied by Sakane *et al.* (1979). Both T-gamma-enriched and T-gamma-depleted preparations from the active SLE patient did not respond to the non-T cells from her healthy sibling. In addition, non-T cells from the patient failed to stimulate T cells from the healthy sibling. In contrast, the patient with inactive SLE demonstrated a defect in the T-gamma response only. T-gamma depleted cells from inactive SLE responded normally and non-T cells stimulated normally in the autologous MLR. Thus, in the patient with active SLE defects in both the responding and stimulating populations of the autologous MLR were suggested.

B. INFECTIOUS MONONUCLEOSIS

Infectious mononucleosis (IM) is a viral disease associated with a transient production of autoantibodies (Charlesworth et al., 1978; Thomas and Phillips; 1973) and a depression of cell-mediated immunity (Mangi et al., 1974). In nine patients with acute IM the autologous MLR was found to be markedly depressed (Moody et al., 1979). As was observed in SLE, T cells from patients with IM reacted normally to allogeneic cells despite an impaired autologous MLR. The autologous MLR returned to normal during convalescence. The cellular basis of the impaired autologous MLR in patients with IM was studied by mixing cryopreserved T or non-T lymphocytes obtained at the time of acute illness with T or non-T cells obtained from the same subject during convalescence. Non-T cells obtained during acute disease did not stimulate the proliferation of T cells obtained during acute disease or during convalescence. In contrast, T cells obtained during acute disease responded normally to non-T cells obtained during convalescence. Thus, the cellular basis of the impaired autologous MLR in IM was due to an impaired capacity of non-T cells to stimulate T-cell proliferation. The failure of non-T cells from patients with acute IM to stimulate autologous T cells was not due to suppressor activity in the

non-T cells. Mixing experiments showed that non-T cells obtained during acute disease did not suppress the capacity of convalescent non-T cells to stimulate T-cell proliferation.

C. MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a demyelinating disease associated with autoantibodies to nerve cells. Both viral and autoimmune phenomena have been reported to play a role in MS (Norrby, 1978; Sheremata et al., 1974). Birnbaum and Kotolinek (1981) have studied the autologous MLR in patients with MS. They observed a striking increase in the autologous MLR of patients with active MS when compared to ageand sex-matched controls or patients with other neurological diseases. The elevated autologous MLR during acute MS returned to normal levels following therapy with adrenocorticotropic hormone. The cellular basis of the altered autologous MLR in MS was determined by studying non-T cells obtained from the same patient before and after therapy. Non-T cells obtained before therapy induced a greater than normal proliferative response in T cells obtained before or after therapy. In contrast, non-T cells obtained after therapy induced a significantly lower proliferative response in T cells obtained before or after therapy. It should be noted that steroids are known to suppress the autologous MLR by depressing the capacity of non-T cells to stimulate autologous T cell proliferation (Yu et al., 1978). These studies did not directly compare the response of T cells from patients with active MS to the response of T cells from healthy HLA-identical siblings. Thus, it remains possible that the responding T-cell population may also contribute to the increased autologous MLR. The recent report of Reinherz and co-workers (1980) suggests that the ratio of OKT4+ to OKT5+ T cells is markedly increased in patients with MS. As we have preliminary evidence that autologous reactive T cells appear to be included in the OKT4+ T-cell population (Kozak et al., 1981), it is possible that the relative enrichment of the T-cell population with the OKT4+ subpopulation may contribute to the increased autologous MLR in these patients.

D. AGING

Normal human aging is associated with a spectrum of immune abnormalities including impaired cell-mediated immunity, autoantibody formation, and an increased incidence of benign serum monoclonal immunoglobulins (Makinodan and Kay, 1980). Fournier and Charreire (1981) have studied the autologous MLR in subjects of varying ages. The autologous MLR in females over 50 years of age was increased fivefold when compared to females below the age of 50. No increase in the autologous MLR was seen in male subjects over the age of 50. These authors had previously reported that the percentage of T cells that form rosettes with autologous erythrocytes (Tar) increases with age in females but not in males (Fournier and Charreire, 1977). As the autoreactive T cells are found in the Tar population (Palacios et al., 1980), it was suggested that the increase in the number of Tar cells in women with age might explain their increased autologous MLR. In contrast, Fernandez and McSween (1980b) have reported a depressed autologous MLR in aged subjects. They found that the autologous MLR in 10 healthy subjects over 65 was only one-third that seen in young healthy controls. We have studied the autologous MLR in more than 50 healthy subjects over the age of 65 and found it to be depressed by approximately 50% when compared with healthy control subjects between the ages of 20 to 40 years (Moody et al., 1981). The autologous MLR was depressed in both male and female elderly subjects in our study. The explanation for the different results obtained by Fournier and Charreire, and by Fernandez and McSween has not been established, but it should be noted that Fournier and Charreire used PBL as the responding population while Fernandez and MacSween (and we) used T cells as the responding population.

E. SJÖGREN'S SYNDROME

Sjögren's syndrome (SS) is a autoimmune disease characterized by lymphocyte infiltration of the lacrimal or salivary glands. This disease is associated with a variety of autoimmune phenomena. Antinuclear antibodies, rheumatoid factor, and polyclonal hypergammaglobulinemia are frequently observed, and in addition cell-mediated immunity is frequently impaired (Alspaugh et al., 1976). Miyasaka et al. (1980) have studied the autologous MLR in patients with SS. In 25 patients with SS, the autologous MLR was depressed by approximately 64% as compared to the autologous MLR in 18 normal subjects. There was no correlation between the decreased autologous MLR and age, serum immunoglobulin levels, antilymphocyte antibody, or PHA response. There was a significant correlation between the decreased autologous MLR and the decreased response to Con A. These authors believed this finding to indicate a possible T-cell defect in the autologous MLR. However, the authors also pointed out that a non-T cell defect may also be present since B cells and macrophages from SS patients had a reduced capacity to stimulate allogeneic T cells. Thus, no definite conclusion can be made concerning the cellular basis of the impaired autologous MLR in patients with SS.

F. CHRONIC LYMPHOCYTIC LEUKEMIA

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is a disease characterized by a monoclonal proliferation of immunoglobulin-bearing B cells in the peripheral blood and bone marrow (Salsano et al., 1974; Fu et al., 1974). Peripheral blood lymphocytes from patients with CLL respond poorly to Con A, PWM, and PHA (Smith et al., 1972; Ruhl et al., 1975) and to allogeneic lymphocytes (Kasakura, 1975; Han et al., 1977). Kuntz (1977) studied the autologous MLR from patients and normal subjects in cultures with human AB serum. The [3H]Tdr incorporated by patients with CLL in the autologous MLR was only 23% of that incorporated by lymphocytes from normal subjects. Similar findings were reported by Smith et al. (1977). These investigators established the autologous MLR using T-cell and non-T cell preparations in culture medium containing autologous sera. No autologous MLR was detected in cultures from 7 patients with CLL. In contrast, the autologous MLR was observed in each of the normal subjects. The lack of an autologous MLR in cultures from patients with CLL did not result from factors present in their serum. Serum from patients with CLL when added to cultures from normal subjects did not depress the autologous MLR and the autologous MLR was not restored in cultures from CLL patients if normal serum was used instead of autologous serum. The authors speculated that the lack of an autologous MLR in CLL patients could be a result of the monoclonal nature of the B cells or a defect in helper or suppressor T cells. Subsequently, Smith and Knowlton (1980) suggested that the fundamental defect is in the responding T-cell population based on the poor response of T cells from CLL patients to Con A and the presence of the autoreactive T cells within the population of T cells that respond to Con A. The authors further suggest that the normal ability of non-T cells from patients with CLL to stimulate in an allogeneic MLR was consistent with a T-cell defect. It is important to note that the non-T-cell population that stimulates autologous or allogeneic T cells may be different. Furthermore, Halper et al. (1980) have reported that B lymphocytes from patients with CLL were impaired in their capacity to stimulate allogeneic T cells.

G. HODGKIN'S DISEASE

Immunological activity in patients with Hodgkin's Disease (HD) has been extensively studied. Although antibody responses may be normal in these patients (Brown *et al.*, 1967), T-cell-mediated immune reactions, such as delayed hypersensitivity (Aisenberg, 1962) and al-

lograft rejection (Miller et al., 1969) as well as in vitro T lymphocyte responses (Brown et al., 1967; Bjorkolm et al., 1976), are depressed. Engleman et al. (1980) investigated the autologous MLR in 64 patients with HD. A marked depression in the autologous MLR was observed in newly diagnosed patients as well as in patients who had been in remission for as long as 15 years. The defect observed was not related to altered kinetics of the response, to impaired lymphocyte viability in culture, or to an effect of plasma from patients with HD. The cellular basis of the defect was investigated in two patients and their healthy MHC-identical siblings. T cells from the healthy siblings responded normally to the non-T cells of the patients, whereas T cells from the 2 patients were depressed in their response of non-T cells from their healthy siblings as well as their own non-T cells. Thus, an impaired response of T cells from patients with HD to autologous non-T cells appears to explain the defective autologous MLR in this disease.

It is clear that in several pathological states in which immune function is altered the autologous MLR is also altered. However, the cellular basis of the defect in the autologous MLR differs. In HD the defect is in the responding T-cell population. In other diseases, e.g., IM, and MS, a defect in the stimulating non-T cell population is found. In SLE, defects in both the T-cell and non-T cell preparations have been reported. Since the autologous MLR can generate immunoregulatory activity *in vitro*, it is tempting to speculate that the abnormalities in the autologous MLR may underlie the impaired immune responses in patients with several diseases.

IV. Autologous and Syngeneic Reactivity in Experimental Animals

A. THE ISOGENEIC LYMPHOCYTE INTERACTION IN MICE

Although the autologous MLR has received considerable attention since 1975, a similar lymphoid cell interaction had been recognized by 1970 in experimental animals. Howe *et al.* (1970a) were the first to report a reaction between neonatal T cells and syngeneic spleen cells from adult mice. They termed this reaction the isogeneic lymphocyte interaction (ILI). We shall use this term to describe the reaction of thymocytes to lymphoid cells from syngeneic donors of a different age. In this reaction adult spleen cells stimulated the proliferation of syngeneic neonatal thymus cells. Fetal thymus cells expressed a low ILI. The maximum ILI was observed with thymus cells from animals 2–3 days old and spleen cells from syngeneic 12-week-old mice (Howe, 1973). After 1 week of age thymocytes rapidly lost their capacity to respond to adult spleen cells. Neonatal thymocytes failed to respond to syngeneic cells from sources other than the spleen. Furthermore, spleen cells from neonatally thymectomized mice stimulated only 25% as much [³H]Tdr incorporation by neonatal thymocytes as did normal spleen cells (Howe *et al.*, 1970b). They suggested that the ILI reflected the recognition of specific splenic antigens by neonatal thymocytes and that the loss of the ILI with increasing age reflects the acquisition of immunological tolerance.

In 1972, von Boehmer and Byrd suggested that the ILI reflects a normal recognition of antigens on spleen cells by the neonatal thymus, not a reaction that occurs before the acquisition of self-tolerance early in development. In fact, the autostimulatory antigens on spleen cells do not appear until mice are 3–8 weeks old (Ponzio *et al.*, 1975). In contrast, the antigens that stimulate allogeneic reactivity are present on neonatal spleen cells (von Boehmer and Byrd, 1972).

B. THE SYNGENEIC MLR IN MICE

Von Boehmer and Byrd (1972) also observed that adult spleen cells could stimulate the proliferation of adult thymocytes. This reaction between syngeneic lymphoid cell from animals of the same age was termed the syngeneic MLR (SMLR). This reaction appears to be comparable to the autologous MLR studied in outbred populations. Von Boehmer and Adams (1973) characterized the lymphocyte subpopulation that stimulates the SMLR. The stimulating cell was present in lymph node, spleen, peripheral blood, and peritoneal exudate cells from 10-week-old mice. The stimulatory cell was not an erythroid cell and did not require the presence of macrophages or granulocytes. Additional studies suggested that the stimulatory cells were mature B cells. Thymus, bone marrow, or peripheral T cells from adult mice as well as spleen cells from neonatal mice failed to stimulate syngeneic thymus cells (von Boehmer *et al.*, 1972; von Boehmer, 1974).

1. The Responding Cell

Ponzio *et al.* (1975) found autoreactive cells in the peripheral lymphoid organs of adult mice. Their studies demonstrated that lymph node cells from adult mice contain T cells that proliferate when cultured with splenic non-T cells from autologous or syngeneic animals. Responding T cells were first detected in lymph nodes from 8-week-old animals, whereas stimulatory cells were first detected in spleens from 3-week-old animals.

Smith and Pasternak (1978) have reported that spleens of adult mice also contain a population of nylon-wool-nonadherent T cells that respond to syngeneic non-T cells. The responding T cells express the Lyt 1^+ , 2, 3^- phenotype (Pasternak *et al.*, 1980). These cells were subsequently found in lymph nodes and thoracic duct cells (Pasternak *et al.*, 1980). Lattime *et al.* (1980) and Glimcher *et al.* (1980) confirmed the fact that the responding cell in the SMLR carries the Lyt 1^+ , 2, 3^- phenotype.

2. The Stimulating Cell

Studies that compared the response of adult lymph node T cells (SMLR) and neonatal thymocytes (ILI) to syngeneic non-T cells suggested that the antigens that stimulate the ILI differ from those that stimulate the SMLR (Ponzio et al., 1975). Bone marrow cells stimulate neither the ILI nor SMLR. Cells in the spleen or lymph nodes of mice more than 3 weeks of age stimulate syngeneic neonatal T cells, but not lymph node T cells. The antigen on these cells was termed murine differentiation antigen-1 (MDA-1). In contrast, spleen cells from mice more than 8 weeks of age stimulate both neonatal T cells and adult lymph node T cells. The antigen on these cells was termed MDA-2. The spleen cells that express these antigens appeared to be B cells, as treatment with anti-immunoglobulin sera and complement eliminated the ability of spleen cells to stimulate lymph node T cells or neonatal thymocytes. Thus, these studies support the conclusions of von Boehmer (1974; von Boehmer and Byrd, 1972) that the cells that stimulate the SMLR were included in the B-cell population. Finke et al. (1976) confirmed the earlier observations and showed by depletion with antisera specific for the various classes of Ig and complement that only B cells that expressed surface IgG_1 on the surface stimulated autologous and syngeneic reactivity. B cells that expressed other classes of immunoglobulin did not.

Recent reports have demonstrated that Ia-bearing cells are potent stimulators in the SMLR. Bocchieri and Smith (1980) and Ponzio (1980) have reported that specific anti-Ia antiserum blocked the SMLR. Preincubating non-T cells with anti-Ia antiserum also inhibited their capacity to stimulate syngeneic T cells. Both B cells and macrophages express the Ia determinant. The macrophage or cells of this lineage have been suggested to be the major stimulus of the SMLR. Nussenzweig and Steinman (1980) have reported that dendritic cells that lack markers carried by T cells, B cells, or macrophages but express Ia antigens are the most potent stimulators of syngeneic T-cell proliferation. Their studies suggest that the stimulatory capacity of dendritic cells cannot be attributed to exogenous antigens acquired *in vivo*, or to heterologous serum components *in vitro*. Other studies have also suggested that the major stimulatory cell in the SMLR is an Ia-bearing macrophage-like cell (Lattime *et al.*, 1980).

Physiological concentrations of hydrocortisone $(7.5 \times 10^{-8} M)$ suppress the murine SMLR (Ting and Ranney, 1980). This concentration suppresses the SMLR by more than 90% without affecting the response to Con A or allogeneic cells. Higher concentrations of hydrocortisone suppressed all three responses. In contrast to studies in man (Yu et al., 1978), pretreatment of either the stimulator or responder cells did not effect the SMLR. Hydrocortisone appeared to act by inhibiting an early event in the SMLR, as its effect is manifest only during the first 30 hours of a 96-hour culture.

C. THE SYNGENEIC MLR IN OTHER SPECIES

In addition to the human and the mouse, the autologous or SMLR has been studied in several other species. Investigation of the SMLR in the guinea pig has provided considerable insight into the genetic restriction between stimulating and responding cells (Yamashita and Shevach, 1980). The SMLR was studied in strains 2, 13, and the (2×13) F, guinea pigs. Strain 2 and strain 13 animals differ only in the I region of the MHC. Lymph node cells from either strain were stimulated to incorporate [³H]Tdr by syngeneic peritoneal exudate cells (PEC). The SMLR in these animals showed memory and specificity. Thus, the peak of the proliferative response of T cells occurred 8 days after challenge in primary culture, but 4 days after rechallenge. Specificity was demonstrated by challenging T cells primed with syngeneic PEC with strain 2 or strain 13 PEC. A secondary response was observed only when primed T cells were rechallenged with PEC from syngeneic animals. These authors also observed that the receptors for self MHC determinants were clonally distributed. Thus, two distinct populations of autoreactive T cells exist in $(2 \times 13)F_1$ animals. Lymph node cells from F_1 animals, stimulated with PEC from F_1 animals, show a secondary response when challenged with cells from either parent. However, T cells from F_1 animals primed with PEC from one parental strain did not show a secondary response when challenged with PEC from the other parental strain. The genetic restriction observed in the SMLR is the same as that observed between T cells and antigen pulsed macrophages (Thomas and Shevach, 1977; Paul et al., 1977).

Cells that stimulate the SMLR in the guinea pig are found not only in PEC, but also in adherent spleen cell preparations. Unfractionated spleen or lymph node cells as well as T cells stimulated autologous T cells poorly. The role of Ia antigens on the stimulatory cells was investigated by measuring the effect of treating the stimulatory cells with anti-Ia antiserum and complement. Although only 20–25% of the PEC population were lysed by anti-Ia antibody, the remaining cells did not stimulate syngeneic T cells. Moreover, when $(2 \times 13)F_1$ T cells were primed with PEC from strain 2 animals and rechallenged with strain 2 PEC, the secondary response was blocked by strain 2-specific anti-Ia antiserum, but not strain 13-specific anti-Ia antiserum. Treatment of the responding cells with anti-Ia antiserum had no effect on the guinea pig SMLR.

Milthorp and Richter (1979) have reported that the lymphocytes from New Zealand white rabbits express an autologous MLR. Peripheral blood leukocytes or spleen cells from rabbits were stimulated to incorporate [³H]Tdr in culture with autologous mitomycin C-treated lymphocytes from the appendix, Peyer's patches, sacculus rotundus, and to a lesser, but still significant, extent from the spleen and the lymph nodes.

D. EFFECTOR FUNCTIONS GENERATED IN THE SYGENEIC MLR

Less is known about the generation of effector function in the SMLR than in the human autologous MLR. We have found no studies that comment on the generation of helper or suppressor activity in the SMLR. Unpublished studies from our laboratory have demonstrated that T cells activated during the SMLR suppress the proliferative response of syngeneic spleen cells to Con A or to allogeneic spleen cells (Gutowski and Weksler, unpublished observation).

No cytotoxic activity was generated during an SMLR toward syngeneic or allogeneic mitogen-induced lymphoblasts (Smith and Pasternak, 1978) or toward syngeneic and allogeneic transformed cells (Ponzio, 1980). However, as has been shown in the human autologous MLR (Vande Stouwe et al., 1977), the SMLR can provide the proliferative stimulus required to generate CTL in culture with foreign cells that themselves cannot stimulate a proliferative response or the generation of cytotoxic cells. Thus, the addition of heat-treated allogeneic cells to an SMLR resulted in the generation of allo-specific CTL (Ponzio et al., 1979). Purified T cells alone or T cells with either syngeneic stimulators or heat-treated allogeneic stimulators failed to generate CTL. In vitro generation of CTL requires cooperation between two subpopulations of responder T cells; Lyt 1^+ helper cells which respond to Ia determinants and Lyt 2, 3⁺ cytotoxic cells that recognize foreign H-2K and D gene products (Cantor and Boyse, 1975). If Lyt 1⁺ helper cells are not stimulated. CTL do not differentiate.

Although a soluble helper factor has not been demonstrated in the

SMLR as it has in the human autologous MLR (Yu *et al.*, 1980; Weksler *et al.*, 1980), the production of another T-cell product, T-cell growth factor (TCGF) has been reported in the SMLR (Lattime *et al.*, 1981). The proliferation of nylon-wool-nonadherent murine T cells induced by irradiated syngeneic nylon-adherent spleen cells and the production of TCGF is dependent on the expression of Ia antigens on the stimulatory cells. Thus, the addition of anti-Ia antisera inhibited both proliferation and the production of TCGF.

E. ALTERATIONS IN THE SYNGENEIC MLR WITH AGE AND DISEASE

Autologous or syngeneic reactivity has been demonstrated in a number of mouse strains including CBA/J (Howe *et al.*, 1970), BALB/c (Smith and Pasternak, 1978), C57B1/6 and DBA/2 (Nussenzweig and Steinman, 1980), and AKR, C3H, and C58 (Smith and Pasternak, 1978). However, the SMLR has been shown to be impaired in strains of mice with autoimmune disturbances.

The SMLR has been studied in the NZB mice, a strain with a variety of abnormalities that resemble the human disease SLE (Talal and Steinberg, 1974). Like the patients with SLE, NZB mice do not generate a normal SMLR. The SMLR was present but diminished in 4-week-old NZB mice but was absent in 23-week-old NZB mice (Smith and Pasternak, 1978). Splenic T cells from 4-week-old mice respond to syngeneic non-T cells from 23-week-old or 4-week-old donors. This suggested that the defect in the SMLR in NZB mice lay in an impaired response of T cells to syngeneic non-T cells. Subsequent studies by Glimcher et al. (1980) not only confirmed these findings, but also demonstrated a temporal relationship between the decline of the SMLR and the onset of autoimmune disease in other autoimmune strains. Thus, by 12 weeks of age, the MRL/1pr strain of mice manifests autoantibodies and substantial lymphoproliferation and fails to SMLR. Likewise, by 12 weeks of age. manifest an the $(NZB \times NZW)F_1$ mouse manifests antinuclear antibodies as well as alterations in suppressor cell function and fails to show an SMLR. Reciprocal mixing experiments between young and adult responder or stimulator cells showed that the defect in the NZB, $(NZB \times NZW)F_1$ and MRL/1pr strains resided in the responding T cell. No evidence for excessive suppressor activity mediating the impaired SMLR in autoimmune mice could be found.

Other studies have extended these findings to other autoimmune prone strains (Hom and Talal, 1981). An impaired SMLR was observed in the (NZB \times NZW)F₁ MRL/1pr, and BXSB strains. A decrease in the SMLR was observed in these autoimmune susceptible strains before

the appearance of clinical symptoms. In $(NZB \times NZW)F_1$ mice the SMLR is lower in females at 2 months of age than in normal C57B1/6 mice. A very weak SMLR was observed in 2-month-old BXSB mice and MRL/1pr mice. At 7 months of age the SMLR declines to almost undetectable levels. In the $(NZB \times NZW)F_1$ mouse, the decreased SMLR is more pronounced in the females, whereas in the BXSB strain the SMLR is lower in the males. The degree of impairment in the SMLR thus parallels the development of autoimmune phenomena, as the $(NZB \times NZW)F_1$ females, and BXSB males show an early onset of both impaired SMLR and autoimmune disease. In contrast, male and female C57B1/6 mice show no difference in the SMLR response. As in previous studies the impaired SMLR in autoimmune strains of mice was shown to be due to a failure of T cells to respond to syngeneic non-T cells.

The SMLR has been investigated in recombinant inbred lines derived from F₁ matings of mice with normal and impaired SMLR reactivity (Bocchieri et al., 1981). These studies examined the SMLR in NZB $(H-2^d)$ mice, in C58 mice $(H-2^k)$, and in NZB \times C58 recombinant inbred lines. Approximately one-half of the recombinant lines demonstrated an impaired SMLR and one-half demonstrated levels of reactivity comparable to the normal C58 parental strain. The level of SMLR was not correlated with H-2 phenotype or allotype of the immunoglobulin heavy or kappa light chain. Non-T cells from impaired $H-2^{k}$ recombinant inbred lines were capable of stimulating a SMLR when cultured with C58 T cells. Furthermore, SMLR reactive $H-2^d$ recombinant strains could respond to NZB non-T cells even though NZB T-cells did not respond to NZB non-T cells. NZB T-cells did not respond to any of the $H-2^d$ recombinant inbred lines. Thus, the defective SMLR in NZB mice and in recombinant inbred lines appears to be due to defects in the responding cell population. These authors also represent preliminary data that the impaired SMLR is not correlated with the presence of Coombs-positive hemolytic anemia or the production of anti-thymocyte autoantibody. On the one hand, autoantibodies were found in mice with a normal SMLR. On the other hand, mice with an impaired SMLR did not always have detectable autoantibodies. These important studies suggest that the genes that regulate the production of autoantibodies can be distinguished from genes that regulate the reactivity of T cells in the SMLR.

The SMLR has also been studied in the immunodeficient CBA/N mouse strain. CBA/N mice have an X-linked recessive trait that results in the failure of male and homozygous female animals to respond to a class of thymic independent antigens (Huber *et al.*, 1977). Dustoor *et*

al. (1981) have found that neonatal thymocytes from these mice do not respond to adult syngeneic spleen cells in the ILI. In contrast, T cells from lymph nodes of adult animals respond normally to autologous or syngeneic spleen cells. This defect was shown to reside in the stimulating cell population, since both male and female F_1 neonatal thymus cells respond to CBA/J cells. Therefore, CBA/N mice appear to lack MDA-1 but possess MDA-2 on the stimulating cell. The relationship of MDA-1 and MDA-2 to other known B cell surface markers has not been elucidated.

Finally, an interesting interaction between spleen cells from animals of different ages has been reported by Callard et al. (1979). The response of spleen cells from young (3-4 months) and from old (24-30 months) mice to syngeneic spleen cells from animals of the same or different ages were studied. All the animals were of the same sex. More [³H]Tdr incorporation occurred when cultures contained spleen cells from animals of different ages. Serological evidence also suggested the presence of an antigen on spleen cells from old mice recognized by lymphocytes from young mice. Repeated injection of spleen and lymph node cells from old donors into young syngeneic animals lead to the appearance of an antibody in young recipients that reacted with more lymphocytes in old animals (7%) than in young mice (2%). These results suggested that the antigeneic repertoire on lymphocytes from young and old mice is different and that such differences can be recognized immunologically. These data are similar to the difference in idiotype repertoire expressed by lymphocytes from the mice of different ages (Goidl et al., 1980). Anti-idiotypic antibody can also recognize differences between surface determinants on lymphocytes from old and young mice.

F. OTHER AUTOLOGOUS INTERACTIONS

Although the interaction of T lymphocytes with syngeneic hematopoietic cells has been most extensively studied, T cells have also been shown to recognize other autologous or syngeneic cells. It has been reported that epidermal cells from guinea pigs can be recognized by autologous PBL (Beucher and Saurat, 1979). PBL from guinea pigs were stimulated to proliferate in culture by mitomycin C-treated autologous epidermal cells.

Studies have also demonstrated that normal rat T cells can recognize and specifically react against other autologous tissues. CTL develop when rate spleen cells were cultured with syngeneic thymus reticulum cells (Cohen and Wekerle, 1972). These cells were specific for the thymic epithelial targets. Similarly, CTL developed in cultures of T cells with syngeneic testicular preparations (Wekerle and Begemann, 1976). Heterologous serum factors do not appear to play a role in determining the specificity of the responding cells (Wekerle, 1977). The immunological nature of the reaction between lymphocytes and testicular cells was suggested by the demonstration of immunological memory in this system (Wekerle, 1978). Finally, incubation of lymphocytes with testicular cells primes T cells for an SMLR with hematopoietic cells (Wekerle, 1978). It was suggested that Sertoli cells, which appear to be of macrophage lineage, present in the testicular cell preparation may stimulate this reaction (Wekerle, 1978).

The reaction of lymphocytes with autologous cells has also been described in vivo. Thus, lymphocytes injected into the foot pads of mice induced enlargement of the regional lymph nodes. This reaction has been termed the syngeneic graft-versus-host reaction (SGvH). Carnaud et al. (1977) showed that spleen cells from adult thymectomized mice caused an SGvH reaction. Thus, enlargement of the regional lymph nodes followed transfer of spleen cells to syngeneic recipients. The SGvH reaction was greater if spleen cells were obtained from cyclophosphamide-treated donors (L'age-Stehr and Diamantstein, 1978). Gozes et al. (1978) found somewhat different results in studies of the SGvH. These investigators found that the SGvH reaction was induced only by spleen cells from old mice. Spleen cells from 104-week-old C57Bl/6 mice caused significant enlargement of the regional lymph nodes in young or old syngeneic recipients. In contrast, injection of spleen cells from young mice did not induce a SGvH in either young or old recipients. The capacity of spleen cells from old animals to produce a local SGvH reaction was eliminated by treating old spleen cells with anti-theta antiserum and complement.

V. Concluding Remarks

Studies of the autologous MLR in humans and comparable reactions in experimental animals offer overwhelming evidence that T lymphocytes are stimulated by autologous non-T cells to proliferate, to generate helper and suppressor activity, and, under appropriate conditions, to develop cytotoxic reactivity. Furthermore, in several disease states associated with immunological abnormalities, the autologous MLR is abnormal. These results suggested the importance of this reaction in the regulation of the immune response. While the *in vitro* phenomena were not in doubt, the biological significance of the autologous MLR has been questioned. It had been suggested that the autologous MLR might result from perturbations of the responding or stimulating cells during cell fractionation or exposure to foreign sera in culture. These possibilities have been carefully evaluated and not found to contribute to the generation of the autologous MLR. Thus, this reaction occurs in unfractionated lymphocyte preparations, takes place when both stimulating and responding cells are prepared by negative selection, and occurs in the presence of autologous serum. There is no evidence that the autologous MLR is a laboratory artifact. In fact, the autologous MLR appears to be a good model for the cooperative interaction between cells involved in the immune response.

The early workers suggested that thymocytes that recognized syngeneic spleen cells had escaped self-tolerance, a view that reflected the dominance of the clonal deletion theory of self-tolerance in the early 1970s. At present, the existence of lymphocytes with receptors for autologous determinants not only is not questioned, but lymphocytes that recognize autologous MHC determinants are known to play a crucial role in the regulation of the immune response. The genetic restriction required for cell cooperation among lymphocyte subpopulations and mononuclear cells involves the recognition of MHC gene products. In man these determinants, specified by the HLA-D locus also stimulate the autologous MLR. Thus, the autologous MLR is stimulated by the same determinants that are involved in cell cooperation.

The generation of helper and suppressor activity during the autologous MLR suggested a role for this reaction in immune regulation. It is likely that helper and suppressor cells are drawn from distinct subpopulations of autoreactive T lymphocytes. It is possible that both helper and suppressor cells are activated by the same determinants in the autologous MLR. Alternatively, different subpopulations of autoreactive T lymphocytes that respond to monocytes or to non-T lymphocytes (Hausman *et al.*, 1980) may give rise to effector cells with different functions. Thus, it is possible that T lymphocytes activated by monocytes become helper cells, whereas T lymphocytes activated by non-T lymphocytes might become suppressor cells. Although little is known about the determinants that stimulate the differentiation of helper or suppressor cells, the possibility that Ia and idiotypic determinants stimulate helper and suppressor cells, respectively, should be considered.

The large proportion of T lymphocytes that recognize allogeneic cells (Bach et al., 1969) has been difficult to explain. Hypotheses attempting to account for this observation (Jerne, 1971; Williamson, 1980) suggest that germ line genes specify receptors for all allogeneic MHC determinants. However, Bodmer (1972) has guestioned such hypotheses. Individuals are not likely to be exposed to allogeneic determinants. Therefore, no evolutionary pressures necessary to maintain a repertoire of receptors for allogeneic MHC determinants are likely to exist. It appears more reasonable to suggest that T lymphocytes that express alloreactivity are generated following sensitization to chemical ligands, viral antigens, or developmental antigens presented in association with autologous MHC determinants. Cross-reactivity between altered self and allogeneic MHC determinants could explain alloreactivity. Such cross-reactivity has been demonstrated. Thus, cytotoxic T lymphocytes generated in response to Sendai virus lyse allogeneic cells as well as virus-modified syngeneic cells (Finberg et al., 1978). Conversely, cytotoxic T lymphocytes generated in the allogeneic MLR lyse hapten-modified syngeneic cells (Lemonnier et al., 1977). Finally, Sredni and Schwartz (1980) have reported that a T-cell clone from mice immunized with DNP-ovalbumin-modified syngeneic cells is stimulated to proliferate not only by DNP-ovalbumin-modified syngeneic cells but also by allogeneic cells. Thus, it appears that cross-reactivity between altered-self and allogeneic cells is expressed at the level of the individual T lymphocyte. If alloreactivity follows sensitization to antigen-modified autologous MHC determinants, one would predict that animals raised in an environment with little or no antigen exposure would not develop alloreactive T lymphocytes normally.

This review has summarized present knowledge of the autologous MLR. These studies strongly imply a biological role of the autologous MLR in the immune response. Today, the most pressing need is to establish the biological significance of this reaction *in vivo*. Will techniques that specifically alter the autologous MLR influence immune competence *in vivo*? Two possible approaches to this question should be considered in experimental animals. The first is to reconstitute the impaired autoreactive T-lymphocyte population in autoimmune-prone strains of mice. It would be expected that techniques that reconstitute this population would influence immune function, disease and lifespan. The second approach is to deplete normal mice of autoreactive T lymphocytes. If the autologous MLR plays an important role in the immune response *in vivo*, depletion of autoreactive T lymphocytes

would be expected to lead to impaired immune competence. We look to these experiments to establish the biological significance of the autologous MLR.

Note: Recently, an impaired autologous mixed-lymphocyte reaction was reported in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis [James, S. P., Elson, C. O., Waggoner, J. G., Jones, E. A., and Strober, W. (1980). *J. Clin. Invest.* **66**, 1305)].

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work performed in our laboratory was supported in part by grants CA-13339 and CA-26344 from the NIH and a Research Career Development Award to M. E. W. The authors wish to thank Dr. Gideon Goldstein for his generous gift of the OKT series of monoclonal antibodies and Lisa Staiano-Coico for performing flow cytometry analysis. We also wish to thank Dr. Gregory Siskind and Dr. Kyuhei Tomonari for helpful discussions and review of this manuscript. We especially wish to thank Ms. Ivy Howie and Mrs. Antoinette Ventola for their patience and help in preparing this manuscript.

References

- Aisenberg, A. C. (1962). J. Clin. Invest. 41, 1964.
- Alspaugh, M. A., Talal, N., and Tan, E. M. (1976). Arthritis Rheum. 19, 216.
- Altman, A., and Katz, D. H. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1536.
- Arvilommi, H., and Rasanen, L. (1980). Immunology 40, 695.
- Bach, F. H., Bock, H., Graupner, K., Day, E., and Klostermann, H. (1969). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 62, 377.
- Bach, M. L., Bach, F. H., and Joo, P. (1969). Science 166, 1520.
- Bain, B., Vas, M. R., and Lowenstein, L. (1963). Fed. Proc. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. 22, 428 (Abstr).
- Bankhurst, A. D., Torrigiani, G., and Allison, A. C. (1973). Lancet I, 226.
- Bankhurst, A. D., and Williams, R. C., Jr. (1975). J. Clin. Invest. 56, 1378.
- Baxley, G., Bishop, G. B., Cooper, A. G., and Wortis, H. D. (1973). Clin. Exp. Immunol. 15, 385.
- Beale, M. G., MacDermott, R. P., Stacey, M. C., Nash, G. S., Hahn, B. H., Seiden, M. V., Jacobs, S. L. B., and Lowenstein, L. S. P. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 227.
- Bergholtz, B., Albrechtsen, D., and Thorsby, E. (1977). Tissue Antigens 10, 27.
- Beucher, F., and Saurat, J. H. (1979). C. R. Acad. Sci. Ser. D 289, 1041.
- Birnbaum, G., and Kotolinek, L. (1981). Ann. Neurol. 9, 439.
- Bjorkholm, M., Holm, G., Mellstedt, H., and Pettersson, D. (1976). Clin. Exp. Immunol. 22, 373.
- Bluming, A. Z., Lynch, M. J., Kavanah, M., and Khiroya, R. (1975). J. Immunol. 114, 717.
- Bocchieri, M. H., and Smith, J. B. (1980). Int. Congr. Immunol., 4th (Abstr.).
- Bocchieri, M. H., Riblet, R. J., and Smith, J. B. (1981). Eur. J. Immunol. 11, 159.
- Bodmer, W. F. (1972). Nature (London) 237, 139.
- Brown, R. S., Haynes, H. A., Foley, H. T., Godwin, H. A., Berard, C. W., and Carbone, P. P. (1967). Ann. Intern. Med. 67, 291.
- Burnet, F. M. (1962). In, "The Integrity of the Body." Harvard Univ. Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Callard, R. E., Basten, A., and Blanden, R. V. (1979). Nature (London) 281, 218.
- Cantor, H., and Boyse, E. A. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 141, 1390.

Carnaud, C., Charreire, J., and Bach, J. F. (1977). Cell. Immunol. 28, 274.

- Charlesworth, J. A., Quinn, J. W., MacDonald, G. J., Lennane, R. J., and Boughton, C. R. (1978). Clin. Exp. Immunol. 34, 241.
- Charreire, J., and Bach, J. F. (1975). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 72, 3201.
- Chiorazzi, N., Fu, S. M., and Kunkel, H. G. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 149, 1543.
- Clagett, J. A., and Weigle, W. O. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 139, 643.
- Cohen, I. R., and Wekerle, H. (1972). Science 176, 1324.
- Dock, N. L., and Davey, F. R. (1980). Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. 17, 123.
- Dupont, B., Hansen, J. A., and Yunis, E. J. (1976). Adv. Immunol. 23, 108.
- Dustoor, M. M., Tymoszczuk, W., Yen, B. R., and Battisto, J. R. (1981). Cell. Immunol. (in press).
- Ehrlich, P., and Morgenroth, J. (1900). Berl. Klin. Wochenschr. 37, 453.
- Engleman, E. G., Benike, C. J., Hoppe, R. T., Kaplan, H. S., and Berberich, F. R. (1980). J. Clin. Invest. 66, 149.
- Erb, P., and Feldmann, M. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 142, 460.
- Etheredge, E. E., Shons, A. R., Hohenthaner, K. L., and Najarian, J. S. (1973). Transplantation 15, 331.
- Fernandez, L. A., and MacSween, J. M. (1980b). Mech. Ageing Dev. 12, 245.
- Fernandez, L. A., and MacSween, J. M. (1980a). Int. Congr. Immunol, 4th (Abstr).
- Finberg, R. S., Burakoff, S. J., Cantor, H., and Benacerraf, B. (1978). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75, 5145.
- Finke, J. H., Ponzio, N. M., and Battisto, J. R. (1976). Cell. Immunol. 26, 284.
- Fischbach, M., Roubinia, J. R., and Talal, N. (1978). J. Immunol. 120, 1856.
- Fournier, C., and Charreire, J. (1977). Clin. Exp. Immunol. 29, 468.
- Fournier, C., and Charreire, J. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 771.
- Fournier, C., and Charreire, J. (1981). Cell. Immunol. 60, 212.
- Fox, T. O., Sheppard, J. R., and Burger, M. M. (1971). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. (U.S.A.) 68, 244.
- Fradelizi, D., and Dausset, J. (1975). Eur. J. Immunol. 5, 295.
- Fridman, W. H., and Kourilsky, K. M. (1969). Nature (London) 224, 277.
- Fu, S. M., Winchester, R. J., and Kunkel, H. G. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 139, 451.
- Glimcher, L. H., Steinberg, A. D., House, S. B., and Green, I. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1832.
- Goidl, E. A., Schrater, A. F., Siskind, G. W., and Thorbecke, G. J. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 150, 154.
- Goidl, E. A., Thorbecke, G. J., Weksler, M. E., and Siskind, G. W. (1980). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 77, 6788.
- Gottlieb, A. B., Fu, S. M., Yu, D. T. Y., Wang, C. Y., Halper, J. P., and Kunkel, H. G. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 1497.
- Gozes, Y., Umiel, T., Meshorer, A., and Trainin, N. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 2199.
- Greaves, M. F., Verbi, W., Festenstein, H., Papasteriadis, C., Jaroquemada, D., and Hayward, A. (1979). Eur. J. Immunol. 9, 356.
- Green, S. S., and Sell, K. W. (1970). Science 170, 989.
- Greenwood, B. M. (1974). Lancet 1, 435.
- Hahn, B. H., MacDermott, R. P., Jacobs, S. B., Pletscher, L. S., and Beale, M. G. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 2812.
- Halper, J. P., Fu, S. M., Gottlieb, A. B., Winchester, R. J., and Kunkel, H. J. (1980). J. Clin. Invest. 64, 1141.
- Hammarstrom, L., Smith, E., Primi, D., and Moller, G. (1976). Nature (London) 263, 60. Han, T., Dadey, B., and Minowada, J. (1977). Immunology 33, 543.
- Hardy, D. A., Knight, S., and Ling, N. R. (1970). Immunology 19, 329.

- Hausman, P. B., and Stobo, J. D. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 149, 1537.
- Hausman, P. B., Raff, H. V., Gilbert, R. C., Picker, L. J., and Stobo, J. D. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1374.
- Hirschorn, K., Bach, F., Kolodny, R. L., Firschein, I. L., and Hashem, N. (1963). Science 142, 1185.
- Hom, J. T., and Talal, N. (1981). J. Immunol. (in press).
- Howe, M. L., (1973). J. Immunol. 110, 1090.
- Howe, M. L., Goldstein, A. L., and Battisto, J. R. (1970a). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 67, 613.
- Howe, M. L., Goldstein, A. L., and Battisto, J. R. (1970b). In "Proceedings of the Fifth Leukocyte Culture Conference" (J. E. Harris, ed.), p. 515. Academic Press, New York.
- Huber, B., Gershon, R. K., and Cantor, H. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 10.
- Huber, C., Fink, U., Leibold, W., Schmalzl, F., Peterson, P. A., Klareskog, L., and Braunsteiner, H. (1981). J. Immunol. (in press).
- Ilfeld, D. N., Krakauer, R. S., and Blaese, R. M. (1977). J. Immunol. 119, 428.
- Indiveri, F., Wilson, B. S., Russo, C., Quaranta, V., Pellegrino, M. A., and Ferone, S. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 2673.
- Innes, J. B., Kuntz, M. M., Kim, Y. T., and Weksler, M. E. (1979). J. Clin. Invest. 64, 1608.
- Izui, S., Lambert, P. H., Fournie, G. S., Turler, H., and Miescher, P. A. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 115.
- Janeway, C. A., Wigzell, H., and Binz, H. (1976). Scand. J. Immunol. 5, 993.
- Jerne, N. K. (1971). Eur. J. Immunol. 1, 1.
- Kasakura, S. (1975). Blood 45, 823.
- Katz, D. H., and Armerding, D. (1976). Fed. Proc. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. 35, 2053.
- Katz, P., and Fauci, A. S. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2270.
- Kindred, B. (1975). Scand. J. Immunol. 4, 653.
- Kindred, B., and Shreffler, D. C. (1972). J. Immunol. 109, 940.
- Klein, G., Pearson, G., Nadkarni, J. S., Nadkarni, J. J., Klein, E., Henle, G., Henle, W., and Clifford, P. (1968). J. Exp. Med. 128, 1011.
- Ko, H. S., Fu, S. M., Winchester, R. J., Yu, D. T. Y., and Kunkel, H. G. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 150, 246.
- Kozak, R. W., Moody, C. E., Staiano-Coico, L., and Weksler, M. E. (1981). Fed. Proc. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. (Abstr.).
- Kuntz, M. M. (1977). Clin. Res. 25, 642A (Abstr.).
- Kuntz, M. M., Innes, J. B., and Weksler, M. E. (1976). J. Exp. Med. 143, 1042.
- Kuntz, M. M., Innes, J. B., and Weksler, M. E. (1979). J. Clin. Invest. 63, 151.
- L'age-Stehr, J., and Diamantstein, T. (1978). Eur. J. Immunol. 8, 620.
- Lattime, E. C., Gillis, S., David, C., and Stutman, O. (1981). Eur. J. Immunol. 11, 67.
- Lattime, E. C., Golub, S. H., and Stutman, O. (1981). Eur. J. Immunol. 10, 723.
- Lemonnier, F., Burakoff, S. J., Germain, R. N., and Benacerraf, B. (1977). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 1229.
- Lohrmann, H. D., and Whang-Peng, J. (1974). J. Exp. Med. 140, 54.
- MacDermott, R. P., and Stacey, M. R. (1981). J. Immunol. 126, 729.
- Makinodan, T., and Kay, M. B. (1980). In "Advances in Immunology" (H. G. Kunkel and F. J. Dixon, eds.), Vol. 29, p. 287. Academic Press, New York.
- Manger, B., Zawatzky, R., Kirchner, H., and Kalden, J. R. (1980). Germ. Natl. Leuc. Cult. Conf. 11th, (Abstr.).
- Mangi, R. J., Niederman, J. C., Kelleher, J. E., Dwyer, J. M., Evans, A. S., and Kantor, F. S. (1974). N. Engl. J. Med. 291, 1149.
- Mann, D. L., and Sharrow, S. O. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1889.
- Miller, D. G., Lizardo, J. G., and Snyderman, R. K. (1961). J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 26, 569.

- Miller, J. F. A. P., Vadas, M. A., Whitelaw, A., and Gamble, J. (1976). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 73, 2486.
- Miller, R. A., and Kaplan, H. S. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 2165.
- Milthorp, P., and Richter, M. (1979). Immunology 36, 375.
- Mitchison, A. N. (1970). Fed. Proc. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. 29, 222.
- Miyasaka, N., Sauvezie, B., Pierce, D. A., Daniels, T. E., and Talal, N. (1980). J. Clin. Invest. 66, 928.
- Moody, C. E., Casazza, B. A., Christenson, W. N., and Weksler, M. E. (1979). J. Exp. Med. 150, 1448.
- Moody, C. E., Innes, J. B., Staiano-Coico, L., Incefy, G. S., Thaler, H. T., and Weksler, M. E. (1981). *Immunology* (in press).
- Moretta, L., Webb, S. R., Grossi, C. E., Lydyard, P. M., and Cooper, M. D. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 146, 184.
- Niaudet, P., Greaves, M., and Horwitz, D. (1979). Scand. J. Immunol. 9, 387.
- Norrby, E. (1978). Prog. Med. Virol. 24, 1.
- Nowell, P. C. (1960). Cancer Res. 20, 462.
- Nussenzweig, M. C., and Steinman, R. M. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 151, 1196.
- Opelz, G., Kiuchi, M., Takasugi, M., and Terasaki, P. I. (1975). J. Exp. Med. 142, 1327. Orgad, S., and Cohen, I. R. (1974). Science 183, 1083.
- Orgad, S., and Cohen, I. R. (1914). Science 103, 1065
- Palacios, R., Llorente, L., Alarcon-Segovia, D., Ruiz-Arguelles, A., and Diaz-Jouanen, E. (1980). J. Clin. Invest. 65, 1527.
- Pasternak, R. D., Bocchieri, M. H., and Smith, J. B. (1980). Cell. Immunol. 49, 384.
- Paul, W. E., Shevach, E. M., Pickeral, S., Thomas, D. W., and Rosenthal, A. S. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 618.
- Ponzio, N. M. (1980). Cell. Immunol. 49, 266.
- Ponzio, N. M., Finke, J. H., and Battisto, J. R. (1975). J. Immunol. 114, 971.
- Ponzio, N. M., Matteoni, L. A., and Sarley, J. M. (1979). In "The Molecular Basis of Immune Cell Function" (J. G. Kaplan, ed.), p. 525. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Primi, D., Hammarstrom, L., Smith, C. I. E., and Moller, G. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 21.
- Raff, H. V., Picker, L. J., and Stobo, J. D. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 152, 581.
- Reinherz, E. L., Kung, P. C., Goldstein, G., and Schlossman, S. F. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 2894.
- Reinherz, E. L., Weiner, H. L., Hauser, S. L., Cohen, J. A., Distaso, J. A., and Schlossman, S. F. (1980). N. Engl. J. Med. 303, 125.
- Royston, I., Graze, P. R., and Pitts, R. B. (1974). J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 53, 361.
- Ruhl, H., Vogt, W., Bochert, G., Schmidt, S., Moelle, R., and Schaoua, H. (1975). Clin. Exp. Immunol. 19, 55.
- Sakane, T., and Green, I. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 584.
- Sakane, T., Steinberg, A. D., and Green, I. (1978a). Arthritis Rheum. 21, 657.
- Sakane, T., Steinberg, A. D., and Green, I. (1978b). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75, 3464.
- Sakane, T., Steinberg, A. D., Arnett, F. C., Reinertsen, J. L., and Green, I. (1979). Arthritis Rheum. 22, 770.
- Sakane, T., Niwa, Y., Honda, M., Ogawa, H., and Fukase, M. (1980). Int. Congr. Immunol., 4th (Abstr.).
- Salsano, F., Froland, S. S., Natvig, J. B., and Michaelsen, T. E. (1974). Scand. J. Immunol. 3, 841.
- Semenzato, G., Amadori, G., Piazza, I., Pezzutto, A., Colombatti, M., and Gasparotto, G. (1979). Transplant. Proc. 11, 1373.
- Sheehy, M. J., Sondel, P. M., Bach, M. L., Wank, R., and Bach, F. H. (1975). Science 188, 1308.
- Shevach, E. M. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 1482.
- Sheremata, W., Cosgrove, J. B. R., and Eylar, E. H. (1974). N. Engl. J. Med. 291, 14.
- Smith, J. (1978). Cell. Immunol. 36, 203.
- Smith, J. B., and Knowlton, R. P. (1979). J. Immunol. 123, 419.
- Smith, J. B., and Knowlton, R. P. (1980). Int. Congr. Immunol. (Abstr.).
- Smith, J. B., and Knowlton, R. P. (1981). Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. (in press).
- Smith, J. B., and Pasternak, R. D. (1978). J. Immunol. 121, 1889.
- Smith, J. B., Knowlton, R. P., and Koons, L. W. (1977). J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 58, 579.
- Smith, J. L., Dowling, D. C., and Barker, C. R. (1972). Lancet 1, 229.
- Sredni, B., and Schwartz, R. H. (1980). Nature (London) 287, 855.
- Steinberg, A. D., and Klassen, L. W. (1977). Clin. Haematol. 6, 439.
- Stobo, J. D., and Loehnen, C. P. (1978). Arthritis Rheum. 21, S210.
- Tada, T., Taniquidri, M., and David, C. S. (1976). J. Exp. Med. 144, 713.
- Takasugi, M., Kiuchi, M., and Opelz, G. (1977). Transplant. Proc. 9, 789.
- Talal, N., and Steinberg, A. D. (1974). Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 64, 79.
- Thomas, D. B., and Phillips, B. (1973). Clin. Exp. Immunol. 14, 91.
- Thomas, D. W., and Shevach, E. M. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 145, 907.
- Ting, J. P., and Ranney, D. F. (1980). Cell. Immunol. 53, 138.
- Tomonari, K. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1111.
- Tomonari, K., Wakisaka, A., and Aizawa, M. (1980). J. Immunol. 125, 1596.
- Vande Stouwe, R. A., Kunkel, H. G., Halper, J. P., and Weksler, M. E. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 146, 1809.
- Vanky, F., and Stjernsward, J. (1971). In "Immunological Parameters of Host-Tumor Relationships" (W. Weiss, ed.), Vol. 1, p. 211. Academic Press, New York.
- von Boehmer, H. (1974). Eur. J. Immunol. 4, 105.
- von Boehmer, H., and Adams, P. B. (1973). J. Immunol. 110, 376.
- von Boehmer, H., and Byrd, W. J. (1972). Nature (London) New Biology 235, 50.
- von Boehmer, H., Shortman, K., and Adams, P. (1972). J. Exp. Med. 136, 1648.
- Weigle, W. O., Sieckmann, D. G., Doyle, M. V., and Chiller, J. M. (1975). Transplant. Rev. 26, 186.
- Wekerle, H. (1977). Nature (London) 267, 357.
- Wekerle, H. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 147, 233.
- Wekerle, H., and Begemann, M. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 159.
- Weksler, M. E. (1973). J. Exp. Med. 137, 799.
- Weksler, M. E. (1976). J. Immunol. 116, 310.
- Weksler, M. E., and Birnbaum, G. (1972). J. Clin. Invest. 51, 3124.
- Weksler, M. E., and Kozak, R. (1977). J. Exp. Med. 146, 1833.
- Weksler, M. E., Moody, C. E., Ostry, R. F., and Casazza, B. A. (1980). J. Exp. Med. 152, 284S.
- Wernet, P. (1976). Transplant. Rev. 30, 271.
- Williams, R. C., Jr., and Kunkel, H. G. (1962). J. Clin. Invest. 41, 666.
- Williamson, A. R. (1980). Nature (London) 283, 527.
- Yamashita, U., and Shevach, E. M. (1980). J. Immunol. 124, 1773.
- Yu, D. T. Y. (1978). Clin. Immun. Immunopathol. 10, 11.
- Yu, D. T. Y., Ramer, S. J., and Clements, P. J. (1978). Transplantation 25, 163.
- Yu, D. T. Y., Chiorazzi, N., and Kunkel, H. G. (1980). Cell. Immunol. 50, 305.
- Zier, K. S., Huber, C., and Braunsteiner, H. (1979). Scand. J. Immunol. 9, 493.
- Zinkernagel, R. M., and Doherty, P. C. (1979). Adv. Immunol. 27, 51.
- Zinkernagel, R. M., Callahan, G. N., Althage, A., Cooper, S., Klein, D. A., and Klein, J. (1978). J. Exp. Med. 146, 882.
- Zoschke, D. C., and Bach, F. H. (1971). J. Immunol. Methods 1, 55.

Index

A

Accessory cells, besides macrophages, 71 - 74Aging, autologous MLR and, 294-295 Antibody formation, interaction of macrophages with T and B cells and, 21 - 22depletion of accessory cells, 23-25 hapten protein conjugates, 22-23 induction of helper cells, 29-32 MHC restrictions, 32-38 studies with 2-mercaptoethanol, 25-29 Antigen(s) macrophage interactions not mediated by, 52-55 presentation, 74-75 correlation with antigen handling. 79-89 Ir gene function and determinant selection, 75-79 lymphocyte-to-macrophage interactions, 89-94 stimulating proliferation of autologous T cells, 285-286 Antigen-induced proliferation, interaction of macrophages with T cells and, 4–7 histocompatibility requirements, 7-16 Ia-bearing phagocytes and, 16-17 Anti-receptor monoclonal antibody, 2.4G2, Fc receptor purification and activity of purified 2.4G2 antigen, 259-260 structure of purified antigen, 258-259 Antitumor immunity, macrophages and, 48 - 52Autologous interactions, other, 304-305 Autologous mixed-lymphocyte reaction alterations in aging and, 294-295 chronic lymphocytic leukemia and, 296Hodgkin's disease and, 296-297

infectious mononucleosis and, 293-294multiple sclerosis and, 294 Sjögren's syndrome and, 295 systemic lupus erythematosis and, 291 - 293in man antigens stimulating proliferation of autologous T cells, 285-286 cells that participate in reaction, 280 - 285effector activity generated during reaction, 288-291 as immune reaction, 286-288 in man, induction of lymphocyte proliferation and by autologous blood cells, 279-280 by autologous neoplastic cells, 276-277 in culture, 275–276 by lymphoid cells, 277-279

В

B cells formation in cell-transfer assays, 189-192 important uncertainties and promising sources of new information. 230-234 maturation in culture and, 199-207 functional, cloning assays for, 185-189 interaction with macrophages in polyclonal stimuli, 45-48 and T cells in antibody formation. 21 - 38B-lymphocyte(s) antigens expressed on early precursors antigens defined by conventional antibodies, 215-217 new monoclonal antibodies, 217-222 possible sequence of marker acquisition, 222-223

INDEX

functional heterogeneity-specialized subpopulations apparent cell sets, 223–224 implications of CBA/N(X^{1d}) mutation, 224–230 microenvironment for formation, in birds, 207–209 in mammals, 209–215 B-lymphocyte precursors, relation to other hematopoietic lineages, 192–199

С

Cellular immunity reactions, interactions of macrophages with T cells and, 38–39 antibacterial immunity and macrophage activation, 43–45 contact sensitivity, 41–43 delayed sensitivity, 39–41 lymphokine secretion, 43 Chronic lymphocytic leukemia, autologous MLR and, 296

E

Effector activity, autologous MLR and, 288–291 Effector functions, syngeneic MLR and, 301–302

F

Fc receptor activity, specificity and heterogeneity of guinea pig receptors for IgG, 253-254 on human cells, 254-255 for IgE, IgA and IgM, 255-257 mouse receptors for IgG₁, IgG_{2b} and IgG_{2a}, 248-253
Fc receptors for IgG, isolation and characterization, 257-258 using anti-receptor monoclonal antibody 2.4G2, 258-260 using IgG affinity adsorbents, 260-267

G

Gene(s), immunoglobulin, expression of, 181-185

н

Histocompatibility requirements, interaction of macrophages with T cells in antigen-induced proliferation, 7-16

Hodgkin's disease, autologous MLR and, 296-297

ŧ

Immunoglobulin(s), genes, expression of, 181–185

Immunoglobulin G affinity adsorbents, Fc receptor purification and

herpes virus-induced receptor, 266-267 from human mononuclear cells, 262-

- 263
- mouse macrophages, 260-262
- other cell types, 263-266
- Immunology, some definitions, 178–181

Infectious mononucleosis, autologous MLR and, 293–294

Isogeneic lymphocyte interaction, in mice, 297–298

L

Lectin-induced proliferation, interaction of macrophages with T cells and, 17–21 Lymphocytes induced proliferation by autologous blood cells, 279–280 by autologous neoplastic cells, 276– 277 by lymphoid cell lines, 277–279 proliferation in culture, 275–276 Lymphocyte-activating factor assay, 142–144 biochemical characteristics, 144–146 functional characteristics, 146–149 general considerations, 141–142

Μ

Macrophages basis for regulation antigen presentation, 74–94 properties of macrophages and other accessory cells, 57–74

314

secretory function of macrophages, 94-118 interactions of mixed leukocyte reaction and antitumor immunity, 48-52 not mediated by antigens, 52-55 with B cells and polyclonal stimuli, 45-48 with T and B cells in antibody formation, 21-38 with T cells in antigen-induced proliferation, 4-17 with T cells in cellular immunity reactions, 38-45 with T cells in lectin-induced proliferation, 17-21 secretory function of, 94-96 lymphostimulatory molecules, 96-110 modulation by lymphocytes, 110-111 suppressive effects, 111-118 suppressive phenomena and, 55-56 Mixed leukocyte reaction, see also Autologous MLR macrophages and, 48-52 Mononuclear phagocytes, Ia antigen and ontogeny, 69-70 regulation of Ia in macrophages, 64-69 summary of Ia macrophage subsets, 70 tissue distribution, 57-60 Mouse isogeneic lymphocyte interaction in, 297 - 298syngeneic MLR in, 298-300 Mouse Fc receptors for IgG₁, IgG_{2b} and IgG, competition experiments, 249-250 Fc receptor-negative mutants and variants, 250-251 monoclonal anti-Fc receptor antibody, 251 - 252other evidence for heterogeneity, 252-253subclass specificity and trypsin sensitivity, 248-249 Multiple sclerosis, autologous MLR and, 294

Ρ

Phagocytes, Ia-bearing, macrophage interactions and, 16-17

Polyclonal stimuli, interactions of macrophages with B cells and, 45-48

S

- Sjögren's syndrome, autologous MLR and, 295
- Suppressive phenomena, macrophages and, 55-56

Syngeneic mixed-lymphocyte reaction alterations with age and disease, 302– 304

effector functions generated in, 301-302

in mice, 298-300

in other species, 300-301

Systemic lupus erythematosis, autologous MLR and, 291–293

T

T cells, interactions with macrophages in antibody formation, 21–38 in antigen-induced proliferation, 4–17 in cellular immunity reactions, 38–45 in lectin-induced proliferation, 17–21

T cell growth factor assay, 150–153 biochemical characteristics, 155–159 cellular origin, 153–154 functional characteristics, 159–161 functional implications, 169–172 general considerations, 149–150 T-cell lines, initiation, clonal derivation and maintenance of clonal derivation of, 163–165 cytolytic lines, 165–166 general considerations, 161–163

helper lines, 166-167

neoplastic T cells and TCGF, 168-169

suppressor lines, 168

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

Volume 1

Transplantation Immunity and Tolerance M. HAŠEK, A. LENGEROVA, AND T. HRABA

Immunological Tolerance of Nonliving Antigens RICHARD T. SMITH

Functions of the Complement System ABRAHAM G. OSLER

In Vitro Studies of the Antibody Response ABRAM B. STAVITSKY

Duration of Immunity in Virus Diseases J. H. HALE

Fate and Biological Action of Antigen-Antibody Complexes WILLIAM O. WEIGLE

Delayed Hypersensitivity to Simple Protein Antigens P. G. H. GELL AND B. BENACERRAF

The Antigenic Structure of Tumors P. A. GORER

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 2

Immunologic Specificity and Molecular Structure FRED KARUSH

Heterogeneity of γ -Globulins JOHN L. FAHEY

The Immunological Significance of the Thymus

J. F. A. P. MILLER, A. H. E. MARSHALL, AND R. G. WHITE

Cellular Genetics of Immune Responses G. J. V. NOSSAL Antibody Production by Transferred Cells CHARLES G. COCHRANE AND FRANK J. DIXON

Phagocytosis DERRICK ROWLEY

Antigen-Antibody Reactions in Helminth Infections E. J. L. SOULSBY

Embryological Development of Antigens REED A. FLICKINGER

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 3

In Vitro Studies of the Mechanism of Anaphylaxis K. FRANK AUSTEN AND JOHN H. HUMPHREY

The Role of Humoral Antibody in the Homograft Reaction CHANDLER A. STETSON

Immune Adherence D. S. NELSON

Reaginic Antibodies D. R. STANWORTH

Nature of Retained Antigen and its Role in Immune Mechanisms DAN H. CAMPBELL AND JUSTINE S. GARVEY

Blood Groups in Animals Other Than Man W. H. STONE AND M. R. IRWIN

Heterophile Antigens and Their Significance in the Host-Parasite Relationship C. R. JENKIN

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 4

Ontogeny and Phylogeny of Adaptive Immunity ROBERT A. GOOD AND BEN W. PAPERMASTER

Cellular Reactions in Infection EMANUEL SUTER AND HANSRUEDY RAMSEIER

Ultrastructure of Immunologic Processes JOSEPH D. FELDMAN

Cell Wall Antigens of Gram-Positive Bacteria MACLYN MCCARTY AND STEPHEN I. MORSE

Structure and Biological Activity of Immunoglobulins SYDNEY COHEN AND RODNEY R. PORTER

Autoantibodies and Disease H. G. KUNKEL AND E. M. TAN

Effect of Bacteria and Bacterial Products on Antibody Response J. MUNOZ

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 6

Experimental Glomerulonephritis: Immunological Events and Pathogenetic Mechanisms EMIL R. UNANUE AND FRANK J. DIXON

Chemical Suppression of Adaptive Immunity ANN E. GABRIELSON AND ROBERT A. GOOD

Nucleic Acids as Antigens Otto J. Plescia and Werner Braun

In Vitro Studies of Immunological Responses of Lymphoid Cells RICHARD W. DUTTON

Developmental Aspects of Immunity JAROSLAV STERZL AND ARTHUR M. SILVERSTEIN

Anti-antibodies Philip G. H. Gell and Andrew S. Kelus

Conglutinin and Immunoconglutinins P. J. LACHMANN

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 5

Natural Antibodies and the Immune Response STEPHEN V. BOYDEN

Immunological Studies with Synthetic Polypeptides MICHAEL SELA

Experimental Allergic Encephalomyelitis and Autoimmune Disease PHILIP Y. PATERSON

The Immunology of Insulin C. G. POPE

Tissue-Specific Antigens D. C. DUMONDE

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 7

Structure and Biological Properties of Immunoglobulins SYDNEY COHEN AND CESAR MILSTEIN

Genetics of Immunoglobulins in the Mouse MICHAEL POTTER AND ROSE LIEBERMAN

Mimetic Relationships between Group A Streptococci and Mammalian Tissues JOHN B. ZABRISKIE

Lymphocytes and Transplantation Immunity DARCY B. WILSON AND R. E. BILLINGHAM Human Tissue Transplantation JOHN P. MERRILL

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 8

Chemistry and Reaction Mechanisms of Complement HANS I. MÜLLER-EBERHARD

Regulatory Effect of Antibody on the Immune Response JONATHAN W. UHR AND GÖRAN MÖLLER

The Mechanism of Immunological Paralysis D. W. DRESSER AND N. A. MITCHISON

In Vitro Studies of Human Reaginic Allergy Abraham G. Osler, Lawrence M. Lichtenstein, and David A. Levy

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 9

Secretory Immunoglobulins THOMAS B. TOMASI, JR., AND JOHN BIENENSTOCK

Immunologic Tissue Injury Mediated by Neutrophilic Leukocytes CHARLES G. COCHRANE

The Structure and Function of Monocytes and Macrophages ZANVIL A. COHN

The Immunology and Pathology of NZB Mice

J. B. HOWIE AND B. J. HELYER

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 10

Cell Selection by Antigen in the Immune Response GREGORY W. SISKIND AND BARUJ BENACERRAF Phylogeny of Immunoglobulins HOWARD M. GREY

Slow Reacting Substance of Anaphylaxis ROBERT P. ORANGE AND K. FRANK AUSTEN

Some Relationships among Hemostasis, Fibrinolytic Phenomena, Immunity, and the Inflammatory Response OSCAR D. RATNOFF

Antigens of Virus-Induced Tumors KARL HABEL

Genetic and Antigenetic Aspects of Human Histocompatibility Systems D. BERNARD AMOS

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 11

Electron Microscopy of the Immunoglobulins N. MICHAEL GREEN

Genetic Control of Specific Immune Responses HUGH O. MCDEVITT AND BARUJ BENACERRAF

The Lesions in Cell Membranes Caused by Complement JOHN H. HUMPHREY AND ROBERT R. DOURMASHKIN

Cytotoxic Effects of Lymphoid Cells In Vitro PETER PERLMANN AND GÖRAN HOLM

Transfer Factor H. S. LAWRENCE

Immunological Aspects of Malaria Infection IVOR N. BROWN

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 12

The Search for Antibodies with Molecular Uniformity RICHARD M. KRAUSE

Structure and Function of yM Macroglobulins HENRY METZGER

Transplantation Antigens R. A. REISFELT AND B. D. KAHAN

The Role of Bone Marrow in the Immune Response NABIH I. ABDOU AND MAXWELL RICHTER

- Cell Interaction in Antibody Synthesis D. W. TALMAGE, J. RADOVICH, AND H. HEMMINGSEN
- The Role of Lysosomes in Immune Responses Gerald Weissmann and Peter Dukor

Molecular Size and Conformation of Immunoglobulins KEITH J. DORRINGTON AND CHARLES TANFORD

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 14

Immunobiology of Mammalian Reproduction ALAN E. BEER AND R. E. BILLINGHAM

Thyroid Antigens and Autoimmunity SIDNEY SHULMAN

Immunological Aspects of Burkitt's Lymphoma GEORGE KLEIN

Genetic Aspects of the Complement System CHESTER A. ALPER AND FRED S. ROSEN

The Immune System: A Model for Differentiation in Higher Organisms L. HOOD AND J. PRAHL

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 13

Structure and Function of Human Immunoglobulin E HANS BENNICH AND S. GUNNAR O. JOHANSSON

Individual Antigenic Specificity of Immunoglobulins JOHN E. HOPPER AND ALFRED NISONOFF

In Vitro Approaches to the Mechanism of Cell-Mediated Immune Reactions BARRY R. BLOOM

Immunological Phenomena in Leprosy and Related Diseases J. L. TURK AND A. D. M. BRYCESON

Nature and Classification of Immediate-Type Allergic Reactions ELMER L. BECKER

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 15

The Regulatory Influence of Activated T Cells on B Cell Responses to Antigen DAVID H. KATZ AND BARUJ BENACERRAF

The Regulatory Role of Macrophages in Antigenic Stimulation E. R. UNANUE

Immunological Enhancement: A Study of Blocking Antibodies JOSEPH D. FELDMAN

Genetics and Immunology of Sex-Linked Antigens DAVID L. GASSER AND WILLYS K. SILVERS

Current Concepts of Amyloid Edward C. Franklin and Dorothea Zucker-Franklin

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

320

Volume 16

Human Immunoglobulins: Classes,
Subclasses, Genetic Variants, and
Idiotypes

J. B. NATVIG AND H. G. KUNKEL

Immunological Unresponsiveness

WILLIAM O. WEIGLE

Participation of Lymphocytes in Viral Infections

E. FREDERICK WHEELOCK AND STEPHEN T. TOY

Immune Complex Diseases in Experimental Animals and Man

C. G. COCHRANE AND D. KOFFLER

The Immunopathology of Joint

Inflammation in Rheumatoid Arthritis NATHAN J. ZVAIFLER

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 17

Antilymphocyte Serum EUGENE M. LANCE, P. B. MEDAWAR, AND ROBERT N. TAUB

In Vitro Studies of Immunologically Induced Secretion of Mediators from Cells and Related Phenomena ELMER L. BECKER AND PETER M. HENSON

Antibody Response to Viral Antigens KEITH M. COWAN

Antibodies to Small Molecules: Biological and Clinical Applications VINCENT P. BUTLER, JR., AND SAM M. BEISER

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 18

Genetic Determinants of Immunological Responsiveness DAVID L. GASSER AND WILLYS K. SILVERS Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity, Allograft Rejection, and Tumor Immunity JEAN-CHARLES CEROTTINI AND K. THEODORE BRUNNER

Antigenic Competition: A Review of Nonspecific Antigen-Induced Suppression HUGH F. PROSS AND DAVID EIDINGER

Effect of Antigen Binding on the Properties of Antibody HENRY METZGER

Lymphocyte-Mediated Cytotoxicity and Blocking Serum Activity to Tumor Antigens KARL ERIK HELLSTRÖM AND INGEGERD HELLSTRÖM

AUTHOR INDEX-SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 19

Molecular Biology of Cellular Membranes with Applications to Immunology S. J. SINGER

Membrane Immunoglobulins and Antigen Receptors on B and T Lymphocytes NOEL L. WARNER

Receptors for Immune Complexes on Lymphocytes VICTOR NUSSENZWEIG

Biological Activities of Immunoglobulins of Different Classes and Subclasses HANS L. SPIEGELBERG

SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 20

Hypervariable Regions, Idiotypy, and Antibody-Combining Site J. DONALD CAPRA AND I. MICHAEL KEHOE

Structure and Function of the J Chain MARIAN ELLIOTT KOSHLAND

Amino Acid Substitution and the Antigenicity of Globular Proteins MORRIS REICHLIN

The H-2 Major Histocompatibility Complex and the I Immune Response Region: Genetic Variation, Function, and Organization DONALD C. SHREFFLER AND CHELLA S. DAVID

Delayed Hypersensitivity in the Mouse ALFRED J. CROWLE

SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 21

X-Ray Diffraction Studies of Immunoglobulins ROBERTO J. POLJAK

Rabbit Immunoglobulin Allotypes: Structure, Immunology, and Genetics THOMAS J. KINDT

Cyclical Production of Antibody as a Regulatory Mechanism in the Immune Response WILLIAM O. WIEGLE

Thymus-Independent B-Cell Induction and Paralysis ANTONIO COUTINHO AND GÖRAN MÖLLER

SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 22

The Role of Antibodies in the Rejection and Enhancement of Organ Allografts CHARLES B. CARPENTER, ANTHONY J. F. D'APICE, AND ABUL K. ABBAS

Biosynthesis of Complement HARVEY R. COLTEN

Graft-versus-Host Reactions: A Review STEPHEN C. GREBE AND J. WAYNE STREILEIN Cellular Aspects of Immunoglobulin A MICHAEL E. LAMM

Secretory Anti-Influenza Immunity YA. S. SHVARTSMAN AND M. P. ZYKOV

SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 23

Cellular Events in the IgE Antibody Response KIMISHIGE ISHIZAKA

Chemical and Biological Properties of Some Atopic Allergens T. P. KING

Human Mixed-Lymphocyte Culture Reaction: Genetics, Specificity, and Biological Implications BO DUPONT, JOHN A. HANSEN, AND EDMOND J. YUNIS

Immunochemical Properties of Glycolipids and Phospholipids DONALD M. MARCUS AND GERALD A. SCHWARTING

SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 24

The Alternative Pathway of Complement Activation O. GÖTZE AND H. J. MÜLLER-EBERHARD

Membrane and Cytoplasmic Changes in B Lymphocytes Induced by Ligand-Surface Immunoglobulin Interaction GEORGE F. SCHREINER AND EMIL R. UNANUE

Lymphocyte Receptors for Immunoglobulin HOWARD B. DICKLER

lonizing Radiation and the Immune Response ROBERT E. ANDERSON AND NOEL L. WARNER

SUBJECT INDEX

322

Volume 25

Immunologically Privileged Sites CLYDE F. BAKER AND R. E. BILLINGHAM

Major Histocompatibility Complex Restricted Cell-Mediated Immunity GENE M. SHEARER AND ANNE-MARIE SCHMITT-VERHULST

Current Status of Rat Immunogenetics DAVID L. GASSER

Antigen-Binding Myeloma Proteins of Mice MICHAEL POTTER

Human Lymphocyte Subpopulations L. CHESS AND S. F. SCHLOSSMAN

SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 26

Anaphylatoxins: C3a and C5a TONY E. HUGLI AND HANS J. MÜLLER-EBERHARD

H-2 Mutations: Their Genetics and Effect on Immune Functions JAN KLEIN

The Protein Products of the Murine 17th Chromosome: Genetics and Structure ELLEN S. VITETTA AND J. DONALD CAPRA

Expression and Function of Idiotypes on Lymphocytes K. EICHMANN

The B-Cell Clonotype Repertoire NOLAN H. SIGAL AND NORMAN R. KLINMAN

SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 27

Autoimmune Response to Acetylcholine Receptors in Myasthenia Gravis and Its Animal Model JON LINDSTROM MHC-Restricted Cytotoxic T Cells: Studies on the Biological Role of Polymorphic Major Transplantation Antigens Determining T-Cell Restriction-Specificity, Function, and Responsiveness ROLF M. ZINKERNAGEL AND PETER C. DOHERTY

Murine Lymphocyte Surface Antigens IAN F. C. MCKENZIE AND TERRY POTTER

The Regulatory and Effector Roles of Eosinophils PETER F. WELLER AND EDWARD I. GOETZL

SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 28

The Role of Antigen-Specific T Cell Factors in the Immune Response TOMIO TADA AND KO OKUMURA

The Biology and Detection of Immune Complexes ARGYRIOS N. THEOFILOPOULOS AND FRANK J. DIXON

The Human Ia System R. J. WINCHESTER AND H. G. KUNKEL

Bacterial Endotoxins and Host Immune Responses DAVID C. MORRISON AND JOHN L. RYAN

Responses to Infection with Metazoan and Protozoan Parasites in Mice GRAHAM F. MITCHELL

SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 29

Molecular Biology and Chemistry of the Alternative Pathway of Complement HANS J. MÜLLER-EBERHARD AND ROBERT D. SCHREIBER

Mediators of Immunity: Lymphokines and Monokines ROSS E. ROCKLIN, KLAUS BENDTZEN, AND DIRK GREINEDER

Adaptive Differentiation of Lymphocytes: Theoretical Implications for Mechanisms of Cell–Cell Recognition and Regulation of Immune Responses DAVID H. KATZ

Antibody-Mediated Destruction of Virus-Infected Cells J. G. PATRICK SISSONS AND MICHAEL B. A. OLDSTONE

Aleutian Disease of Mink DAVID D. PORTER, AUSTIN E. LARSEN, AND HELEN G. PORTER

Age Influence on the Immune System TAKASHI MAKINODAN AND MARGUERITE M. B. KAY

SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 30

Plasma Membrane and Cell Cortex Interactions in Lymphocyte Functions FRANCIS LOOR

Control of Experimental Contact Sensitivity HENRY N. CLAMAN, STEPHEN D. MILLER, PAUL J. CONLON, AND JOHN W. MOORHEAD

Analysis of Autoimmunity through Experimental Models of Thyroiditis and Allergic Encephatomyelitis WILLIAM O. WEIGLE

The Virology and Immunobiology of Lymphocytic Choriomeningitis Virus Infection

M. J. BUCHMEIER, R. M. WELSH, F. J. DUTKO, AND M. B. A. OLDSTONE

INDEX